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a break, stretch your legs or have a copy of coffee, let 

me know that. 

Where are you currently employed? 

A. Defense Base Closure and Realignment 

Commission, 1625 K Street, Northwest, Suite 400, 

-Washington, D.C. 

Q. And for how long have you been employed there? 

A. I don't know my starting date. Probably last 

week in March of '91. 

Q. And what position do you hold there? 

A. Staff director. 

Q. Can you tell me just a little bit about your 

employment history directly before your affiliation with 

the Defense Base Closure Commission? 

A. Sure. I was a congressional intern on Capitol 

Hill for Congressman Frank Wolf of Virginia. I then 

went to work after four months with Mr. Wolf, went to 

work for Congressman Joseph Dioguardi, 

D-i-o-g-u-a-r-d-i, of New York for roughly two years as 

a legislative assistant. 

I was appointed by Mr. Dioguardi to the 

Government Operations Committee in the House of 
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have one on the subject. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Did you transmit any requests or direct 

anybody to do tasks concerning naval documentation? 

A. I was requested by Chairman Courter to set up 

a meeting with senior level Navy officials, subsequent 

to a May 17th GAO hearing, to pursue greater depth of 

their documentation on their process, their internal 

process and how it worked. 

Q. And was it at that GAO hearing to your 

knowledge that the GAO indicated that the Navy's 

documentation was inadequate? 

A. Yes, I believe so. I guess that's publicly 

where they did it. Actually they had a report that they 

delivered on May 15th which, just due to our schedule, 

and I believe the days of the week, we had our hearing 

with them on the 1 7 t h .  What day it actually was -- by 
statute delivered their report on the 15th. 

Q. Was it your job to personally transmit or give 

to the Commissioners specific documentation or 

information that they had requested? 

A. In some instances. 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 14TH ST., N.W., 4TH FLOOR, WASH., D.C. 20005 (202) 289-2260 

* 



prior to the final deliberations on June 30th. 

Q. Do you know if the Navy supplied documentation - 
to support its analysis after the May 17th GAO hearing? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And do you know how long that process of 

supplying documents or information took? 

A. I can't tell you exactly when it completely 

ended because it was an evolving process and there was 

many times that they would send us a body of information 

and a piece of information and we would want it a little 

bit different Lay or there would be further questions 

relative to it. So it was a give-and-take process. 

So I can't tell you exactly when it ended. As 

far as I know, it could have been going up until the 

very end because we were refining data to the very end 

with the Commissioners. 

Q. So the Navy might have supplied documentation 

up until the last day or two before the Commission made 

its final recommendations; is that right? 

A. We continued to get information from all 

sources, general public, members of Congress, Department 

of Defense, Departments of Army, Navy and Air Force, up 
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until the 30th; As a matter of fact, it was my job to 

ensure that there was members of the OSD and department 

staffs available to answer questions on the final 

weekend, so they were prepared to do that up until the 

very end, and I believe the Air Force availed themselves 

of aski,ng some final questions. We met with members of 

the general public on that Saturday. 

Q. To your knowledge were members of the public 

permitted to give counterinformation or rebuttal to the 

documentation supplied by the Navy after the May 17 GAO 

hearing? 

A .  I believe up until the final day, yes. 

Q. And how exactly would the public make their 

rebuttal or counterinformation statements? 

A. There was various ways that was done. It was 

done in some instances in informalized hearings. It was 

done in other instances in face-to-face meetings with 

Commissioners and Commission staff, not necessarily 

together. Sometimes it was Commissioner supported by 

staff. Other times it was just staff, through written 

correspondence and through phone interviews or 

conversations. 
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Q. Is it fair to say, though, that information 

received from the Navy, the closer it came to the final 

deliberations of the Commission, was subject to less 

public scrutiny? 

A. I can't comment on public vigilance, but we 

made it completely clear to anyone who requested of us 

at any time in the process, and this was by official 

policy, that all of our records, regardless of when we 

received them, that they were open and available for 

scrutiny. 

Q. So you said you might have still been 

receiving information the weekend before the committee's 

final recommendations, right? 

MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. So are you telling me that the public would 

have been available to, would have been able to respond 

to that information that was made available to you 

hypothetically on the weekend before the committee's 

final vote? 

A. Well, I don't believe it is hypothetical 

because some parties did. 
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1 Q. I strike the hypothetical. Let me rephrase 

2 the question. 

3 A.  Yes. 

4 Q. That the public was able to respond to 

5 information received at the weekend before the 

6 Commission issued its report? 

7 A. If they made a request of us and we were there 

8 the entire weekend, that information was available for 

9 their consumption. 

Q. Were any such requests made to your knowledge? 

A. I wouldn't be aware. That was a hectic 

12 weekend for me and I wasn't in charge of requests to see 

13 information. 

14 Q. Who was in charge of that? 

15 A. It depends where the request came from. If it 

16 was a general public request, it would go to Mr. Walker 

17 through his office and probably our FOIA, Freedom of 

18 - Information Act officer, Glen Flood would respond to 
19 that. If it was a press inquiry, it would be handled by 

20 Ms. McCarthy. If it was a congressional inquiry, it 

2 1 would be handled by either Mr. Gallagher or Ms. 

22 Petzinger. Mr. Gallagher is our House representative, 
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can. 

THE WITNESS: I guess our fundamental concern 

or the Commissioner's fundamental concern with the Navy 

was a lack of knowledge as to how they translated their 

raw data into final decisions, how their base structure 

committee actually functioned. The Army had done a very 

similar exercise and they had produced a crosswalk 

between the parameters of their study and the parameters 

of our study, our final selection criteria as applies to 

military value. . 
We wanted to do a very similar exercise with 

the Navy and find out how their raw data study computed 

to their final decisions. And that staff meeting was 

designed so that everybody would clearly understand how 

we were going to go about doing that. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. So is it fair to say that you gave specific 

instructions that such a crosswalk should be done for 

the Navy? 

A. It was kind of agreement between a number of 

bodies. I think it was more a discussion than direction 

from on high. It was kind of this is the best way to 
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proceed. We thought it was a reasonable approach. 

I then went back to the Commissioners and I 

said: I think that we have seen that the Army process 

worked pretty well once we established its crosswalk, 

and Chairman Courter said that was exactly what he had 

had in mind and what he thought would be very 

beneficial. And with that, we went ahead with the plan. 

Q. And did the Navy, in fact, produce such a 

crosswalk? 

A. They did. 

Q. Did you ever personally review it? 

A. Yes, I guess I have read through it. 

Q. Did you have any opinions or reach any 

conclusions concerning the usefulness or validity of the 

crosswalk? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection as to opinions, but if 

you can answer, go ahead. 

THE WITNESS: You know, I will have to say I 

was impressed. I was pleased with the level of detail 

we were able to secure. It gave us a pretty good 

indication of how they had functioned. And it explained 

any anomalies, which was our greatest concern, that any 
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1 time they deviated in any way from a normal course of 

2 action on a plan, that it be explained and they did that 
".L* - -  - 

3 . very well with their crosswalk. 

4 BY MR. DAVISH: 

5 Q. Was there any anomaly in particular that you 

6 recall which needed explaining in the crosswalk? 

7 . . A.  No. The crosswalk was pretty 

8 straightforward. There was some problems with the 

9 translation of their raw data into final conclusions. 

10 And as a result, a couple of the Navy's recommendations 

11 were not implemented, where we found problems with the 

12 raw data -- let me correct myself -- where the 
13 Commissioners found problems with the raw data that was 

14 presented to them and explanations thereof. They 

15 reversed two of the Navy's decisions, in particular 

16 . naval air station at Whidby Island and Naval Training 

17 Center, Orlando. 

18 Q. There were GAO personnel tasked to the 

19 Commission staff; is that correct? 

20 A. That's correct. 

21 Q. Do you recall how many at the height of 

22 staffing? 
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A. There were four full-time representatives on 

our staff. But there was a fifth gentlemen who helped 

us in the latter part of May, maybe the beginning part 

of June, relative to the Corps of Engineers issue. 

The Commission kind of went back and forth as 

to whether they were going to take that issue up. When 

we finally got into a full-blown audit of it, GAO 

supplemented the number of people who could help us on 

that. And this gentleman was very knowledgeable, and 

his name escapes me, but there was four full time. 

Q. Do you know their names, the four full time? 

A. Yes, I do. Mr. Vic Zangla was the senior 

representative from GAO. Marv Casterline was the GAO 

representative on the Navy team. Jake Sprouse, Jacob 

Sprouse was the GAO representative on the Air Force 

team. And Roddell Anderson was the representative on 

t h e  Army team. 

Q. Did GAO pay them, do you know? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the fifth GAO person? 

A. I don't recall his name. That's the gentleman 

I referred to that was involved with the Corps of 
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presently hold, of Deputy Commander? 

A. An approximate - -  when I became the Deputy 
Commander, I believe Admiral Hekman had been at his 

position for a couple of years. 

Q. NOW, do you recall that during the deliberations 

of the Navy Base Structure Committee that you and Admiral 

Hekman appeared before that Committee and made various 

oral presentations? 

A. Yes. 

Q. During what period of time was that, 

approximately? 

A. I appeared at the middle of February, twice. I 

do not recall when Admiral Hekman appeared, but he did 

appear. 

Q. Did you ever appear with Admiral Hekman before 

the BSC? 

A. I don't believe I did. 

Q. Did anyone - -  and I do mean anyone from the 

Navy - -  ever request of you that you not appear before the 
Courter Commission during their public hearings? 

A. Could you repeat that, please? 

Q. Did anyone from the Navy ever request of you 
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that you not appear before the Courter Commission? 

A. No. 

Q. In any of its public hearings? 

A. No. 

Q.' Did anyone from the Navy ever direct you or 

order you not to appear before the Courter Commission in 

any of its public hearings? 

A. No. 

Q. And you know what I'm referring to when I say 

the Courter Commission? 

A. Yes. 

Q. To your knowledge, did anyone from the Navy ever 

request of Admiral Hekman that he not appear before the 

Courter Commission in any of its public hearings? 

A. I have no knowledge or no comment on that. 

Q. One way or the other? 

A. One way or the other, I just don't know. 

Q. To your knowledge, did anyone from the Navy ever 

direct or order Admiral Hekman not to appear before the 

Courter Commission in any of its public hearings? 

A. I don't know. I don't have any knowledge of 

that. 
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this inf omation flows matter course but did 

anyone from NAVSEA, to your knowledge, ask anyone at the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard to provide information 

specifically for the deliberations of the Base Structure 

Committee? 

A. I imagine they did. But I don't know exactly 

what it may have been. It may have been infomation to 

support closure costs. But I don't know the specifics. 

Q. You say you imagined they did. Is that because 

you have some recollection of general requests having been 

made, or is that because you're just speculating? 

A. Just general requests having been made. But I 

don't know the specifics. 

Q. What general requests? 

A. I must say I don't know the specifics. 

Q. You just know some requests were made? 

A. I know that there was information flow. But I'm 

not privy to the details. 

Q . Okay. 

Did any member of the Base Structure Committee 

or its staff ever ask you for your opinion as to whether 

the six nuclear-capable yards of the Navy should be 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C.  20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



26 

excluded from the deliberations of.the Base. Structure 

Committee? 

A. It was discussed at the Base Structure Committee 

Session that I was at. 

Q. In mid-February? 

A. Yes. 

Q. But did anyone ask f o r  your opinion? I 

understand you said it was discussed. But did anyone ask 

that - -  say Admiral Claman, we want to know how you feel 
about this subject? 

A. Put that way, I was asked. But I was not asked 

the specific question of six naval shipyards, nuclear 

shipyards, whether we should keep them. I was asked what 

do I think. And I told them. 

Q. What did you tell them? 

A. I told them they should be kept. 

Q. Did you t e l l  them why? 

A. Yes. 

19 Q. What did you tell them? 

20 A. Based on the projected nuclear work requirements 

. 21 through this decade, the existing six, public shipyards 

22 that have nuclear capability are required to accomplish 
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that work. 

Q. All right, is it fair to say, Admiral Claman, 

that approximately 1/2 of the work performed in nuclear- 

capable shipyards is on non-nuclear ships? 

A. No. 

Q. What are the true facts, to the best of your 

knowledge? 

A. It's greater than that. But I don't know the 

exact number. 

Q. Well, when you say greater than that, do you 

mean that the percentage of work performed in nuclear- 

capable .shipyards is greater than 50 percent for non- 

nuclear ships? 

A. No. 

Q. It's greater than 50 percent for nuclear ships? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does NAVSEA maintain statistics on that subject? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And do you maintain them on a fiscal-year basis? 

A. What we maintain is ship schedules. We don't 

maintain statistics on what is t h ~  break-down on nuclear 

work versus non-nuclear work. But it can be determined. 
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1 Q. Now, isn't it a fact that the Philadelphia Naval 

2 Shipyard, among other shipyards, does handle large, 
- - " "  

3 "" amphibious, and Aegis ships? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. Did you inform the BSC that certain kinds of 

6 work such as large, amphibious, and Aegis ships was, in 

7 'fact, increasing, and that was work that could be handled 
I .  

8 by the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

9 A. No. 

10 Q. To your knowledge, did anyone inform the BSC of 

11 that fact? 

12 A. No, not to my knowledge. 

13 Q. On the same page, under the heading Results of 

14 Capacity Analysis. 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. On the next-to-the-last paragraph on the page, 

17 beginning Dock Utilization. Do you see that? 

18 A. Right. 

19 Q. The document states, "Dock utilization is a 

20 matter of workload, not of efficiency. Drydocks seldom 

21 are projected to operate at 100 percent of available 

22 capacity, since this is a very high-risk posture. Navy 
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1 prudently reserves some capacity for emergent work, 

2 including voyage repairs; Navy targets for 70-percent 

3 utilization to allow response to fleet-emergent work: Do 

4 you see that? 

s A. yes. 

6 Q. Is that a true statement? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Was that information communicated by you to the 

9 BSC during its deliberations? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. Would you turn the page, to the one with the 

12 Bates No. 595, please? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Under the heading, Capacity Analysis, do you see 

15 that? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. You have a chart entitled Naval Shipyard 

18 Drydocks, Percentage Utilization by Shipyard Mission 

19 Category. Do you see that? 

20 A. Yes. 

Q. Now were these figures intended to cover all. 

22 eight naval shipyards and the drydocks established 
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therein? 

A. Yes. 

Q. SO that looking at line two of the table, Large 

CV/CVN-Capable, do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. CV refers to a carrier, is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. A non-nuclear carrier? 

9 A. Right. 

10 Q. And CVN refers to a nuclear carrier? 

11 A. Right. 

12 Q. So that particular line was intended to show the 

13 percentage utilization for all eight naval shipyards for 

14 their drydocks for large, non-nuclear, and nuclear 

15 carriers, correct? 

16 A. Right. 

17 Q. And if you look at the years from fiscal year 

18 1990 through fiscal year 1999, the lowest utilization is 

19 80.2 percent in fiscal year 1998; and the highest is 112.3 

20 in fiscal year 1990, correct? 

21 A. Correct. 

22 Q. All of them are above 70, correct? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Did you provide the information contained in 

this particular chart to the BSC during its deliberations? 

A. In the form, somewhat different form than a 

chart. 

Q. A view graph? 

A. A view graph which showed a line that had 

the - -  which had the available dock days, and then a bar 
that showed how much above or below the available dock 

days there was. So that the information in this chart, 

here, was taken from those view graphs, to the best of my 

knowledge. 

Q. In determining drydock capacity, isn't it 

correct that you assume 304 man days of drydock usage per 

year? 

A. I don't have the exact number, but you assume a 

certain - amount of time is set aside for maintenance of the 
_L - 
dock. And the setting up of the blocks, when you change- 

out to another ship coming in. 

Q. And isn't it a fact that the number you 

assume - -  
A. I do not know. 
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the one in Norfolk? 

A. It's lower. I don't know how much lower right 

now. 

Q. Well, would you say it was something between 50 

and 100 dollars lower? 

A. In that ballpark. 

Q. Now, when you made your presentation to the BSC, 

did you describe to the BSC what you have just described 

to me about the stabilized man-day rates, and the effect 

on the man-day rates of having a stable workload, or not 

having a stable workload, and the resulting impact on 

operating results because of that? 

A. No. 

Q. To your knowledge, did anyone inform the BSC of 

that infomation? 

A. No, but the inventor of the stdbilized man-day 

r a t e ,  o r  a person who is very knowledgeable of i t  was a 

member of the BSC. 

Q. Who is that? 

A. Mr. Nemfakos. He many not have been the 

inventor, but he is very knowledgeable of the stabilized 

man-day rate. 
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A. Right. 

Q. Option two, is to commence realignment of the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard in fiscal year 1993, and 

complete down-sizing to approximately 1,200 people in 

fiscal year 1995, while retaining the propeller facility, 

the NISMF facility, and the NAVSEES station. Is that 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. NOW, it was your recommendation in Claman No. 1, 

that option two be approved, correct? 

A. Right. 

Q. Why did you make that recommendation? 

A. The recommendation was made on the basis of the 

projected workload for the shipyard, which we had at 

NAVSEA. That showed the workload gradually tailing off. 

And in 1995, dropping down. The assumption in that 

workload was that the Kennedy would be worked at the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard. 

Q. All right. 

Now, you made this recommendation to Admiral 

Lang, correct? 

A. Correct. 
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1 Q. Do you know what happened to the recommendation 

2 after it was received by Admiral Lang? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Well, do you know whether it was ever submitted 

5 to the BSC? 

6 A. I had submitted it to the BSC in a previous 

7 presentation to them. 

8 Q. Do you mean in mid-February, 1991? 

9 A. Right. 

10 Q. And had someone asked you to submit your 

11 documentation to support your recommendation? 

12 A. The working group that was part of the support 

13 for the Base Structure Committee needed to have 

14 documentation for both NAVSEA options. 

15 Q. You just referred to a working group? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. Who was on this working group? 

18 A. I only know of a few members - -  Captain 
19 D r e ~ 0 n  - -  or Admiral Dremon had some people that worked 
20 for him, that were in charge of this working group: 

21 Admiral Lang had some people working for him that were on 

22 the working group. 
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Q. Anyone else you can recall? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you make any presentations to the Advisory 

Committee? 

A. Once I made a presentation. 

Q. When do you recall doing that? 

A. I believe it was around the 20th of December or 

thereabouts. 

Q. And just what was the relationship between the 

Advisory Committee and the BSC? 

A. None, that I know of. 

Q. Well, what did the advisory committee do with 

its information that it had gathered, to your knowledge? 

A. To my knowledged it was briefed to VCNO. I 

think the final briefing was given to someone. 

Q. Do you believe to Admiral Kelso? 

A. I believe it was. But I'm not positive. All I - - 

know is that a briefing was given somewhere. 

Q. Did the Advisory Committee have anything to do 

with the preparation of the VCNO study, which is also 

known as the OPNAV study? 

A. It could have been. I don't know those terns. 
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1 A. Yes. . 

2 Q. And in particular, the page with the Bates No. 

3 602. 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. In the third paragraph under the heading, 

6 Strategic and Operational Consequences, is the statement 

7 that "the closureii - -  referring to the closure of the 
8 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard - -  lldeparts from a long- 
9 standing Navy strategic and operational requirement which 

10 provided for two naval shipyards on each coast, capable of 

11 docking and repairing aircraft carriers." 

Do you see that? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Is that a true statement? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was that information communicated by you to the 

17 BSC? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

20 as Claman Exhibit No. 7 for identification, a memorandum 

21 dated February 4, 1991, from Admiral Claman to the Office 

22 of the Comptroller of the Navy, via the Deputy Chief of 
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1 understand it, and that you're answering it to the best of 

2 your knowledge. 

3 If you need to get up and stretch your legs or 

- 4 use the rest room or anything else, please let me know and 

5 we can take a short break. 

6 Do you understand all that? 

7 A. Ido. 

Q. Could you briefly describe your educational and 

9 professional background? 

10 A. Briefly, I'm a graduate of the United States 

11 Naval Academy. I have a Masters degree in Operations 

12 Research from the post-graduate school at Monterey. I'm 

13 an engineering duty officer in the Navy, having spent 

14 12-1/2 years as a line officer first and then shifted 

15 over. 

16 I spent the last 10 to 15 years in and around 

17 shipyards and shipyard business, having served at Pearl 

18 Harbor Naval Shipyard and then at Charleston Naval 

19 Shipyard as the production officer and now, of course, at 

20 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard for a little over 3 years as 

21 the shipyard commander. 

22 Q. Exactly when did you assume your post as 
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1 .  A. Absolutely none. 

2 Q. Did that surprise you? 

3 A. Yes, it did. 

4 Q. Did you ever talk to anyone officially or 

5 unofficially about the fact that you had not been 

6 consulted and that was a surprise to you? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. To whom did you speak about that? 

9 A. To the best of my recollection, I spoke to 

10 Admiral Hines about it, Admiral Heckman about it, and 

11 Admiral Claman about it, and a Mr. Bill Rizwyk, all 

12 unofficial, informal, and not at any length. 

13 Q. When, to the best of your recollection, did you 

14 speak to Admiral Claman with regard to your not being 

15 - consulted? 

16 A. It probably was when he first arrived in his 

17 current job at Naval Sea Systems Command. 

18 Q. And approximately when would that have been? 

19 A. I don't recall. A year and a half, perhaps. 

20 Q. So that would have been early 1990. 

21 A. I think so, but I'm very unclear on that. I 

22 can't remember when he took office. 
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THE WITNESS: I can't conclude anything along 

those lines. I don't know what they considered. We 

weren't part of the decision process. I don't know. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. But you would have expected that you would have 

been part of the decision process? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. He has already 

testified as to what his expectations were. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. It's fair to say then, you've never testified 

before the Navy's Base Structure Committee at any point. 

Is tk:at correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And you never testified before the President's 

Commission on base closure and realignment? 

A. We did have about a day with Mr. Jim Courter. 

Q. The "welt being, in this case? 

A. Myself and my staff. 

Q. Approximately when did that occur? 

A. I'm sorry, I don't recall. But it was during 

that period of time when the Base Closure Commission was 

visiting all of the sites that had been recommended for 
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1 closure. 

2 Q. And how long did that meeting take? 

3 A. Between ourselves and the naval base and naval 

4 station, it was basically all day - -  about 6 hours. 
5 Q. And were you there, during that entire time? 

6 A. Yes. I was. 

7 Q. Was the meeting stenographically transcribed? 

8 A. No. Itwasnot. 

9 Q. Did you take any notes on the meeting? 

10 A. I did not. 

11 Q. Do you recall, generally, what was discussed 

12 concerning the closure of the shipyard, in particular? 

13 A. Ido. 

14 Q. And could you describe that for me? 

15 A. There was a presentation made by the local 

16 community to Mr. Courter relative to the issues that they 

17 felt surrounded base closure and their view of why the 

18 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard should not be closed. 

19 Q. And did you express an opinion on that subject, 

20 or share any facts on that subject? 

21 A. At the time of that presentation, I did - -  or 
22 was asked an opinion and I shared, with Mr. Courter, what 
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1 I thought was appropriate. 

2 Q. And do you recall, in general terms, what that 

3 was? 

4 A. In general terms, it surrounded the issue of the 

5 need for philadelphiat s drydocks . 
6 Q. And what did you say on that subject? 

7 A. I told Mr. Courter, if he couldn't find a use 

8 for the drydocks, he should close the yard. 

9 Q. And how did he reply? 

10 A. He thanked me. 

11 Q. Do you believe there is a need for the drydocks, 

12 in your knowledge? 

13 MR. GARVEY: Objection. Once again, it is an 

14 opinion, but you may answer. 

15 THE WITNESS: In my opinion, yes. 

16 BY MR. DAVISH: 

17 Q. And upon what is that opinion based? 

18 A. Based upon the current, or at that time, 

19 proposed size of the Navy of about 450 ships, with a 

20 proposed building plan in the Navy's own maintenance 

21 plant. 

Q. Are you aware of whether the Base Structure 
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1 Well, excuse me. We work on all kinds of Navy surface 

2 ships. We also work on Coast Guard ships, and have done 

3 work on Army ships. 

4 Q. Is there any kind of naval vessel, other than a 

5 submarine, which you cannot do work on? 

6 A. Well, clearly, at the moment, we do not do 

7 nuclear work at the shipyard, and we do not do nuclear 

8 ships in our shipyard. 

9 Q. And why is that, to the best of your knowledge? 

10 A. Because that work can be done elsewhere. 

11 Q. Well, all work can be done elsewhere, 

12 presumably. 

13 Is there any particular reason that the 

14 conventional work on nuclear ships is done at other 

15 shipyards, as opposed to the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, 

16 to your knowledge? 

17 A. I don't know. 

18 Q. Can you tell me something about how the 

19 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard is awarded its work on naval 

20 vessels, through'what process that occurs? 

21 A. Well, some of it's assigned through the - -  at 
22 the time of the fleet scheduling conference annually, and 
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through the following year, to the next fleet scheduling 

conference? 

A. Or beyond. 

Q. Was there any difference in the results, 

regarding future work for the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, 

from the 1991 fleet scheduling conference, versus the 1990 

fleet scheduling conference? 

A. Yes, there were. 

Q. Could you describe those differences? 

A. Just briefly, some of the work we had in 1990 

was taken out of 1991. 

Q. Could you, to the best of your recollection, 

tell me what work that was - -  whether that is ship names 
or anything else? 

A. I believe there is an LHA. I would have to 

refresh my memory on that. 

Q. Could you tell me, approximately, what 

percentage of the naval shipyard's work was taken out in 

the fleet scheduling conference of 1991 which had already 

been assigned in 1990? 

A. No. I couldn't even guess. It was not a 

terribly significant number. 
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1 an opinion, but you may answer. 

2 THE WITNESS: Again, an opinion - -  second-hand 
3 information and I don't know from my own people - -  I don't 
4 know the accuracy of the information - -  indicated that the 
5 work had been taken out as a result of base closure. 

6 Q. Could you describe, if you can, what impact that 

7 will or may have in the next fiscal year or two fiscal 

8 years? 

9 A. Little to none, as I see it. 

10 Q. Would it have a more significant impact in 

11 fiscal years beyond the next two? 

12 A. No, I don't think so. 

13 Q. Has the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard bid for work 

14 on any naval vessels this year, 1991? 

15 A. Yes. We have. 

16 Q. Do you recall what vessels the Philadelphia 

17 Naval Shipyard bid on? 

18 A. A question on my part. Could you be specific 

19 about what hulls you are interested in? 

20 Q. Well, is the total number of hulls we're talking 

21 about extremely large? 

22 A. It is not, but I can't remember which I did in 
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BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. My question is, do you have an opinion as to why 

the Navy added costs, which you have described as 

irrational and wrong, to the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard's 

bid on the USS Clifton Sprague? 

A. I do. I simply think they made a mistake. 

Q. Do you think that that mistake, in your opinion, 

had anything with the Navy's determination to close the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection on grounds of relevancy 

again. You may answer. 

THE WITNESS: No. I don't think so. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Why then don't you think - -  pardon me. Strike 

that. 

Why do you think, in light of the fact that it 

was just a mistake as you say, that the Navy did not 

reverse its position with respect to adding costs onto 

your bid for the Sprague? 

A. Basically, the Navy does not agree with me. 

Q. Is the Navy typically irrational and wrong? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. 
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Q. Would that have been in early 1991? 

A. Probably. 

Q. So prior to the Josephus Daniels in 1991, you 

had encountered no conduct from the Navy, in regard to the 

bidding process, that was out of the ordinary? 

MR. GOULIAN: Excuse me. Were you referring to 

the USS Peterson? 

THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. The USS Peterson. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. The Josephus Daniels is not what you meant? 

A. No. I withdrew my bid on the Daniels. I'm 

sorry. 

Q. All right. So let me phrase that question 

again. 

Then it is your testimony that prior to your 

experience with the USS Peterson, which you say was 

probably early 1991, you had encountered no circumstances 

in the bidding process by the Navy which were out of the 

ordinary or in any way objectionable to you or the 

shipyard? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. You're suggesting that 

the bidding process was out of the ordinary here. There 
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A. No, I can't remember all the details of it. 

Q. Were you ever given the impression or the direct 

suggestion by any person that it would be ill-advised for 

you to express sentiments to other naval personnel or 

people on the Base Structure Committee or the President's 

Commission on Closure and Realignment? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. The witness has already 

testified that no one specifically told him not to speak. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. It is your testimony that no one ever told you 

not to speak, that is correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Did you ever hold the opinion for one reason or 

ill-advised or a poor idea for you to speak favorably 

about the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard to any person? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection, not relevant. It calls 

for an opinion. 

You may answer. 

THE WITNESS: Would you repeat the question, 

please? 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Did you ever form the impression or conceive the 
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belief that it would be ill-advised for you or a bad idea 

for you to say anything favorable about the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard to any person? 

A. No. 

Q. At the time of Mr. Courterfs visit to the naval 

shipyard, did you believe that there were positive things . 

you could have said favorable to keeping open the 

~hiladelphia Naval Shipyard, which for one reason or 

another you did not say? 

A. Not to my recollection. 

Q. You are familiar with the term RIF, or R-I-F? 

A. I am. 

Q. Can you explain what that means? 

A. It is a reduction in force. There are many 

rules associated with it, but generally when we speak of 

RIF we mean people would lose employment at the shipyard. 

Q. And what process must be followed in order for 

that result to be achieved, that people would lose their 

employment at the shipyard? 

A. I think you will have to be more specific. 

Q. Who initiates a request of that sort? 

A. I would initiate that. 
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Q. And on what grounds would you typically request 

an RIF? 

A. In the event that I simplycould not get enough 

work into the shipyard to keep all the people I had there 

productively employed. 

Q. Prior to this year, 1991, had you requested or 

sought authorization for a reduction in force at any time 

during your tenure as commander of the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard? 

A. Prior to 1991? 

Q. Prior to 1991. 

A. I don't think so. 

Q. Did you request authority for a reduction 'in 

force in 1991? 

A. Yes,Idid. 

Q. When was that? 

A. Several months ago. 

Q. Is it'fair to say that would have been July? 

A. It could have been. 

Q. Do you recall why at that time you sought a 

reduction in force? 

A. Ido. 
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1 Philadelphia shipyard of the reassignment of the Kennedy 

2 to a shipyard other than the Philadelphia shipyard? 

3 A. A difficult question to answer. But without 

4 compensating workload, we would close. 

5 Q. Approximately when would you close without 

6 compensating workload? 

8 Q. When in 1993? 

9 A. Probably the latter part, possibly early 1994. 

10 Q. Do you believe it is likely there will be 

11 compensating workload? 

12 A. I have no way of knowing. 

13 Q. So you asked for authority for the reduction in 

14 force, partly as a result of the possible reassignment of 

15 the Kennedy to another naval shipyard, is that correct? 

16 A. No, that is not correct. What I said was the 

17 advanced planning had not been started, that it needed to 

18 be started. And without the advanced planning there were 

19 a number of engineers that I would have to let go until 

20 such time as the funds were authorized to start the 

21 planning. 

22 Q. For a ship like the USS Kennedy and the work 
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involved on the USS Kennedy. Is it possible to say how 

much time before the ship arrives it is necessary to start 

work on the planning stage? 

A. In general, 2 to 3 years. 

Q. When was the USS Kennedy originally scheduled to 

come into the naval shipyard? 

A. Oh, years ago, in the SLEP program, surface life 

extension program. 

Q. But under that plan, when would the Kennedy 

arrive at the Philadelphia shipyard actually for work to 

physically to begin? 

A. In 1993, the latter part. 

Q. Do you know approximately how many persons would 

be employed at that time when the Kennedy came in, 

assuming it did come in, as a result of work on the 

Kennedy? 

A. Assuming a size work load of about 1.2 million 

man-days for a 28-month duration or so, somewhere in the 

neighborhood between 6,000 and 7,000 people in the 

shipyard. 

Q. And how long was the Kennedy work scheduled to 

last at the shipyard? 
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A. I believe it's 28 months. 

Q. So is it fair to say that where the Kennedy is 

assigned is critical to whether or not the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard survives past 1993? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. That calls for an 

opinion. 

But you may answer, if you know. 

THE WITNESS: In my opinion, yes. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

So you asked for approval of a reduction in 

force sometime in the last several months, that is 

correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Is it also correct that at some point you 

reversed your position on that and sought to rescind that 

authority? 

A. Would you restate that question, please? 

Q. Is it also true that at some point subsequent to 

your seeking authority for a reduction in force you 

changed your mind,about whether you needed authority for a 

reduction in force. Is that correct? 

A. Yes. 
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MR. DAVISH: I would like to mark as Plaintiff's 

Exhibit No. 3 the declaration of John S. Claman, C-l-a-m- 

a-n, dated September 4, 1991, which was submitted to the 

court in this lawsuit and has three attachments. 

(The document referred to was 

marked Plaintiff Exhibit No. 

3 for identification.) 

(Pause. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Have you read the declaration of John S. Claman, 

which is part of Jxhibit No. 3? 

A. I have. 

Q. Is there anything in that declaration with which 

you do not agree? 

(Pause. 

MR. GARVEY: Before you answer that question, 

I'm going to object to your calling for any opinion that 

you might disagree with. And you may limit your answer to 

facts of what you think is correct or incorrect. To the 

extent you have an opinion, you may state that. I would 

object to it. 

THE WITNESS: These appear to be correct. 
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response to my previous question? 

A. Would you ask your question again? 

MR. DAVISH: Could you read back the question 

before the break? 

THE REPORTER: "Question: Do you have any doubt 

that anything there is incorrect?" 

MR. GARVEY: I object to the form of the 

question on the grounds that that is too vague and can't 

be responded to appropriately. If you want to ask him a 

precise question, frankly I thought you had. 

MR. GOULIAN: He had already said that he didn't 

see anything in there. 

MR. GARVEY: I think it might be prudent to ask 

the question again. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Did you come in here intending to say something 

in particular, Captain Clark? 

A. No, I did not. 

Q. Captain Clark, we have in front of us the 

declaration of John S. Claman, Rear Admiral in the United 

States Navy. And it incorporates various memoranda that 

Admiral Claman says were received from you. Do you have 
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any problem with Admiral Clamants characterization of your 

memoranda or that they were received - -  pardon me, sent by 
you? 

A. I donot. 

Q. Is there any other aspect of this declaration 

with regard to your memoranda to Rear Admiral Claman that 

you do not agree with? 

MR. GARVEY: Objection. My objection is the 

same as to the form of the question. If you have some 

precise question - -  
MR. DAVISH: I think that is a precise question. 

MR. GARVEY: It's a general question as to 

whether he has any, as I understand it, disagreement with 

what is stated in a declaration. 

MR. DAVISH: I can take one sentence at a time 

if that is what you would like. I would like to know 

exactly whether the Captain is in agreement with -- __. 

everything that is said here without any doubt. He has 

expressed doubt. There was a long break with his counsel. 

I think I have every right to examine exactly what his 

problem is with the declaration of John S. Claman. 

MR. GOULIAN: He hasn't expressed any problem 
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with it. He hasn't expressed any doubt with it. Go 

ahead, take it one line at a time. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Directing your attention to paragraph 2 of the 

declaration of John S. Claman, first sentence. 

Attachment 1 is a memorandum dated August 16, 1991 which I 

received for the commander of the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard withdrawing an earlier request for approval to 

conduct a 2-stage reduction in force at the shipyard. 

Do you agree completely with what that sentence 

says? 

A. Ido. 

Q. The letter states there is no longer a need to 

conduct a reduction in force in fiscal year 1991 because 

of increased work and attrition and notes that a revised 

request will be submitted for fiscal year 1992. 

Do you agree with that sentence? 

A. I do. 

Q. Attachment 2 is a memorandum dated August 20, 

1991 which I received from the commander of the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard requesting approval to conduct 

a reduction in force in the second quarter of of fiscal 
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year 1992 as originally requested. 

Do you agree with everything in that sentence? 

A. I do. 
8 

Q. Attachment 3 is my letter forwarding 

attachments 1 and 2 to the Assistant Secretary of the 

Navy, Manpower and Reserve Affairs, which cancels the 

earlier request for approval of a reduction in force in 

fiscal year 1991 and states that a reduction in force in 

the second quarter of fiscal year 1992 will still be 

required. 

Do you agree with everything in that sentence? 

A. I do. 

Q. Did you have any communication with Admiral 

Clmm regarding any aspect of a reduction in force at the 

Philadelphia shipyard subsequent to July 1, 1991? 

A. Idid. 

Q. When was t ha t?  

A. Just during the time frame that we had adjusted 

our RIF request. 

Q. That would have been August of 1991? 

A. Yes, I believe so. 

Q. Was it a phone call or a face-to-face meeting? 
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him. He has testified with respect to the document. The 

document speaks for itself. He doesn't have to 

characterize whether other people might take a different 

view of it. 

MR. DAVISH: I'm asking him his view of it. 

MR. GARVEY: He doesn't have to characterize, it 

seems to me, his view of it either. 

MR. DAVISH: Are you instructing him not to 

answer? 

MR. GARVEY: Yes. This document speaks for 

itself. If you have another question, with respect to it 

ycu may ask it, but the document is what it is. He 

doesn't dispute that he signed the document; he doesn't 

dispute that he sent it. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Admiral Claman ordered you to request RIF 

authority for 800-and-some people for fiscal year 1992 for 

the shipyard. Isn't that correct? 

A. No. He did not order me to do that. 

Q. Were you free to disobey his directive, after 

that phone conversation to which you referred? 

A. Yes. I was. 
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w . 1 what happens with whether the Navy's determination to 

2 close the shipyard is reversed, the shipyard will still 

3 have to close. Isn't that right? 

4 A. If the Navy decides not to close the shipyard, 

5 then they must have a need for the drydocks, and if they 

6 have a need for the drydocks, then work will come. 

7 It is just the Navy would not make a decision 

8 not to close Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, without putting 

9 work in it, irrespective of mothballing. 

10 Q. Has there been a discernable effect on morale of 

11 the shipyard employees as a result of your RIF request for 

12 fiscal year '92 of 800-and-some people? 

13 A. No. It hasn't been discussed with the work 

14 force. 

15 Q. It hasn't been announced? 

A. Nor discussed. Either one. 

17 Q. Would you ordinarily announce or discuss a 

18 request for RIF with the work force before you sought that 

19 authority? 

A. No. In fact, it's quite the opposite. 

21 Q. Well, don't you seek input from some personnel 

22 at the shipyard? 
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Q. You still can't hazard an opinion - -  an educated 
opinion as to what the effect of that news of the ' 9 2  

RIF's will do to the shipyard morale? 

A. I think it would be not - -  probably not good, 
but it depends on how big the RIF would be, which is based 

upon on what kind of workload, or what the workload shifts 

are at the shipyard. 

It may never come to pass. There is always that 

potential, and you can be sure that I am working to try to 

not have a RIF. 

Q. What are you doing, in order to try to not have 

a RIF? 

A. Trying to bring work into the yard and let 

attrition takes its toll, and also working - -  have worked 
with the unions, in working out an agreement how to cross- 

train - -  not cross-train, but how to retrain craftsmen 
from one trade to another permanently, so that w e  can 
- - 

eliminate the imbalance problem. And then, shift and work 

and work the problem down as our shipyard attrits - -  and 
still make all the requirements that the Navy may have. 

Q. What kind of requirements do you make reference 

to? 
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question is I really don't know. I wasn't consulted and I 

wasn't there. 

MR. DAVISH: I think that's all. Thank you very 

much for your time. 

MR. GOULIAN: Can we take a break? 

(Recess. ) 

MR. GOULIAN: I just have a few questions. 

EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANTS 

BY MR. GOULIAN: 

Q. Captain Clark, you testified earlier that you 

were not specifically asked for your opinions concerning 

base closure, is that correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q. Does that mean that the people above you were 

not aware of your opinions? 

MR. DAVISH: Objection. How would he know? 

THE WITNESS: In my opinion, they were aware. 

BY MR. GOULIAN: 

Q. And how were they aware? 

A. Just through very informal conversations - -  a 
piece here, a piece there. 

Q. And is it correct that they never specifically 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 200'05 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



155 

1 asked you for information, or did they ask you for 

2 information? 

3 A. Did they did not ask me for information. 

4 Q. Did you provide any information? 

5 A. Yes, I did. 

6 Q. And what was that information? 

7 A. It is called the seven volumes of information 

8 that resulted from the memorandum that was written by 

9 Captain Overton, and we put it together for anybody who 

10 wanted to use it, that talked about what the value of the 

11 shipyard was and what needed to be done to keep it open. 

12 Q. And who did you send those seven volumes to? 

13 A. One volume is in the shipyard and one voluine 

14 went to NAVSEA. 

15 Q. By one volume, do you mean one set? 

16 A. One set, yes. 

17 Q. One went to NAVSEA? 

18 A. Informally, not under a letter of transmittal. 

19 Q. And when was that? 

20 A. Oh, early 1990 - -  shortly after that, sometime 
21 after that February 1990 memorandum, early to mid-1990's. 

22 Q. And did you express your opinions concerning 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 200'05 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



156 

1 base closure or closure of the Philadelphia shipyard in 

2 those volumes? 

3 A. In a sense we did, yes. 

4 Q. By "in a sensen could you clarify? 

5 A. Well, clearly, we gave forth some arguments 

6 relative to drydocks and other issues that could be useful 

7 in arguments to keep the shipyard open. 

8 MR. GOULIAN: I have no other questions. 

9 MR. DAVISH: I would like to ask a couple more 

10 questions. 

EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS 

BY MR. DAVISH 

13 Q. Captain Clark, it is a fact, isn't it, that you 

14 - -  or to your knowledge, no one at the shipyard ever had 

15 an opportunity to refute any facts or data gathered by or 

16 relied on by the Navy Base Structure Committee. Isn't 

17 that right? 

18 A. That is correct. 

19 Q. And the document that you referred to as the 

20 seven volumes of information, that was not prepared 

21 specifically to address the question of the potential 

22 closure of the Philadelphia Shipyard, was it? 
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A. , We received all the testimony that we thought 

was appropriate. The information that we gathered was 

gathered, as you know, from lots of different sources. 

One obviously was members of Congress testifying. 

On two different or more occasions we had public 

hearings. 

We had base visits. 

We had telephonic communication with people that 

advocated nonclosure of Philadelphia, including high 

elected officials. 

We had thousands of pieces of mail from the 

Philadelphia region. We received dozens of pieces of mail 

and backup data, information, reports from members of 

Congress both in Philadelphia and New Jersey. 

I met personally with a volunteer organization 

advocating Philadelphia be used as an aegis center of 

excellence in the office on at least two occasions, 

spending many minutes, probably hours, with them. 

I spoke on the telephone personally with 

advocates of those people that were biased in favor of 

keeping Philadelphia open. 

In order to make our decisions, making sure we 
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had all of the evidence, we continued to get evidence from 

multiple areas, from various sources, and that process 

continued from the day Philadelphia was placed, in fact 

.before because I met with a citizens group even before 

Philadelphia was placed formally on the list. That 

process continued right up until our final deliberations 

the last couple of days. 

Q. As Mr. Ted Koppel often says, Mr. Chairman, that 

was an excellent answer but not to the question which I 

asked. I would appreciate it if you would answer the 

questions which I ask. I know that you have a lot that 

you want to say, and you will have plenty of time to say 

it, but please answer the questions which I ask. 

I'm talking about Admiral H e w  and Admiral 

Claman now. I asked you why you made no effort to get 

them to testify. 

A. I don't think that was your question. That is 

certainly not my answer. 

The answer is that we invited, I know, Helman to 

testify if he wanted to before the comission. He 

indicated to our lead staff member who is a civilian, who 

was the head of the review and analysis team for the Navy, 
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Alex Yellin, that he did not want to testify personally 

but he would be happy to discuss the entireprocess, his 

decision, his thinking with him. He did so, and so we 

have the benefit of his thinking through Alex Yellin. 

There was a long telephone conversation. 

Senator Arlen Specter spoke with H e m  at least 

on two occasions, and all that Admiral Heluxma put in 

writing was given to the conmrission and, as a matter of 

fact, was a very interesting letter to the editor, I 

think, that He- subsequent to all of this published or 

had published in the Philadelphia Enquirer, which I read 

with great interest, by the way. 

Q. I1msureyou did. 

Didn't it disturb you when you learned that 

~dmiral Hekman had intended to testify before the 

commission but had been asked by a senior Navy official 

not to? 

A. That is not - -  it is my understanding that is 

not Hekman's recollection. The best thing to do, I guess, 

is to depose him. All I did was read his op ed or his 

letter to the editor, and he said it was his decision, and 

he gave us all the information he had. 
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1 Hekman? 

2 A. No. 

3 Q. Whynot? 

4 - A. Ask him. He was invited to testify. 

5 Q. I'm asking you. Mr. Yellin told you that he was 

told by a Navy senior official not to testify. Didn't 

that disturb you? 

A. Did it disturb me? What we wanted was to get 

all of the data so we could make an informed, unbiased 

decision. 

Q . Independent ? 

A. Independent decision, absolutely. And we had 

access to Heknanls statements when it came to 

Philadelphia. They were clear so anybody reading them 

would understand them. And in addition - -  and this is not 
something that we were required to do - -  I had our staff 
talk to him, and AlexYellin spoke to him, I think, on 

various occasions more than once, reported back to the 

members of the comission. Senators spoke to Admiral 

Hekman, so the opinion of Heknan was part of the record 

and information we used in our deliberation. 

Q. Did you permit Senator Specter to testify at a 
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the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A. In recognizing the wrath may come down upon my 

head, I want to answer the question in the following 

.manner, and it's the only honest way to answer the 

question. 

And that is, the commission created an 

opportunity for all members of Congress to testify. We 

had two full days of hearings in Washington, D.C., I 

believe, for members of Congress. We had more than two 

full days of hearing, but we had two for members of 

Congress. We probably received the testimony of over 200 

members of Congress. 

Also, those members were permitted to testify 

during the base visits and the hearings that we had, the 

public hearings that we had out of Washington, D.C. There 

came a time when the public hearing, when the public 

hearing - -  when I talk about a public hearing I'm talking 
about appropriate public notice in the Federal Register so 

there would be a hearing that was publicized.and broadcast 

on radio and television. 

There came a time when the commission had to 

move on and hear from other people besides members of 
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Congress, and that was very late in the process. 

Therefore, there came a time when members of Congress were 

urged to supply all additional information, evidence, 

-documents, arguments, testimony, either verbally, 

telephonically or in writing. 

So the appropriate answer to the question was 

that Senator Arlen Specter, Congressman Kurt Weldon, and 

every member that represented people in South Jersey or 

the Philadelphia region in Pennsylvania continued to 

supply us with data and information which was in fact part 

of the official record which was read, digested and used 

by the commission in rendering its decision. 

Q. Do you deny, Mr. Chairman, that Senator Specter 

'asked to appear at the public hearing of your commission 

after he received the memorandum from Admiral Hekman which 

the memorandum is dated 15 March 1991 which he didn't 

obtain or he didn't obtain it from the Navy incidentally, 

that he asked to appear and was refused? 

A. I remember - -  and I'm going to answer this in a 
yes or no as soon as I elaborate on it. 

I remember Arlen Specter calling me up a few 

times. We talked a number of times about this. He's a 
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wonderful advocate of his position and does a wonderful 

job, and he talked about in great detail the new data he 

said he got, the Admiral Hekman letter or information, and 

-we gave him, I gave him an ample opportunity to explain it 

to me, and he did, as did many other members of Congress, 

not only he but many members redundantly reexplained as if 

it was brand new material, something that we had been 

looking at and studying for 20 days. 

Q. You had the Admiral Hekman memo for 20 days? 

A. Sure. By the time we rendered our decision, 

more than that. 

Q. For 20 days before Senator Specter said - -  
A. No, before we rendered our decision. There came 

a time, and I dont t recall the dates, that had set 

aside, the commission had set aside the last remaining 

days for decisions, deliberations and decisions. There 

had come a time just like in a court of law when you had 

to move on and deliberate and make a decision. 

And I remember Arlen Specter coming on one of 

those days that was not for purposes of testimony and 

sitting down in the witness chair and saying could he be 

recognized to testify, and I said no, we are here to make 
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decisions. We are voting today. And he quietly left. 

And that was very, very late. That could have 

been the Friday - -  let me see. We met on Friday and then 

on Sunday, the 30th, and so it was probably Friday the 

28th. But I'm guessing. It was very, very late that he 

asked. He came to the hearing when everybody knew, we had 

notified the Congress, everybody that the public hearing 

and the testimony ended, and we were there to now 

deliberate and make decisions, and the Senator asked to 

testify, and he was not provided that opportunity. 

Q. Would you identify for me, sir, the data, all of 

the data that you or your commission received from Naval 

Sea Systems Command? 

A. Describe all the data? 

Q. Tell me what you got from them. You said you 

got all of that data that you needed from everybody. What 

did you get from Naval Sea Systems Command? You didn't 

get anything, did you? 
-- 
_I - 

A. The best way to describe the data that we 

received is to show it to you, and we received a lot of 

data from the Navy, and I'm sure you have access to that 

data. 
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1 you where we got it from. 

2 Q. This was from the Navy. 

3 A. I don't know where it came from. 

4 - Q. This was produced by the Navy. 

5 A. You have to understand our office. I don't 

6 necessarily know where we get data-. 

7 Q. Well, we have one from your office. We will get 

8 it and mark it, but there was one in your file I am told, 

9 and so we will get that and mark it, too. 

10 But the point that I'm trying to get at is after 

11 a United States Senator produces documents from the Navy 

12 which are relevant to the matter which you are considering 

13 which had not been produced by the Navy and asked to be 

14 recognieed at a public hearing of your commission, you 

15 turned him down; correct? 

16 A. No. I spoke with him on the phone. I wrote him 

17 saying to send me all information and data, whatever 

18 arguments you had. He spoke individually to other 

19 commissioners. And so I didn't turn him down in the sense 

20 that he was provided Full opportunity to argue his case 

21 and to present data and information, and he did. 

22 Q. At a public hearing? 
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A. No, but our - -  

Q. So you turned him down for a public hearing? 

A. But you have to understand I went through that, 

-and I explained it to you. It was very late in the 

process when testimony was over for everybody. 

Q. I just want to refresh your recollection, sir, 

that what he wanted to testify about was a relevant 

document from the Commander of the Naval Sea Systems 

Command which had not been turned over by the Navy to your 

commission. 

A. He had the opportunity to argue his case. He 

did so in person to me. He did so on the telephone to me. 

He wrote me letters. 

Q. All I'm trying to establish that you refused him 

the opportunity to testify at a public hearing. 

A. I already answered that question the best way I 

know how. It'can't be answered by yes or no, and you have 

to accept the answer. 

Q. . And that was after you knew that he had obtained 

from some source, not directly from the Navy, a document 

that the Navy had not seen fit to produce to this 

commission? 
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MR. ANDERSON: There's a lot in that question, a 

lot of parts to it that, as far as I'm concerned, are not 

of record. 

But to the extent that you know the answer, go 

ahead. 

THE WITNESS: I know the answer by saying that 

Arlen Specter, Kurt Weldon, Rob Andrews and probably 10 or 

15 other members of Congress spoke to me personally, wrote 

letters to me and spoke to me on the telephone, giving me 

all of the-information and all of the arguments. So that 

they were provided the opportunity to come to the 

commissioners and give us their story, and they did. They 

used that opportunity. We purposely kept the record open 

so that we could avail ourselves of the information. 

Obviously during the two last days that were set 

aside for decisionmaking, we could not accept additional 

testimony from members of Congress. Otherwise, there 

wouldn't have been time to make the decisions. 

Q. It didn't disturb you that the Navy didn't 

produce these documents? 

A. I would have been happy had they produced them, 

but I'm glad we got them. I think that shows, frankly, 
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how this particular process was so much better than 1988 

because of the public nature of it. 

Information was received from various sources, 

from the comunities, from members of Congress, from 

private citizens, from labor organizations, and our record 

was open until the last three days of deliberations. 

Q. You are aware that under the statute it was the 

obligation of the Navy to provide your commission all 

documentation which was relevant to the consideration 

before you? Isn't that correct? 

MR. ANDERSON: I ' m  going to object to that 

insofar as it calls for a legal judgment about what the 

statute requires. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. What was your understanding of the statute? 

MR. ANDERSON: I object to that, too, but he can 

answer it . 
THE WITNESS: May I look at the statute? 

MR. ANDERSON: Do you want to cite him to a 

specific section? 

THE WITNESS: What part of the statute are you 

referring to? 
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r 1 the respect that the recordkeeping was not as good and it 

2 was, therefore, in the beginning difficult to find out how 

3 they complied with the final selection criteria. 

4 - Q. Recordkeeping not as good? 

5 A. Obviously it wasn't as good. 

6 Q. Mr. Chairman, you know the General Accounting 

7 Office concluded the recordkeeping of the Navy was totally 

8 inadequate for them to even tell you whether they believed 

9 that the Navy had followed the processes required by the 

10 statute or not; isn't that correct? 

11 A. Now you are certainly exaggerating. 

12 Q. I am? 

13 A. Yes. 

Q. You as Chairman of the commission said I 

exaggerated in what I just said? 

A. Yes. I think that is an exaggerated statement. 

Q. In what way? 

A. I will explain really what happened. We, 

ourselves, as you know, and you will probably mark in 

evidence one of the statements I made at a press 

conference, had difficulty in the record when it came to 

the Navy, and the reason we had difficulty was that they 
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used to determine these closures part of an old report 

called the VCNO Study that in conjunction with the 

deliberative group that had oral discussions totally 

-permitting the venting of contrary and opposite decisions. 

So the Navy was at least blessed with the dissenting 

opinion throughout this whole thing. 

And we and GAO, because the records of those 

discussions were not verbatimly transcribed, had 

difficulty making sure that the decisions based on 

discussions and the VCNO Study could be translated'into 

the eight final selection criteria. 

That was the GAO1s problem. That was our 

problem. That, therefore, required us to meet with the 

Base Structure Committee of the Navy - -  
Q. In private? 

A. I'm in the middle of a sentence. 

Q. In private? 

A. I'm in the middle of a sentence. 

MR. ANDERSON: Can he finish his answers? Then 

you can follow up. 

THE WITNESS: Meeting with the Base Structure 

Committee such that a proper map could be made and we 
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could translate one language into the other. 

When it was done, everybody, all the 

commissioners, Alex Yellin who headed our review and 

analysis for the Navy, was satisfied that then finally we 

could justify the Navy's conclusions when it came to all 

of their facilities throughout the United States. 

So the problem really was recordkeeping, in that 

we had to go back and translate basically from one 

language to another when it was eventually done. 

I might add, Mr. Kauffman, GAO had people 

working in our office day in and day out. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q.. For you, not for the GAO. 

A. The GAO people were working for the independent 

nonpartisan cornmission that rendered an independent 

decision. 

Q. Not working for the GAO? 

A. Of course not. 

Q. Don't say it substituted the duty of the GAOl 

because you wouldn't want to mislead us, would you? 

A. Of course not. Nor did you want to mislead me. 

My point here is that those individuals that 
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1 the beauty of the process. We were not advocates. We 

2 were objective. We went 'with no biases. 

3 Q. You did expect the Navy to demonstrate to you 

4 that they had complied with the mandates of the statute? 

5 A. That is correct, and that is why we had the 

6 meeting with the BSC commission on a number of occasions, 

7 and finally wetre satisfied that we could track their 

8 process and we're satisfied. 

9 Q. You did that in private; right? 

19 A. It was done not by any commissioner. It was 

11 done in our office. 

12 Q. Mr. Yellin did it; right? 

13 A. Others were there, I ' m  sure. 

14 Q. In private? 

A. I'm not sure what you mean by private. 

16 Q. It wasn't in public. No member of the public 

17 was there to hear this? 

-18 A. It wasn't a hearing. The statute requires that - 
19 our hearings be in public. It doesn't require every time 

20 I go in the office that I have to notify the Washington 

21 Post and CNN. Our hearings were supposed to be in public, 

22 The information we received was always made to public to 
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us. In fact, any reporter at any time could come in our 

office at any occasion, night or day, and Xerox anything 

on any desk whatsoever unless it was classified, and we 

adhered to that principle. 

Q. Do you know why Admiral Claman thought the Nan1 

Shipyard should not be closed in Philadelphia? 

MR. ANDERSON: He said he didn't even know that 

was Admiral Claman's position. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. You don't even know that? 

A. No, I don't-. I don't recall. I'm sure if I was 

reintroduced I might recall, but I don't know. 

Q. Did you ever see Admiral Claman's memorandum to 

the Chief of Naval Operations? 

A. Not to my recollection. 

Q. Did you know that a March 1991 memorandum from 

Admiral Claman, who then was Commander of the Naval Sea 

Systems Command, to the .Chief of Naval Operations 

confirmed that the Navy's utilization of shipyards for 

large amphibious ships and other large vessels would be 

between 82.4 percent and 106.9 percent for the fiscal 

years 1992 through 1997? 
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As a matter of fact, there were people in the 

Navy that feel that we should have even looked at another 

shipyard to bring down. Eight public shipyards, and we 

took down one to make it seven. Frankly, that is 

probably, looking at the evolving world situation, is not 

sufficient. We will have to make further cuts in future 

years to be efficient. That is what we're trying to do. 

Difficult, tough decisions, not pleasant ones but ones 

that have to be made. 

Q. How did you determine that the Navy complied 

with the eight selection criteria developed by the DOD? 

A. That probably the answer to that is best made by 

Alex Yellin. What we did was - -  and we went over this 
earlier this afternoon - -  was to look at the VCNO study 
and then interview the group that comprised the BSC and 

talk to them and were satisfied that we could interpret 

their old data and translate it into the eight final 

selection criteria. 

And the commission itself and then through 

questions of the Navy officials, through questions of 

people that testified at public hearings, through 

telephone conversations with members of Congress, et 
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cetera, and experts on both sides of the issue made their 

own independent judgments that, indeed, there was excess 

capacity, and the only way for these shipyards to be 

' efficient was to close one. 

And then the question became which one do you 

close, and our unanimous decision although it was 

difficult was that Philadelphia is the one to close 

because of various reasons. 

Q. Mr. Chairman, you didn't hear the testimony of a 

single Naval person who did not favor closure of the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, did you? 

A. Of course, nor would I expect to. Keep in mind 

that the Navy is just like the A m y  and the Air Force. We 

didn't expect some high ranking Air Force general to 

testify that Moody - -  not Moody. Well, I'm trying to 

think of an Air Force facility - -  Bergstrom Air Force Base 
should be closed or should remain open. 

Obviously, the Navy's job was to abide by the 

statute just like the other services, was to render their 

best judgment as to the way to match and fit forces with 

structure, which is a difficult but a necessary 

requirement. And once the Navy or the Army or the Air 

. . 
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Q. And so you were so advised, is that correct? 

A. And not only were we advised, we complied with 

the statute requirements of openness and publication. 

Q. Mr. Chairman, I thought you just told me not 5 

minutes ago that Mr. Yellin and your group went over to 

the Base Systems Committee in private and got information 

from them? 

A. Well, first of all, it was in our office. And, 

second of all, it was not a hearing. It was not a base 

visit. It was not a commission deliberation. This was 

staff only. And, obviously, when they met, they were not 

required under any stretch of the imagination to publish 

in the Federal Register and declare anopen, public 

meeting. And that is the way you notify the public. 

Q. They did not even take any minutes? 

A.  What counsel was talking about, you read the 

words, you read them very carefully. Everything he said 

was complied with. Everything he said is true. - 

Q. It requires all your deliberations? 

A. The deliberations. 

Q. All your discussions? 

A. Are public discussions amongst commissioners. 
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Q. It did not say public discussions. 

A. Our discussions amongst commissioners. That's 

what the statute requires. It doesn't require that when 

two staff members sit down in our office there has tombe 

public notification in the Federal Register. 

Q. If any member of the press wanted to drop by 

your office, sit at your desk, and open your drawers, they 

could take anything out of there they wanted to? 

A. Some did I think. 

Q. That is the kind of openness that you, yourself 

understood the statute to require? 

A. Yes. Everything we got in our office was open 

for the press to Xerox, unless it dealt with classified 

information, of course. 

Q. What minutes were taken of these meetings 

following the General Accounting Office report that your 

people had in secret with the Navy people? 

A. Now, the meetings that you are attempting to 

characterize, which I don't agree with the 

characterization - -  
Q. You have already said they were not open. They 

were not public. So they are in secret, aren't they? 
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had lots of meetings. 

Q. All right, the BSC meeting, the Base Systems 

Committee. 

A. The Base Structure Committee. 

Q. All right, the Base Structure Committee. These 

meetings were called because the GAO said to you that you 

did not have enough information, they did not have enough 

information? 

A. No. That was one of the reasons, but the real 

reason is we wanted to independently, regardless of what 

GAO had said, we wanted to independently corroborate the 

process, the fairness of it, and the accuracy of it, and 

validity of the data. 

Q. And that was not a secret meeting, right? 

A. When you say a secret meeting, there was staff, 

our staff met with the BSC without public notice in the 

Federal Register because there was no statutory 

requirement that that be done. 

Q. Why did you refuse Senator Specter admission to 

those meetings? 

A. I didn't. 

Q. Who did? 
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1 A. I don't think he was ever denied access to those w 
2 meetings, to be honest with you. 

3 Q. So if it was done, it was done not to your 

4 knowledge? 

5 A. That would be correct. 

6 Q. And you would have let him in there? 

7 A. Sure, if he wanted to come down he could come in 

8 there. I remember the area very well. There was I think 

9 maybe one or two staff members of Senator Specter's staff 

10 that either called up or faxed a letter saying they were 

11 coming down. I was, I believe, on the West Coast at the 

12 time, or someplace, travelling to bases. 

13 And I discussed this with the Chief of Staff, 

14 Matt Behrmann. And I said in order to make sure that our 

15 staff meetings are business sessions and not sessions 

16 where hundreds of staff members from the House of 

17 Representatives would inundate if a Senator or a member of 

18 the House in writing asked that a staff member visit any 

19 of our meetings, the answer would be yes. 

20 Q. Well, why wasn't that complied with? 

21 A. Excuseme? 

Q. Why was that not complied with? 
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A. I1msure it was. 

Q. You are sure that Senator Specterls staff was 

pemitted access to those meetings? 

A. But I'm sure by the time that occurred the 

meetings were over. In other words, I was advised of - -  
Q. You were going to open them up after they were 

over? 

A. No. I said, in other words, I was on the West 

Coast I think when we were totally inundated with staff 

coming by, dropping by, and calling up, et cetera, which 

was not too much of a problem, although, you know, we had 

space limitations. And Matt Behrmam indicated to me that 

there was one or two very aggressive staff members in 

Arlen Specterls office that wanted to drop by. I said, 

well, I want to make sure they're authorized to do so. 

So if any staff member gets written 

authorization or request from a member of Congress, that 

then the staff member can in fact sit in on any meeting. 

Although that of course is not required under the statute 

either, but we wanted to do that by way of accommodation. 

Q. But it was too late then; the meetings were 

already held? 
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article, the second full paragraph, which reads, "Courter 

identified two problems with the work of the 1989 

Commission. 'It was a very secretive process,' he said. 

-Neither the GAO nor members themselves, nor committees 

felt that they were included or could even follow the 

work. And when the list for base closings was made 

public, the commission was eliminated. 

"The second problem was that some of the data 

was not independently reviewed by outside objective 

experts. So, some of the inf omation was incorrect. 

Did you say that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then you went on to say the two problems had 

been rectified. "'The GAO has a role,' he said, 'it 

reports before and after the commission makes their 

report. Members of Congress will have total access to our 

work and to the process. The hearings are open to'the 

press, the public, and Washington, and in different parts 

of the country.'" 

Did you say that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When you referred to the second problem of the 
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w 1 earlier process, that some of the data was not 

independently reviewed by outside objective experts, so 

some of the information was incorrect, and that problem 

-had been rectified. And that rectification came in the 

role of the GAO, is that right? 

A. No. Not only - -  what I'm referring to is 
public, press, outside technical experts that presented 

their written arguments to the commission. Members of 

Congress who basically.acted as a pipeline of information 

and technical data that was, by virtue of creating this 

process, whereby commission deliberations and hearings, 

public hearings, and base visits, it permitted the public 

.and the experts that community leaders and elected leaders 

could submit their own data and information. 

I mean, they sometimes would say that the runway 

is not 7,800 feet, but in fact it's 8,400 feet, and that 

makes a difference. And we would check it out. So that 

was part of the process this time that wasn't available 

when the Ribicoff-Edwards Commission met. 

In other words, communities - -  and I know I 
shouldn't go on - -  but many communities retained retired 
military people, attorneys, experts in data, that would 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



93 

submit information. And we would critically look at that 

information until we came up with the correct information. 

Q. Is it true to say to ensure GAO1s role during 

.the 1991 commission's analysis, Cpngress gave GAO a clear 

role in the 1991 process? 

A. Is that an accurate statement? 

Q. Yes. 

A. It depends upon what the role means. But the 

answer is yes. 

Q. Well, your counsel is showing you that you said 

.that you in your own book, didn't you? . 
MR. ANDERSON: Well, it is the commission 

report. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Well, that is your book, isn't it? 

A. Yes. But even in my book it depends on what you 

mean by role. Obviously we know what we meant by role 

since we wrote it and we agree. 

Q. The statute says that by no later than May 15th 

of each year in which the Secretary makes such 

recommendations, the GAO shall transmit to Congress and to 

the commission a report containing a detailed analysis of 
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1 the Secretary's recol&ndations and selection process, 

2 right? 

3 A. Correct. 

4 .  Q. That is provided for by the statute? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And the Navy prevented the GAO from doing just 

7 that, didn't they? 

8 A. No. That wouldnlt be my interpretation. The 

9 GAOdidanalyzetheNavylsprocessandconcludedafter  

10 that analysis and the interviews that it was 

11 insufficiently documented for them to render an 

12 independent judgment on the process. The GAO did exactly 

13 what they were supposed to do. 

14 Q. And that is what you understand the GAO report 

15 to say? 

16 A. Yes. Well, you read it before. That is what 

17 they said. They kept on talking about insufficient 

18 documentation. I think they used that word 5 times. You 

19 read it. 

20 Q. But they made other conclusions too, didn't 

21 they? 

22 A. That was their main one, the lack of 
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documentation for GAO to render a decision on the 

correctness of the process. That's generally in layman's 

terms what the GAO criticism was. 

Q. Maybe you did not hear me before, but I will 

read it again. on page 48 of the GAOrs report, which was 

marked as Courter 5 .  The GAO says, "In addition to the 

limitations placed on our review by the lack of adequate 

d~cumentation.~ 

A. Yes. That's why I said they lacked 

documentation. 

Q. But now they are saying in addition to the 

limitation placed by reason of inadequate documentation 

they identified three problems with the Navy's process. 

A. But the point is the GAO couldn't verify that 

the Navy complied with the statutory mandates because the 

record was incomplete. Everything stems from the 

inadequacy of the record, which is the reason we met with 

the BSC and others to try and interpret what they did. 

And we did with satisfaction. 

But everything sterns from the fact that the 

documentation of the record was incomplete. It's 

important to keep in mind that at no time did anybody that 
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I know of, outside obviously of people that took total 

disagreement with the work product, but no one in the 

conrmission, no commission members, nor did GAO, ever say 

the Navy's opinion is wrong. 

What they said was we can't verify that they 

adhered to the statutory requirements because the record 

is incomplete and documentation was not there. 

Q. Maybe you did not read the GAO report very 

carefully, Mr. Chairman. They concluded the Navy had not 

treated all bases- equally, didn't they? Which the Act 

requires them to do. 

A. There was insufficient documentation for them to 

make that determination. Everything stemmed from the fact 

that they couldn't document it. 

Q. Xn their report at page 48, they say, for 

example, the committee had given identical ratings to two 

naval stations on each of the first four DOD selection 

criteria, but had assigned an overall rating of green to 

one and yellow to the other. 

Similarly, the committee had assigned identical 

ratings to six naval air stations for the first four DOD 

selection criteria. Four bases were assigned an overall 
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rating of yellow, and two an overall rating of green. 

These inconsistencies are significant because any base 

given an overall rating of green based on the first four 

.DOD selection criteria was excluded from further closure 

or realignment consideration. 

In explanation, committee members stated that 

not all yellows are equal and not all greens are equal. 

Since the committee did not document these differences we 

could not determine the rationale for its final decision. 

MR. ANDERSON: What is the question? 

THE WITNESS: I understand the question. 

MR. ANDERSON: I do not understand the question. 

I need to understand the question. 

BY M R .  KAUFFMAN: 

Q. What documentation did you later get, if any, on 

this sub j ect? 

A. The interpretation, in other words, what we 

mentioned before, all the GAO was saying here, and it was 

significant, there is no doubt about it, was the fact tha,t 

they couldn't render an objective decision as to whether' 

the Navy complied with the statutory requirements in 

applying the eight selection criteria, and also making 
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sure that the force structure was complied with. The 

bases that met the force structure, the docurnentation was 

not there. 

What we did was to analyze the VCNO study, then 

to sit down with members of the BSC, the Base Structure 

Committee, and interview them. And based on their 

explanation, we could then make an independent judgment 

that their conclusions, their conclusions with regard to 

which facility should be realigned and which should close, 

were based on information which could be translated into 

the final selection criteria. 

Q. What documentation did you get of that? 

A. We have the explanation of those members of the 

BSC and the documents they provided us. You would have to 

talk to Alex Yellin about it. 

Q. You do not know? 

A. Offhand I don't. I mean, talk to Alex Yellin 

about it. He was there. I was not at the meeting. 

Q. YOU know that the GAO concluded that the Navy 

had not complied with the Secretary of Defense's 

record-keeping and internal controls requirements, isn't 

that right? 
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A. Yes. That has to do with control and 

record-keeping - -  is basically the same thing. The record 

was insufficient, and therefore they couldn't determine 

.the rigthness or wrongness of their ultimate decisions on 

which bases should be closed. 

Q. But the Navy had not complied with those 

requirements? 

A. Well, the language is I think pretty clear. And 

the language in the GAO report says many, many times that 

there was an insufficient record. In essence, the 

documentation was lacking and therefore, they couldn't 

comment on the correctness of the process. And therefore, 

we rectified that. 

Q. And the statute required that the GAO be able to 

do that, didn't it? 

MR. ANDERSON: Look, the statute speaks for 

itself. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

. Q. Did you ask the Navy to give the GAO any more 

information so that it could file an amended report? 

A. I'm almost positive not. Because our job was 

simply not to make the GAO happy, but was to get the job 
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done. And GAO complied with the statutory requirement by 

rendering a written opinion on the process by May 15th, 

and did so. Then the torch was passed to us. 

And we did our work and made sure that we could 

understand their process, to the degree that we were 

satisfied that they complied with the selection criteria, 

and we did. 

Q. So your testimony is that you did nothing to 

enable the GAO to go any further than it was able to go in 

its report from which we have been reading? 

A. Our job - -  
Q. Just answer the question. 

A. The answer is yes, and then you always permit me 

to give my explanation, and I appreciate that. Our job 

was not to make the GAO happy. Our job was to make sure 

that we rendered independent, accurate decisions on which 

bases should be closed. And we had to very immediately go 

to our task, sitting down and digesting all the reams of 

data and information, and also understanding the process 

of the Navy, which we did. 

And we were satisfied that they complied with 

the selection criteria. And applied those selection 
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criteria appropriately and came up with - -  in those cases, 
we agreed with them. We didn't agree with them on Whidby 

Island or Orlando, but on Philadelphia we did, that there 

.was no error in their decision. There was no "substantial 

deviation." 

Q. But the fact is the Navy, by its lack of 

documentation, or for whatever other reason, prevented the 

GAO from performing its statutory role in this instance, 

isn't that correct? 

A. My interpretation would be different than maybe 

yours. It's a very honest one. My interpretation is that 

the GAO fulfilled its statutory requirement when they 

published that report. That was their role. Obviously 

we, understanding congressional intent, bending over 

backwards to add credibility to our process, invited and 

actively had GAO personnel sitting day in and day out, 

working with our Navy team. 

Q. The GAO concluded because the committee did not 

document the rationale for its decisions, we could not 

comment on the committee's closure and realignment 

recommendations based on the process. 

A. That's right. 
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Q. You did absolutely nothing to require the Navy 

to give additional information to the GAO so that they 

could file an amended report? 

A. We required that the Navy give it to us so that 

we could do our statutory job. 

Q. So you did not require the Navy to give anything 

to the GAO? 

A. No. To us. We interpreted - -  let me answer the 
question. Please, let me answer the question. We 

envisioned our role such that we had to render an 

independent decision with applying a certain test. And 

that test was substantial deviation. In order to do that 

we had to get additional .information from the Navy. 

We sat down with the BSC. We spoke to all sorts 

of people inside and outside the Pentagon. We came up 

with sufficient data to clearly conclude unanimously that 

there was no substantial deviation when it came to 

Philadelphia and the Navy's work. 

Q. So your view of the GAO's role was it was 

meaningless? It could just be eliminated willy-nilly? 

A. No. They were very helpful. They were very 

helpful. And GAO personnel continued to be helpful by 

. . 
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MR. KAUFFMAN: You need not shout, nor point 

your finger at me. I can hear you and I can understand 

you. I did not disagree with you, but I do not think I 

.will disagree as disagreeably as you disagreed. 

MR. ANDERSON: I think I am only matching the 

volume of your statements and arguments. 

MR. K A U F m :  Well, you win the disagreeable 

award. 

MR. ANDERSON: Thank you. 

BY MR. KAUFF'MAN: 

Q. I am asking your understanding, Mr. Chairman, 

and we will let the record speak for itself. I do not 

think the question has been answered. But if it has, 

please indulge me. Did you consider it to be part of your 

role, the comissionls role, to make certain in complying 

with your statutory duties to make certain that the GAO 

was able to perform its role? 

A. I will now answer once again this way, and maybe 

I will answer it slightly different the next time, and 

each time do a little bit better job. Under the statute, 

the GAO had a statutory obligation and responsibility to 

make a report, after examining the process of the three 
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services. That report was published on May 15th, had to 

be published by May 15th. 

Under the statute, there is no further reports 

.of the GAO1s - -  that the GAO statutorily had to give the 
committee, the public, nor anybody else. When the GAO 

reported publicly on May 15th that they were unsatisfied 

with the record-keeping of the Navy, then that helped us 

target the Navy to make sure that we were satisfied with 

their process by asking them additional information, 

making sure that their BSC sat down with our review and 

analysis team so we could make sure that we could . 
interpret the VCNO study in view of the final selection 

criteria. 

Q. Do you mean to tell me you needed the GAO to 

tell you the Navy had not provided sufficient 

documentation? 

A. No. I think they performed their role. We 

performed ours. As I mentioned to you before, we would 

have found that out very readily as well. 

Q. So their role was meaningless? 

No. They perf omed very important function 

that corroborated the validity and the process - -  
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Q. The invalidity? They corroborated the 

invalidity of what they had before them? 

A. I was in the middle of a sentence. I was 

.talking about the Air Force and the Navy and the Army. . 
Q. You are right. They corroborated the Air Force 

and the Armyls. 

A. And they also properly indicated, and this was 

their role, and they statutorily fulfilled their 

obligation by filing that May 15th report to say there was 

insufficient data in order to make the same conclusion on 

the Navy process. 

So, therefore, our job then was to get the 

additional information. And we did find out the 

additional rec'ords. And we find that out. So we applied 

our independent judgment. Found there was absolutely no 

substantial deviation when it came to the recommendation 

on Philadelphia. 

Q. So it is your view that a service, the Navy, the 

Army, the Air Force, whichever one wanted to, in this case 

it was the Navy, could simply render the GAO meaningless 

by refusing to give them sufficient documentation so that 

they could render their independent judgment as to whether 
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the Navy had complied with the mandates of the statute, is 

that correct? 

A. No. 

Q. WelL, that is what happened, isn't it? 

A. No. 

Q. Well, what independent report did you get from 

the GAO as to whether the Navy had complied with the 

mandates of the statute regarding the structure, with 

regard to the criteria, the DODts selection criteria? 

A. The GAOts role, outside of the fact that they 

loaned us people, very competent people to work with us, 

and they did very happily and very well, the GAOts role 

was over. The GAO is a very busy organization. They 

statutorily, under this process, are to file that report. 

They filed the report. Our job was then not to help GAO 

- -  and let me finish. Our job was to make sure that the 

bases that were recommended for closure were the correct 

ones. 

And in 95 percent of the instances they were. 

When they weren1 t , when there were substantial deviation, 

our independent commission, based upon independent 

judgment, disagreed, filed our own report. And you know 
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1 the results. It's as simple as that. 

2 Q. Well, you told us that you certainly did not 

3 need the GAO to tell you that there was not sufficient 

4 . documentation, right? 

5 A. We would have found that out ourselves. 

6 Q. You did not need them to tell you that? 

7 A. Well, yes, indeed. Because, in time .- - in other 
8 words, we were under a very, very short time frame. The 

9 Secretary of Defense came out with his recommendations on 

10 April 15th, the GAO report, May 15th, our final 

I1 recommendations, after all the public hearings, after the 

12 analysis, after running around the country, had to be done 

13 by July 1st under the statute. 

14 Rather than spending 30 days to determine that 

15 the Navy lacked documentation, the GAO told us. And so we 

16 could very quickly and very readily rectify the situation. 

17 And so in that sense they performed a great'service. We 

18 didn't have to spend 30 days, as they did, to find out 

19 that the record was incomplete. 

20 It was very helpful. 

21 Q. On page 5 of the GAO's report, which is Courter 

22 Exhibit 5 ,  the GAO says that due to inadequate 
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1 GAO also found that the cost estimating process 

2 ignored the cost of Medicare to the ~ederal-~overnment. 

3 However, overall, GAO believes that the recommendations 

4 .made for base closings and realignments offer an 

5 opportunity for substantialsavings. 

6 Without DOD oversight of the COBRA cost 

7 estimating process, each service approached common 

8 problems in different ways. Although DOD called for 

9 submission of cost estimates expressed in fiscal year 1991 

10- dollars, the services used budget data for other than 1991 

11 dollars as their baselines for estimating cost and 

12 savings. 

13 Service costs and savings estimates, as well as 

14 payback calculations, did not consistently rely on fiscal 

15 year 1991 input data. These errors could reduce estimated 

16 annual savings and length of the payback period for 

17 several closures. 

18 Now, again, you were aware of what the statute 

19 required the GAO to do, and you were aware that the Navy 

20 had inadequate process to permit the GAO to do it? 

21 A. No. 

22 Q. Excuseme? 
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A. That is not correct. You said an inadequate 

process. There was a lack of record-keeping to establish 

the adequacy of the process, but that is far different 

.than saying the process was inadequate. I want to be 

picky because I want to be precise. 

Q. Well, isn't keeping documentation part of the 

process? 

A. Yes. And the documentation, the record was the 

thing that made it impossible for GAO to conclude the 

appropriateness of their conclusions. 

Q. And the Navy did not establish required internal 

controls to ensur? the accuracy of the data used? 

MR. ANDERSON: That is what GAO says. 

THE WITNESS: That is what GAO says. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. And you knew that they said that? 

A. Sure we did. We read their report. 

Q. You do not think that was a defect in the 

process of the Navy? 

A. That, to me, all falls into improper 

record-keeping, of the corroborating the validity of the 

data. We discovered inaccurate data; some data was 
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inaccurate in many bases - -  most bases I suppose had some 
inaccurate data supplied by all of the services. 

And the whole purpose of the public hearings and 

.the input we received from communities was to scrub the 

data, was to verify it. To make sure that our conclusions 

were based on data that was accurate and data that was 

corroborated. 

Q. Well, you were aware that the Navy's conclusions 

were based on subjective data, not on the calculations of 

the mandates of the statute? 

A. No. 

Q. No? 

A. That is your opinion, not mine. 

Q, Very well. 

I am just wondering, you said that you received 

the Navy data after the public hearings had completed. So 

how could the public have scrubbed that data? 

A. That was a broad statement. If you could be 

more precise than that I would appreciate it. We received 

a lot of Navy data long before the public hearings. 

Q. Well, these meetings that followed the report of 

the GAO were private, secret meetings. They were after 
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the public hearings? 

A. Let me just rephrase it to make sure that I 

understand. I think you are referring to the meeting that 

.Alex Yellin and others had in our office with the BSC in 

our office. That was staff only. Those meetings? 

Q. Yes. 

A. The record will reflect the days they occurred 

and so I'm not sure what your point is. 

Q. My point is there was not an opportunity for the 

public to scrub the data, because the public never knew 

what the data was. Isn't that true? 

A. No, that's not true at all. 

Q. When did the public get that data? 

A. The data that we rendered our decision was all 

made public during this entire process. What we were 

trying to divine and discover at a staff-level meeting was 

an interpretation of the language, w a s  to make sure w e  

could interpret the VCNO language and make that comply 

with the final selection criteria. 

Q. You say in your book here, which I think we 

ought to make this, the Defense Base Closure and 

Realignment Commission Report to the President. You say 
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A. You and I would disagree on that, but that's 

2 correct. 

3 Q. That is what it says. 

4 A. I think it is correct. 

5 A. And Congress believed that the GAO should review 

the information and data for accuracy, right? 

MR. ANDERSON: That is what it says. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. And they did not do that, did they? They were 

not able to do it because they did not get the information 

they needed, right? 

A. I disagree. I totally disagree with you. 

MR. ANDERSON: Objection. He has answered that 

several times. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. I thought you told me that they did'not have 

enough-information to comment whether the Navy's 

information was accurate or inaccurate. 

A. They had insufficient information to make a 

determination that the Navy's process complied with the 

process set out under the statute. And they fulfilled a 

very important role in notifying the public, members of 
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Congress, and our commission of their opinion that alerted 

us immediately that we had a problem, and we'wanted to 

rectify that problem - -  and I ' m  in the middle of a 

.sentence. 

The problem would be rectified by going to the 

Base Stfucture Cornittee, interviewing them, and 

determining their process. And we were satisfied that 

their process was the correct one. Eventually, it just 

lacked in record-keeping. Their process was not a bad 

process. Their data was, frankly, in my opinion, no 

better or no worse than the Amy or the Air Force. We 

found in all three senrices data that was incorrect. 

As a matter of fact, with regard to one Air 

Force facility, they were incorrect as far as having two 

runways. They said there was one runway; we said there 

were two runways. And we concluded there were two 

runways. 

And so all of the services had incorrect 

information. This was all fleshed out during the hearing 

process, during the base visits. That is the reason we 

went talk the officers, talk the 

community, the head the chamber commerce, the base 
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w 1 commander, members of Congress, mayors, service clubs, 

2 organizations, so we could present them what the services 

3 gave us. We could get information on the accurate picture 

4 .of those facilities and render an independent judgment. 

5 That is exactly what we did. I think the 

6 process worked as well as any process I've seen in 13 

7 years in Washington, D.C. When there was a problem, it 

8 was rectified. When there was a lack of information, we 

9 got it. And we did it in a timely fashion. 

10 Q. Is it your testimony, Mr. Chairman, that the GAO 

11 reviewed the information and data supplied by the Navy and 

12 was able to reach an opinion as to its accuracy? 

13 A. No. The GAO report - -  let me answer it this 
14 way. The GAO report speaks for itself. 

15 Q. A very good- answer. 

16 A. Thank you. I'm learning. 

17 Q. And at page 3-2, you concluded, however, looking 

18 at the report, or your commission concluded, however, GAO 

19 concluded that the Navy did not offer enough documentation 

20 to prove whether or not its process followed the force 

21 structure and the selection criteria, preventing GAO from 

22 evaluating specific Navy recommendations. 
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criticized or accepted the validity of the data provided 

by the Navy, that may have had some effect on the 

commissioners in making their decisions. Isn't that 

correct? 

MR. ANDERSON: I object to the implication that 

the GAO did not do its role. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: Oh, come on now. You know it 

didn't do its role. 

MR. ANDERSON: Save your arguments for the 

court. 

11 MR. KAUFFMAN: You save your arguments for the 

12 court. 

13 MR. ANDERSON: I am. I'm objecting to questions 

14 that I think are unfair. 

15 THE WITNESS: I think I agree that the GAO did 

16 their j ob. 

17 BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

18 Q. I don't expect you to disagree with your 

19 counsel. 

A. No, no. I mean, I think he's agreeing with me, 

21 because that's what I said many times. GAO did their 

22 role, and I think did it very well. 
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And to answer your question, the answer is no. 

I hope I can remember the question. And the reason is, 

that, when there are errors in data that we discovered, we 

rectified it. We changed it. 

We made sure that when we rendered a decision, 

it was based upon the corroborated and validated data. 

And it is not unusual, in view of the hundreds of 

thousands of pieces of information, that-some are going to 

be inaccurate by technical, clerical error, error in 

transmission, or other types of errors. 

So, the openness of the process guaranteed, to 

the extent humanly possible, that the information, the 

data, the statistics of all of these facilities, all of 

these Navy facilities as well as the other senrices, was 

as accurate as we possibly could. 

The fact that there were inaccuracies in the 

beginning is irrelevant. It shows you people make 

mistakes. The purpose of all of this was, when a final 

decision was rendered by the Conunission on June 30th, that 

decision was based on data that had been scrubbed, and was 

as accurate as humanly possible. And so, even if GAO had 

found substantial error or incorrectness in data, it would 
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only indicate that we would then make it correct, and base 

our decision on the correct data. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. This data that you said you had by July 1st had 

the same defects to it that the 1988 statute had. A lot 

of it was acquired in secret, not in view.of the public, 

and not being given the opportunity to be scrubbed by the 

public. 

A. I disagree entirely. 

Q. The record will speak for itself. 

A. This was an extraordinarily open process. I 

spent 13 years in Congress - -  you made a statement; I'm 
going to make a statement. 

Q. The record will speak for itself - -  when you got 
that information. 

A. You made a self-serving, gratuitous statement; 

let me, unless you want- to cut me off. You want to cut me 

off? 

Q. I would never dare to have the temerity to cat 

you off . 
A. I just honestly believe that this Commission 

went far beyond the statutory mandates with regard to 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



12 5 

mv 1 openness and accessibility, that it was an exhausting 

2 effort by seven individuals that literally were available 

3 for congressional telephone calls, for arguments on the 

4 .  telephone, meetings in the hallway in all areas of 

5 Washington, D.C., day in and day out, day after day, night 

6 after night. 

7 The record remained open, and there was not one 

8 -shred of evidence that this Commission hid from a member 

9 of Congress, and unless you were so exhausted that you 

10 couldnit talk to somsbody, it was a rare occasion that a 

I1 telephone call wasn't answered when it came from an 

12 elected official or a community or by individual 

13 commissioners, and certainly the staff itself. 

14 Q. Now, would you look at Courter 2, please? 

15 A. Thank you, very much. 

16 Q. Courter 2. The second page of Courter 2, about 

17 a quarter of the way down, the sentence beginning, 

-1 8 "Congress felt that the GAO should be part of this 

19 process, and they were." This is you speaking, by the 

20 way. "Congress felt that the GAO should be part of this 

21 process, and they were." 

22 Do you want to read up to that point? 
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A. I know what this is. This is the Monday 

interview. 

Q "The last time the Government Accounting Office 

-didn't become involved until all the recommendations were 

made and they first saw the light of day, and GAO had some 

criticism with regard to the validity of some data, which 

may have made some changes in the minds of the 

commissioners. 

"This time, GAO was involved in the very early 

stages of the process, reviewing the way the Pentagon went 

about creating the selection criteria, and reviewed their 

methodology, and we had, during our 2-1/2 difficult months 

here in Washington as a commission. The GAO was pleased., 

and we were happy to have them working with US, hand in 

glove. " 

Now, your own book says the GAO did not evaluate 

the Navy's methodology fbr shipyards. Right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So what you said in this press release wasn't 

accurate. 

A. No. I think what I said in that press release 

was generally accurate. Obviously, it was a 2-hour press 
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1 conference that I gave without the benefit of notes, 

2 standing in front of about 75 cameras. When I indicated 

3 - -  what I tried to express in that press conference was 
4 .the fact that this process was totally different than the 

6 competing individuals; that people who had dissenting and 

7 different views had an opportunity to testify; that 

8 communities and experts that were chosen by those 

communities had an opportunity to present their case 

before the Commission, in public, on the record, in 

private, and off the record as well, by telephone 

conversations and letters; that the GAO was part of this 

process. And clearly when I was talking, what I had in 

mind, as well, was the GAO personnel that were working in 

our office. 

You are technically correct. When they'were 

17 assigned to us, they were working for us, but when an 

18 individual works for us, that doesnlt mean that they don't 

19 do good work, they don't do accurate work, and that 

20 doesn't mean that they would be doing anything different, 

21 than they would be doing if they were in the GAO building. 

22 ~t is my contention that those people that were 
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assigned to us by GAO would have done the same type of 

work had they been in the GAO office, that were satisfied, 

after we went through this process and situation with the 

.Navy, with the accuracy of the infomation. They were 

satisfied with our recommendations, and they were 

satisfied with the fact that we rendered an independent 

judgment that passed the test. 

We concluded fully as a corrunission unanimously, 

and I think those individuals that worked for us, although 

loaned by GAO, would agree that the Navy, when it came to 

Philadelphia, did not substantially deviate from the 

selection criteria, and we could track it to make sure 

that the selection criteria was applied. 

Q. Are you testifying that the GAO people who 

worked for your Commission, temporarily assigned from the 

GAO to your Commission, examined the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard, or had anything to do with the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard? 

A. They had - -  they worked with Alex Yellin .in the 
Office of Review and Analysis. 

Q. On the R&D labs, right? 

A. Excuseme. 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



The Philadelphia delegation felt they had made a strong 

case for substantial deviation, in that the Navy did not 

subject all eight shipyards to the eight criteria, singled 

.out Philadelphia. How, if at all, did this play in the 

decision with regard to Philadelphia, given the Navy's 

various actions, during the proce~s?~ 

And you said that, "We have some nervous 

moments, and again, not because I felt their conclusions 

were wrong or that the data was wrong. It was a fact we 

couldn't really determine how they arrived, necessarily, 

at the conclusions. There was a lack of record." 

Now, how would you have any basis for feeling 

that their conclusions were right or wrong? You didn't 

have any basis, to decide that, did you? 

A. I think that what I said there speaks for 

itself. It's eminently clear, even today. 

Q. So you're satisfied to rest on that? 

A. I think it is a very good statement. It really 

was. I think it explains - -  
Q. Well, whether it's good or bad, you rest on it? 

A. May I say something? I think it .explains, 

perhaps even more clearly than I mentioned today that the 
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problem with the Navy was a problem of record. And once 

the record was revealed to us, we were satisfied with the 

process and satisfied with the accuracy of the 

information. And that information which we discovered was 

incorrect, just like the other services, we made sure we 

plugged in the correct information and rendered a decision 

on that correct information. 

Q. So you went on to say, "What we had to do, of 

course, was to reconvene the Base Closing Commission, the 

Base Structure Committee, the BSC of the Navy, have our 

staff talk to them, create a walkway between their 

criteria and the one in the law, and it took more time." 

What do you mean creating a walkway between 

their criteria and the one in the law? 

A. What I've been sayi'ng for the last 3 hours is 

what I meant by that. I hoped that you would understand 

it. 

What I meant was the fact that when the VCNO 

study was done and analyzed on.the various shipyard and 

naval facilities, they did not have the benefit of the 

enumerated eight final selection criteria. They used, 

basically, other criteria. But what we simply had to do, 

- .  
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was to translate their criteria into new criteria to make 

sure it satisfied the law, and it did. That is the 

walkway. 

Q. But the law set for the criteria very clearly. 

A. That is correct. 

Q. And the Navy didn't follow it. 

A. Yes, it did. There was not record. 

Q. I just thought you said you had to create a 

walkway, between what they did and what the law required. 

A. That was from the VCNO study, which was done 

before this legislation was completed, and then the BSC 

applied this final selection criteria, using data that was 

in slightly different language. 

Q. And subjectively. They didn't - -  
A. That is your opinion, not mine. We did not do 

anything subjectively. We based - -  
Q. I said the Navy's. 

A. Nor would I conclude that the Navy did. We 

base, certainly, our decisions on the facts, and we fully 

didn't have the facts. We had plenty of facts, but not 

enough, I suppose. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: Would you please mark Exhibit 
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BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. You donf t deny that these came from the files of 

the Base Closure Commission? 

MR. ANDERSON: I do not deny that. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: All right. Then it's the minutes 

of the meetings that the chairman referred to before. 

MR. ANDERSON: That's how they have been 

identified. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

A. What was your question? 

Q - -  you knew that the Navy used subjective 
reasoning in the process. 

A. It is neither our nor, in my opinion, the Navy's 

conclusions were subjective, because subjective connotes 

being arbitrary and they were hardly arbitrary. The Navy 

looked closely at the type of excess capacity that they 

had when it came to ship repair, surface life extension 

programs, and shipbuilding, recognized the importance of 

keeping, in the inventory, those shipyards that were 

nuclear capable, recognized the fact that between 1991 and 

'95, the number of workers in public shipyards would 
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1 probably go down from 80,000 to 50,000, clearly indicating 

2 that there was a need, for the purposes of efficiency, to 

3 close a base. All the evidence pointed to ~hiladelphia. 

4 'Thatls not what I would call subjective. Mr. Nemfakos 

5 refers to that. I would say that's analysis. 

Q. Mr. Chairman, the statement is in here, which I 

just read, "We don't understand your process and, thus, 

can't defend it. " 

Why would the Commission be interested in 

defending the Navy's process? 

MR. ANDERSON: I object. You're asking him what 

somebody else meant. I don't know how he could possibly 

know that. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. When you read it, didn't you ask your employee 

what he meant when he told the Navy they were going to 

defend the Navy's process? 

A. Well, let me answer in the following way. 

I understand what you are saying, and there is a 

clear answer. In order for us, being the Comission, to 

be able to justify the independent nature and the 

correctness of our decision in applying the statute, we 
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would have to be eventually.satisfied with the correctness 

of the information supplied and the correctness of the 

process used. It's not that we are defending their work. 

We wanted to make sure we could defend our own. 

Q. When you learned the Navy said, and I quote, we 

avoided quantifiable things, didnft that raise red flags 

to you, set off sirens, tell you there was no way of 

checking what the Navy did? 

A. I'm sure what is meant by that statement. All I 

can say is that the information provided to us after we 

went through thi.s particular process led us to conclude 

that if the data was reasonably correct that we were 

satisfied that the criteria was applied. And therefore, 

the decision was a correct one. And that there was no 

substantial deviation. 

We continued to examined Philadelphia 

extraordinarily closely. We bounced off all of our 
t 

information. We talked about it publicly on CNN and 
- - - 

19 C-SPAN. We continued to get responses from the community 

20 and members of Congress when they thought that information 

21 we received was not accurate or that we talked about was 

22 not ~ccurate. 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



- 140 

We continued to scrub numbers such that when we 

made a decision it was based upon the most accurate 

information we possibly could. It was not subjective at 

- all, but was based on data and the sane and sensible and 

reasonable application of the selection criteria. 

Q. Prom these minutes it becomes apparent that your 

commission didn't have any more detailed information than 

did the GAO and that you couldntt verify the data any more 

definitely than did the GAO because you were told it's 

subjective, we avoided quantifiable things. Is that 

correct? 

MR. ANDERSON: I object to your characterization 

in that question. 

THE WITNESS: It's your opinion. It's mine at 

all. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Show me in here where the data appears. 

A. Nor, I might add, I don't think it would be the 

opinion of any other commissioners as well. 

Q. Very well. I would like you to point out to me 

where the data is. 

A. Let me just say that our data that we relied on, 
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1 the information, the arguments were received from all 

2 sorts of sources. This is a summary of a meeting that I 

3 never attended. And so Itm not interested in justifying 

4 -our decision based upon this scant summary. 

5 What we based our decision on is the files of 

6 intonnation that are probably yards long that is in our 

7 office, on all testimony, on base visits, on arguments of 

8 the Senators and the members of Congress that were 

9 affected, the testimony, and our public hearings, and all 

10 the data that was supplied not only by the Navy, but by 

11 outside experts that took a contrary point of view'as 

12 well. 

13 So our decision was not based on this at all. 

14 As amatterof fact, wedidn'trelyonthis document at 

15 all to make our decisions. So it's irrelevant. 

16 Q. Look at the next to the last page of Courter 

17 No.. 8, would you please? 

18 . A. The next to the last page? 

19 Q. Next to the last. 

A. What page number does that carry? 

21 Q. It doesn't carry a page number, that's why I say 

22 next to the last. 
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Q. Paragraph 5. 

2 Navy emphasized the subjective nature of 

3 narratives and stressed that the information it provides 

4 ' the commission is an addendum, not a replacement for the 

5 report it submitted to the Secretary of Defense in April 

6 1991. 

7 Do you still say what they did was not 

8 subjective? 

9 A. This says that the narrative, the Navy 

10 emphasized the subjective nature of the narrative. 

Q. Well, the narrative was their explanation. 

12 A. We did not base our conclusion to close 

13 Philadelphia on subjective information at .all. As a. 

14 matter of fact, we based it on hard facts, base visits, 

15 and open discussion in public view. 

16 Q. Public discussion? What public discussion 

17 occurred after May 20? 

18 A. There was no coxrunissioner here. There was no 

19- codssioner at this meeting. What public discussion 

20 occurred after May 20th? 

21 Q. May 29th on the information contained in this 

22 document. 
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A. On Philadelphia? We discussed Philadelphia 

probably at every one of the hearings after that and 

certainly spent a long time discussing it. The day we 

voted and probably during the week before we voted we 

discussed it. 

Q. When were these minutes distributed to the 

public? 

A. I don't know. I don't know if they ever were 

because it had nothing to do with the commission meeting. 

No commissioner was ever at this meeting. 

Does this reveal that this was a public meeting 

or this was a comissioner's meeting? 

Q. So you're saying they were kept secret? 

A. I didn't say that. 

Q. Were they ever distributed to anybody?. 

A. I don't know. My point here is that the 

commission complied, went beyond the letter of the law 

with respect to the public nature of our process. We 

disclosed everything we had. Every time three or more 

commissioners met and discussed the substance of anything, 

we did so in full public view after publishing the notice 

of the meeting, the time and the location in the Federal 
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i Register. 

2 Therefore, that I guess is the reason that so 

3 many of our meetings were so well attended. The only time 

4 w e  discussed amongst commissioners these issues in public 

5 after full public disclosure in the Federal Register, and 

6 most times had quite a press corps following. 

So it was amply reported, which also I might add 

led to members of Congress following the hearings closely. 

And when they heard data or information that they 

disagreed with they would quickly come back with their 

evidence that we should change our information. Sometimes 

if it checked out, we did, which further led to, I think, 

the correctness of our ultimate decisions. 

14R. KAUFFMAN: Let's mark this as Courter 

Exhibit No. 9. 

(The document ref erred to was 

marked Courter Exhibit No. 9 

for identification.) 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

20 Q. Mr. Courter, you issued a press release on May 

21 22, 1991 in which you made the statement, last week the 

22 General Accounting Office released a report on base 
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closure and realignment. T-his document .made it clear that 

the methodology designed by the Navy was sound. 

That is an absolute misstatement, isn't it? 

A. I don't know. Let me see. Last week the 

General Accounting Office released a report on base 

closure and realignment. This document made it clear that 

the methodology designed by the Navy was sound. 

I would say on reflection that that is not 

accurate. That statement is not accurate for the reasons 

that I mentioned earlier today that that opinion was not 

made by GAO because of a lack of a record. And it was our 

job to make sure that amplified that record so we could 

base our conclusions on a process that was fair and 

complied with the statute, which we ultimately did. 

Q. Well, you go to say, on Monday of this week 

members of the commission staff met for 4-1/2 hours with 

the Navy's base closure group in an effort to determine 

how their conclusions were reached. During this meeting 

we learned that the Navy group employed a great deal of 

subjective judgement in drawing up their list of 

recommendations for closure and realignment. 

Did you say that? Or are you going to deny it? 
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A. I resent the tone of that question, very 

frankly. 

NO, I don't deny that this was a press statement 

that was delivered by our office to the public. I also 

know that I don't read those things. I never do. They're 

prepared by others. 

The purpose of this was to, clearly, was to get 

the Navy's attention. And we did. It worked out very 

well. We, at that particular time, used as strong a 

language that I felt I could reasonably justify. Perhaps 

it was too strong. But I wanted to get the Navy's 

attention to make sure that they cooperated fully with our 

commission. 

So in view of and in light of their subsequent 

cooperation and the fact that they were very forthcoming 

subsequent to this in giving us data and information, 

explaining their process, this particular press statement 

or press conference really, it was a press conference, 

served its purpose eminently well. 

It was a tactic by me in order to make sure that 

21 our commission would eventually render a decision based on 

22 proper information. 
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press statement. And the purpose of this press statement, 

as I mentioned before, was to shock the Navy into 

cooperating so we could validate data and process. And 

.they eventually did do that. It served its purpose. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. After this 4-1/2 hourmeeting onMay20, 1991 

when nobody on the commission could yet say whether the 

Navy's judgements were fairly and consistently applied, 

right? 

Well, not at the end of the meeting. It took a 

period of time. Alex Yellin can explain in much more 

detail since he was there. And I'm basing my statement on 

information that received from him and others that were 

at that meeting. 

We had - -  it was a process. We had various 

conversations with Navy personnel on this matter. And 

over a period of time, the time being probably about 

4 days or 5 days, then became satisfied that we could 

understand the way they c w e  up with their 

recommendations. 

It didn't happen after the end of 4-1/2 hours. 

We went back at them, but we eventually were eminently 
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satisfied that they had, although in a different 'way, 

complied with the statutory requirements. And we were 

dealing with data that was accurate or reasonably 

accurate. And that which wasn't we checked out and 

changed later. 

Q. What data? Identify the data. 

A. It was on berthing capacity, depth of dry docks, 

expense of moving people, type of ship repair and 

extension work that were designed to do, had everything to 
\ 

do with living accommodations at the various ship yards, 

labor rates, efficiency rates, I can go on and on. That's 

data. I mean, it's just - -  
Q. What specific documents do you have? 

A. We will give you all of those. I ' m  sure we 

have, we have reams of documents that have lots of data. 

Q. I would ask you to identify for us, you as the 

chairman of this commission, identify for us the documents 

upon which you relied which you obtained subsequent to 

May 22, 1991 in order to satisfy yourself whether the Navy 

process was accurate. What documents? Identify them for 

us. 

A. You're not understanding what we're saying here. 
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'What we're saying is that I was satisfied after talking to 

staff members, particularly Alex Yellin, that the "cross 

walkn gave some sort of rationale to the Navy process. 

Q. Even if it was subjective? 

A. Now you can play your games if you want to and 

your question - -  
Q. This is not a game. This is 47,000 jobs. 

A. I understand. But you're playing games with me 

and I don't appreciate that and I'm trying to - -  
Q. The feeling is mutual. 

A. - -  I'm trying to be as accurate as I possibly 
can to your questions. Then you talk in terms of what 

data, what raw data, what facts, what information that I, 

as chairman of this commission, base my decision on. And 

it's everything. It's everything we have in my office. 

It's every conversation I had with Senator Arlen Specter 

and all the other members of Congress representing that 

area, my visit to the base, my hearing testimony there, my 

listening to Navy officials testify, my conversctions with 

elected representatives, special interest groups that 

represented, and I think very well, the Philadelphia 

community information that was supplied to me by my own 
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office, the Office of Review and Analysis,- c~nversatims 

with the other commissioners in public.  hat is what I 

made my decision on. 

And if you want to get a transcript of all of 

our public hearings, you can get it as well as I. If you 

want copies of all of our data, you can get it as well as 

I. If you want to get a video of the testimony we 

received in Philadelphia, you can get is as well as I. 

Q. I want to refer you now to what your commission 

said. We have - -  and this is from Courter No. 9 - -  we 

have repeatedly sought clarification from senior Navy 

representatives. I have publicly asked for minutes, 

notes, and any documentation. 

I don't know who the I is. Do you know who the 

I is? 

- A. I suppose tl!atls me. 

Q. I have publicly asked for minutes, notes, and 

any documentation that would give us an idea of how the 

service came up with its recommendations. What we have 

received is inadequate. The GAO and the commission staff 

have pointed to an alarming lack of information about the 

Navy's decision-making process. Therefore, we are 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



155 

demanding from the Navy a detailed explanation of the 

process used to justify its recommendations for closure 

and realignment. 

When and if - -  what did you get? Did you get 

anything from the Navy in response to that demand? 

A. Yes, we got eventually. 

Q. What did you get? 

A. Eventually what we got was a full explanation of 

how they arrived at their decision and the process that 

they used and an explanation that would reveal that the 

final selection criteria were, in fact, used in making 

that decision. 

.Q. Who did you get that from? 

A. We got it from the Navy. 

Q. Who? 

A. The people that were here at, during the 

meetings. The people that explained their process. 

That's who. 

Q. Well, the people at these meetings said that the 

Navy emphasized this is the last meeting, the very last 

meeting which was on May 29th and the Navy is still 

emphasizing on the last page of Courter No. 8, still 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



emphasizing the sub j ective nature of the. narratives and 

stressed that the infomation it provides the commission 

is an addendum. 

A. Well, that what you are reading is not a fair 

summary of the information that we eventually got from the 

Navy. 

Q. This is your minutes, it's not mine. 

A. I understand. But I donlt know who wrote that. 

But I can tell you - -  
Q. Neither do I. 

A. - -  but I can tell you when we finally met for 
deliberations, even though some people wanted to give 

testimony during that day, when we finally met for 

deliberations we had accurate infomation and we were very 

comfortable with the Navy process. 

. Q. I'm asking you to identify - -  
A. And this particular press statement* served 

strategic or tactically very, very well because of this. 

And obviously, after the press conference there was a lot 

of people that went to the Secretary of the Navy and the 

Secretary of Defense and said, unless you start 

cooperating fully, unless you start revealing and 
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1 explaining how you arrived at these. conclusions, you' re 

2 going to have a problem. 

3 And so they did, they cooperated fully. We were 

4 .  happy with the information and we, with some exceptions, 

5 obviously Whidby and Orlando, concluded their decisions 

6 were appropriate and justified on the record using the 

7 data they had and that was accurate. 

8 I mean, you keep asking for information and I 

9 keep telling you - -  
10 Q. I would like you to tell me what documents 

I1 identified - -  
12 A. - -  and I don't know how many times, Mr. 
13 Kauffman, I don't know how many times I have to explain 

14 that our record was not one hearing. Our record was not 

15 one meeting. Our record was not one question or one phone 

16 call from Arlen Specter. 

17 Our record was a composite of all of those 

18 things, letters, phone calls, meetings, base visits, 

19 public hearings in the field and in Washington, D.C:, 

20 staff analysis, staff corroboration of data, staff 

21 testimony. That was the record upon which we made and 

22 rendered an independent judgement. 
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Q. So as we sit here today, you cannot identify for 

me any documentation or any specific individuals who give 

detailed explanation of the process? 

A. I went through a long explanation of all of 

that. And I'm sure in your office you have most of it. 

If you want the videos you can call up CNN. 

Q. No, I would like you to identify, as Chairman of 

the commission, what you received subsequent to May 22nd. 

A. We will give you everything we received 

subsequent to that date. 

Q. What you received that satisfied your demand 

from the Navy for a detailed explanation of the process 

used to justify its recommendation for closure and 

realignment. That is what I would like you to identify 

for us so that we can have that for the record. 

A. Alex Yellin will testify, I'm sure, and you will 

be happy to ask him whatever questions. All I can report 

to you is some of that information. I'm sure all of it 

you have. 

Q. Well, I nt to know what you used. You say \ 
that you got information satisfying you that the process 

was fair. As of May 22nd, you did not have that 
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information. I want to know what you got betweer, May 22nd 

- - 
A. As of May 22nd, I did not fully understand the 

.process, which is a lot different than data. And you 

confuse that all the time. I wanted to make sure that I 

could get the key members of the BSC in our office so they 

could be interviewed and questions could be asked, so they 

could explain the process. 

And let me finish. How they made their 

conclusions and whether those conclusions were based upon 

the eight final criteria. So that which they finally did 

after we got their attention, they explained the process. 

It is not that they gave us new, fresh data. I'm not 

going to give you information and statistics on 

Philadelphia that I got on June 3rd, that I didn't have on 

May 22nd. 

You simply don't understand. What we were 

looking for was an explanation of the application of the 

data, an explanation of the language. That is what they 

supplied us. That is what they gave us. 

We had to make sure that the Navy followed the 

statute. We weren't convinced - -  we didn't know - -  we 
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couldn't demonstrate, although my understanding of the 

Navy is that they would follow the statutes certainly. We 

couldn't honestly demonstrate publicly that they did. So 

what we got was an explanation, not new data. 

We continued, obviously, to get data from all 

sources between May 22nd and June 28th. You can look at a 

letter that I wrote to Arlen Specter as late as June 24th 

or Sth, asking for additional information. And that would 

be part of the public record. And whatever he sent us was 

in fact part of our record and used in our deliberations 

to render the final decision. 

So you're not going to get data. We had to 

understand how they went about their business and what 

process they used. And I hope you understand that now. I 

know it is difficult to understand because it is a very 

arcane, narrow, difficult area. But I ' m  sure I've made 

myself abundantly clear, hopefully. 

Q. The second page of Courter 9 is entitled 

nProposed Defense Base Closure and Realignment Commission 

Course of Action on Department of Navy Base Closure 

Process. 

Number one says, "Due to gaps of information in 
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as I understand it, the VCNO study did not recommend that 

the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard be closed. 

A. If we assume that it did not, and then we all 

-know that the Navy then eventually, in their judgment, 

felt it should be closed. D; you want to characterize 

that? You can characterize it any way. I mean, I would 

say - - 
Q. If you asked them how they got from VCNO to what 

they were recommending to you, and I want to see the 

information which they supplied in response to the demands 

I1 contained in Courter 9. 

12 A. Let me answer this the best I can here. And I'm 

13 sorry to interrupt my own counsel, but otherwise I will 

14 forget what I wanted to say. That was honestly one of the 

15 concerns of the BSC. That they felt that the VCNO study 

16 . being done probably by people whose job it was to keep the 

17 shipyards in good shape and open was somewhat biased in 

18 favor of no closures. 

19 I think that is what the Navy said, and you will 

20 find that, for example. And it is not unusual. For 

21 example, members of Congress are biased in favor of larger 

22 staffs on their subcommittees. People that are assigned 
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1 to be running bases don't want to close those bases. Just 

2 like people in the Air Force who were assigned to the air 

3 wing want bombers and not missiles. That's all part of 

4 -:t$ts - 

5 And what happened here is the Navy, at a higher 

6 level, at the very highest level, felt that there was an 

7 inherent bias in the VCNO study not to close, not to 

8 create these efficiencies. Which is not unusual. You see 

9 that in Congress. You see it in business. You see it in 

10 the Air Force. You see it all over. 

11 And that may lead to the reason why the VCNO 

12 study said Philly should not be closed. I don't think 

13 they recommended closing any shipyards. Did they? I 

14 think it was zero, which is quite remarkable. 

15 Q. Your proposal here, page 3 or Courter 9, says 

16 despite general explanations of the process, the 

17 .comission is still unable to determine if the subjective 

18 judgment of the Navy's group was applied fairly and 

19 consistently to all bases in all categories in accordance 

20 with the force structure plan and the Department of 

21 Defense criteria marldated by law. 

22 I am asking you to - -  what I am asking you to 
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identify is what you learned in public, what you notified 

the public you were able to learn subsequent to May 22nd, 

1991, which permitted you to reach the conclusions which 

.you reached relating to the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A. We told the public and everybody knew that had 

an interest that the Navy was finally cooperating with us, 

and we could make a judgment that they had followed the 

final selection criteria. 

Q. What did the Navy tell you that permitted you to 

do that? 

A. It is a very complex story,. and Alex Yellin will 

lay it out in very meticulous detail. 

Q. You cannot tell me? 

A. No, I can't. 

Q. You cannot tell me any of it? Tell me what you 

can tell me as chairman of the commission. 

A. Well, I would have to get all of the notes. 

Q. Just tell me what you know. 

A. No. You're not going to lead me into that at 

all. 

Q. Whynot? 

A. Because in front of me I do not have the VCNO 
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regard.to our obligations. That would be our role. 

I mean, we're not an enforcement mechanism. I 

didn't ever conceive of this commission to look at the GAO 

-nad to help them out; look at the Pentagon and help them 

out. We had a big enough challenge to comply with the 

statute. And we would have discussed it publicly and 

probably made a determination to what to do. 

But we couldn't have just given up our - -  just 
walked out of the room, no. 

Q. You didn't think that the input, independent 

input by the GAO was a critical part of your - -  
A. It was very important. 

Q - -  your fulfilling your obligations under the 
statute? 

A. Well, it depends on what you mean by critical. 

Is - -  I thought the GAO involvement by way of analyzing 
the process of the three services was very helpful. It 

led, obviously, to their confi~tion of the correctness - - 
of that process when it came to two services. It led to 

open and public criticism when it came to the third 

service. It led to our immediate remediation of this 

problem with respect to the third senrice. 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC . 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO , 



200 

So they were very helpful in that regard, and by 

their testimony and by their public report, which was 

published on May 15. 

For example, just so you understand exactly what 

I'm thinking about, we received inquiry from a couple 

of - -  or one or more members of Congress saying, you know, 
hold hearings and drag in some of the Pentagon officials 

and make them testify before you on some tangential 

matter. Because those members of Congress felt that 

individual - -  this had to do with the Air Force, I 
believe - -  were not honestly forthcoming when it came to 
some data. And our response was, it was informal, our 

response was that if you think the Pentagon officials are 

not performing their responsibility, you have an 

investigative branch inside the Congress, the 

Administration has an investigative branch, and the 

services all have investigative branches. 

And therefore, go to them. But we basically 

couldn't be side-tracked from our obligation to follow the 

statute carefully, and make independent decisions by 

enforcing and doing the work for other Government agencies 

and departments. 
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Q. I don't mean to belabor this point, and 1'11 

quit after this. But you have recognized that to ensure 

the GAO1s role during the 1991 Commission analysis, 

-Congress gave GAO a clear role in the 1991 process, 

right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the process role was to do this report no 

later than May 15, containing a detailed analysis of the 

Secretary's recommendation and selection process. 

The purpose of this, as I think you previously 

testified, was to cure one of the problems with the prior 

process, to bring in the independent professional expert, 

GAO, to analyze the data - -  to analyze the data and to 
analyze the process and see if the process had been 

complied with and to help in other ways, if requested by 

the Commission, right? 

A. Well, I would rather put it in my words, if I 

may. And their responsibility was exactly what was said 

on page 3-1, chapter 3 of our final report to assist the 

commission in its review of the Secretary of Defense's 

recommendation, which they did; transmit an independent 

report, which they did; to the Congress, which they did; 
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and the- Commission, which they did; containing their 

analysis of DOD's proposals and process, which - -  
Q. Which they did not. They said they couldn't. 

A. Yes, but that was their report. Their report 

said, because lack documentation comment 

ont correctness these decisions when comes 

Philadelphia or the other naval facilities. That, in 
. .. 

itself, was helpful, very helpful. 

Q. Now, my hypothetical is - -  
A. Crucial, and not crucial. Because I think we 

would have found the flaw and rectified it ourselves. But 

it was very helpful. 

Q. Now, the Commissionfs report , - -  hypothetically 

now - -  says, instead of saying as you just said, because 
of lack of the documentation, the GAO cannot complete an 

analysis of the Department of Defense's proposals and 

processeg. If they say the Navy refused to give us 

anything, therefore, we cannot complete our report 

containing our analysis of the Department of Defense's 

proposals and processes. They just cut us out. 

Do you believe this process could have gone 

forward? 
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referring to before of those meetings that revealed who, 

on the Commission, was there. And what other 

representatives were there that represented the Navy. 

I think - -  I believe all the names were probably 
taken down during those meetings. 

Q. They do have names there. I wasn't aware that 

any of those were not members of the Base Structure 

Committee. 

A. i don't know who was and who wasn't either, to 

tell you the truth. 

Q. So it wouldn't serve any purpose to go through 

these names and ask you which of them - -  
A. No, you wouldn't get anything from me on that. 

It was represented to me that we had the people that we 

wanted there that were on the Base Structure Committee. 

And I just assumed that probably the Navy would have other 

people there as well. 

Q. Well, you say here, "The Commissionn - -  and that 
is at page 4-2 - -  "the Commission with GAO1s help, 
obtained and analyzed several-hundred items of data, on 

some 29 naval installations across the country.n 

What is that talking about? 
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1 A. Exactly what it says - -  that our staff had GAO 
2 help with regard to - -  and maybe what they mean by that, 
3 I'm not sure - -  when they refer to GAO, it might be your 
4 'dispute and my dispute as to who these people were. They 

5 were clearly working for, paid for by GAO. But they were 

6 in our office. 

7 You take the opinion that they severed all 

8 connection with GAO because they were working in our 

9 office. I don't necessarily take that at all. They were 

10 working in my mind because we met very early in the 

11 process - -  long before the Cheney list was out - -  and told 
12 him that if he would pleas cooperate by assigning people 

13 from his office to work in ours, so we could have their 

14 input. And it was based upon that conversation that these 

15 GAO assignees were detailed to our Commission. 

16 Q. Were they supervised and instructed by you or by 

17 the GAO? 

18 . A. I never talked to them. 

Were they supervised and instructed by you or by 

20 your staff or by the GAO? 

A. Well, they were in our office, and they reported 

22 to work there every day. 
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long day. I just don't recall his name. 

Q. So the Congress wanted the GAO to participate, . 

you wanted the GAO to participate. The GAO wanted to 

participate - -  everyone but the Navy wanted the GAO to 
participate. 

A. Well, that was irrelevant as far as we were 

concerned. We wanted the GAO there, and they were there. 

You may disagree, but I have a right to answer the 

question without interruption. 

We were very pleased that the GAO would detail 

people over to our office. And they worked very closely 

with our Office of Review and Analysis. And they were 

there the whole time. 

Q. You don't know, personally, whether the GAO 

employees or former employees conducted any analysis of 

the Navy's procedures and methodology for its shipyards, 

do you? 

A. They were an integral part of our technical team 

that did review an analysis of the Navy information. 

Q. Are you testifying from your own knowledge that 

the GAO personnel, who were assigned by the GAO to your 

Commission participated in an analysis of the Navy's 

. - 
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1 procedures and methodology for shipyards? 

A. You totally warped what I was saying. 

Q. Ifmasking you. 

4 -  A. You misinterpret what I ' m  saying. 

5 Q. Well, answer my question. 

6 A. My answer is my answer. It is not your 

7 characterization of that answer. And you know full 

8 well - -  
9 Q. Do you know whether - -  
10 A. You know full well what I said. 

MR. ANDERSON: Let him answer. 

12 BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

13 Q. Please listen to my question. 

14 A. I will do it one more time. Shoot, go ahead. 

15 Q. Do you know, from your own personal knowledge, 

16 whether any of the personnel assigned by the GAO to y,our 

17 Commission participated in any analysis of the Navy's 

18 procedures and methodology for shipyards? 

19 A. . GAO personnel who were detailed to our office 

20 were an integral part of our review and analysis team, and 

21 helped with the analysis of the data. They were in our 

22 office from, I would imagine, early in the morning until 
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i very late as night, and worked as hard as anybody else. 

2 And .made a significant contribution. 

3 Q. So you don't know the answer to my question. Is 

4 ' that right? 

5 A. I'm not sure what your question is. 

6 Q. Then 1'11 ask it again. 

7 A. You don't have to. Because what your 

8 question - -  
9 Q. This is a very important issue that you've made. 

I want to be clear on this record what the basis of your 

11 testimony is, and what it is: And I want to give you 

12 opportunity to answer it. 

the 

13 My question to you is whether you, of your own 

14 personal knowledge, know whether any of the personnel from 

15 the GAO, assigned by GAO to your Commission, participated 

16 in any analysis of the Navy's procedures and methodology 

17 for shipyards? 

18 A. I will answer the same way I answered before, 

19 sir. I will rest on my answer. 

20 Q. You just don' t know? 

A. I rest on my answer. My answer was a full and 

22 complete one. And the answer is - -  if you want me to say 
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1 it for the third time I would be happy to do it - -  $3 that 
2 I asked the very top person in GAO if he would cooperate 

3 with our Commission. Because it would add credibility. 

4 - And they have talented people that were very familiar with 

5 the issue of force structure in the Continental United 

6 States. I asked that individual, that man, if he would 

7 detail to our office people that would work in our office 

8 as an integral part of our review and analysis team. The 

9 answer was yes. He needed time to select them because 

10 they were busy doing other things. He, as well, wanted to 

11 cooperate. They had a real interest in creating 

12 efficiencies inside the base structure inside the United 

13 States, and that they would eventually come up with people 

14 and assign them, and detail them to our office. 

15 They were assigned, they were detailed. They 

16 were assigned by us to work for the office, or the.sub- 

17 office of Review and Analysis. And it is my understanding 

18 they played an integral part in the work of that office. 

19 Q. But you have no idea whether they worked on nay 

20 shipyard analysis. Is that right? 

21 A. I rest on my answer. That's my answer. 

22 Q. Who assigned these people to do whatever they 
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1 because .of the reasons that-were said; And I say here 

2 that the process will be open to everyone, and it 

3 was - -  eminently so. 
4 - Q. Prior to the 1990 Base Closure Act, do you know 

5 how the Navy ranked the eight naval shipyards on military 

6 value? 

7 A. Prior to - -  when was that? 
8 Q. The enactment of the 1990 Base Closure 

9 Act. 

10 A. No. 

11 Q. Now that you know, you say what methodology the . 
12 Navy used to apply the Department of Defense's eight 

13 criteria to all shipyards equally and fairly, would you 

14 describe that methodology, please? 

15 A. Yeah, what the - -  what the Navy did, very 
16 briefly - -  was to utilize the work as best they could from 
17 the VCNO study that, as well, made recommendations with 

18 regard to base closures and realignments. 

19 The VCNO study was the only one that was 

20 completed, it's my understanding, prior to the work of our 

21 Commission. 

22 In order to comply with the statutory 
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requirements,. the Navy-selected a committee of elite Navy 

officials that had expertise in infrastructure, and the 

Navy facilities, to examine afresh the work of the VCNO, 

' and interview needed Navy officials throughout the United 

States that had expertise, and the contribution of each 

one of those Navy facilities. 

The Base Structure Committee applied and 

examined the eight selection criteria. They looked at the 

statute that calls for giving a greater emphasis in weight 

to the first four dealing with military value. They 

looked at all the sub-elements, or sub-groups of the types 

of' bases, and categorized those bases, such that you would 

have on the one hand, Navy, Air, training facilities, 

naval stations, shipyards, et cetera; applied the first 

four criteria to those in the various sub- 

groups - -  shipyards being one of those sub-groups; made a 
determination after examining - -  as they were required to 

do - -  the force structure in future years, and made a 
determination based on all available data, the interviews 

conducted by the BCS, and the information of the VCNO 

study as to which - -  whether there was excess capacity in 
any particular category.. 
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They determined that there was excess capacity 

in the shipbuilding category. They examined all of those. 

They made further analyses; applied color codes to the 

'various yards, shipyards. They showed some of them 

having - -  perhaps one had all green. Most of them had a 

mix. They met and had free exchange, and differing points 

of view, which is obviously you are trying to make an 

important point out of. I would say it shows the openness 

and candor of the Navy process that they permitted 

dissenting views. That would be my judgment. I think it 

helped them make correct decisions in the final analysis. 

They eliminated, after - -  they eliminated some 
yards because of the fact that they were rated so well. 

They eliminated others because they were very important 

for repair of nuclear ships, surface ships - -  subs, I 
would imagine. And they looked very carefully at 

Philadelphia and concluded that, after applying the eight 

selection criteria, and after guaranteeing that their base 

infrastructure, when it came to shipyards, conformed with 

the force structure, that Philadelphia was the most 

logical one to be'taken off the list. There was a couple, 

or two, or three, or fours-step process. That's the best 
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I can recall. It's been quite a period of time since I've 

looked at it carefully. 

Q. Well, the fact of the matter is that 

'Philadelphia received a rating that was bested only by two 

of the eight shipyards in the country. Isn't that 

correct? 

A. If you - -  if all you do - -  
For the first four criteria. 

A. .That statement is only correct if all you do is 

look at the colors, and not beyond the colors. We, of 

course, looked far beyond the colors. 

Q. That's where the subjective test comes in. 

A. No, we applied a lot of dated information on 

what the future force structure was going to be, how to 

meet that, what the repair requirements would be with 

regard to the various types of surface vessels, what was 

required by way of nuclear repair versus conventional. We 

18 looked at all sorts of information and concluded that 

19 there was no substantial deviation - -  which is an 
20 important test - -  substantial deviation that the Navy made 
21 when it came to Philadelphia in applying all those 

22 criteria. 
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Q. Where is al-1 that information? 

A. Where's all what information? 

3 Q. That you just told us about for the past 3 

4 - minutes. 

5 A. Well, it is - -  we can go through this exercise 
6 again, if you'd like. It is in the reports that - -  it's 
7 in the reports that we have in our office. 

8 Q. What reports? 

the Navy, 

Reports meaning from members of Congress, from 

from interested public officials, from private 

I1 organizations. I have studies in my office. 

12 We - -  information was received during our public hearings 
13 in Washington, and our public hearings in Philadelphia; . 
14 at the base, when I spoke to the commanding officer, when 

15 I spoke to other officers there. I remember having 

16 lunch - -  spending probably 2 hours at lunch going over and 
17 over again their arguments with regard to Philadelphia. 

18 And so this information obviously is now in' my brain. But 

19 I got it through various mechanisms, which is the major 

20 point I'm trying to'make here this aft-ernoon. 

Only one of those mechanisms of gaining data for 

22 this decision was the public hearing process. You are 
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putting a lot of emphasis on it. I would say it was 

important, but it wasn't the only thing we did. We had 

public hearings in Washington, we had them in 

Philadelphia. We kicked the tires in Philadelphia. We 

had two cormnissioners go there and visit the facility. We 

spoke to members of Congress. We spoke to leading public 

officials. We interviewed and talked to experts that 

Philadelphia - -  the City of Philadelphia - -  hired, or 
whoever payed these people, they were very, very expert in 

their work. And ad infinitum, all of that information was 

received, was analyzed, scrubbed. We discussed all of 

this in public. And we had seven people from different 

walks of life, from different parts of the country that 

maybe had biases with regard to different services because 

they had experiences in different services. And each one 

of-them concluded that the Navy was correct. There was no 

substantial deviation, and Philadelphia was the one to be 

closed. And all those discussions were made in public, 

19 and the vote was made in public as well. 

20 Q. Could you identify the data you have in writing 

21 that you just referred to? What part of it is in writing? 

22 A. The part - -  and I don't want to be facetious, 
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statute. We, as well, had to comply with the statute. 

Our role was somewhat different than the Navy's. 

Q. You had to make sure the Navy complied? 

A. We concluded the Navy did comply, that their 

decision was rational. It was based upon the merits and 

also based upon the final selection criteria. 

Q. On what basis did you decide that the Navy 

complied? 

A. On all the information we received. On 

everything from ship to shine, from stem to stern. On the 

11 information that they got, criticized by Members of 

12 Congress. We plugged that into the formula. 

13 We talked to citizens groups that were, I'm 

14 sure, highly - -  good volunteers that wrote reports about 
15 the importance of Philadelphia to national security and to 

16 ,. ths area. d 

17 All of that information was gathered by our 

18 staff, looked at by the Commissioners, publicly debated, 

19 and we concluded that the Navy made the proper decision 

20 based upon all of that evidence. 

21 Q. How did you conclude that the Navy reached the 

22 property decision of treating Charleston, Mare Island, 
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1 Pearl Harbor, and Portsmouth,-differently than 

2 Philadelphia when they received the same color-coded point 

3 rating for the first four criteria? 

4 . . - t -  - -  -A. I'm not sure whether I understand the question 

5 precisely, but - -  
6 MR. ANDERSON: Then dont t answer if you don' t 

understand. 

BY MR. RAUFFMAN: 
. . 

Q. You don't understand the question? 

MR. ANDERSON: I think there was an assumption 

in that question that I take is your characterization. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Well, you know Philadelphia, Charleston, South 

Carolina, Mare Island, California, Pearl Harbor, Hawaii, 

and Portsmouth, Maine, all received the same point rating 

for the first four criteria, right? 

A. And let me just give you to the best of my. 

recollection today - -  it's been a period of time since I 
rendered a decision, and believe me I haven't spent one 

minute worrying about this since then - -  
Q. You have or you have not? 

A. I have not. I've been doing other things, 

. . 
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1 happily, since July 1st. 

2 One of the things, obviously, when you deal, for 

3 example, with Hawaii - -  let's just take Hawaii. We found 

4 'out that it was very expensive to have a shipyard in 

5 Hawaii. There wasn't anybody, even in Philadelphia, that 

6 suggested we close the Hawaii shipyard, the naval facility 

7 there, because of its strategic location. 

8 When it came to some of the facilities on the 

9 East Coast we were extraordinarily concerned about the 

10 fact that during and until around 1995 we had to have a 

11 high capability to repair nuclear-capable surface vessels, 

12 and Philadelphia doesn't have that capability. 

13 Also, we recognize that there is great 

14 inefficiencies in moving ships, for example, from the 

15 Pacific to the Atlantic for the purposes of emergency 

16 repair, and therefore to a great degree you look at 

17 capacity when it comes to naval stations as well as 

18 shipyards differently vis-a-vis the two coasts. 

19 You have to almost to a degree look at the 

20 Pacific as independent from the Atlantic, the West Coast 

21 from the East Coast, so it was not totally logical to 

22 compare Philadelphia with, for example, a facility in the 
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w I Northwestern part of the United States because it 

2 strategically is not used for the same type of ships, and 

3 therefore the East Coast was competing basically with the 

4 East Coast. 

5 Q. This is not included in the first four criteria 

6 considerations, like where it is located? 

7 A. Sure, yes. 

8 Q. Well, they all got the same - -  all these that I 
9 just mentioned to you got the same score. 

10 A. All of them were treated equally by the Navy. 

11 All of them were treated, and we looked at all of them 

12 ourselves, and as I mentioned, I don't know how else to 

13 say it, other than to say that although it was an 

14 unpleasant decision it was clear and unanimous that 

15 Philadelphia was the one that had to be eliminated. 

16 - Q. Well, it is a fact, isn't it, that the Navy gave 

17 ' overall green rating to Mare Island, which just like 

18 Philadelphia received two yellow and two.green, Norfolk 

19 which received three green and one yellow, and Pearl 

20 Harbor, which received one red and three green? They 

21 passed them over. They took them out of consideration. 

A. For good and obvious reasons. 
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Q. Namely? 

A. I just went through them. Part of them were on 

the East coast, not on the East Coast, some of them have 

nuclear capabilities, and most of them don't, some of them 

have massive strategic differences. 

For example, you know when you're dealing with 

Hawaii, just like Guam, or just like the Philippines, it 

has somewhat of an increased value than something sitting 

on the East Coast, where there's about eight or nine other 

shipyards. 

I-mean, you may not understand that unless you 

get into it, but once you get into it you recognize that, 

and all. those things were taken into consideration. 

Q. Mr. Chairman, I beg you to think of this 

question, because I asked you before. What you've just 

said related to the first four military value criteria 

that include whether it's nuclear, not nuclear, where it's 

located, everything else, right? Isn't that right? 

A. All of the things that I said that they relate 

to the issue of military value, maybe, but I could have 

mentioned others that didn't as well. Yes, I didn't 

mention quality of life. I could have mentioned payback. 
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I could have mentioned economic impact on communities. 

Q. Well, that:s the remaining four criteria. 

A. Well, they're important, too. 

Q. But wetre talking about the ratings on the first 

four criteria. Philadelphia received the identical rating 

as seven other yards, or as four other yards. 

A. May I explain it a different way so everybody 

can understand it at this table, hopefully? Let's just 

say we are playing baseball, and if you're batting between 

100 and 200, you get a red, and if you're batting between 

200 and 33 you get a yellow, and if you're batting at the 

end of the year between 300 and 400 you get a green, and 

you have eight players, and of those eight players all of 

14 them are yellow. 

15 That doesn't mean they're all equal. That means 

16 that that is a measure that you have to go beyond and look 

17 for additional information, and that is what we did, and 

that is why we could confirm that Philadelphia was the 18 - -- 

19 correct decision. 

20 Q. Is it your testimony, Mr. Chairman, that you 

21 carefully looked at and analyzed all eight shipyards? 

22 A. I didn't visit. 
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Q. No, that your Commission analyzed all those 

things you just mentioned with regard to all eight 

shipyards? 

A. No. No, it is not, because that was not our 

charge. Our charge was to fairly analyze the process and 

to measure whether the particular service deviated 

substantially with the criteria, and we concluded after 

all of this testimony and all of this data and all this 

infomation that they did not. 

Our task was not to visit every facility in the 

11 United States of America. It couldn't have possibly been 

12 presumed to be that, because we would have needed two or 

13 three years to do it. 

14 Q. How could you tell whether the Navy treated all 

15 eight yards equally if you didn't look at all eight yards? 

16 A. We can do that without visiting all eight yards. 

17 Q. I didn't ask if you visited them. I asked 

18 whether you performed an analysis of the first four 

19 criteria. 

20 A. Looking at it from the standpoint of examining 

21 the data, finding out whether the Navy applied it 

22 correctly to all the other shipyards, that was done, that 
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is correct. 

Q. Who did that? 

A. Staff did that. 

Q. When? 

A. During this process. 

Q. Where is the writing to confirm that? 

A. You can talk to Alex Yellin. He will explain 

what we did. 

I myself spent a great deal of time talking to 

other Commissioners, talking to other people inside the 

Navy, talking to Members of Congress that were arguing, 

you should close another shipyard, examining the 

differences between the attributes of Philadelphia and the 

attributes of other shipyards. 

I didn't visit them, but we were convinced after 

we- went through this entire process that there was no 

substantial deviation, that there was reasons why at ;his 

particular time the other shipyards should be spared. 

I might add that as the force structure - -  as 
the force structure continues to be reduced as 

congressional budgets shrink it will not be Philadelphia 

in '93 that sues us, it will be another shipyard, because 
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'CI 1 we will be looking at others as well. This process is not 

2 over. 

3 Q. Long Beach was excluded. Why? Because it rated 

4 -worse than Philadelphia. 

5 A. I don't have a11 the data. I would have to dig 

6 it out and refresh my recollection on Long Beach right 

7 now. I believe that that one is nuclear-capable. I 

8 believe that - -  well, obviously it's on the West Coast. 
9 It may not be. It's on the West Coast, certainly. There 

I0 was a different situation on the West Coast. I would have 

11 to refresh my recollection. 

12 Q. Did you make any investigation, or did the 

13 Commission make any investigation what private shipyards 

14 would be available to handle West Coast aircraft carriers 

15 if Long Beach were closed? 

16 - -  A. We had - -  we looked at private - -  what the 
17 availability was with regard to private shipyards 

18 throughout the United States, yes. We as a Commission 

19 felt strongly that private shipyards should fulfill a role 

20 when it comes to the maintenance and repair of Navy ships. 

Q. So just as you considered Newport News drydock 

22 and Shipping and Drydock Company on the East Coast, your 
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Q. You can look at your -notes. 

A. Thank you very much. I didn't know if that 

a requirement to make a proper decision, to memorize 

Q. To remember? Which of those criteria would 

nuclear be included in? 

was 

- - 

A. Four, three, and one. Now, if I have to explain 

that - - 
Q. Which of the remaining criteria would nuclear be 

involved in? 

A. Seven, maybe eight. Depending upon the 

circwtances and the type of environmental problems it 

could certainly very well be eight, and maybe five, too. 

Q. Now, the Navy excluded all of the nuclear 

shipyards in Phase 2 before they got to the last four 

criteria. They eliminated them after the first four 

criteria? 

A. That is correct. That is their process. 

Q. They eliminated them, but they eliminated them 

even though doing - -  in calculating the first four 

criteria Philadelphia received the same rating as 

Charleston, Mare Island, Pearl Harbor, and Portsmouth. 

Explain that. 
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I 1 A. We went-over that before; and I would defer tu 

2 my answer with regard to the colors and the batting 

3 averages. There are other things involved besides three 

4 'colors when it comes to these facilities, so it is very 

5 easily explained. 

6 Q. Your conclusion with regard to access capacity 

7 relates solely to nuclear, is that right? 

8 A. I don't understand that question at all. 

9 Q. I thought your statement was they eliminated all 

10 the nuclear shipyards because they needed nuclear 

11 shipyards, they eliminated Philadelphia because they 

12 didn't need a nonnuclear shipyard? 

13 A. There was other things besides - -  besides 
14 nuclear-capable that went into the decision. It is my 

15 understanding that was a factor, and it was such that 

16 there was a higher need and therefore less of a redundancy 

17 and excess capacity in nuclear shipyards I think up until 

18 the year 1995 - -  four or five, when that would start 
19 coming down as well. That was our analysis. 

20 Q. So your testimony is that there is a need for 

21 six nuclear shipyards during the six-year period of 

22 consideration mandated by the Base Closure Act? 
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A. My- opinion and my decision was that in okder to 

match infrastructure with the force structure we had to 

eliminate one of the eight public shipyards and all the 

'evidence pointed that Philadelphia would be the one 

removed. The Navy made that decision, and we did not find 

any substantial deviation to change it. 

Q. Did you make any investigation as to what it 

would cost to make Philadelphia nuclear-capable? 

A. It would cost a lot of money. 

Q. How much? 

A. I don't know, and since there was a lot of them . 
that were already nuclear-capable, it seemed to be a 

rather ridiculous thing to do, and as .a matter of fact I 

don't recall even Philadelphia making that argument. 

Maybe they did, but I don't even recall it. 

Q. You do know that Philadelphia operated in a 

manner that was without cost to the Federal Government? 

A. We looked at that issue carefully, many, many 

times , and that is the most misleading conclusion and 

statement that was made. If you can make ships for free 

and not pay people, then it would make sense. 

To say that when you build a ship or repair a 
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ship or surface life extension a ship therefa-no-tost to 

the taxpayers is very misleading. There is. There is 

ways to account and trying to justify greater efficiency 

in one yard versus another, but to say it doesn't cost any 

money is absurd. It costs a lot of money. 

A, SLEP of an aircraft carrier is an expensive 

proposition that costs over hundreds of millions of 

dollars, and takes years and thousands of individuals 

working every single year. And to say it doesn't cost any 

money is ridiculous. 

Q. You understood my question to suggest that it 

didn't cost any money? 

A. Yes, when you said it didn't cost the taxpayers 

any money. 

MR. ANDERSON: The record will speak to it. 

THE WITNESS: Why don't we hear your question. 

MR. ANDERSON: Let's not argue over it. Let's 

go on to the next question. 

BY MR. , KAUFFMAN : 

Q. What evidence did you consider on the subject of 

whether it was cost-effective to close Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard? 
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A. What evidence would you consider - -  could you 

2 maybe read back the question? I want to make sure I 

3 understand it. Or just read it again. I'm sure it's in 

4 .writing right in front of you. All right, well say it 

5 again. I'm sure you remember it. 

6 Q. I do make up my own questions. 

7 A. Well, I understand that. Youlre looking at a 

8 piece of paper. I figured you were reading. 

9 MR. ANDERSON: Can I just say - -  you know, all 
the deliberations were conducted in public. This is all a 

11 matter of public record. I fail to see - -  
12 MR. KAUFFMAN: I haven't seen anything in public 

13 on that subject. Therefore, all I want him to say is it 

14 wasn't considered. 

15 THE WITNESS: Say it again, please. I honestly 

16 want to know the question. 

17 BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

18 Q. what evidence did you consider on whether it was 

19 cost-effective to close the Philadelphia Naval shipyard? 

20 A. We analyzed - -  our staff analyzed the arguments 
21 on the cost of closure, and mothballing the five drydocks. 

22 There was some dispute as to the number of people that 
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would be required to maintain them arrd to police - 

them - -  the cost of keeping open the Propeller Shop, the 
Repair Facility and another facility. That cost analysis 

was scrubbed and gone over time and time again, until we 

were satisfied with the accuracy of those numbers. They 

were compared to an analysis done by our staff, and 

by - -  I believe - -  the Community of Philadelphia with 
regard to the recommended proposal. And that is a massive 

reduction in the work force to reduce it down to about 

1,200; the cost of same. 

Other numbers were analyzed. Other scenarios 

were looked at - -  that if Philadelphia was at full 
capacity, what then, in outer years, would that mean to 

the type of efficiencies of other yards on the east coast? 

And we found great inefficiencies there, it Philadelphia 

was forced to remain open. 

So I remember - -  and I don't, of course, have 
the numbers in front of me - -  but I remember looking at 
the cost analyses with regard to various scenarios. 

Q. Well, did you understand that Philadelphia had 

recovered all of its costs for at least the last 2 years 

from its shipyard customers? 
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A. I'm not sure what you mean by that.- 

Q. That the Federal Government didn't pay any money 

to keep Philadelphia open, other than paying the costs 

that it would - -  probably less than it would have paid at 
any other shipyard. 

A. There's all sorts of ways to make those numbers 

sound crazy. And we spent a great deal of time looking at 

them. In fact, I spent a great deal of time sitting down 

with Will Ball so I could understand what no cost really 

means. And it always meant that it cost a lot of money to 

repair a ship. 

Q. Yeah, it costs a lot of money to repair a ship 

wherever you repair it, doesn't it? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. And if it costs less money to repair that same 

ship in Philadelphia than it did at Newport News 

Shipbuilding and Drydock Company, that's an important fact 

that you should have considered, isn't it? 

A. Number one, it's a fact. There is no doubt that 

it's very cheap in Philadelphia, and the work is just as 

good. It's one of the considerations. And it's a 

consideration that we looked at, certainly. But there's 

. - 
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many other considerations as well. And tnat is, just 

simply that if - -  just like a building, if it's only 50 
percent leased, it's very inefficient. If our shipyards 

are not fully utilized, to a reasonable capacity, there's 

great inefficiencies and loss of taxpayers' money there 

too. And so, you know, we looked at all that very 

carefully. 

Q. So did you look at what discretion the Navy had 

in deciding whether to send a vessel to Philadelphia to be 

repaired or Newport News Shipbuilding and Drydock Company? 

A. Yeah, we looked at that as well, under various 

scenarios, I remember. One, for example, was when 

Philadelphia was doing their analysis,.they left out the 

cost of moving the personnel, the sailors on the ships. 

They did not add that in their calculations. And we did. 

For example, what I'm saying is, is when a ship 

needs an overhaul, the persome1 that are on that- ship 

have to stay some place on land. And since, I believe, in 

Newport News and that area of the country there's home- 

porting very near where the shipbuilding is being done, 

the cost of living is, number one, significantly less than 

Philadelphia, and you don't have to move people very far. 
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If you took that same ship up to the 

2 Philadelphia facility, it would mean those thousands of 

sailors would have to go from there and be moved to a 

4 different part of the country so they could be home- 

5 ported, and then moved back, 3 or 6 months later to get on 

6 that ship, spending a significant amount of time in 

7 Philadelphia where the cost was higher, before they got on 

8 the ship and the ship was out again in the open water. 

9 So we did look at that - -  we looked at all sorts 
of things. We looked at strategic scenarios with regard 

to conventional and nuclear weapons in that part of the 

world, what that would do to tie up ships along the 

Delaware River, and if they were in Philadelphia; the 

number of steaming hours it takes to get them free and 

clear of mines that would be laid in shallow waters. 

&re was a lot of analysis that went in by the 

Commission. 

Q. If the Navy had disclosed to you before you 

19 reached your conclusions with regard to closure of bases 

20 in the report to the President, that it would cost in 

21 excess of $1 billion - -  that's with a "BIv - -  to close the 
22 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard and clean it up efficiently to 
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enable it to serve other uses, would you havecrecornrnended 

closure? 

MR. ANDERSON: I object to that. It's 

hypothetical, unless you've got some foundational document 

there. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: I sure do. 

MR. ANDERSON: Why don't you show it to the 

Chairman? 

THE WITNESS: No, that's okay. 

MR. ANDERSON: It's not okay with me. 

THE WITNESS: It's not okay with you guys. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. I'd like to mark as Defendant's Exhibit No. 

16 - -  I'm sorry, Courter Exhibit No. 16, dated 11 July, 

(The document referred to was 

marked C o u r t e r  Exhibit No.  1 6  

for identification.) 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Mr. Courter, you know that the Navy, after you 

reached your conclusions regarding the closure of the 

Philadelphia Yard disclosed that it would cost an excess 
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1 of $1 billion to clean up that - -  to clean up the yard 
2 sufficiently to enable it to serve other uses. Isn't that 

3 correct? 

4 A. I take your representation as being true. I 

5 personally have not examined the document. 

6 Letts just assume that it's true, and I will 

answer it, I mean this thing is highly technical. And 

8 it's probably 40 pages. Can I just answer the question 

assuming that it is true? I will assume it's true nad let 

10 me answer the question. Can we just say - -  let's make an 
11 assumption it's true. I don't know, but let's make an . 
12 assumption that it's true and let me answer the question, 

13 okay? 

14 The Commission looked into the issue of clean- 

15 up very carefully, because we discovered that there was.a 

16 tremendous environmental degradation in almost every 

17 military facility in the United States. Many of them are 

18 on Superfund sites and the cost of clean-up was huge and 

dramatic in many of these instances. 

20 As a matter of fact, the cost of clean-up in 

21 some of these facilities could not be known for many years 

22 because it cost a lot.of money to examine the type of 
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1 hazardous waste and other types of pollutants that were 

2 underneath the ground; how far they had leached; the 

3 methodologies in cleaning it up; and the scientific 

4 -.:-capabilities and methodologies keep changing. And the 

5 ' cost keeps changing as well. 

The Commission recognized that the Department of 

7 Defense has .an affirmative obligation to clean-up all of 

8 .these sites that have pollution problems, where they have 
. " 

9 7 environmental degradation, irrespective of whether the 

10 facility is remained open or closed. In fact, the time in 

I1 which they do it is irrelevant on the issue of open and 

12 closure. So therefore, it was not a factor in determining 

13 what our decision would be. It could not be a factor. 

14 Because the obligation of DOD is affirmative. They have 

15 to clean these up. They have - -  they're in the process of 
16 negotiating and working out time frames with EPA. And . 

17 it's totally irrelevant to whether the facility is open, 

18 closed, expanded, or abandoned. 

19 MR. KAUFFMAN: Why don't we take a break? 

20 (Brief recess. ) 

21 BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

22 Q. Mr. Chairman, you testified a few moments ago 
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.r, 1 just keeping it there. It's like paying for a babysitter 

2 just in case you need one. 

3 Q. Is there any data in writing that would reflect 

4 -the consideration of the cost of emergency drydocking at 

5 Newport News? 

6 A. There may be, and we will get it to you if there 

7 is. And once again, I am not sure whether I understand 

8 the question properly. You say emergency drydocking at 

9 Newport News. If that means it varied dramatically as to 

10 whether there was.a dedicated slot that was open anyway, 

I1 or whether you had to pay for its being dedicated, and the 

12 type of work involved, and also whether you could properly 

13 compete that with either a public or another private yard, 

14 
. 
and so those numbers probably would not be too accurate, 

IS really, without examining where they would end up with. 

- 
16 Q. The Commission did rely on carrier-capable 

17 drydocks at  the N e w p o r t  N e w s  Shipbuilding to provide, 

18 along with the Norfolk Naval Shipyard, and mothball 

19 drydocks in Philadelphia, a capacity for unplanned 

20 requirements. Is that right? 

21 A. Yes, that's correct. Which was the reason why 

22 they wanted to not sell the assets, but basically mothball 
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them in case of the contingencies that were 

unexpected - -  and which has been done before on the west 
coast, by the way. They mothballed a drydock at one of 

'the facilities in the Bay area. And there was a nuclear 

carrier that ran aground and was reactivated. So it was 

successfully done in the past, and they figured it could 

be done in the future. 

Q. But did you consider the cost of having carrier- 

capable drydocks at Newport News Shipbuilding in reaching 

the conclusion which you did on page 5-28, of your report, 

Courter Exhibit No. 14? 

A. Where is that now? 

A. Could you repeat the question? I mean I concur 

in that paragraph that says "the comission found that the 

coibination of carrier-capable drydocks at Norfolk Naval 

Shipyard and Newport News Shipbuilding and the mothball 

drydocks at Philadelphia provide capacity for unplanned 

requirements." That is in our report, and it's accurate. 

Q. But the question is, did you consider the cost 

of the Newport News Shipbuilding carrier-capable drydocks 

for your - -  for use in this conclusion? 
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1 A. Yeah, costs of doing repair work was always 

2 considered by the Commission. 

3 Q. But we're talking about, now, unplanned 

4 requirements for drydocks - -  carrier capable drydocks. 
5 And youtre talking about including Newport News 

6 Shipbuilding as providing capacity for unplanned 

7 requirements. 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. My question is, did you consider the cost for 

10 providing that unplanned requirement at Newport News 

11 Shipbuilding? 

12 A. Well, I interpret the question to mean did 

13 we - -  yeah - -  did we look at the cost factor of doing that 
14 type of work in Newport News. And the answer is yes. We 

15 looked at the cost of doing that in different parts of the 

16 united States, the cost generally of ship repair. 

17 Q. And what writings do you have to reflect those 

18 considerations? 

19 A. I - -  whatever the staff has. 
20 Q. I would like to request that that be produced, 

21 if you have it - -  if there is a - -  . 
22 A. Yeah. 
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have a master's degree from the University of Illinois, I 
both in civil engineering. I 

And for my professional background, most all of I 
the jobs I have had in the Navy have been one way or 

another related to facilities, shore facilities. That is 

what civil engineers do in the Navy. It is a wide range of I 
issues, from construction to maintenance to construction I 
battalions to staff jobs that have to do with the I 
management of construction and maintenance and utilities 

and family housing. I 
Q What position do you currently hold? 

A I am the Director of the Shore Activities 

Division for the Chief of Naval Operations; OP-44. 

Q Could you describe what other positions you have 

held, if any, in the last five years? 

A Well, I have held positions in the last five I 
years -- the question was funny. Well, before this job, I I 
was the Commander of the Western Division for the Naval I 
Facilities Engineering Command. That is in San Francisco. I 
In that job, I had the responsibility for the whole West I 
Coast of the United States with regard to those items that 
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that or the principal duty of OP-44 would be the collection 

of data? 

A Yes. 

Q Any other duties you would perform in a staff 

supporting role in the base closure process? 

A Well, we collect the data. We put the data -- we 
format the data. We prepare -- put that data in certain 
formats for presentation. We may be asked to analyze that 

data or go back and ask other people for the data. So,  

there are some support functions that we would perform in 

that respect. 

Q When you say OP-44 might be asked or may.& asked 

to analyze the data, is it fair to say then that the 

analysis of data is not a typical function for OP-447 

A Not really because we are a relatively small 

staff, at least the staff associated with the base closure. 

So, .we relied very -- almost exclusively on expertise, 
experts within the Department of Navy in their area of 

expertise. We would go to them to obtain the data and in 

most cases the analysis. 

Q Is it fair to say that in connection wi'h your 

data collection concerning Naval shipyards, that you would 
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I apparent. 

-3 1 Q How long did this process that you are 

describing, OP-44's collecting data and analysis through 

OP-43, last? 

A This is with regard to the Base Structure 

Conuni ttee process? 

a I Q Yes. 

A It lasted from the time the Base Structure 

Committee was formed in December until we completed the 

li 1 analysis rop.ort, which was at the end of March. 

Q Now, you mentioned that your duties and 

responsibilities in connection with base closure and 

realignment began the day you began as OP-44 on 7 July 

1990. Is that right? 

16 1 A Y e s .  

Q What you are describing now with respect to the 

l8 I data collection and analysis done by OP-43 didn't begin 

i9 I until December of 1990. Is that right? 

A Yes. 

Q Can you tell me what happened generally between 7 

July 1990 and December 1990, with respect to base closure? 
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A Wall, you may or may not be familiar with the 25 

January list that was proposed by Secretary Cheney. There 

were several actions that were taking place after that list 

was made public, one of which was a study that was 

commissioned by the Vice Chief of Naval Operations that has 

been referred to as the VCNO Study of the OPNAV Study. 

That was to go back in and look at the total Navy and see 

whether the list that came out on 25 January was -- whether 
the installations on that were valid and, if so, maybe they 

had some other installations that ought to be closed. So. 

there was an ongoing effort in that process. 

And OP-44, again, as it was in other pieces of 

the process was sort of the staff behind the actions that 

were taken, the facilitator of the data and the meetings 

that took place. 

Q So, is it fair to say that what OPNAV did in 

connection with base closure.and realignment between July 

and December of 1990, didn't differ very much from what it 

did in connection with base closure and realignment between 

December of '90 and March '91? 

A There was quite a bit of difference. 

Q Could you explain the difference? 
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was a new Act. This new Act had some very specific I 
requirements to it and that was to go back and start from I 
z'ero and it was to use a set of specific criteria -- well, I 
use some criteria that later was developed by the Office of I 
the Secretary of Defense and provide the eight criteria and 

so there were some specific procedures that had to be I. 
followed with regard to this new A c t .  And, so, effectively I 
the Navy started over in the December time frame. I 

So, some of the data that would have been 

developed since the previous January, that data collection, I 
that group of data, was used in both instances, but all of I 
the previous process was essentially set aside'and there 

was a whole new process that took place. 

Q Let me understand. You say the same data that I 
had been used under t h e  o l d  p r o c e s s  was used i n  December 

and to March in the process. Is that right? I 
A Right. I 
Q But something new happened. What was the new 

thing? The same data was used, but a new analysis? Is 

that what -- 
A Well, the data was validated or revalidated by 
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there were any -- at that time any changes in the criteria I 
at that time we were working with. And, so, that it was 

updated so that it would be meaningful in the process that I 
was now going to restart in the December time frame. I 

Q Is it fair to say that the analysis of the data 

did not change? I 
A I don't know. In some cases, the analysis may I 

have changed, depending on -- we looked by some of the . 
responsible officers that were looking at the data. 

Q But you have no personal knowledge of any I 
analysis having been altered between the July to December I 
time frame versus the December to March of 1991 time frame. 

Is that correct? 

A I don't think "altered" is the right word. That I 
implies that -- I think what we are talking about here is I 
there was this data, this group of data that had been I 
compiled through the summer and when we got ready to start I 
the new process, we said to people, all right, we have gone 

through six or eight months now. Go back and take this and 

iet's make sure that the criteria issues that you .are I 
looking at are still the issues that are important to you 
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evaluations are the correct evaluations because we are I 
going to start now under a process, under a new law and we I 
want to make sure the data is up to date and it is the best I 
data that we can use to start the evaluation. 

Do I personally know of individual sheets where 

things were done in that process? No, I don't. I 
Q Now, these directions that you have just finished I 

describing, correcting the evaluations, making sure it was I 
the best data, were they directions, suggestions that OP-44 I 
gave to OP-43 or, if not, where -- who was giving whom I 
direction in that regard? 

A OP-44 in its capacity was the one that was asking I 
for these revalidations to all the sources, not just OP-43. I 

Q Since, as you have testified, OP-44 relied almost I 
exclusively on OP-43 for data collection and analysis, is. l 
it fair to say that OP-44 really wasn't in a position to 

determine whether OP-43 had revalidated or corrected 

evaluations or done any of these things that you just 

mentioned? I 
MR. GUTMAN: Let me object to the question. I I 

don't think it fairly represents the Admiral's testimony on 
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OP-43's responsibilities. You have to distinguish between 

all data collection and that data collection. 
.. : - -. - 

I MR. DAVISH: All right. I will rephrase the I 
question. I 

I BY MR. DAVISH: I 
Q Given what you have told me, that OP-44 relied 

..:almost exclusively for its data collection and analysis 

I with respect to shipyards on OP-43, that OP-44 really I 
wasn't in a position to determine whether or not OP-43 had 

revalidated or corrected evaluations or sought the best 

data or done any of the things that you mentioned that OP- 

44 would have asked OP-43 to do, after the passage of the 

I new Act. Is that right? I 
A Only to the same degree that it would be with any 

I of the people we asked for data. We asked them to go I 
through and check it and determine it. If t h e y  came back 

I to us, they gave us their input with regard to the data. I 
I So. one has to assume that they went through and they did I 

that. Now, there may have been conversations at the staff 

level that we affirmed that. But at my level, I don't know 

of that. 

Q But as a general matter, it is fair to say that 
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SO 

to say that OP-44's duties and responsibilities in 

connection with that part of base closure, the earlier base 

closure process, were at an end? 

A Well, you know, the process of the VC in those 

days was a continuing process. It didn't come to an end 

when you just gave a certain piece of analysis and a piece 

of data. That process went on for awhile. I don't know 

that you could say our responsibility ended when we gave 

that data to the advisory committee. 

Q So, OP-44, it is fair to say, was involved in an 

ongoing process of obtaining from OP-43 data and analyses 

on shipyards from the earlier base closure process.up 

through the new base closure process instituted as a result 

of t h e  1990 A c t ?  

A Yes. 

Q Same people involved? 

A Same people. 

Q Do you recall if that advisory committee, about 

which you have spoken, reached any conclusions or made any 

recommendations with respect to the closure of Naval 

shipyards? 

A Yes. 
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Q Do you recall what those conclusions and 

recommendations were? 

A There were -- that process did not come to a 
closure until the time the Act had been passed and we had 

to start over. So, the VCNO study was brought to a closure 

In about November to the first of December time frame, 

somewhere in that time. I can't remember the exact dates. 

Out of that came some recommendations that were 

presented to the Chief of Naval Operations and those -- and 
no decisions were made on those by the Chief of Naval 

Operations, but those recommendations of the advisory 

comi~uttee and then what I would characterize as a range of 

acceptability for the Chief of Naval Operations were later 

presented to the Base Structure Committee and they are as 

gart of the record of the Base Structure Committee. 

If I can recall, there were two options shown in 
-- - 
-'-there for the shipyard at Philadelphia in that list. 

Q Do you recall what options they were? 

A Option No. 1 is essentially the option that we 

see today and that was the preserving of the shipyard. The 

word "mothballing" may have been used in the list -and 

effectively as you see it today, and the second option was 
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the small ship repair facility. That is as I recall it. I 

would have to look at the list to make sure. 

Q Do you recall if the advisory committee 

recommended one option as opposed to another? 

A I think they were placed in an order of 

preference. 

Q So that is to say, Option No. 1, which was 

mothballing, was the preferred option? 

A Right. 

Q Do you recall when the advisory committee made 

that recommendation or came to that conclusion? 

A I can't recall the exact meeting that took place 

nor the date of that meeting. 

Q Would it have been the summer of 1990? 

A Oh, no, no. This was much later. This was -- as 
I mentioned before, this was after the Act, so .that we 

brought the deliberations of the advisory committee, the 

VCNO study, to some type of closure and so that meeting 

took place -- I am not sure. It could be around the -- it 
couid have Been as late as January. It is somewhere in 

that time frame, November, December, January time .frame. 

Q Correct me if I am wrong. You said that the 
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I made available to or presented to the Base Structure 

3 1 Committee. Is that right? I 
A No. The recommendations of the advisory 

committee and the chairman of the advisory committee were I 
ti 1 discussed with the Chief of Naval Operations and then that 

list characterized as a range of acceptability, not 

decisions by the Chief of Naval Operations, not 

recommendations, but a range of acceptability was later 

presented to the Base Structure Committee so that the Base 

- li I Structure Committee would have the benefit of that long, I 
. J 

iZ I ongoing analysis that have been done through the VCNO study 

l3 I and some of the thoughts of the Chief of the Naval 

l4 I Operations with regard to base closure. 

li I Q So, do you recall approximately when these I 
i b  I advisory committee recommendations were discussed with the I 

Q YOU just mentioned that -- you mentioned a date 
as late as January 1991 in connection with this advisory 

17 

- - 
A 3  

conunittee recommendation. To what were you referring than, 

CNO? 

A No. I was not part of that, so I don't know. 

what presentation, to whom -- 
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A As late as that time frame. I would have to go 

back and check, but in that time frame was the issue of 

closing out the VCNO study, bringing it to some sort of 

closure so that there could be some range of options and 

acceptability that came out of that process, that could be 

made available to the Base Structure Committee so the Base 

Structure would know at least what the feelings of the 

Chief of Naval Operations and the Vice Chief of Naval 

Operations study was to -- as an input into their process. 
Q Is that the thing that might have occurred as 

late as January '91' 

A Yes, right. 

Q So, given what you have said, the opinion of or 

feeiings of the CNO with respect to base closures that was 

made available to the Base Structure Committee perhaps in 

January of '91 -- 
A Well, I am not sure exactly when they were made. 

I am just saying that that is when that process came to a 

termination. The exact date of when that presentation was 

made to the Base Structure Committee is right in the -- it 
is in the data of the Base Structure Committee. It is 

right in the record of the Base Structure Committee. 
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A Yes. I 
Q Is it fair to say that you played an active role I 

in many or most of these BSC meetings? 

I A Well, active from the standpoint of presentation 

1 of data and issues, but I as not being a member of the Base I 
Structure Committee, I was not active in the 

determinations. 

Q Do you recall any particular meeting where the 

issue of Naval shipyards was discussed by the Base 

il Sti-ucture Committee? I 
Q More than one? 

A Yes. I 
Q Do you know how many? I 
A I can't give you the exact number but shipyards 

i7 I carit= up as part of the presentation process for its I 
L8 I capacity analysis and then later further analysis and, so, 

i . 3  I it was more than three and less than ten. 1 mean, it was I 
SC I part of the issues that were being discussed and th=re were I 

specific presentations made to the Base Structure Committee I 
by NAVSEA and by the members of OP-43 OK with OP-43, but 
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4 4  

p~imarily by NAVSEA. 

Q You say that members of OP-43 made direct 

presentations to the Base Structure Conunittee? 

A I don't think I remember an OP-43 person standing 

up making a presentation, but they were there with NAVSEA 

as part of the presentations being made. 

Q So, both NAVSEA and OP-44 made presentations to 

the Base Structure Committee on the subject of Naval 

skripyards? 

A Yes. Now, again, as I say, the data that I 

presented was data that was strictly data that had been 

collected and presented from a capacity analysis and data 

that came in through the process of data collection. So, 

the presentations I made were facts. Here is the data. 

Here is the data definitely. 

NAVSEA's presentations before the Base Structur* 

Cormnittee were different type of presentations. 

Q Why were they different? 

A Because the Base Structure Committee in its 

desire to make sure it looked at all the options and all 

the issues surrounding that, gave organizations lLke NAVSEA 

and there were other organizations, too, in other 
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heard and to present their positions. NAVSEA came before 

the Base Structure Commission several times on the issue of 

shipyards. 

5 l  As a matter of fact, I think NAVSEA probably had 

move opportunity than any other part of the Navy to present 

their positions with regard to shipyards. 

Q Do you know why that was? 

A No, I don't. 

Q Does it seem a natural thing for NAVSEA to have 

1 weighting no heavily on the issue of Naval shipyards? 
I 

A NAVSEA is in c h a ~ g a  of shipyards, so it guess it 

would be natural if they had an opinion or they had the 

i* I posltion that they were trying to get across, that they 

would want to be there and present their position. 

Q So, NAVSEA had particular positions or 

recon-kenclations or conclusions that it was urging or 

suggesting that tha Base Structure Committee adopt. Is 

that correct? 

A Yes. 

Q Is it fair to say one of those suggestions or 

recommendations was to close the Philadelphia Naval 
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or to go through a question and answer period. Other than 

I that, they didn't deal directly with them. 

I Q Did you or anyone else on your staff concerned 

with closure deal with one member of the Base Structure 

I Committee or working group anymore than they dealt with 

I other members? 

A No. 

I Q So, it is fair to say that there was no member of 

the Base Structure Committee or working group that was more 

concerned than the others or had the greater responsibility 

I than other members to deal with Naval shipyards? 

A No. That is a correct statement. There were 

none that had anymore r.esponsibility. 

8 Is there one, do you.recal1, that took a greater 

I interest in it or asked you more questions about shipyards? 

A No. 

Q Now, back to NAVSEA, you said that NAVSEA did 

have a recommendation about the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard. Is that right? 

I A Yes. 

I Q And it made that recommendation to the Ease 

Structure Committee. Is that right? 
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4 Yes. 

Q That recommendation was to close or mothball the 

shipyard in the matter, which has ultimately come to pass. 

Is that right? 

A No. That is what you said before, that that was 

their recommendation. NAVSEA made a presentation on 

several positions before the Base Structure Committee. 

There is a copy of that in the record of the Base Structure 

Committee. 

Q Were you asked your opinion or OP-44's opinion 

with respect to the Naval shipyard at any time? 

A No. 

Q Did you at any time express an opinion or a 

recommendation to anyone on the Base Structure Conunittee or 

the working group, regarding closure or realignment of the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A OP-44 opinion? 

Q Yes. 

A No. 

0 Did .you express any opinion whatsoever concerning 

closure of the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

MR. GARVEY: I will object to that as irrelevant, 
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A No. 

Q And that is because it simply wasn't the role of I 
OP-44 in the base closure process? I 

A That is right. I 
Q Do you recall if any member of the Navy's Base 

Structure Committee or the working group ever sought from 

you or OP-44, any particular piece of data about the I 
Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, which you did not have in your I 
possession and had to go and seek out from someone else, 

possibly OP-43? 

A When you say "working group," what are you 

talking about? 

Q You are familiar with the term "working group"? 

A I know what working group is, but this is the 

first time the term has come up in the conversation. What 

work group are we talking about here? I 
Q Let me ask you. I understood there was a working I 

group in connection with the Base Structure Committee, 

comprised of several Navy personnel. Are you familiar with 

any such working group? I 
A There was a working group that was part -of the 

VCNO study, the advisory committee, and then there was a 
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working group and that working group sort of stayed in 

being and that was composed of the different OP-Codes that 

had input into the process, the experts in different areas. 

That is the only working group that had a title 'working 

group" that I am familiar with and the OP-43 and NAVSEA 

'people had representation on that working group, if that is 

the working group you are talking about. 

And that working group was used from time to time 

and would go and gather information or get additional data 

and so forth. 

Q Was that group used in connection with the Base 

Structure Committee? 

A Yes. I believe we kept that in operation so that 

we could have a fprum to go and retrieve data and more data 

i f  we needed to. 

Q Do you know if members of the working group as it 

was comprised at the time it reported to the advisory 

committee versus the time it was reporting to the Base 

Structure Committee changed at all? 

A I don't know. 

Q Do you know any of the names of the members of 

the working group? 
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the title was, but he was the leader maybe of the Navy team 

-- Navy analysis team for the Base Closure Commission. 
Q Did you deal directly with him in connection with 

your presentations or duties concerning the Base Structure 

Commit tee? 

A No. 

Q Did you ever have any conversations or 

communications with Mr. Yellin concerning Naval shipyards? 

A Yes. 

Q When was that? 

A This was later, after the Base Closure Commission 

had formed and was doing the analysis on the Navy's 

recommendations. At that time, because he was the leader 

of the Navy analysis group of the Commission, there was a 

lot of information that was being requested of the Navy by 

the Commission. So, with regard to that information and in 

facilitating the answers to that, there were times when Mr. 

Yellin and I talked. There were times when the subject was 

information for shipyards and there were times when it was 

information for other things. 

Q Do you recall any specific meetings wherein the 

shipyards were discussed? 
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A No. 

Q But it is fair to say there probably would have 

been more than one meeting where shipyards were discussed 

between you and Mr. Yellin? 

A No, I wouldn't characterize it as a meeting. 

Most of my dealings with Mr. Yellin was on the telephone. 

Cornnllssion, questions they were asking us and our answers 

Q Is it possible to characterize what the substance 

of your conversations regarding Naval shipyards were? 

A It was -- whatever the discussions were, it had 
to do with specific questions that the Base Structure 

going back. It was nothing specific. It was where we are I 

I 

going to send you so many questions and here are these 

questions and we would like a response back by a certain 

time or there may be a question that he sent us and I 

wanted to clarify the question and I called him up and made 

sure that we had an understanding of the questions. 

Some of those were shipyard questions and some of 

them were questions with regard to other type of 

facilities. 

Q Did there ever come a time when Mr. Yell-in said 

to you I need data or analysis to support this particular 
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documentation, whether the Navy's recommendations were I 
affected by that. So, the Commission themselves took that I 
responsibility on to dig digger into the Navy's process and I 
to question and hold meetings, to investigate that issue I 
and then later the Base Closure Commission determined that I 
the lack of the documentation was not an issue and the I 
Navy's recommendations were valid. I 

Q You have mentioned the process undertaken by the I 
president's Commission to determine whether the I 
methodologies and recommendations of the Navy were I 
adequately supported. Were you involved in that process at 

a1 l? 

A Yes, to the degree that there were questions that 

the Commission submitted to the Navy to answer and we were I 
responsible for coordinating the answer to the questions. I 
Some of those questions were aimed at providing more I 
detailed information to satisfy the Commission as to degree I 
of analysis and documentation. I 

Q So, it is a fact to say that the documentation I 
was always there, but it simply wasn't presented &n enough I 
detail to satisfy the President's Commission? 
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is what was c a l l e d  t h e  Advisory Board, I don ' t  know. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Well, what is t h e  Three S t a r  Group? 

A. That  was Vice Admiral Smi th ' s  group. 

Q. Who were t h e  members of t h a t ?  

A. There  m u s t  have been 30. It  inc luded  t h e  

systems commanders, it inc luded  t h e  t h r e e  s t a r  o f f i c e r s  

i n  t h e  o f f i c e  of t h e  CNO. OP-02, 03, 05, 08, t h e  head 

of it. 04, L o g i s t i c s ,  p l u s  Submarine, Sur face ,  

L o g i s t i c s ,  A i r c r a f t ,  Carriers, and t h e  Research and 

Development Requirements. There was a l s o  inc luded  t h e  

c o n t r o l l e r  of t h e  Navy and some of h i s  s t a f f .  

Q. How about  you; were you on i t ?  

A. I was i n v i t e d  t o  a t t e n d  when issues invo lv ing  

my f i e l d  of a c t i v i t y  were discussed.  

Q. And you were a t  t h a t  time as commander of 

NAVSEA i n  charge of a l l  naval  shipyards  i n  t h e  United 

S t a t e s ;  is  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A. Amongst o t h e r  t h i n g s ,  yes. 

Q. Amongst o t h e r  t h i n g s ?  

A. Yes. 

Q. So whenever naval  sh ipya rds  were being 
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d i scussed ,  you were i n v i t e d ?  

A. Y e s , I w a s .  

Q. You t h i n k  you were? 

A. I was i n v i t e d  t o  t h e  ones  under B i l l  Smith 

wi thout  f a i l .  I wasn ' t  a b l e  t o  a t t e n d  every one because 

I was on t r a v e l  sometimes, and my deputy would go. 

Q. You a t t e s t  t o  t h a t  you were n o t  t o l d  it was 

t o o  l a t e  i n  t h e  process  by t h e  December 20 th  meeting t o  

make a change? 

A. No. 

Q. You weren ' t  t o l d  t h a t ?  

A* No. 

Q. You do know, though, t h a t  by t h a t  t ime t h e  

d e c i s i o n  had been made t o  recommend t h e  c l o s u r e  of 

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Shipyard? 

A. No, I d o n ' t  know t h a t .  

Q. Y o u d o n ' t ?  
- - A. - No. 

Q. Well, you were t o l d  t h a t  be fo re  December 19,  

1990, weren ' t  you? 

A. You mean, what is t h i s ,  t h i s  is  12/20 of  what 

month? I d o n ' t  know what month t h i s  is. 
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Q. Sure. They weren't f i n a l i z e d  u n t i l  February 

of 1991, were they?  

A. Something l i k e  t h a t .  I t  was very l a t e  i n  t h e  

p roces s  when I f i n a l l y  saw those .  

Q. Were you i n v i t e d  t o  appear  be fo re  MS. 

Schaf er  I s  group? 

A. One time. 

Q. Approximately when was t h a t ?  

A. I b e l i e f  it was i n  January.  

Q. Of '91? 

A. Yes. It was e i t h e r  the* f i r s t  meeting t h a t  

t h a t  group had, or  ve ry  c l o s e  t o  t h a t .  

Q. And you gave your -- presen ted  you views 

t h e r e ?  

A. Yes, I did .  

Q m  Was it be fo re  o r  a f t e r  January 11, '91? 

A. I don ' t  r e c a l l .  I r e a l l y  don ' t .  I d o n ' t  

recall .  I ' m  sure t h a t  M S .  S c h a f e r l s  o f f i c e  has a record  

of it, b u t  I d o n ' t  recall.  

MR. KAUFFMAN: Mark as Hekman 5 ,  a memo da ted  

January 11, 1991, Memorandum f o r  t h e  Deputy Chief of 

Naval Opera t ions ,  Subjec t :  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard. 
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(Whereupon, a Memorandum, da t ed  January 11, 

1991, f o r  t h e  Deputy Chief of Naval Opera t ions ,  Subjec t :  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard,  was marked Hekman 

Depos i t ion  E x h i b i t  Number 5 f o r  i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . )  

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. I show you Hekman Number 5 and ask i f  you have 

eve r  s een  t h i s  document, s i r .  I d i r e c t  your a t t e n t i o n  

p a r t i c u l a r l y  t o  Paragraph 1. Do you see t h a t  t h e  -- 
A. L e t  me read  it a minute. 

Q. Of course.  Of course.  

A. I f  my memory s e r v e s  m e  c o r r e c t l y ,  I di'd read 

t h i s .  Even though it wasn ' t  addressed t o  m e ,  as I 

r e c a l l ,  Admiral Clayman had a copy of t h i s .  

Q. You see t h e  f i r s t  paragraph. J u s t  t r y  t o  see 

i f  it r e f r e s h e s  your r e c o l l e c t i o n .  I t  s ays ,  "NAVSEA has 

r e c e n t l y  requ-ested OPNAC t o  cons ide r  a v a r i a t i o n  of 

their position on the closure." 

A. Yes. NAVSEA (SEA-07).  That was Admiral 

C l  ayman. 

Q. And then  it says ,  'NAVSEA may p r e s e n t  t h i s  

p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e  Base Closure  Advisory Committee on 1 4  

January  1991.' So t h a t  t h i s  would i n d i c a t e ,  s i r ,  t h a t  
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1 t h e  Base Closure  Advisory Committee was s t i l l  o p e r a t i v e  

2 as of January 14,  1991? 

3 A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  when they s h u t  down. I d o n ' t  

4 recall  going t o  any meetings of t h a t  group a f t e r  l a t e  

5 December . 
6 Q. So y o u ' r e  s ay ing  you d i d n ' t  -- 
7 A. They may have cont inued t o  have meet ings  where 

8 they  d i d n ' t  have t h e  systems commanders p resen t .  I 

9 d o n ' t  know. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  going t o  a meeting of t h a t  

1 0  group a f t e r  December. 

Q. Okay. 

A. But I do b e l i e v e  I d i d  see a copy of t h i s ,  and 

I b e l i e v e  it was Admiral Clayman t h a t  showed it t o  me. 

Again, i t ' s  an i n t e r n a l  Naval Opera t ions ,  Chief of Naval 

Opera t ions  i n s i d e  memo. Lang was OP-43. 

Q. B u t  you d i d  appear be fo re  t h e  Schafer  Group 

sometime? 

A. That one t i m e ,  yes .  

Q. You b e l i e v e  t h a t  was i n  January of  -- 
A. I f  my memory s e r v e s  m e ,  it was i n  January.  

Q. Did you g i v e  them anyth ing  i n  w r i t i n g ?  

A. I b e l i e v e  I gave them t h e  same package t h a t  I 
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had given t o  B i l l  Smith 's  group, which w a s - t h e  paper 

t h a t  showed t h e  economic a n a l y s i s  of t h e  yard  an$ a l l  

t h e  work, and I b e l i e v e  you probably have a copy of 

t h a t ,  because I used it i n  a l l  my b r i e f i n g .  

Q. Before  I mark t h i s  l e t  m e  show you t h i s  and 

a s k  i f  t h i s  is what you are t a l k i n g  about?  

A. Yes, t h i s  is it. 

Q. L e t  me mark it then. 

A. There a r e  a l o t  of r e i t e r a t i o n s  of t h i s  

because it was updated and c o n s t a n t l y  -- w e  s t a r t e d  

w r i t i n g  t h i s  paper about  -- 
Q. Unfor tuna te ly ,  t h i s  is no t  da t ed  -- I ' m  

s o r r y .  January 1 4 ,  1991 ,  i n  t h e  upper r ight-hand 

corner .  So, is t h i s  t h e  -- 
A. Yeah. And t h e  reason,  and I have t o  t e l l  you 

why t h e s e  were c o n s t a n t l y  being updated is because t h e  

workload t h i n g s  were c o n s t a n t l y  changing. There were 

being d e c i s i o n s  made t o  s c r a p  s h i p s ,  t o  change overhaul  

schedules ,  t o  do a l o t  of t h a t ,  and t h a t  was a moving 

t a r g e t .  And each t ime t h e  i s s u e  came up a g a i n  we had t o  

rework t h e s e  va r ious  a t tachments  and curves  on he re ,  and 

t h e n  reword some of t h e  t h i n g s ,  b u t  b a s i c a l l y  t h e  
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Q. I d i d n ' t  t h i n k  so. Okay. Were you ever  asked 

by any of t h e  groups, e i t h e r  t h e  e a r l y  group or  t h e  

Schafer  Group, e i t h e r  t h e  Three S t a r  Group o r  Schafer  

Group, t o  go i n t o  any kind of exp lana t ion  o r  d e t a i l  

about  t h e  c o s t s  of closure of P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval 

Shipyard? 

A. I was asked t o  do t h e  economic breakdown of 

costs of closure, yes.  And my s t a f f  and I worked t h o s e  

up and we tu rned  t h o s e  numbers in .  

Q o  And t h a t ' s  what we looked a t  be fo re?  

A. Yes. 

Q. Hekman Number 10,  I be l i eve .  

A. Y e s .  B u t  t h i s  wasn ' t  t h e  f i r s t  t i m e  t hey  were 

t u rned  in .  

Q. T h a t ' s  Page Number 00000101, Hekinan Number 10,  

r i g h t ?  

A. Yes. However, they were known well b e f o r e  

t h i s .  

Q. Yes. 

A. These view graphs  are  aga in ,  t h e s e  are  Xerox 

cop ie s  of view graphs  t h a t  had been used i n  repea ted  

b r i e f i n g s .  
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Q. To whom? Who d i d  you g i v e  t h i s  t o ?  

A. Every time I had t o  p r e s e n t  my case t o  t h i s  

Three S t a r  Group, or whatever, I had a package of t h o s e  

view graphs  t h a t  I would take along. And as q u e s t i o n s  

came up, I would p r e s e n t  them and say  h e r e  it is. 

Q. Was it also p re sen ted  t o  S c h a f e r l s  group? 

A. I d i d n ' t  p r e s e n t  it t o  S c h a f e r l s  group. I 

b e l i e v e  t h a t  Admiral Clayman did.  From about e a r l y  

January on, I no longer  met wi th  t h e  Scha fe r  Group. 

When q u e s t i o n s  came up Admiral Clayman would go and meet 

w i th  them. 

Q. Why is  t h a t ?  

A. E s s e n t i a l l y  t hey  asked f o r  him t o  come. 

Q. They d i d n ' t  want you t h e r e ,  r i g h t ?  

A. I'm not  say ing  they  d i d n ' t  want me t h e r e .  

Q. .You were no t  i n v i t e d  t o  a t t e n d ?  

A. I was no t  invited t o  a t t e n d .  

-- - - 01 Despi te  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you were s t i l l  coinmander 

of NAVSEA Command? 

A. T h a t ' s  t r u e .  

Q. They s p e c i f i c a l l y  asked f o r  Admiral Clayman? 

A. Yes, they  did .  
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Q. Did you make a s t a t emen t  t o  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t  

c l o s i n g  a  sh ipyard  w i l l  s ave  no more than  $5 m i l l i o n ?  

A. One of t h e  p o i n t s  t h a t  I argued was t h a t  t h e  

o p e r a t i n g  c o s t  of t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard 

averaged between $5 and $8 m i l l i o n ,  depending on i f  we 

had t o  do any major maintenace work. And t h a t  t h e  on ly  

s av ings  t h a t  would acc rue  from c l o s u r e ,  i f  any,  would 

have t o  be taken  from t h o s e  o p e r a t i n g  funds.  

m here was a mistaken unders tanding t h a t  i f  w e  

d i d n ' t  send s h i p s  t h e r e  we would s a v e  t h e  money t h a t  

would normally be s p e n t  t o  overhaul  s h i p s .  And I s a i d  

t h a t  a n a l y s i s  was wrong. But t h a t  was t h e  i n i t i a l  work 

group ' s  a n a l y s i s .  In  o rde r  t o  unders tand t h a t ,  you have 

t o  unders tand how t h e  Navy funds t h e  Navy sh ipyards .  

Q. How do they  fund t h e  Navy sh ipya rds?  

A. With a  revolv ing  fund set up by Congress 

c a l l e d  the Navy I n d u s t r i a l  Fund. 

Q. Could you e x p l a i n  t h a t ,  p l e a s e ,  admira l?  

A. The s h i p  r e p a i r  is conducted by t h e  nava l  

sh ipya rds  and they were reimbursed q u a r t e r l y  by t h e  

F l e e t  commander o r  by me i n  NAVSEA, i f  i t ' s  a  s l i p  o r  

SEN,  b u t  t h e  revolv ing  fund then  is reimbursed. They 
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a r e  pa id  o u t  of t h i s  revolv ing  fund,  and t h e n  t h e  

r evo lv ing  fund is reimbursed. I t ' s  c a l l e d  t h e  Navy 

I n d u s t r i a l  Fund. 

Those are a d i f f e r e n t  set  of d o l l a r s .  They 

are admin i s t e r ed  by t h e  F l e e t  commander. He could use . 

them t o  buy a i r p l a n e  f u e l ,  s h i p  f u e l ,  s h i p  overhauls ,  o r  

p l ane  ove rhau l s ,  whatever h i s  p r i o r i t i e s  are. If he 

p u t s  it i n  t h e  Navy sh ipyard ,  he  m u s t  reimburse t h e  

sh ipya rd  f o r  t h e  work they  do. T h a t ' s  a l s o  t h e  sou rce  

of t h e  s t a b i l i z e d  inandate r a t e s ,  s o  he knows what h e ' s  

buying. 

Q. Do you now what c o n s i d e r a t i o n  was g iven  t o  

c l o s i n g  any of t h e  o t h e r  seven nava l  sh ipya rds  i n  t h e  

United S t a t e s ?  Seven, i n  a d d i t i o n  t o  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval 

Shipyard.  Do you know what c o n s i d e r a t i o n  was given t o  

c l o s i n g  any of those?  

A. Are you ask ing  i f  c o n s i d e r a t i o n  was given? 

Q. I f ,  and what;and when? 

A. A l l  of t h e  f a c i l i t i e s  Navywide were reviewed 

f o r  t h e i r  f u r t h e r  u t i l i t y .  

9. By YOU? 

A. By t h e  group. 
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Q. NAVSEA? 

A. By t h e  group w i t h  Admiral Smith. 

Q. Did you p a r t i c i p a t e  i n  t h a t ?  

A. Yes, I d id .  

Q. And were you asked t o  p a r t i c i p a t e ,  g i v e  your 

recommendations w i th  regard  t o  a l l  e i g h t  nava l  

sh ipya rds?  

A. I was asked t o  p repare  in format ion  on a l l  of 

t h e  ya rds ,  and I d i d  do t h a t .  And they  are similar  t o  

t h i s  p i e c e  of paper you have he re  on Ph i l ade lph ia .  

Q. When d i d  you do t h a t ?  

A. I can ' t  g i v e  you t h e  e x a c t  d a t e ;  sometime i n  

1990. 

Q. Sometime i n  '90? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was it t h e  l a t t e r  p a r t  of '90? 

A. I would say c l o s e r  t o  mid '90. 

Q. And d i d  you do t h e  same kind of d e t a i l  on a l l  

e i g h t  y a r d s  as  you d i d  i n  P h i l a d e l p h i a ?  

A. Yes, I did .  

Q. Did you reach  -- d i d  you make any 

recommendation t o  c l o s e  o r  r e a l i g n  any of t h e  o t h e r  
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sh ipyards ,  o t h e r  t h a n  Ph i l ade lph ia?  

A. I made no recommendations f o r  c lo su re .  

Q. Did you make any recommendations t o  downsize 

any of t h e  o t h e r  naval  sh ipyards?  

A. No. I i n d i c a t e d  t h a t  t h e  sh ipya rds  would 

downsize i n  response t o  t h e  workload of t h e  Navy, and 

t h a t  a l l  of them would come down i n  s i z e .  My estimates 

were t h a t  t h e  t o t a l  manpower f o r  t h e  Navy sh ipya rds  by 

about  1994 would be i n  t h e  neighborhood of 6 ,000  men, 

bu t  t h a t  we had need f o r  a l l  e i g h t  y a r d s  a t  t h a t  p o i n t  

i n  time and w e  p a r t i c u l a r l y  needed t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

drydocks. 

Q. Could you expound j u s t  f o r  a moment as t o  why 

you b e l i e v e  t h a t  t h e r e  was a  p a r t i c u l a r  need f o r  t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard drydocks? 

A. Yes. The d i s c u s s i o n  cen te red  around t h e  

downsizing of t h e  Navy, and t h e  requ i rements  f o r  

f a c i l i t i e s  t o  meet t h e  needs of t h e  downsized Navy. And 

my p o s i t i o n  was t h a t  t h e  Navy w i l l  be downsizing, t h a t ' s  

a  f a c t ,  bu t  t h a t  t h e  s h i p s  t h a t  I was b u i l d i n g  and 

p u t t i n g  i n  commission were a  l o t  l a r g e r  and a l o t  more 

capable  t h a n  t h e  s h i p s  t h a t  were being t aken  o u t  of 
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overhead and t h e n  b i d  a g a i n s t  t h e  p r i v a t e  s e c t o r  i n  t h a t  

ca r ryou t .  I never  g o t  permiss ion  t o  do t h a t .  

Q. But i t  is  a f a c t  t h a t  Newport N e w s  mandate 

r a t e s  were cons ide rab ly  h ighe r  t h a n  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval 

Shipyard mandate r a t e s ,  even when Newport N e w s  was asked 

t o  do nonnuclear  work? 

A. T h a t ' s  t r u e ,  aga in ,  because w e  r e q u i r e d  

Newport N e w s  t o  sp read  t h e i r  mandate r a t e s .  

Q. Admiral, t h e  Navy d i d n ' t  r e a c t  and respond t o o  

well t o  t h e  p o s i t i o n - y o u  took wi th  regard  t o  t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard,  d id  t h e y ?  

A. They l i s t e n e d  t o  me. 

Q. And they  a l s o  p u n i s h e d y o u ,  d i d n ' t  t h e y ?  

A. No, t hey  d i d n ' t .  

Q. They d i d n ' t  r e q u i r e  you t o  r e t i r e  e a r l y ?  

A. Oh, no. I was asked t o  r e t i r e  s e v e r a l  months 

be fo re  t h i s  came up. CNO saw t h r e e  y e a r s  t h e  job  coining 

up f o r  me and h i s  p o l i c y  was t h a t  he d i d n ' t  want t o  keep 

people  i n  p o s i t i o n  any more t h a n  a  two- o r  th ree-year  

pe r iod  i n  command. 

Q. Do you remember a t e l ephone  c o n v e r s a t i o n  you 

had w i t h  a  Mr. Alex Y e l l i n  on June  18,  1991? 
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A. I remember Mr. Yellin calling me, yeah. 

Q. On or about June 18, 19911 

A. That could be. I don't know the date. 

9. Did you talk to him more than once? 

A. I think he called me a couple of times, yeah, 

maybe three times. I don' t know. 

Q. You refused to meet with Mr. Yellin, didn't 

you? 

A. That's right. I didn't want to meet with Mr. 

Yellin. 

Q. Why not? 

A. I had made a decision not to -- I'd been asked 

to testify in the Base Closure Commission. I had made a 

decision not to testify for the Base Closure 

Commission. It was a personti decision. 

Nr. Yellin said he was working with the Base 

Closure Commission, and he did ask me if he could 

clarify some points on the phone, and I said, if it 

comes to clarification, yes, I will try to clarify some 

points for you. 

And then it was basically, did you recommend 

the following, and is this true, and are the drydocks 

Qv' 
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t h i s  deep and t h i s  wide. It is  almost  e n t i r e l y  w i t h i n  

t h e  i n f r a s t r u c t u r e ,  h i s  q u e s t i o n s ,  which dock w i l l  t a k e  

which kind of s h i p ,  and we s p e n t  most of o u r  d i s c u s s i o n  

on t h a t  t y p e  of th ing .  I t  was a lmost  e n t i r e l y  on 

c a p a b i l i t i e s  of t h e  v a r i o u s  yards .  

Q. I s n ' t  it t r u e ,  admira l ,  t h a t  t h e  Navy -- 
A. Now, I want t o  add one more th ing .  I was 

aware of Mr. Y e l l i n 1 s  background, t h e  f a c t  t h a t  he was a 

c i v i l  eng inee r  co rps ,  nava l  o f f i c e r ,  and f a m i l i a r  w i th  

t h e  language of t h e  t h i n g  I was t a l k i n g  about.  

Q. I s n ' t  it a  f a c t ,  admi ra l ,  t h a t  t h e  Navy 

punished you f o r  your views expressed  by you as 

f o r c e f u l l y  a s  you a t tempted  t o  e x p r e s s  them, r e l a t i n g  t o  

t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard? 

MR. GARVEY: Asked and answered. He answered 

t h a t  they d i d  n o t  punish him. 

THE WITNESS: No, t h a t ' s  n o t  t r u e .  

MR. KAUFFMAN: I d o n ' t  blame you f o r  g e t t i n g  

nervous about  t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

MR. GARVEY: I have -- 
MR. KAUFFMAN: Well, I would a p p r e c i a t e  it i f  

you would l e t  t h e  d e p o s i t i o n  j u s t  move proper ly .  
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MR. G A M E Y :  The d e p o s i t i o n  is moving 

p rope r ly .  I have a r i g h t  t o  o b j e c t ,  and t h a t ' s  n o t  

i n t e r f e r e n c e ,  as f a r  as I know. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Did you t e l l  Mr. Y e l l i n ,  s i r ,  i n  your  

t e l ephone  c o n v e r s a t i o n  w i t h  him t h a t  you were asked t o  

r e t i r e  you b e l i e v e d  i n  p a r t  because you p e r s i s t e d  i n  

d i s a g r e e i n g  w i t h  t h e  d e c i s i o n  t o  c l o s e  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

Naval Shipyard? 

A. No. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  eve r  s ay ing  anyth ing  l i k e  

t h a t  t o  Mr. Y e l l i n ,  no th ing  l i k e  t h a t .  No. 

Q. Did you t e l l  Mr. Y e l l i n  t h a t  you had in t ended  

t o  t e s t i f y  a t  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Regional  Hearing,  bu t  had 

been asked by a s e n i o r  Navy o f f i c i a l  n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No, I d i d n ' t  t e l l  him t h a t .  I t o l d  him I had 

been asked t o  go t o  P h i l a d e l p h i a  and appear a t  t h a t .  I 

s a i d  I am scheduled t o  be on t h e  West Coast  du r ing  t h a t  

pe r iod  of t i n e  and, moreover, i t ' s  something I d o n ' t  

want t o  do. 

Q. Did anyone t e l l  you what Mr. Y e l l i n  had 

w r i t t e n  i n  t h i s  memorandum? 

A. I have no i d e a  what Mr. Y e l l i n  wrote.  My only  

r ALDERSON REPORTIlJG COMPANY , INC. 
1111 1 4 t h  ST., N.W.,  4 t h  FLOOR, WASH., Q.C. 20005 ( 2 0 2 )  289-2260 



c o n t a c t  w i t h  Mr. Y e l l i n  eve r  was on t h e  te lephone.  

Q. Well, my q u e s t i o n  t o  you, s i r ,  is  d i d  anyone 

t e l l  you Mr. Y e l l i n  has  w r i t t e n  t h a t  you s a i d  it? 

A, No, No one has e v e r  t o l d  me t h a t ,  

Q, Up t o  r i g h t  now you had no i d e a  Mr. Y e l l i n  had 

w r i t t e n  t h a t  you t o l d  him t h a t  you were asked t o  r e t i r e  

from t h e  Navy because you p e r s i s t e d  i n  d i s a g r e e i n g  w i t h  

t h e  d e c i s i o n  t o  c l o s e  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard? 

A. I have no t  known t h a t  u n t i l  r i g h t  now. 

Q. And d i d  anyone t e l l  you t h a t  Mr. Y e l l i n  had 

w r i t t e n  t h a t  you in tended  t o  t e s t i f y  a t  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

Regional  hea r ing  bu t  had been asked by a s e n i o r  Navy 

o f f i c i a l  n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No. I d i d  n o t  know he had s a i d  t h a t ,  and I 

c e r t a i n l y  d i d n ' t  s ay  t h a t .  

Q. Do you know any reason why Mr. Y e l l i n  would 

l i e  about  t h a t ?  

A. I have no idea .  he misunderstood.  

Q. You know Mr. Y e l l i n  was a s t a f f  person  from 

t h e  Base C losu re  Commission? 

A. H e  i d e n t i f i e d  himself  as such,  yes .  

Q. Did you t e l l  Mr. Y e l l i n  t h a t  f r i e n d s  s t i l l  
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wi th  t h e  Navy t o l d  you t h a t  you were being accused 

w i t h i n  t h e  Navy of p rov id ing  documents t o  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

o f f i c i a l s  t h a t  were c r i t i c a l  of t h e  proposed c l o s u r e ?  

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  whether I s a i d  any th ing  l i k e  

t h a t  t o  him o r  not .  However, t h e r e  was r e l ayed  t o  me i n  

a s o c i a l  c o n v e r s a t i o n  t h a t  t h e r e  was someone i n  OPNAV 

who was accus ing  me of t u r n i n g  documents over  t o  t h e  

Base C losu re  Commission. I d o n ' t  remember who s a i d  it 

t o  me. I t  was a t  a r e t i r e m e n t  ceremony f o r  somebody. 

And a t  t h e  time I s a i d  t h a t  t h a t  i s n ' t  t r u e .  

Q. Because t h a t  would have been a t e r r i b l e  t h i n g  

t o  do? 

A. I was convinced t h a t  I had g iven  t h i s  my b e s t  

sho t .  My l o y a l t y  remained wi th  t h e  Navy, and wi th  t h e  

S e c r e t a r y ,  and I f e l t  t h a t  t h e  p roces s  would move a long,  

and t h a t  i f  I were t o  s t a n d  up and t e s t i f y  t h a t  it would 

-- I would s o r t  of j u s t  be t h e  f l o a t  i n  t h e  parade,  and 

people  who I knew and r e spec t ed  would view t h a t  as 

probably an unnecessary t h i n g  t o  do. I c e r t a i n l y  f e l t  

t h a t  it was. I have t o  t e l l  you i n  a l l  honesty  t h a t  I 

do n o t  f e e l  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard w i l l  e v e r  

c lo se .  And I have always f e l t  t h a t  way from t h e  
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beginning. 

Q. I hope you a r e  r i g h t .  

A. I have always f e l t  it would n o t  c l o s e ,  d e s p i t e  

a l l  t h e  r e s t ,  b u t  I a l s o  f e l t  t h a t  t h e  Base C losu re  

Commission was going t o  g i v e  Mr. Cheney what he asked 

f o r ,  r e g a r d l e s s  of what I o r  anyone e l s e  s a i d .  

Q. What caused you t o  feel t h a t ,  s i r ?  

A. He is a member of t h e  club.  T h a t ' s  s o r t  of 

t h e  way I f e l t .  

Q. Admiral,  d i d  you t e l l  Mr. Y e l l i n  t h a t  you 

be l i eved  t h a t  your o p p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e  proposed c l o s u r e  

had and would' con t inue  t o  h u r t  your c i v i l i a n  employment 

o p p o r t u n i t i e s ?  

A. I d o n ' t  remember s ay ing  t h a t .  

Q. Was it a f a c t ?  

A. The on ly  -- no, of cou r se  not .  No. 

Q. B u t  you d o n ' t  remember whether you s a i d  t h a t  

t o  Mr. Y e l l i n ?  

A. No, I d o n ' t  remember s a y i n g  any th ing  l i k e  t h a t  

t o  Mr. Ye l l i n .  

Q. Do you remember t h a t  you d i d n ' t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  s e e  any reason  why I could say  it, 
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because it i s n ' t  t r u e .  My o p p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e s e  t h i n g s  

a r e  well known i n  t h e  bus ines s  community and I had a l o t  

of adherence i n  t h e  bus ines s  community, b u t  i t ' s  a l s o  a 

community I c o u l d n ' t  go t o  work i n  because of t h e  e t h i c s  

r u l e .  

Q. You were asked t o  re t i re  e a r l y ,  we ren ' t  YOU? 

A. I was asked t o  r e t i r e  many months b e f o r e  t h i s  

came up. I had n o t  announced it because I was asked n o t  

t o  announce it u n t i l  a r e l i e f  was chosen, 

Q. When were you asked t o  r e t i r e ?  

A. I d o n ' t  remember t h e  e x a c t  d a t e ,  b u t  it was, 

as I r e c a l l ,  November. 

Q. Of what yea r?  

A. '90. 

Q. Well,  you had a l r eady  made your views known 

t h a t  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard should  remain open 

by then ,  h a d n ' t  you? 

A. I had, b u t  t h i s  was a due cou r se  t h ing .  The 

CNO t r a d i t i o n a l l y ,  a f t e r  a  person has  been i n  a j o b  a 

coup le  of y e a r s ,  c a l l s  him i n ,  f l a g  o f f i c e r  s a i d ,  you 

know, I would l i k e  f o r  you t o  r e q u e s t  your r e t i r e m e n t ,  

o r  he would c a l l  i n  and say I i n t e n d  t o  move you on t o  

ALDERSON REPORT I NG COMPANY, INC,  
1111 14th ST*, N e w . ,  4 t h  FLOOR, IVASHe, q . C e  20005 (202) 289-2260 



such and such a job,  o r  whatever. 

The Navy had been t o l d  t o  downsize by 25 

p e r c e n t  i n  t h e  f l a g  o f f i c e r s ,  and I was an engineer  and 

m a t e r i a l  p ro fe s s iona l .  There were no o t h e r  b i l l e t s  f o r  

me t o  go t o ,  and I a n t i c i p a t e d  t h a t  he would a sk  m e  t o  

r e t i r e  t h a t  yea r ,  and he did.  

Q. How many y e a r s  does  a person  normal ly  s e r v e  as 

commander of t h e  NAVSEA Command? 

A. Gene ra l ly ,  about  t h r e e .  So he had asked me t o  

r e t i r e  a t  my convenience,  and I had v e r b a l l y  i n d i c a t e d  

t h a t  I wished then  t o  r e t i r e  p r i o r  t o  t h e  1st of June.  

My reasons  f o r  t h a t  were because of e t h i c s  law 

t h a t  went i n t o  e f f e c t  on t h e  1st of June ,  which would 

have e s s e n t i a l l y  e l i m i n a t e d  any o p p o r t u n i t e s  I would 

have had t o  work f o r  major i n d u s t r i e s  t h a t  I had 

c o n t r a c t s  wi th ,  o r  w i t h  t h e i r  s u b c o n t r a c t o r s ,  t h e  way 

t h e  law was w r i t t e n .  And I had over  200,000 c o n t r a c t s  a 

year .  

Q. Why were you asked t o  r e t i r e  e a r l y ?  

A. I wasn ' t  asked t o  r e t i r e  e a r l y .  I had 

v e r b a l l y  asked f o r  be fo re  t h e  1st of June. You have t o  

r e t i r e  on t h e  1st of t h e  month. I found o u t  t h a t  t h e  
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b i l l  was t o  go i n t o  effect on 1 June  u n l e s s  Congress 

a c t e d  t o  s t o p  it. 

I asked t h e  Chief of t h e  Bureau, Admiral 

Borda, i f  my r e t i r i n g  on t h e  1st of June ,  and I asked  

a l s o  my l e g a l  s t a f f ,  i f  my r e t i r i n g  on t h e  1st of J u n e  

would exempt me from t h a t  law. 1 was informed t h a t  it 

would not .  

So then  I went t o  Admiral Borda and s a i d ,  I 

want a r e t i r e  on t h e  1st of May. And t h e n  he s a i d ,  

w e l l ,  we haven ' t  named a r e l i e f  ye t .  You h a v e n ' t  

announced your r e t i r e m e n t  y e t ,  and t h a t  is r e a l l y  going 

t o  crowd me very  much. 

So I s a i d ,  well, t h a t ' s  t h e  d a t e  I want. So 

he asked me t o  submit  a l e t t e r  which would e s s e n t i a l l y  

p l a c e  t h e  d e c i s i o n  on t h e  S e c r e t a r y  of t h e  Navy. He 

a l s o  knew I wanted t o  r e t i r e  on t h e  1st of May. 

Q. How d i d  he know t h a t ?  

A. I had v e r b a l l y  d i s c u s s e d  it w i t h  him. And you 

have t o  be very c a r e f u l  i n  t h e s e  a r e a s ,  because anytime 

you announce your r e t i r e m e n t ,  t h e r e  is a s o r t  of a sha rk  

f e e d  t h a t  goes on by t h e  people  who want your job. 

I had f i n a l l y  agreed ,  because of t h e  
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a d m i n i s t r a t i v e  a r e a s  t h a t  had t o  be t aken  c a r e  o f ,  t h a t  

I would r e t i r e  i n  J u l y ,  b u t  I had r eques t ed  1 May. 

A s  a r e s u l t  of a d i s c u s s i o n  I had a t  t h e  Navy 

League, where I d i s c u s s e d  t h e  Navy a c q u i s i t i o n  programs, 

and my con t inu ing  o p p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e  implementat ion of 

Goldwater-Nichols Act, a s  f a r  as a c q u i s i t i o n  was 

concerned,  t h i s  g o t  S e c r e t a r y  Atwood ve ry  s t i r r e d  up. 

And I d o n ' t  know what t r a n s p i r e d  between he 

and t h e  S e c r e t a r y  of t h e  Navy, b u t  t h e  S e c r e t a r y  of t h e  

Navy s a i d  I had p laced  him i n  an embarrass ing s i t u a t i o n .  

w i t h  S e c r e t a r y  Atwood because of my r e s i s t a n c e  t o  t h e  

implementat ion of t h e  Defense Management Review. . 

My p o s i t i o n  was -- had been spoken. I had 

been outspoken on t h a t  issue f o r  over  two y e a r s ,  b u t  it 

had a never been brought t o  Atwood's a t t e n t i o n .  

A s  r e s u l t  of t h a t  speech t h a t  I gave t o  t h e  

Navy League, S e c r e t a r y  Howard informed me t h a t  I had p u t  

S e c r e t a r y  G a r r e t t  i n  a very embarrass ing p o s i t i o n  wi th  

S e c r e t a r y  Cheney, So I s a i d ,  would it h e l p  o u t  i f  t h e  

S e c r e t a r y  simply approved my r e q u e s t  t o  r e t i r e  on 1 May 

l i k e  I o r i g i n a l l y  asked. And he s a i d ,  y e s ,  it would. 

So I s a i d ,  well, t h e n  make it so. You have t h e  r e q u e s t  

.Ir 
ALDERSON REPORTING COlYPANY, I N C .  

1111 1 4 t h  ST., N.W., 4 t h  FLOOR, WASH., D.C. 20005 ( 2 0 2 )  289-2260 



t he re .  

That  had a b s o l u t e l y  no th ing  t o  do w i t h  t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  i s s u e '  o r  wi t h  t h e  Conso l ida t ion  of 

L a b o r a t o r i e s  i s s u e ,  which was a l s o  i n  d i r e c t  o p p o s i t i o n  

t o  S e c r e t a r y  Kahn. I t  had no th ing  t o  do w i t h  t h a t .  

Q. Can you t h i n k  of any reason  worldwide Mr. 

Y e l l i n  would write t h a t  you t o l d  him t h a t  you were 

f o r c e d  t o  r e t i r e  e a r l y  because of your disagreement  w i t h  

t h e  d e c i s i o n  t o  c l o s e  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard? 

A. No. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  s ay ing  t h a t  t o  Mr. Y g l l i n ,  

and i t ' s  no t  t r u e .  I t ' s  no t  a f a c t o r .  

Q. You have no i d e a  why he would say  such a 

t h i n g ?  

A. No, I d o n ' t ,  u n l e s s  he misunderstood soinething 

he heard  from myself o r  someone else. 

Q. And you never s a i d  t h a t  you b e l i e v e d  t h a t  your 

oppos t ion  t o  t h e  proposed c l o s u r e  of t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

Naval S h i p y a r d  had and would con t inue  t o  h u r t  your 

c i v i l i a n  employment o p p o r t u n i t i e s ?  

A. No. I f  any th ing ,  it would have enhanced it. 

Q. When d i d  you g e t  t h e  j o b  t h a t  you now have? 

A. I came he re  on t h e  1st of August. 
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Q. When d i d  you g e t  t h e  job?  

A. The morning t h a t  I announced my r e t i r e m e n t  I 

r ece ived  a c a l l  from S e c r e t a r y  W ~ t k i n s  a s k i n g  me i f  I 

would work f o r  him. 

Q. And t h a t  was when? . 

A. I announced my r e t i r e m e n t  i n  Apr i l .  I 

announced it i n  what, ve ry  e a r l y  A p r i l ,  f i r s t  of  A p r i l ,  

l a t t e r  p a r t  of May, something l i k e  t h a t .  I had been 

h i n t i n g  t o  my s t a f f  more o r  l e s s  f o r  s e v e r a l  months t h a t  

I was going t o  be l e a v i n g  i n  t h e  summer. 

Q. Why d i d  you t u r n  over t h e  command of NAVSEA 

Command i n  A p r i l  r a t h e r  t han  con t inue  as t h e  commander 

u n t i l  your r e t i r e m e n t  d a t e ?  

A. That  was my dec i s ion .  

Q. Why? 

A. Because I needed some time, I needed some 

l e a v e  t ime b e f o r e  I r e t i r e d .  I had a l o t  of pe r sona l  

t h i n g s  t o  do. I would have been unable  t o  do them, s o  I 

g o t  t h e  S e c r e t a r y ' s  permiss ion  t o  do t h a t .  

Q. Did it have anyth ing  t o  do w i t h  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  

t h e  Navy had dec ided  n o t  t o  i n v i t e  you t o  meet ings  a t  

which you o the rwi se  should  have been, and i n v i t e d  one of 

< 
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your s u b o r d i n a t e s  t o ?  

A. They i n v i t e d  Admiral Clayman. That  committee 

was i n v i t i n g  a l l  of t h e  people  a t  clay mar,'^ l e v e l  i n  a l l  

t h e  d i s c u s s i o n s  they  had. I wasn ' t  t h e  on ly  systems 

commander who wasn ' t  going. 

Q. You were t h e  on ly  systems commander who had 

expressed  s t r o n g  views who wasn ' t  going,  s t r o n g  views i n  

o p p o s i t i o n  t o  t h e  Navy view? 

A. I t h i n k  you a r e  p u t t i n g  it i n  t h e  wrong 

con tex t .  What they had asked f o r  were t h e  people  who 

were t h e  d i r e c t  f a c i l i t y l s  o v e r s i g h t  person.  I n  my 

c a s e ,  Admiral Clayman; i n  t h e  case of t h e  o rd inance  

s t a t i o n s ,  it was Admiral Lang. And t h e y  were t h e  ones  

t h a t  went t o  t h e s e  meetings. But I have t o  r e i t e r a t e ,  

iny l e a v i n g  t h e  Navy had no th ing  t o  do wi th  t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard.  

Q. You a r e  working f o r  t h e  government now? 

A. Yes, I am. I ' m  h e r e  on an 18-month l i n i t e d  

appointment.  

Q. Do you remember a  c o n v e r s a t i o n  t h a t  you had 

w i t h  a man by t h e  name of W i l l i a m  A. Angus, Jr.? 

A. He wrote  a couple  of l e t t e r s  t o  me, and I 
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wrote  a coup le  l e t t e r s  back t o  him. H e  m i s i n t e r p r e t e d  a 

l e t t e r  appa ren t ly .  I wro te  him a l e t t e r  t h a t  s a i d  you 

m i s i n t e r p r e t e d .  It had t o  do w i t h  r e t i r i n g  and t h e  

t h r e e  s t a r  rank. You m i s i n t e r p r e t e d  what I t r i e d  t o  

t e l l  you. 

Q. Did you have a copy of t h a t  l e t t e r ?  

A. I d o n ' t  t h i n k  I do. 

Q. I t ' s  been des t royed?  

A. I typed him a l e t t e r .  I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  keeping 

a copy of it a t  a l l .  

Q. Do you remember a t e l ephone  c o n v e r s a t i o n  wi th  

Mr. Will iam A. Angus, J r . ?  

A. I remember t a l k i n g  t o  h i 3  on t h e  phone. He 

was a Chamber of Commerce person. H e  was t h e  f i r s t  

person who con tac t ed  me and t r i e d  t o  convince m e  t o  

t e s t i f y  b e f o r e  t h e  Base Closure  Commission. 

Q. And you t o l d  him t h a t  you had been r e t i r e d  

e a r l y  because of t h e  views which you he ld  concerning t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Sh ipyard ;  i s n ' t  t h a t  c o r r e c t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  s ay ing  t h a t  t o  him. I d o n ' t .  

I h o n e s t l y  don' t. 

Q. Do you know t h a t  he b e l i e v e d  t h a t  you t o l d  him 
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t h a t ?  

A. I c a n ' t  p u t  myself i n  h i s  mind. 

Q. You know t h a t  he wro te  t o  t h e  chairman of t h e  

Base C losu re  Commission and Congressman Cour t e r  and t o l d  

him you had r e p o r t e d  t o  him by t e l ephone  t h a t  you had 

been r e t i r e d  e a r l y  because of t h e  views which you he ld?  

A. Yes, and I c o r r e c t e d  him on t h a t .  

Q. When? 

A. I found o u t  about  it because he wrote  me a  

l e t t e r  and s a i d  he had done t h a t .  So I c o n t a c t e d  him 

and I s a i d ,  you made a mis take  here .  . 
Q. When was t h a t ?  

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  t h e  e x a c t  da t e .  I t  was i n  t h e  

suinmer, b u t  I was n o t  fo l lowing  t h i s  v e r y  c lo se .  I was 

a l l  over  t h e  country  being in t e rv i ewed  by a number of 

i n d u s t r i e s  and people  on jobs ,  and I had t o l d  A l b e r t  

Watkins t h a t  I p a r t i c u l a r l y  wasn ' t  very  i n t e r e s t e d  i n  

t h i s  p o s i t i o n .  

I d i d n ' t  want t o  r e t u r n  t o  governinent work, 

y e t  he kep t  p r e s s u r i n g  me and p r e s s u r i n g  me, and I 

con t inued  i n  t h e  j ob  sea rch ,  and he f i n a l l y  c a l l e d  me i n  

one day and I l a i d  some c o n d i t i o n s  down t o  him f o r  t h i s  
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job, and he said I can meet them all. So I said, all 

right, I will come down here on an 18-month limited 

appointment. That's the way I ended up here. 

Q. Did you have other offers? 

A. I had a lot of offers for interviews and I had 

some fairly substantial measures beyond that. I had not 

gotten any commitments, but, as you know, those things 

normally take about a year, particularly for someone who 

is looking for the jobs in the level of industry that I 

was looking. 

Q. Did you tell fir. Angus that the Navy was 

suspending decision conerning your retirement status 

until after the Philadelphia hearings? 

A. No, never said that. 

Q. It is a fact though they did suspend your 

retirement status until after the Philadelphia hearings? 

A. I don't know if that's correct' at all. All I 

know is the Senate met and confirmed me in three star 

rank for retirement in due course. Whenever the Senate 

got together, they do it about the middle of the inonth, 

and it was in the Congressional Report, the 

Congressional Record. I don't know what the timing was 
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t he re .  My s e n s i t i v i t y  w i th  t h i s  had a b s o l u t e l y  no th ing  

t o  do w i t h  Ph i l ade lph ia .  My s e n s i t i v i t y  w i t h  t h i s  had 

t o  w i t h  Mr. Atwood. 

Q. You t o l d  Sena to r  S p e c t e r  t h a t  you d i d n ' t  

t e s t i f y  because you had been asked n o t  t o  by a Navy 

o f f i c a l ,  d i d n ' t  you? 

A. Not t r u e .  

Q. You t o l d  him noth ing  l i k e  t h a t ?  

A. I t o l d  him t h a t  I had been asked t o  t e s t i f y .  

I t o l d  him t h a t  I dec ided  I d i d  n o t  want t o  t e s t i f y  b u t  

11 t h a t  I had c a l l e d  Undersecre ta ry  Howard, informed him of 

12  t h e  r e q u e s t ,  and I s a i d ,  my d e c i s i o n  is n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ,  

1 3  b u t  i f  you and t h e  S e c r e t a r y  f e e l  i t ' s  i n  t h e  Navy's 

14 good f o r  me t o  t e s t i f y ,  I w i l l  do so.  

15 He s a i d ,  our  p o s i t i o n  i s . t h a t  your d e c i s i o n  i s  

16  t h e  c o r r e c t  one, bu t  p l e a s e  c a l l  S e c r e t a r y  Scha fe r  and 

17  check it wi th  he r ,  because we've t u rned  a l l  t h a t  over  t o  

18 her .  

1 9  I c a l l e d  S e c r e t a r y  Scha fe r  w i t h i n  a couple  of 

20 minutes  of t h a t  c a l l ,  t o l d  her  what had t r a n s p i r e d ,  t o l d  

2 1  h e r  I had t a l k e d  t o  t h e  Undersecre ta ry  and s a i d  he has  

22  d e f e r r e d  t o  you. 
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And s h e  s a i d ,  I see no reason why you should 

t e s t i f y .  I endorse  your d e c i s i o n  n o t  t o ,  b u t  l e t  m e  

know i f  I can h e l p  you i f  you change your mind. 

So t h e n  I c a l l e d  S e c r e t a r y  Howard back and 

s a i d  S e c r e t a r y  Scha fe r  a g r e e s  w i t h  what you t o l d  me. I f  

I e v e r  change my mind I w i l l  l e t  you know, b u t  I won't  

do it u n l e s s  you know. 

Now when Sena to r  S p e c t e r  c a l l e d  me, as I 

r e c a l l  t h e  s t a t e m e n t  when he kep t  t r y i n g  t o  g e t  me t o  

t e s t i f y ,  I s a i d  I have t o l d  S e c r e t a r y  Howard t h a t  I ' m  

n o t  going t o  do it. I f  you f e e l  t h a t  i t ' s  a b s o l u t e l y  

v i t a l ,  i n  t h e ' N a v y l s  i n t e r e s t  t h a t  I t e s t i f y ,  t h e n  

p l e a s e  c a l l  S e c r e t a r y  Howard and you t a l k  t o  him about  

it. And t h a t ' s  what I s a i d  t o  him. 

Q. You t o l d  him t h a t  S e c r e t a r y  Howard encouraged 

you no t  t o  t e s t i f y ,  d i d n ' t  you? 

A. No, I d o n ' t  remember us ing  t h o s e  words. I 

remember him say ing  t h a t  he agreed  with my d e c i s i o n  n o t  

t o  t e s t i f y .  

Q. You t o l d  S e c r e t a r y  Howard, you a r e  s ay ing  now, 

t h a t  you had decided n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. Right.  
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Q. And he encouraged you t o  do what you had 

dec ided  t o  do? 

A. Well, okay. So t h a t ' s  my words, n o t  h i s .  

Maybe my u s e  of t h e  Engl i sh  language w i l l  d i f f e r  from 

yours.  To me t h a t  means t h a t  he agreed ,  

Q, So he encouraged you n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. Well, he  agreed.  

Q. He encouraged you n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ;  i s n ' t  t h a t  

c o r r e c t ?  Is t h a t  c o r r e c t ,  y e s  o r  no? 

A. He d i d n ' t  t r y  t o  t a l k  me i n t o  n o t  t e s t i f y i n g .  

I i n t e j p r e t  encouragement as t r y i n g  t o  t a l k  me i n t o  

something o r  t a l k  me o u t  of something. He d i d n ' t  do 

t h a t  a t  a l l .  

Q. But he d i d  encourage you no t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No. T h a t ' s  my words. I t  was no t  h i s  a t  a l l .  

There was no d i s c u s s i o n ,  t h e r e  was no argument, no th ing  

back and f o r t h .  He simply -- I was simply l e t t i n g  him 

know t h a t  I had been asked. 

You see, t h e  r ea son  I wanted t o  f i n d  o u t  was I 

d i d n ' t  know what kind of powers t h e  Base C losu re  

Commission had. I d i d n ' t  know i f  t hey  had subpoena 

powers. I d i d n ' t  know what, and I was s imply going t o  
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him and s a y i n g  I had made t h i s  r eques t .  I d i d n ' t  know 

i f  they  cou ld  go subpoena me o r  whatever. 

Q. Did e i t h e r  Nr. Howard, S e c r e t a r y  Howard, o r  

S e c r e t a r y  Scha fe r  say  t o  you they  thought  it would be a 

good i d e a  f o r  you t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No, t h e y  d i d n ' t .  

Q. Did you ask them? 

A. I asked them i f  they ,  i n  t h e i r  op in ion ,  f e l t  

t h a t  it would be of s e r v i c e  t o  t h e  Navy f o r  me t o  

t e s t i f y ,  and they  bo th  t o l d  m e  t hey  d i d n ' t  t h i n k  SO, 

t h a t  my d e c i s i o n  n o t  t o  do it, t h e y  f e l t ,  was mine. 

S e c r e t a r y  Howard t o l d  me, he  s a i d ,  look,  you 

a r e  a p r i v a t e  c i t i z e n .  You can do whatever you want. 

B u t  if your d e c i s i o n  is no t  t o  do it, I ' m  n o t  going t o  

a rgue  wi th  you. I t h i n k  t h a t ' s  probably t h e  c o r r e c t  

d e c i s i o n .  B u t  he d e f e r r e d  r i g h t  away t o  S e c r e t a r y  

Scha fe r ,  and says ,  I ' n  n o t  t h e  one t o  say.  C a l l  

S e c r e t a r y  Schafer .  I t ' s  he r  i s s u e .  I f  you can h e l p  

h e r ,  f i n e .  

Q. You t o l d  bo th  of them t h a t ' i f  they  wanted you 

t o  t e s t i f y ,  you would? 

A. I would, yes .  
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Q. Your l o y a l t y  is  t o  t h e  Navy? 

A. Yes. 

C Not t o  t h e  count ry?  

A. Now, w a i t  a minute. 

Q. Well, what is it? 

A. My l o y a l t y  is t o  t h e  na t ion .  

Q. That  i s n ' t  what you s a i d  though. 

A. I a l s o  have l o y a l t y  t o  t h e  Navy, b u t  my 

l o y a l t y  is  t o  t h e  na t ion .  I have l o y a l t y  t o  t h e  purpose 

of Navy. I d o n ' t  have l o y a l t y  t o  i n d i v i d u a l s  i n  it 

n e c e s s a r i l y ,  b u t  c e r t a i n l y  t o  i t s  purpose.  Its purpose 

i s  c o n s i s t e n t  w i th  t h e  n a t i o n a l  i n t e r e s t .  

Q. And i ts  purpose was t o  c l o s e  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

Naval Shipyard,  r i g h t ?  

Aw I f  t h e  S e c r e t a r y  of Navy f e l t ,  and I d o n ' t  

know what h i s  mind t o l d  him t h a t  t h a t  was i n  t h e  Navy's 

best i n t e r e s t .  That was h i s  p o s i t i o n .  That  it 

d i s a g r e e d  wi th  mine, s o  be it. 

Q. And you owed him l o y a l t y ?  

A. But I a l s o  f e l t  t h a t  I owed t h e  Navy and t h e  

count ry  l o y a l t y  by c o n t i n u a l l y  speaking  o u t  on t h e s e  

i s s u e s .  
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Q. But you r e fused  t o  t e s t i f y  b e f o r e  t h e  

Commission? 

A. I c l c s e d  t h e  i s s u e  a t  t h a t  po in t .  

Q. You s a i d  i n  your l e t t e r  t o  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

I n q u i r e r  t h a t  you were convinced and remain so  t h a t  your 

t e s t i f y i n g  b e f o r e  t h e  Base Closure Commission would 

a1 te r  no th ing?  

A, T h a t ' s  true. 

Q. What convinced you of t h a t ?  

A. I f e l t ,  and have always f e l t ,  as I s t a t e d  

e a r l i e r ,  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Shipyard i s  no t  going t o  

c l o s e ,  I have always f e l t  t h a t  Congress i n  t h e  end w i l l  

s t o p  t h e  Navy from doing what I c o n s i d e r  t o  be an unwise 

t h i n g ,  And I s t i l l  f e e l  t h a t  way today.  They have done 

it i n  t h e  p a s t  and they w i l l  do it i n  t h e  f u t u r e .  

Q. Why were you convinced t h a t  your t e s t i f y i n g  

b e f o r e  t h e  Conmission would a l t e r  no th ing?  

A. Because I f e l t  t h a t  t h e  Commission was going 

t o  g i v e  S e c r e t a r y  Cheney what he asked f o r .  

Q. What made you b e l i e v e  t h a t ?  

A, I a l r e a d y  answered t h a t  q u e s t i o n .  

Q. P a r t  of t h e  c lub ,  is i t ?  
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A. Yes, 

And you thought  t h a t  you would be j e o p a r d i z i n g  

y o u r s e l f  i f  you d i d  app::arj i s n ' t  t h a t  r i g h t ?  

A. No, I was f r e e  t o  do whatever I wanted, 

Q. T e l l  m e ,  why d i d  you n o t  even a g r e e  t o  meet 

w i t h  Mr. Y e l l i n  bu t  j u s t  t a l k  t o  him ove r  t h e  t e l ephone?  

A. I wanted t o  d i v o r c e  myself w i t h  c o n t a c t  w i t h  

t h a t  committee on a persona l  b a s i s ,  

Q. Why? 

A. I t  s imply was my d e c i s i o n  t o  do it. 

Q. Nhy? 

A. I d i d n ' t  f e e l  t h a t  it was i n m y  b e n e f i t  t o  g e t  

involved  i n  it any f u r t h e r .  

Q. Why? 

A. Why c r e a t e  t u r n o i l  when you d o n ' t  have t o ?  

There is a  time t o  c r e a t e  t u rmoi l  and t h e r e  is  a t i m e  

n o t  to .  

1 8  Q. How would you c r e a t e  t u r n o i l ?  

19 A. Well, Washington is a town t h a t  e x i s t s  l a r g e l y  

20 on ruinor, s o c i a l  conve r sa t ion  and t h e  l i k e .  I hung up 

21  my uniform t h e  1st of May and I haven ' t  looked a t  it 

22 s i n c e ,  and t h a t ' s  t r u e .  And I f e l t  I had a new c a r e e r  
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t o  pursue  and I was pursu ing  it. And I j u s t  f e l t  t h a t  

t h e r e  would be no v a l u e  added t o  m e  o r  anyone e l s e ' b y  m e  

going i n  and t e s t i f y i n g .  

Q. You thought  t h a t  it would cause  t u r m o i l  f o r  

you t o  appear  be fo re  t h e  Commission and t e l l  t h e  t r u t h  

about  t h e  way you f e l t ?  

A. I't would have caused t u r m o i l  i n  my pe r sona l  

agenda, which was very  ambi t ious  and it was ve ry  

expensive.  Nobody was f l y i n g  me around t h e  count ry  and 

it was j u s t  something t h a t  I j u s t  d i d n ' t  want t o  burden 

myself w i t h  any more. 

Q. I s 'till want t o  know how you t h i n k  it would 

cause  t u r m o i l  i f  you came and t e s t i f i e d  about  t h e  t r u t h  

t o  t h e  Commission? 

XR. GARVEY: I t h i n k  Admiral ~ e k n a n  has  

answered t h a t  a s  b e s t  he can. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: I d o n ' t  t h i n k  you know what -- 
MR. GARVEY: Ob jec t ion  -- 
MR. KAUFFMAN: I ask you a g a i n  t o  s t o p  

i n t e r f e r i n g  wi th  t h i s  depos i t i on .  

MR. GARVEY: I can  o b j e c t  t o  t h i s  d e p o s i t i o n  

when I p l e a s e ,  when I b e l i e v e  it t o  be i n  t h e  b e s t  
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i n t e r e s t  o f  Admiral Hekman i n  h i s  t es t imony here.  If 

you have asked t h e  q u e s t i o n  which you have asked now 

abou t  -- 
MR. KAUFFMAN: The record  w i l l  speak f o r  

i t s e l f  now, .and you are t r y i n g  t o  i n t e r r u p t  and 

i n t e r f e r e  w i t h  t h i s  d e p o s i t i o n ,  and I take o f f e n s e  w i t h  

t h a t .  

MR. GARVEY: You can take a l l  t h e  o f f e n s e  you 

want. When an o b j e c t i o n  is proper ,  i t ' s  proper.  

MR. KAUFFMAN: T h i s  one is improper. 

;lR. GARVEY: You've asked t h e  q u e s t i o n  and 

i t ' s  been answered. 

MR. KAUFFMAN: It  h a s n ' t  been f u l l y  answered, 

and you know it. 

15 :4R. GARVEY: I t ' s  been answered t o  t h e  b e s t  of 

16  h i s  a b i l i t y .  

1 7  MR. KAUFF:4AN: The a d n i r a l  h a s n ' t  s a i d  t h a t .  

1 8  I ' m  t r y i n g  t o  g e t  t h e  a d m i r a l ' s  f e e l i n g s ,  and I t h i n k  

h e ' s  e n t i t l e d  t o  g i v e  h i s  answer wi thout  your 

20  i n t e r f e r e n c e ,  and I know I ' m  e n t i t l e d  t o  it, and I ask  

2 1  you a g a i n  t o  s t o p  i n t e r f e r i n g  w i t h  t h i s  depos i t i on .  , 

MR. GAENEY: And I am o b j e c t i n g  t o  your 
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c h a r a c t e r i z a t i o n  of simply proposing an o b j e c t i o n  t o  an 

improper q u e s t i o n  t o  be i n fe rence .  If you have any th ing  

f u r t h e r  t o  s ay ,  we w i l l  l e t  t h e  Judge d e c i d e  t h a t .  I f  

you have anything further to say. 

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. Admiral, t o  make it clear, what I ' m  a s k i n g  you 

is  how you f e l t  i n  coming b e f o r e  t h e  Commission and 

s t a t i n g  your well thought  ou t ,  your well reasoned,  your 

we l l  documented p o s i t i o n  wi th  regard  t o  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  

Naval Sh ipyard  would cause  tu rmoi l ?  

A. I t  would cause  t u r m o i l  i n  my own p e r s o n a l  

a f f a i r s .  I d i d n ' t  have t h e  t ime f o r  it, and I d i d n ' t  

f e e l  t h a t  it would add any b e n e f i t ,  and I d i d n ' t  want t o  

go through t h a t  expe r i ence  again.  

Q. Why d i d n ' t  you t h i n k  it would have any 

b e n e f i t ?  

A. Because I f e l t  t h a t  t h e  conc lus ions  were f o r  

fo reo rda ined .  

Q. Thank you, s i r .  

Could w e  mark -- I ' d  l i k e  t o  show you -- w e  

marked t h i s  a s  Cour te r  3, a s e r i e s  of documents. I ' d  

l i k e  t o  mark them i n  your d e p o s i t i o n ,  s i r ,  as  Hekman 1 4 .  

. 
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(Whereupon, an  e ight-page document, d a t e d  May 

17,  1991, t o  The Honorable J i m  Cour te r ,  was marked 

Hekman Depos i t i on  E x h i b i t  Number 14 f o r  i d e n t i f i c a t i o n . )  

BY MR. KAUFFMAN: 

Q. The f i r s t  document -- t h i s  is c o n s i s t i n g  of 

e i g h t  pages. The f i r s t  page is a l e t t e r  d a t e d  May 17,  

1991, from Mr. W i l l i a m  A. Angus, D i r e c t o r ,  Chamber of 

Commerce of  Southern  N e w  J e r s e y  t o  t h e  Honorable J i m  

Courter .  

A. He s e n t  a copy of t h i s  t o  me. 

Q. Yes. You a n t i c i p a t e d  my n e x t  q u e s t i o n .  

A. I wro te  him a l e t t e r  back s a y i n g  he  had 

misunderstood and t h a t  I asked him t o  c o r r e c t  t h i s ,  t h a t  

t h i s  is  no t  true. 

Q w  When you say c o r r e c t  t h i s ,  what a r e  you 

r e f e r r i n g  t o ?  

A. The s t a t emen t ,  'He was most candid  i n  f u r t h e r  

adding t h a t  he had been, q u o t e ,  r e t i r e d  e a r l y ,  because 

of views which he he ld  and he wanted us t o  know t h i s  

before  conc lud ingn  -- I exp la ined  t o  you I had wanted t o  

r e t i r e  on t h e  1st of May. The Navy was having 

d i f f i c u l t y  meeting my reques t .  I had ag reed  t o  de l ay  it 
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u n t i l  Ju ly .  

I had made comments t o t a l l y  u n r e l a t e d  t o  t h e  

P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard i n  a speech t o  t h e  Navy 

League concerning t h e  implementat ion of t h e  Defense 

Management.Review and t h e  implementat ion of t h e  

a c q u i s i t i o n  work f o r c e  which I f e l t  were -- went w e l l  

beyond t h e  Goldwater-Nichols A c t  and, moreover, were n o t  

good f o r  -- n o t  i n  t h e  b e s t  i n t e r e s t  of t h e  s e r v i c e s .  

And t h a t  is what I was r e f e r r i n g  t o  when I 

t a l k e d  t o  whoever t h i s  was, Mr. Angus, and it had 

no th ing  t o  do w i t h  t h e  sh tpya rd  i s s u e ,  

Q. I n  t h e  f i f t h  paragraph of Hekman 1 4 ,  M r .  Angus 

w r i t e s  t o  Congressman Cour t e r ,  "Unfor tuna te ly  he," 

r e f e r r i n g  t o  you, s i r ,  " w i l l  be f a r  away from Washington 

and P h i l a d e l p h i a  on May 24th  on a new p o s i t i o n  

in t e rv i ew.  " 

A. Those a r e  h i s  words. 

Q. Yes. "The admira l  r e f l e c t e d  t h i s  was most 

impor t an t  inasmuch as many doors  have been c l o s e d  t o  

him, a p p a r e n t l y  because of h i s  p o s t u r e  on c e r t a i n  i s s u e s  

w i t h i n  t h e  Navy 'and DOD. He would be a b l e  t o  keep t h e  

May 22nd appearance i n  Washington, and he asked i f  I 
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knew j u s t  what t h e  conduct  of t h a t  h e a r i n g  would be.' 

Did you say  t h o s e  t h i n g s ?  

A. A t  t h e  time, he asked me if May 22nd was a 

c l e a r  d a t e  on my ca lendar .  I s a i d  yes.  The 22nd was 

c l e a r  date on my ca l enda r  a t  t h a t  t i m e .  I d i d  n o t  know 

a t  t h i s  time what k ind  of c o n d i t i o n s  t h e  C losu re  

Commission worked under. I d i d n ' t  know whether t hey  

could  subpoena me o r  whether they  cou ld  make me come 

t a l k  t o  them. I was going t o  be away, a s  I s a i d .  He 

wanted me t o  i n  be i n  P h i l a d e l p h i a  and it was 

impossible .  I cou ldn ' t .  . 
Q. Other  -- 
A. I have no r e c o l l e c t i o n o f  e v e r  s ay ing  t o  t h a t  

man t h a t  doors  were being c lo sed  t o  me. 

Q. D i d  you say t h a t  i n  your . l e t t e r  t o  him? 

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l ,  and I don ' t  have a copy of t h e  

l e t t e r .  

Q. Did you say  i n  your l e t t e r  t o  h i n  t h a t  you 

would n o t  be a b l e  t o  make a Nay 22nd appearance i n  

Washington? 

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  whether I s a i d  t h a t ,  because 

t h i s  was a ve ry  busy t ime and I was schedu l ing  and 
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r e schedu l ing  i n t e r v i e w s  and meetings.  

Q. Did you t e l l  Mr. Angus t h a t  you had y e t  t o  be 

adv i sed  of your permanent r e t i r e m e n t  s t a t u s  and t h e r e  is  

l i t t l e  doubt a s  t o  why t h i s  might be he ld  up a t  t h e  

p r e s e n t  time? 

A. I t o l d  him I had yet  t o  be a d v i s e d  of 

r e t i r e m e n t  s t a t u s ,  b u t  I d o n ' t  remember s a y i n g  any th ing  

about  any doubt as t o  why. The reason was t h e  Sena te  

wasn ' t  going t o  be meeting on it u n t i l  t h e  middle of t h e  

month. And t h e  reason I d i d n ' t  want t o  make an i s s u e  

he re  was because t h a t  nomination had' t o  go th rough  Mr. 

Atwood. 

Q. So you d i d n ' t  want t o  make any waves, r i g h t ?  

A, I d i d n ' t  want a  h igh  p r o f i l e  a t  a l l  du r ing  

t h a t  pe r iod  of time, no. I t  was n o t  i n  my i n t e r e s t  t o  

be i n  any h igh  p r o f i l e  du r ing  t h a t  time. 

Q. Because it might a f f e c t  your peraanent  

r e t i r e m e n t  s t a t u s ?  

A. Well, I d o n ' t  know whether it would o r  not .  

Q. Your employment s t a t u s ?  

A. My permanent r e t i r e m e n t  s t a t u s  had t o  go 

th rough  Mr. Atwood. Mr. Atwood was r a t h e r  unhappy w i t h  
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me when he found o u t  t h a t  f o r  two y e a r s  I had been 

speaking  o u t  a g a i n s t  h i s  Defense Management Reform. 

Q. Why d i d  you even mention t o  Mr. Angus any th ing  

about  your permanent r e t i r e m e n t  i f  it d i d n ' t  have 

anyth ing  t o  do w i t h  t h e  P h i l a d e l p h i a  Naval Shipyard -- 
A. I t  had t o  do w i t h  t h e  f a c t  t h a t  I d i d n ' t  want 

t o  be i n  h e a d l i n e s  i n  t h e  papers  o r  on  CSpan. When I 

s a i d  I had compel l ing pe r sona l  reasons  f o r  no t  wanting 

t o  do t h i s ,  I had compell ing pe r sona l  reasons .  

Q. And t h a t  was you were concerned about  t h e  

e f f e c t  t h a t  it would have on your permanent r e t i r e m e n t  

s t a t u s ?  

A. I was concerned about  t h e  e f f e c t  t h a t  any kind 

of p u b l i c  appearance where I was a t  odds w i t h  t h e  

Admin i s t r a t i on  could p o s s i b l y  have, because t h e  p r o c e s s  

had t o  go through t h e  o f f i c e  of t h e  S e c r e t a r y  of 

Defense, and t h a t  was t h e  on ly  p l ace  where t h e r e  was any 

o p p o s i t i o n  t o  me, i f  you w i l l ,  was i n  t h e  o f f i c e  of t h e  

S e c r e t a r y  of Defense. 

Q. I ' d l i k e y o u  t o  p l e a s e l o o k  a t  t h e l a s t  two 

pages of Hekman 1 4 ,  and I would l i k e  you t o  p l e a s e  read  

-- t h e s e  from pages marked a t  t h e  t o p  1 3 1  and 132, 
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memorandum f o r  t h e  record.  T h i s  comes from t h e  r eco rds  

of  t h e  Base C losu re  Commission and t h i s  is  what Alex 

Y e l l i n  s a i d  about  you wi th  regard  t o  a phone 

c o n v e r s a t i o n  he s a i d  he had w i t h  you on June  18,  1991. 

I would l i ke  t o  g e t  your r e a c t i o n  t o  t h i s .  

A. The f i r s t  paragraph is t r u e .  The second 

paragraph is  n o t  t r u e .  

Q. I t a k e  it you -- 
A. The t h i r d  paragraph is n o t  t r u e .  I never s a i d  

t h i s .  

Q. Did you eve r  s e e  t h i s  document? 

A. No, I have never s een  t h i s  document. 

Q. Up t o  and i n c l u d i n g  t h i s  very monent? 

A. Th i s  is f i r s t  time I ' v e  s een  it. 

Q. Did you d i s c u s s  your r e t i r e m e n t  i n  any way, 

shape o r  form w i t h  Mr. Y e l l i n ?  

A. I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  d i s c u s s i n g  it wi th  him a t  a l l .  

Q. How would he know t h a t  you r e t i r e d  e a r l y ?  

A. I d o n ' t  know. 

Q. Did you d i s c u s s  w i th  him du r ing  -- 
A. See, t h e  paper s a i d  I had r e t i r e d  e a r l y .  I 

d i d n ' t  s a i d  I d i d ,  t h e  papers  d id .  There were a r t i c l e s  
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i n  t h e  Post .  There were a r t i c l e s  i n  a l l  t h e  Yellow 

Shee t s ,  as I c a l l  them, i n s i d e  t h e  Pentagon, i n s i d e  t h e  

Navy. 

Q. Did you d i s c u s s  your t e s t i f y i n g  o r  n o t  

t e s t i f y i n g  w i t h  Mr. Y e l l i n ,  t e s t i f y i n g  b e f o r e  t h e  

Commission? 

A. I t o l d  him I d i d  n o t  want t o  t e s t i f y  b e f o r e  

t h e  Commission. 

Q. You d i d n ' t  say  you had in t ended  t o  t e s t i f y  b u t  

had been asked by a  s e n i o r  Navy o f f i c i a 1 , n o t  t o  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No. Absolu te ly  not .  

Q. Nothing s i m i l a r  o r  l i k e  t h a t ?  

A. No* 

Q. Nothing of s i m i l a r  subs t ance ,  i f  n o t  t h e  same 

words? 

A. I may have mentioned t o  him my c o n v e r s a t i o n  

t h a t  I had informed t h e  Navy I in tended  n o t  t o  t e s t i f y .  

Q. And t h a t  you were encourage n o t  t o  by Mr. 

Howard? 

A. No, no. I d o n ' t  remember s ay ing  t h a t  a t  a l l .  

Q. You d o n ' t  t h i n k  you s a i d  t h a t  t o  him? 

A. No. Mr. Y e l l i n  and I t a l k e d  about  f a c t s  abou t  
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sh ipya rds .  

Q. You c a n ' t  imagine t h e n  what would mo t iva t e  Mr. 

Y e l l i n  t o  s ay  t h i s ?  

A. I c a n ' t .  I d i d  t e l l  him t h a t  I would be -- he 

asked me if I would a c c e p t  phone ca l ls  from Commission 

members, and I s a i d  I would, and S e c r e t a r y  Bal l  d i d  ca l l  

me. 

Q. When d i d  he ca l l  you? 

A. I c a n ' t  remember t h e  da te .  I t  was du r ing  t h e  

hea r ings .  

Q. Did you t e l l  h i n  your f e e l i n g s ?  

A. He asked m e ,  he s a i d  I ' m  c a l l i n g  you t o  f i n d  

o u t  some f a c t s ,  some d a t a  on some f a c t s .  And he had 

some f a c t s  on sh ipya rd  drydock s i z e s ,  and on v a r i o u s  

t h i n g s  l i k e  t h a t ,  and he asked me i f  I cou ld  conf i rm 

some of t h o s e  f a c t s .  And so  I confirmed them as b e s t  I 

could.  

Q. Is t h a t  a l l  he s a i d  t o  you? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. Do you recall anyth ing  else i n  t h i s  

c o n v e r s a t i o n ?  

A. With S e c r e t a r y  B a l l ?  
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Q. Yes. 

A. He asked me how I f e l t  about  t h e  sh ipya rd  i n  

Ph i l ade lph ia .  I s a i d  I f e e l  today l i k e  I have always 

f e l t ,  t h a t  t h e  Navy needs t o  b u i l d  up t h e  sh ipya rd  i n  a 

downsize f a s h i o n  u n t i l  t h e  f u t u r e  deve lops  what t h e  

f u t u r e  w i l l  be. 

Q. Did Mr. B a l l  ask you t o  come and t e s t i f y  

b e f o r e  t h e  Commission? 

A. No, h e  d i d  not .  

Q. Did he s a y  anyth ing  -- d i d  you t a lk  about  

t e s t i f y i n g  a t  a l l ?  

A. No. 

Q. Did you t e l l  him why you d i d n ' t  t e s t i f y ?  

A. No. The s u b j e c t  d i d n ' t  come up a t  a l l ,  as I 

r e c a l l ,  w i t h  S e c r e t a r y  Ball. 

Q. So he was j u s t  a sk ing  you t o  conf i rm some 

f a c t s .  He d i d n ' t  ask you t o  g i v e  him any f a c t s ?  

A. No. He was a sk ing  f o r  some conf i rmat ion .  H e  

s a i d ,  I want t o  conf i rm some th ings .  

Q. Can you r e c a l l  what he asked you t o  conf i rm? 

A. One of t h e  i s s u e s  he asked m e  t o  conf i rm was 

t h e  proposa l  t h a t  c a r r i e r s  could be docked i n  t h e  
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c o n s t r u c t i o n  y a r d s  a t  Newport N e w s .  

And I t o l d  him t h a t  was e r roneous ,  t h a t  t h o s e  

docks are t o o  shallow. We b u i l d  c a r r i e r s ,  b u t  u n l e s s  w e  

g e t  them o u t  of t h o s e  docks b e f o r e  t h e y ' r e  7 0  p e r c e n t  

complete,  you c a n ' t  g e t  them out .  

He s a i d ,  t h a t ' s  news t o  me. I was under t h e  

unders tanding  t h a t  you could  p u t  c a r r i e r s  i n  t h o s e  

docks. But I b e l i e v e  t h a t ' s  probably t h e  on ly  -- we 

d i s c u s s e d  P e a r l  Harbor Dock, t h e  f a c t  t h a t  you could p u t  

a  c a r r i e r  a t  t h e  dock, b u t  you a r e  c o n s t r a i n e d  wi th  t h e  

c ranes .  

Ne d i s c u s s e d  t h e  Long Beach Dock, and t h e  f a c t  

t h a t  it can t a k e  a NIMITZ-class c a r r i e r .  And t h a t  I had 

conmenced i n  '88 t o  f i x  -- t o  g e t  t h a t  dock prepared  

from a  power s t a n d p o i n t ,  e t  c e t e r a ,  t o  be a b l e  t o  do 

t h a t ,  because I knew of t h e  imrninent l o s s  of Hun te r ' s  

P o i n t  Dock i n  1990, and I e s s e n t i a l l y  went drydock by 

drydock with him up and down both  c o a s t s .  

H e ,  having been S e c r e t a r y  of t h e  Navy, was 

q u i t e  f a m i l i a r  w i th  t h e  s u b j e c t  and b a s i c a l l y  

r e a f f i r m i n g  what he had a p p a r e n t l y  i n  f r o n t  of him. I 

d o n ' t  know. A s  I r e c a l l ,  he  c a l l e d  m e  on a  -- I t h i n k  
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it was a Sunday morning. 

Q. Other  t h a n  what you r e f e r r e d  t o  a moment ago 

w i t h  r e l a t i o n  t o  t h e  Newport N e w s  drydocks,  d i d  

S e c r e t a r y  B a l l  have any o t h e r  e r roneous  in format ion?  

A. Not t h a t  I can r e c a l l .  I don ' t  t h i n k  so.  

Q. Did he a s k  you i f  you had any th ing  t o  add, any 

o t h e r  f a c t s  you wanted t o  add t o  t e l l  him? 

A. Yes, I t h i n k  he d id ,  and I respvnded t h e r e  was 

no th ing  more t o  add. 

Q. Did you ask him whether he  had s e e n  any of 

your s t u d i e s  o r  documents t a k i n g  t h e  p o s i t i o n  which you 

took t h a t  we marked h e r e  today? 

A. No, I d o n ' t  r e c a l l  a sk ing  him t h a t .  I t  was 

obvious  from t h e  phone c a l l  he had s e e n  a l o t  of 

documents. 

Q. Not obvious ly  had seen  your documents though? 

A. I d o n ' t  know what he had seen.  He obv ious ly  

had a l o t  of informat ion.  

Q. A l o t  of i n fo rma t ion ,  b u t  it wasn ' t  obvious  

t h a t  he had seen  your p o s i t i o n  papers ,  s o  t o  speak? 

A. I t  wasn ' t  obvious  t o  me, no, b u t  he d i d n ' t  

t e l l  me he was t a l k i n g  froin my papers  o r  anybody else's. 
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1 please let me know and we can take a short adjournment. 

2 Po you understand that? 

3 A. Yes. 

Q. Are you familiar with the President's Defense 

Base Closure and Realignment Commission? 

A. Yes, I am. 

Q. And did you have a position with respect to 

that Commission? 

A. Yes, I served as the director of reviewing and 

analysis for the Defense Base Closure and Realignment 

Commission. 

Q. When did you begin that position? 

A. Roughly around April 22nd, 23rd, officially. 

14 Q. And unofficially? 

15 A. It started about a week and a half earlier, 

16 attended the initial hearing with Secretary Cheney, that 

17 he was the witness at, and at that time I was working 

18 for the Department of State and came over and took an 

19 annual leave from the State Department and sat in at 

20 that hearing. 

2 1 Q. How long had you been with the Department of 

22 State? 
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responsibilities as director of review and analysis for 

,he Defense Based Closure and Realignment Commission 

were? 

A. I felt my duties were to ensure that a proper 

and credible review and analysis of the proposed closure 

and realignment list that was forwarded by the Secretary 

of Defense, was accomplished. 

Q. Are there any standards against which your 

work was judged or was going to be judged to your 

knowledge? 

A. Well, as you probably know, there are eight 

criteria laid out by the Department in conjunction with 

Congress. Also, there was a Force Structure Plan, so 

the closures had to be considered against the eight 

criteria and the Force Structure Plan. 

Q. Did you have a staff working for you? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How many members were on that staff? 

A. Approximately 25. 

Q. Were they broken down into any groups or 

divisions? 

A. The way we set up, my organization, the review 
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1 and analysis organization, was set up with four teams. 

2 Teams 1 ~nrough 3 were charged -- each team looked at -- 
3 like, for example, there was a Navy team that did 

4 analysis on the Navy proposal. There was an Army team 

5 that did an analysis of the Army and an Air Force team 

6 that did an analysis of the Air Force. And then we had 

a fourth team which we called the Special Team which 

looked at the criteria 5 through 8 of the eight 

criteria, which had to do with economics, environmental, 

property utilization and cost of closure and 

realignment. 

In addition to that, I had a deputy director 

of review and analysis as well as a gentleman from -0, 

Vic Zangla, who was the senior GAO representative on 

staff. There were four GAO personnel detailed to the 

Commission staff and Vic acted as a deputy also. 

Now, the composition of each of the four 

teams -- let me give you the composition of the three 
teams doing the analysis work. And I will give you the 

Navy. The Navy team was headed by a direct hire 

civilian. On his staff was another direct hire civilian 

doing analysis work. We had a captain, Navy captain and 
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a Navy commander and a GAO representative. 

Q. Who was the direct hire civilian to whom you 

ref erred? 

A. I will give you the names of all those people 

if you would like me to. 

Q. Yes, if you would. 

A. Alex Yellin was the team leader. John Patrick 

was the other direct hire civilian. The Navy captain 

was Captain Vernon. The Navy commander was John Hart 

and the GAO representative was Marv Casferline. 

Q. Is it fair to say that the Navy team and the 

Army team and the Air Force team worked independently of 

one another? 

A. State that question again. 

Q. Is it fair to say that the Navy team and the 

Army team and the Air Force team worked independently of 

one another or did they coordinate efforts in some 

fashion? 

A. The responsibility of each of those three 

teams was for the review and analysis of that particular 

service that they were looking at. However, there was 

constant cross-talk between the team leaders and team 
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of data concerning naval installations that Mr. Yellin 

had supplied to you or anyone else? 

A. The Navy as well as the communities, private 

individuals, members of Congress, provided us lots and 

lots and lots of data that was looked at. Would I go 

down and number crunch? No. The number crunching, the 

actual review was left up to the Service teams, was 

backbriefed to myself, Mr. Borden, Mr. Zangla. We did 

not actually do specific -- I did not actually do 
specific number crunching. That was left up to our . 
teams to do that. 

Also, in addition we had GAO intimately 

involved in our process and they assisted us on a 

significant amount of looking at the validity and 

verification of numbers of data. 

Q. .You said four GAO personnel were detailed to 

your staff? 

A. That's correct. The way they were set up was 

that one -- Vic Zangla was the overall working GAO 
member and he worked directly to me. The other three 

members were assigned one each to the three Service 

teams. 
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1 We didn't talk about the fourth team that we 

2 had set up and I would like to make a point of that 

3 - - right now. 

4 We utilized other government detailees on the 

5 fourth team. We had an economist from FEMA, Federal 

6 Emergency Management Agency. We had environmentalists 

from EPA on our team. We had a DOD civilian who was 

involved in the costing of realignments and closures. 

So we had a cross-section of government people, as well 

as our direct hire personnel on the Commission staff. 

Q. And the fourth team to which you make 

reference is the Special Team? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Would Mr. Yellin, in the course of his duties, 

make presentations to you? 

A. Presentations might be not the correct word. 

We would have briefings and we would talk constantly 

with myself, Mr. Borden, we would talk with Mr. Behrmann 

over information that we were looking at and so 

presentations sounds like a formal briefing but it was a 

little less -- it wasn't formal like that. 

We had numerous meetings, constantly talking 
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back and forth with team members and the team leaders to 

understand what the Services were doing and whether the 

information was valid that we were finding, the data we 

were checking. 

Q. And how would you ascertain if the data you 

were checking were valid as you have just mentioned? 

A. We went back to the source document. For 

example, we sent GAO out to visit over 30 installations 

and these are GAO regional people that we supplemented 

our staff with. And in conjunction with their efforts 

and the efforts of our consultant LMI, Logistics 

Management Institute, found that the data -- went to the 
source, in other words, and found data, for example, 

square feet of warehousing space, square feet of 

aircraft apron was, in fact, accurate information, also 

utilized the services of real property data that they 

had submitted to us, which is a basic source document 

and checked those numbers against what was in the 

detailed analysis that was provided as part of the 

closure recommendations. 

Q. And those detailed analyses were provided by 

the Army, Air Force and Navy? 
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Q. Did you ever make an attempt to ascertain or 

direct anyone to make an attempt to ascertain whether 

that data was accurate? 

A. As I stated earlier, we utilized not only our 

own staff to ascertain whether the individual attributes 

and characteristics that they used were correct, but 

that we utilized Logistics Management Institute and, 

more importantly, utilized the offices of the regional 

GAO's to look at data. 

Q. But did you personally ever ascertain or 

direct anyone to ascertain specifically whether or not 

the data used by the Navy in its detailed analysis was 

accurate? 

A. The answer is yes. 

Q. And did you ascertain it yourself or did you 

direct someone else to? 

A. I directed. 

Q. And whom did you direct? 

A. I think we are going around the poll here a 

little bit. We sat down with -- I sat down with my 
deputies, my team leader for the Navy, Logistics 

Management Institute, and directed that they work with 
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GAO, the regional offices, to go out and verify and 

,heck data to make sure the data that was used by the 

Navy was, in fact, accurate data. 

Q. You said it was necessary also to fill in some 

gaps in information supplied by the Navy; is that 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you direct someone specifically to do 

that? 

A. When we felt that there was some additional 

documentation, notation required by the Navy to 

substantiate their recommendations, we met on four 

separate occasions with the Department of the Navy. 

When I say we, it was Commission staff, Mr. Matt 

Behrmann, the staff director, myself, Ben Borden, Vic 

Zangla, Alex Yellin, two representatives of our 

consultant, LMI, to sit down and let the Navy know that 

their backup, their detailed information was not 

sufficient. We didn't feel it was sufficient to justify 

their closure recommendations, generally, and that 

additional work would be required. 

Q. Did these meetings to which you just referred 
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1 the gaps that your staff identified? 

2 A. Well, there werc a number of people. On the 

Navy side, the meetings were with the BSC, the Base 

Structure Committee. The first meeting, Assistant 

Secretary Schafer attended, as well as the other five 

members of the BSC and they had some support staff, who 

I don't know who they were totally, all of them. 

And so there were members of the BSC and I am 

sure that they utilized their staffs to help get that 

information, so it wasn't just one particular person. 

Q. Do you recall if there were gaps in 

information supplied by the Navy which pertained to 

naval shipyards? 

14 A. The best I recall, the gaps were not for 

15 shipyard category, did not involve the shipyard 

16 category. 

17 Q. Do you recall what categories the gaps did 

18 involve? 

19 - A. Training, pilot training, naval air stations 

20 and that's not an all-inclusive list but those three 

21 come to mind. 

22 Q. So is it fair to say that as of late May 1991 
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your staff and you were satisfied with the information 

that the Navy had made available with respect to the 

shipyard category? 

A. Not really. 

Q. Could you explain what you mean? 

A. Sure. The Navy did their initial analysis or 

used as the basis for their analysis what is referred to 

as a VCNO study or OPNAV study. You will probably hear 

both of those terms. 

That study was accomplished prior to the eight 

criteria being published. So what the BSC, the Base 

Structure Committee, did was they used that OPNAV study 

as a basis and then had many of their own little 

mini-hearings and briefings from their Navy personnel 

and came up with their own grading system to grade, but 

we felt what needed to be done was that a crosswalk 

needed to be created that would take the 

characteristics, the eight criteria and crosswalk from ' 

the OPNAV study into the eight criteria. 

So we sat down and told the Navy that at one 

of these meetings. They provided that crosswalk. We 

checked the crosswalk and came up with some differences 
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as to what we felt were valid codings and valid 

evaluations of installations based on the criteria. 

Q. The Navy supplied the crosswalk to which you 

just referred? 

A. Yes. We developed with the Navy the -- you 
will have to ask Mr. Yellin as to what degree, but he 

worked quite a bit with the Navy, as did LMi, on the 

development of the skeleton crosswalk to list the 

attributes, the original VCNO/OPNAV attributes and 

crosswalk those into the criteria. 

Q. You said you or your staff had some problem 

with the codings and evaluations that the Navy had used 

based on the VCNO or OPNAV study; is that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall what particular problems you or 

your staff had with respect to the codings and 

evaluations that the Navy had used on the basis of the 

VCNO or OPNAV study? 

19 A. I don't recall specifics. As I told you, I 

20 was not only working Navy closures, I was working Army, 

21 Air Force and Marine Corps closures. So the specifics 

22 to that detail I would suggest that you ask Alex Yellin 
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have given them some information that they felt that the 

Navy list needed to be changed. 

Q. How long did the process of filling in' the 

gaps in the Navy's detailed analysis go on? 

MR. GUTMAN: Let me object there. I don't 

think the witness testified there were gaps in the 

detailed analysis. You might want to rephrase your 

question. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Did you testify there were gaps in the 

information used in the detailed analysis? 

MR.. GUTMAN: You said gaps in the detailed 

analysis. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. What were the gaps to which you referred? 

A. It was in the decision-making process, rather 

than in the analysis. 

Q. With respect to those gaps, how long did the ' 

process last of attempting to fill those gaps by 

information or analysis obtained by the Navy, from the 

Navy? 

A. For all three services, it started on the day 
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we started working and it ended almost right up to the 

very time of the final deliberations because you have to 

understand that we were not the only people looking for 

information. The congressional offices were looking for 

information for all -- this is all the services now, 
across the board. The communities were looking for 

information. The communities were providing us 

information. 

We met with communities all the time, 

weekends, Sundays, met with members of Congress on all 

hours to listen to what they had to say, to give us any 

additional information that they may have found, any 

additional information that communities may have found. 

So we were always gathering information. So it is not 

like we went over to the Navy or the Navy sent their 

detailed analysis over. We went back and said we need 

more information and that was the extent of our look. 

We received -- we were like a clearinghouse 
for information. We received so much information from 

so many different sources that it is a constant, ongoing 

process. 

Q. And receiving that information with particular 
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Q. Do you know if the data received by your staff 

 as made available to persons who might be interested in 

testifying at any of those open public hearings? 

A. Say that again, I am sorry. 

Q. Are you aware of whether the information your 

staff received from the services was available to 

persons who might be interested in testifying at those 

open public hearings? 

A. All information that we received as a 

Cqmmission was always available for the asking. A 

private citizen, a member of Congress, a state official, 

if they requested information, we provided information 

to them. 

Everything we had -- in other words, we were 
an open book. 

Q. Did members of the Commission itself preside 

a t  t h o s e  open p u b l i c  hear ings?  

A. Talking Commissioners? 

Q. Commissioners. 

A. Yes. I did not attend any -- are you talking 
about the regional hearings and the base visit? 

Q. Yes. 
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A. I did not attend any regional hearings or base 

visits wllh Commissioners. 

Q. . But you know, in fact, that the Commissioners 

did attend those regional hearings? 

A. Regional hearings, I know, in fact, 

Commissioners did attend. 

Q. But with respect .Lo the information that you 

received from the Navy after those public hearings, you 

can't be certain that that information was, in fact, 

personally reviewed by any of the Commissioners 

themselves; isn't that a fact? 

MR. GUTMAN: Which public hearings are you 

talking about now? Are we talking about the regional 

hearings? As I understand it, there were two hearing 

processes and I want to make sure we have identified the 

correct hearing. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. In the case of hearing for the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard occurring on May 24th, 1991 by your 

recollection, isn't it a fact that Navy documentation 

received after that time may not have been reviewed 

personally by the Commissioners themselves? 
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A. I can't make a determination on that but let 

me just respond t~ that anyway. We had a system that 

was set up in our administration called executive 

secretariat. And all information that came from outside 

sources sent to the Commission was distributed to 

Commissioners. Now, I can't tell you whether every 

piece of document was seen by a Commissioner, I can't 

tell you what a Commissioner saw, but sustained efforts 

were made by our administrative people to ensure that 

information was forwarded to Commissioners. 

Additionally, information that we received was 

briefed, the data was briefed on extensive matrix 

briefing charts at the open and public hearings. So if 

we had been given information relative to a naval air 

station, a naval shipyard, an Air Force base that we got 

from another source that pertained to the closure and 

realignment, it was briefed at the open public hearings, 

so Commissioners saw it in that form. 

Q. But the Commissioners could only see the 

information on those briefing charts, which had already 

been made available? 

A. Say that again, please? 
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Office concluded that the Navy had supplied inadequate 

documentation of its recommendations for baz2 closure? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall discussing that matter with any 

GAO personnel or GAO people that were tasked to your 

staff? 

A. We talked about that with -- talked about it 
with Vic Zangla, talked about it with the Navy team. 

Q. Do you recall what in particular you said or 

they said on that issue? 

A. NO, not the particulars, other than that the 

review and analysis staff felt also -- without the GAO 
report, we would have come up with a similar conclusion, 

which obviously we came up with a very similar 

conclusion, that the Navy needed to provide additional 

documentation and explanation as to how they came up 

with their final list of closures and realignments. 

Q. Did you personally do anything specifically as 

a result of the GAO report's conclusion that the Navy's 

process was inadequately documented? 

A. Well, as I mentioned earlier, we had four 

meetings with the BSC and requested additional 
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documentation and written narratives as to how their 

decision-making process flowed, something that we would 

have as Commission staff felt was going to be a 

requirement. 

Q. You know what the Navy Base Structure 

Committee was; is that right? 

A. Y e s , I d o .  

Q. And that was the body that prepared the Navy's 

detailed analysis to which you have referred earlier; is 

that right? 

A. NO. They did not prepare the d6tailed 

analysis, I don't believe. I mean, you need to 

differentiate for me. The Base Structure Committee and 

the staff were headed by Admiral Drennon. There was a 

lot of information that flowed in to the BSC. They 

graded the installations, came out with grading systems, 

so the BSC was the decision-making body. 

Q. So to your knowledge the Navy Base Structure 

Committee was the body charged with making final 

recommendations as to closure and realignment of naval 

installations, final recommendations to the Commission? 

MR. MOORE: The statute speaks for itself on 

L 
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decisions. We provided a broad array of information for 

~ x r  Commissioners t9 make the decisions on. 

Q. It is fair to say that your staff and the 

staff of the Commission made available information and 

data to the Commissioners upon which they could decide 

whether to accept or reject or to modify the Department 

of Defense's recommendations as to closure and 

realignment? 

A. Read that to me. 

THE REPORTER: "Question: Is it fair to say 

that your staff and the staff of the Commission made 

available information and data to the Commissioners upon 

which they could decide whether to accept or reject or 

to modify the Department of Defense's recommendations as 

to closure and realignment?" 

THE WITNESS: Is it fair to say that whatever 

information that we obtained, whether it was delivered 

to us or we found it out through conversations or 

whatever, we 'provided to the Commissioners so they had a 

full array of information to make an informed judgment. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

And was that the principal task of the staff 
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work load and based on how many ships that need to be 

repaired, hcw many ships are in the fleet, so it is all 

tied together. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Would it have been the duty or responsibility 

of your Navy team to make an independent evaluation of 

whether, for instance, there was excess capacity in the 

area of shipyard, naval shipyard installations? 

A. Commission staff looked at work load as to 

what the Navy's projected work load was and presented 

all that information to the Commissioners, as I said 

earlier, in open hearings. 

Q. And I am asking you was that an independent 

evaluation they made, the Navy team made as to whether 

it was excess capacity? 

A. We looked into what the work load would be, 

provided that data in public briefings to the 

Commissioners to show what the work load would be and 

the Commission made the decision that the Navy did not 

require the eight current shipyards to perform that work 

load to accomplish that work load. 

Q. Was it the role or duty or responsibility of 
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the Notary Public was examined and testified as follows: 

EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. What is your current position? 

A. Division Director, Ship Maintenance and 

Modernization Division, Chief Naval Operations. 

Q. How long have you held that position? 

A. 2 years, 10 months. 

Q. . What position did you hold directly before that? 

A. PMS-393, submarine acquisition program, Naval 

Sea Systems Command, Arlington, Virginia. 

Q. The Naval Sea Systems Command is NAVSEA? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When you said PMS, what does that stand for? 

A. Programming office, submarine program office. 

Q. What is 0-43? 

A. It is a division of the Chief of Naval 

Operations, OPNAV staff. 

Q. Are you in OP-43? 

A. I OP-43. 

Q. To whom do you report? 

A. Vice Admiral Loftus, OP-04. 
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A. No. From information that is obtained within 

NAVSEA. The Naval Sea Systems Command is say the 

corporate head of the eight naval shipyards and then that 

information interface into the OPNAV arena would be 

through me. 

Q. So do you recollect information from NAVSEA? 

A. Yes, that is what I am trying to tell you, that 

the - -  of all the information that is generated, if you 

were looking for the source of it, you would have to go 

back three or four steps into it. Specifically, you would 

go back to the shipyards and it rolls up there in the 

Naval Sea Systems Command and it rolls over there into the 

Pentagon and that is where my role would be. 

Q. So you are between NAVSEA and wherever that 

information may go subsequently? 

A. Right. But you also - -  to characterize it, 

NAVSEA also talks to other people other than me. 

Q. Specifically with respect to shipyards? 

A. Not so - - well, of course, you know, like when 
you got a controller organization - -  there are lots of 
interfaces. I don't want fo give you the impression that 

the Naval Sea Systems Command never talks to anybody in 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



1 Q. Did OP-43 respond to requests from the Base 

2 Structure Committee? 

3 A. Base Structure Committee? By that I assume you 

4 mean the Navy Department's committee that was created to 

5 respond to create an answer for the Secretary of the Navy 

6 befxe going on to the Secretary of Defense? 

7 Q. That's correct. 

8 A. That would be Mr. Nornfakos and my boss, Admiral 

9 Loftus, I think was on that. 

10 Q. Yes. 

I1 A. Yes. Would you restate your question again, now 

12 that we have the right one down. 

13 Q. My question is, did OP-43 respond to requests 

14 frorn that Base Structure Committee? 

15 A. Not very much. I mean, I went to a couple of 

16 the meetings, but primarily in the case of naval 

17 shipyards, they called in Admiral Hekman, Admiral Claman 

18 and they really wanted to hear it right from the horse's 

19 mout::h, so to speak, to get the basic info that could 

20 respond to the second and third level questions. 

I mean, they spent hours and hours and hours in 

22 meetings and they didn't really have - -  they wanted 
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answers right then, there was just massive amounts of 

information they were trying to collect and sort through. 

Q. When you say they spent hours and hours and 

hours in meetings, you are referring to the Base Structure 

Committee? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you only attended a small number of those 

meetings?. 

A. Yes, a total of maybe 4 hours at the most, and 

you know, when a shipyard's topic .would be on, if I were 

available. I wasn't required to be there, but I went to 

some of them. 

Q. So it was not part of the role of OP-43 in the 

base closure process to recommend candidates for closures, 

it that correct? 

A. Well, as I recall, all eight Naval shipyards 

were candidates for closure, that is part of the 

legislation, that you had to go back and review all eight 

of them, which we did, and we came up with a ranking 

system that took the attributes of the eight, attributes 

that were, as I recall the legislation required that the 

bases be determined first, be submitted to Congress, which 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 200105 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



they could change if they wanted and come back. 

And we took those things and then delved that 

down into a matrix type of form where an.attribute, 8 

naval shipyards and assigned values to those things to 

come up with a ranking system per se. Yes, and that was 

submitted. 

Q. So you came up with a list of rankings of the 

shipyards, is that right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the ranking was according to the military 

value of the - -  
12 A. Well, according to the eight characteristics 

13 that were required, as I say, we were required by Congress 

14 to submit what those values would be and that is basically 

15 what we did, mission and that type of thing. 

16 Q. Did there ever come a time when OP-43 or you 

17 '-connnended to any person that the Philadelphia Naval 

18 Shipyard be closed?. 

19 A. As I recall, they were on the bottom of the list 

20 or the top, whichever way you wanted to view it, if I 

21 recall properly, I think our, I don't even know remember 

22 there was a high number for closure, but one was there. 
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1 They were the one that was most, I guess, had the lowest 

2 value I think of the Navy Department 

3 Q. So it is fair to say that OP-43 ranked 

4 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard last among shipyards but did 

5 not, per se, recommend Philadelphia Naval Shipyard for 

6 closure? 

7 A. Well, the - -  now the information was given in 

8 that format and the fact that a naval shipyard was to be 

9 or was not to-be closed was in my mind the scheme overall, 

10 basically since I have been in the job was to downsize all 

11 eight naval shipyards and then when the work went away you 

12 had to close one. 

13 And if I had been asked, and I don't recall 

14 specifically being asked, I would have said, yes, that it 

15 ought to be shut down because the work wasn't there in the 

16 latter part of this decade. 

17 Q. So if you would have been asked, you would have 

18 recommended closing the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. As opposed to downsizing all of the shipyards? 

21 A. No. The plan was to downsize all of them and 

22 then when the work went away, you closed one and in the 
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1 time frame of the Base Closure Commission, the work went 

2 away in Philadelphia. And so, yes, I would recommend that 

3 it be closed, just as I would say, within the next 10 

4 years there is probably going to have to be another one 

5 closed. 

6 Q. So if I understand you correctly, you are saying 

7 downsizing all of the shipyards as opposed to closing any 

8 single one is okay until the point is reached where there 

9 simply not enough work? 

10 A. That is correct, and then it becomes, a jobs 

I1 program instead of an accomplishing work program. 

Q. Was there any disagreement that you were aware 

13 of in your organization or any other part of the Navy over 

14 whether Philadelphia Naval Shipyard should have been 

IS rankzd at the bottom of the list of shipyards? 

16 A. No. I really don't. In fact, I know that 

17 Admiral Claman and I had discussions fairly late in the 

18 process and he felt that some of the weights and some of 

19 things weren't quite right, so we redid the numbers again 

20 and they appeared exactly the - -  Philadelphia was still on 
21 the bottom. 

22 Q. You said Admiral Claman thought the weights 
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weren't quite right? 

A. He wanted more emphasis to the, felt that the 

mission characteristics, I don't recall exactly what it 

was, but it was something that made sense and I said, 

fine, let's do it that way, even though his organization 

had given us all that information, you know, the month 

before and then maybe he hadn't reviewed it or whatever, 

but he finally really looked, scrutinized and said, hey, 

you know, some of these things don't stack up as well as 

they should with the eight characteristics and I think 

this and this and this ought to be done. 

I said, fine, let's just do it. So we sat down 

and did it all over again and came up the same way, which 

you know, by and large, I guess that kind of made me feel 

fairly reasonable in that, you know, changing even the 

criteria a little bit, you still ended up with them at the 

bottom. 

Q. How did you change the criteria specifically? 

A. I don't know. I think you probably got it in 

your documents there someplace. I think there was a 

letter that Admiral Claman and I signed, documented in the 

process, that there were things that were changed. 
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question before answering it. Let him get the whole out 

and then you will know exactly what you need to respond 

to. I am sorry. 

MR. DAVISH: 

Q. So it is fair to say that the workload question 

was the more important question in determining whether a 

shipyard should be closed? 

A, Well, it was the determining factor as far as 

the, deviating from the downsizing into a closure posture. 

This is the way I would characterize it. That represents 

I1 the time, in my job that I was there, it was in my mind, 

12 it was always the plan to downsize. I mean, you had to. 

13 How-else can you, when you are going from 400 - -  or 
14 actually 600 ship Navy to a 550 to a 450, to a "to be 

15 determinedvt number, something has got - - you got to 
16 decrease. 

17 And I think everybody understands that and 

18 everybody supports that, that you can't - -  if you are 
19 going to maintain and retain all the shore infrastructure, 

20 before long th2t is all you have, you don't any ships 

21 left. 

I think the lunacy of that kind of approach, to 
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Do you recall what made you change your opinion 

2 about downsizing versus closing the shipyard? 

3 A. Well, the realization that we, as we take more 

4 and more ships out of the Navy, there is less and less 

5 work that has to be done. I mean, we went through some 

6 very dramatic things in the last year-and-a-half, 

7 battleships, all four being taken out of commission; 

8 aircraft carriers going from 15 to 12; submarines, a whole 

9 class of submarines, the 52 class destroyers. I mean, 

10 there have been some significant force levels in the Navy. 

Q. And these things occurred after May of 1990? 

A. I don't recall what they are, I am just saying 

13 in that time frame, that they - -  lots of things are 

14 happening, just like they are today. 

15 Q. The fleet scheduling conference to which you 

16 referred earlier month of the year does that normally 

17 occur in? 

18 A. Well, it depends on the budget. Sometimes it is 

19 between April and June. 

20 Q. Do you recall when it occurred in 1990? 

21 A. No, I don't. I really don't. 

Q. Is it fair to say that what happened at the 
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Loftus's opinion regarding whether the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard should be closed altogether? I am just asking if 

you were aware, not how you came to be aware. 

A. No, I can't tie Admiral Loftus to a time frame, 

okay. I know that Admiral Loftus today would feel that it 

has to be shut down, whether that was in November, 

December, January, February, March, April or whatever of 

1991, I am sorry, I just can't tie that down. 

Q. So NAVSEA was aware of the same data that you 

were regarding workload? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And yet they came, according to your testimony, 

to the opinion - -  

A. They had two options. One was to shut it down, 

and one was the- 1,2 00 man shipyard. 

Q. And the preferred option was - -  
A. That was their opinion, that was their 

recommendation, the Naval Sea Systems Command. You asked 

me whether I agreed with them, and the answer is no. I 

did not agree with them. 

Q. But you were both looking at the same data and 

analysis? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. You just arrived at a different conclusion? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you said that you had conversations with 

Hines and Claman at NAVSEA at some point regarding whether 

the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard should be closed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And do you recall - - 
A. Admiral Claman relieved Admiral Hines. I don1 t 

know what time that was. 

Q. All right. With whomever you spoke in that 

respect, do you recall what Hines or Claman's reasoning 

was or grounds for their opinion that the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard should be downsized to 1,200? 

A. The primary reason was to provide a dependable - 

source of repairs of ships in the New York area is my best 

recollection. 

Q. And do you recall what your response to that 

observation was? 

A. As I recall, approximately a year before that 

time, I don't even recall what the subject was, but for 

some reason or another, we asked the question of CO-7, 
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A. That is correct. 

Q. And did you do any further or different kind of 

compilation of data or analysis of data with respect to 

shipyard closure versus downsizing after you penned Lang 2 

on or about October of 1990? 

A. Oh, absolutely. 

Q. What did you do? 

A. We started all over again. As I remember, the 

congressional base closure, there was a - -  I don't know 
what the date was, but I think it was after this date 

where we were told to go and consider every facility that 

we had in the Navy all over again. So we went back to 

ground zero and I remember having meetings with my people 

and saying, hey, these are the rules, let's go back to 

ground zero and start all over again. 

Q. Did you compile the data and perform the 

analysis in the same fashion as you had previous to 

October - -  
A. No. I mean, I sure the facts didn't change if 

you take it, 2 years ago, a year ago, 6 months ago, there 

was - -  some of that stuff doesn't change, but the process 
was - -  had similarities, we got a shipyard, you got to 
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1 think of some ways to evaluate it. You write it down and 

2 you go out and get the information and you compile it all 

3 again and see how it stands. 

4 Q. Can you recall in what respect the processes, 

5 post, October before, versus before October were 

6 different? 

7 A. Well, you still have the Naval Sea Systems 

8 Command. You still had OP-43. You still had eight Naval 

9 shipyards. You still have information. You know, to 

10 point out specific differences or whatever, I don't recall 

11 what those exactly would be. 

I do know that it was a, point again, just going 

13 back to ground zero, we developed information and coming 

14 up with some kind of ranking. 

15 Q. Is it fair to say that Capt. Williams was the 

16 person in your organization most responsible for compiling 

17 data and performing analysis on shipyards in the closure 

18 process? 

19 A. Yes, he is the one who reports to me, yes. Mary 

20 MacKinnon reports to him. 

21 Q. So Capt. Williams and Ms. MacKinnon were the two 

22 persons in your organization most responsible for the 
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1 A. No, I don't. It would be early in '89, '89 or 

2 '90 time frame, early '90. 

3 Q. Do you recall what Capt. Williams's opinion on 

4 that issue was at any - -  
5 A. My best recollection is he agreed with the 

6 overall plan to downsize and then close when the workload 

7 went away. 

8 Q. And did there come a time when Capt. Williams 

9 came to hold the opinion that closing the Philadelphia 

10 Naval Shipyard was the preferable option versus 

I1 downsizing? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Do you recall when that was? 

14 A. No, I don't. 

15 Q. It is a fact, isn't it that the nuclear 

16 shipyards were excluded from further review for closure on 

17 the basis of the fact that they were nuclear? 

18 A. No. That is not a fact. We considered all 

19 Naval shipyards for closures. After the bill was passed by 

20 the Congress, we went back and looked at all eight Naval 

21 shipyards. 

22 Q. So there was active consideration given to 
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closing a nuclear shipyard? 

A. Yes. There is today. I mean, we were told to 

look at all eight. We had to look at all eight. 

Q. Are nuclear shipyards more expensive to run that 

conventional shipyards? 

A. I am not convinced of that. 

Q. Is it a widely held opinion that they are? 

A. Some people feel that way, yes. 

Q. Isn't there objective data that you can measure 

that? 

A. Well, it is difficult to come by in a clear and 

convincing manner, at least as far as I am concerned 

because nuclear shipyards also do conventional work. 

Q. Do you know approximately - -  

A. You take a shipyard like Norfolk that does both 

non-nuclear and nuclear work, there'are shipyards that 

only do nuclear work. 

Q. How many are they? 

A. Portsmouth, Mare Island. 

Q. And they do no conventional work whatsoever? 

A. Well, Mare Island does do some every once in 

awhile, but it is primarily submarine oriented shipyards. 
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Q. So with respect to the remaining nuclear 

shi:pyards, other than Mare Island and Portsmouth, could 

you estimate what percentage of the work they do on Naval 

vessels is conventional versus nuclear? 

A. We have those numbers, I don't recall them. 

Q. Do you recall if it is in the neighborhood of 

50/!50 or if their - -  
A. 50/50 would be - -  it changes from year to year. 

9 It really does. You take a conventional aircraft carrier, 

10 as opposed to having no aircraft carriers there or a . 
11 nuclear aircraft carrier, that could swing the whole 

But half, that would be a fair starting p.oint; I 

13 guess, in some years. 

14 Like Norfolk, I would say probably last year 

IS maybe 10 percent was nuc1ea.r work. This next year it will 

16 probably be 70 percent', because they - -  the South Carolina 

17 refueling and overhaul will start. That is why it is so 

18 hard to make blanket statements like nuclear work cost 

19 more!, but it does take more people. It takes more skills 

and different skills. 

21 Q. The nuclear work takes more skills? 

A. Well, you've got to deal with radioactivity. 
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Q. Are you aware that at any time a determination. 

wasi made by anybody that nuclear shipyards would not be 

closed, solely because they were nuclear shipyards? 

A. No. I wasn't aware of that. I am aware that 

when asked the question, sometime in one of the budget 

prctcess I was asked, do we need all six naval shipyards 

and. in looking at the future workload to 1999, 2000, that 

it was clear to me that we did, in fact, need those naval 

shipyards. 

Q. When you say those naval shipyards? 

A. They had work. 

Q. And were you referring specifically to the 

nuclear naval shipyards? 

A. I'm referring specifically to Puget, Mare 

Island, Portsmouth, Norfolk, and Charleston. 

Q. Which are the nuclear naval shipyards? 

A. They are five of them, yes. You see, in my mind 

Pearl Harbor is also a nuclear shipyard, but its strategic 

location almost puts it into a separate category, by 

itself. 

Q. That is, it shouldn't be a candidate for 

closure? 
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rankings that they presented to you along the way? 

A. No. There was just the data with a result. 

Q. So it was one final product? 

A. As best I can recall. 

Q. And, presumably, after that presentation of the 

final product to you, Williams and M ~ c K ~ M o ~  no longer 

were engaged in compiling data or analyzing. 

A. No. We were engaged in that the whole time. 

Anytzime you had a list like that. then it would go to 

somebody and they would have a question, and you'd go to 

somebody else and they would have some questions. And 

also, you've got to realize that Williams and MacKimon 

didn't sit back there and dream all this stuff up. They 

- - 

Basically NAVSEA was doing all the paper work, 

you know, a lot of the gathering it from each of the 

individual shipyards and from their records that they had, 

and then they would look at the data and make 

observations, asked additional questions. 

Q. Did there ever come a time in the post-new Act 

time frame when you questioned the accuracy of any data - -  
A. Absolutely. 
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Q. - -  that Williams and MacKinnon presented to you? 
A. Well, I mean, yes. We were continuously looking 

at data. Whether it specifically bore on this ranking or 

not. - -  I'm not sure of the question - -  
When we quickly got into submitting the report 

mode to the Base Closure Commission, even after the 

Navy's, when the Secretary of the Navy made the decision 

and then you had to flop that over and submit a report 

that the Secretary of Navy was going to report, right, and 

the:n that took a whole bunch of more data. 

Q. More data? 

A. Oh, sure. Like how much it costs to close the 

place, whether the assumptions that went around moving, if 

you made the assumption that all these people at shipyard 

A - -  the work was going to shipyard B, then would you move 
all those people from A to B. I remember the first time I 

saw that, they said all of them were going. to move. I 

thought, well, that's not true. That's never happened in 

the past. They aren't going to - -  all of the workers out 
on this shipyard going to march down to another shipyard 

and go to work. So there were those kinds of dialogues 

back and forth. That's all I'm saying. 
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1 A. Those elements. You might find a element from 

2 the different processes it went through. 

3 Q. So aside from the fact that there were different 

4 criteria and elements under those criteria in the process 

5 that Williams and MacKinnon did post-November 1990, aside 

6 from that, there weren't necessarily any other differences 

7 or changes in that process versus what they had done 

8 before in connection with base closure? Is that fair to 

9 say? 

10 A. I really don't know. You ought to ask them. 

11 They were going to - -  
Well, you didn't direct them to do anything 

13 differently, other than to - -  

14 - A. Comply with the law. We were very concerned 

15 that we do what the law said, and started out.with it. 

16 Q. By which you meant starting from ground zero? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And using the new criteria? 

19 A. Right. 

20 Q. But in your opinion at that time, the law didn't 

21 require any other changes necessarily in that process that 

22 MacKimon and Williams had done earlier? 
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MR. GUTMAN: Let me object to that. The Admiral 

is not a legal expert. He's not here to testify as to 

what the legal requirements were. If you have a factual 

question for him - -  

MR.. DAVISH: Well, he has an opinion about what 

the law commanded to do and it is certainly relevant to 

what he did on the basis of that understanding. That's 

what I'm inquiring into. 

MR. GUTMAN: If you have a question with regard 

to what the Admiral directed his subordinates to do, by 

all means ask him. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. My question is, did you understand that your 

requirement as a result of the new law was that you had to 

direct your staff to do the whole process again, but the 

only difference being that there were new criteria and 

elements in that process? 

A. No, it was do the whole process again. 

Q. Right. And the process could be the same 

process as before as long as the criteria and elements 

under that criteria were applied? 

MR. GUTMAN: Let me object here. We're reaching 
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Q. Correct. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And did you give them any direction at that time 

in or about December of 1990 when they initiated this new 

phase of compiling data and analyzing that data on 

shipyards? Any directions on how that should be done? 

A. Well, see I don't characterize it as a new phase 

or whatever. As far as I was concerned, we erased the 

blackboard and started all over again. That's the problem 

which I have of your characterization of what we attempted 

to do in OP-43, which was to forget all that crap; let's 

start all over; what's the criteria? Assign the numbers, 

assign new elements, give them weights, let's see what we 

got. I mean, we really honestly and truly went back to 

ground zero to start all over again. 

Q. I understand that. My question is the fact that 

the data compilation and analysis that Williams and 

MacKinnon did in December of 1990, did you give them any 

express directions about how that was to be done, other 

than it was starting from ground zero? 

A. Not that I can remember, other than, you know, 

we're going to comply with the law, with the new process. 
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1 again and came up with the rankings that are shown in the 

2 second grouping under paragraph 2. 

3 Q. Are you aware that 3050.22 requires the 

4 existence of two public shipyards on the east coast with a 

5 drydock capacity for carriers? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. And isn't it a fact that closure of the 

8 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard will reduce the number of 

9 public shipyards on the east coast with drydock capacity 

10 for carriers to one? 

I1 A. No, I'm not aware of that. 

12 Q. If Philadelphia Naval Shipyard is closed, what 

13 two public shipyards with a drydock capacity for carriers 

14 will there be? 

15 A. You'll .have Norfolk and you'll have Philadelphia 

16 on a emergency basis. That was part of the closure 

17 recommendation, that the Base Closure Commission allowed 

18 to retain those drydocks in Philadelphia. 

19 -Q. In mothball status? 

20 A. Yes. Plus you also have Newport News also 

21 available, which is a private shipyard. 

Q. Was there ever any discussion between you and 
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any other person regarding the specific aspect of 3050.22 

that is a requirement for two public shipyards on the east 

coast with a drydock capacity for carriers? 

A. Yes. That was part of the reason why the 

recommendation was to retain those in mothball status. 

Q. You discussed that with Admiral Claman? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What did you say and what did he say? 

A. Just what you said. 

Q. Whichwas? 

A. There is a requirement for it, we ought to 

retain them, hang onto it. Okay. I agree. 

Q. Drawing your attention to paragraph numbered 2 

of the document - -  
A. Um-hum. 

Q. It reads that the previous validation of naval 

shipyard rankings resulted in the following ranking of the 

eight naval shipyards. What is being referred to there by 

19 the previous validation of naval shipyard ranking? 

20 A. That would have been the one that was submitted 

2 1  to the structure committee in the early-March time frame. 

Q. And the document, Lang 4, suggests that the Base 
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1 correctly, that we're not happy with this ranking - - 
A. Right. No. No, that's not right. 

MR. GUTMAN: Again - -  
THE WITNESS: Go ahead and ask the question. 

You will know when to jump in. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Well, did the Base Structure Committee indicate 

to Admiral Claman an opinion about the list of rankings of 

shipyards that they had received? 

A. That's not what I got from Claman. They didn't 

like - -  they thought that some of the things that we 
started and some of the points that were assigned to 

various areas - -  they didn't like it. They wanted 

something different. 

Q. But was there a result in mind they wanted to 

see? 

A. No. 

Q. They had a different methodology? 

A. Right. 

20 Q. And that different methodology is 3(a), (b), 

21 ( c )  , and (d) ? 

A. Right. 
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Q. And I was very pleased at the end of it that 

they were so close. It's like a sensitivity check. 

Q. Now, after the Base Structure Committee told 

Claman that they wanted a review of the ranking, who 

actually incorporated these points that the Base Structure 

Committee wanted or brought to the attention of Admiral 

Claman and actually did the analysis with those things in 

mind? 

A. Mary MacKimon and one of the employees for 

Admiral Claman. I don't recall who that was, but they 

worked long and hard. 

Q. Did you submit the product of that long and hard 

process directly to the Base Structure Committee? 

A. 'No. 

Q. What happened to it? 

A. Admiral Drennon presented it to the committee, 

as best as I can recall. 

Q. So you had no involvement with preparing the new 

ranking? 

A. Oh, absolutely. 

Q. What was your involvement? 

A. Imean, it's - -  we knew, with working withMary 
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MacKinnon and an employee from 07, took the comments that 

were written at the first presentation which, if I recall 

properly, Admiral Clarnan presented to the committee. 

People raised their hands, and said that's wrong, this is 

more important than that thing. So he came out of that 

and says, we're got to redo this. 

So that's what happened. One of his employees 

and Mary sat down and redid them all. That was then 

resupplied back through 44, Admiral Drennon, who would 

then present, you know - - shipyards were just one of many, 
air stations and bases and all kinds of things, and he was 

the guy that would flip the charts down or whatever and 

say, oh, wait, let's hear the shipyard thing again. Then 

they would call up Admiral Claman and he would just talk 

shipyards. 

Admiral Hekman appeared once before the committee 

just to talk shipyards. 

Q. I understand, but my specific question is that 

once the Base Structure Committee came back to Hekman and 

said we want a review of the rankings, and MacKinnon and 

this other person degan on the work, what was your 

involvement? 
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A. I don't like you saying rankings. That was not 

the issue. The ranks were not the issue. The issue were 

the elements that they felt to make their decision on 

weren't in the best interests of the United States Navy, 

in their opinion of the structure committee. 

It's like me submitting something to my boss and my 

boss saying, hey, that ain't as important as you think, 

Lang. This other thing's more important; go do it again. 

That's what happened. We went and did it again. And 

it came back through me, back to Admiral Drennon, back to 

the committee to reflect their new desires on what they 

felt were more important. facets and needs of the Navy 

Department than what they received on the first go-around. 

Q. I understand. You said it went through you. 

A. But it wasn't key to the rankings. 

Q. Fine. All I'm asking is; when it went through 

you, as you just said - -  
A. Yes. 

Q. What did you do with it? Did you ever read it? 

Did you analyze it? 

A. Absolutely I read it. 

Q. And did you go back to MacKi~on and make any 
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A. Yes. Well, once I gave my okay, then it kind ,of 

2 went back down to Mary and Mary would take it over to the 

3 person working at OP-44 and then it would get up to the 

4 committee. And Mary might actually present it to me 

5 in the presence - -  Williams could or could not have been 
6 there. 

7 Q. To your knowledge, did OP-43 give any 

8 consideration to closing or recommending closure of any 

shipyard other than Philadelphia? 

10 A. Yes. 

Q. What shipyard was that? 

12 A. Norfolk, Long Beach, Charleston, Pearl Harbor, 

13 Puget Sound, Portsmouth, Mare Island, and Philadelphia. 

14 Q. Did there come a time when you discussed two 

15 principal candidates for closure? 

16 MR. GUTMAN: The Admiral has answered that 

17 question. He said all of the shipyards were candidates - 

18 for closure. The analysis went from there. 

19 BY MR. DAVISH: 

20 Q. Did there come a time when the list narrowed at 

21 all? 

22 A. Not as far as 43 was concerned, that I can 
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1 had whittled it down to two or not. I really don't know 

2  andIwouldsuggest that youask AWiralDrennon. Mr. 

3 Nemfakos, which I think you've already subpoenaed. 

But I did not attend all those meetings. and I 4 

5 think it would be leading you astray for me to 

6 characterize what went on in that committee. 

Looking once again at Lang 4  - -  
A. Yes. 

Q In particular the revised rankings of shipyards 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. Is it fair to say that in your opinion, if you 

13 were going to consider more than one shipyard for closure. 

14 it would be Philadelphia and Portsmouth if for no other 

15 reason than those were the two most lowly-ranked 

16 shipyards? 1s that fair to say? 

1 7  MR. GUTMAN: Let me object there. What time 

18 frame are you talking about? There are two different 

19 lists here and Portsmouth and Philadelphia are the bottom 

20 two on one, but not on the other. 

2 1  MR. DAVISH: Well, let me just say that the 

22 bottom two on the list. whether they are Philadelphia and 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET. N.W- 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON. D.C. 2 0 W 5  

(202)  289-2260 
(800)  FOR DEPO 



Portsmouth or Philadelphia and Mare Island, those would be 

the principal candidates for closure because they were the 

two lowest-ranked shipyards. Isn't that a fact? 

MR. GUTMAN: You are asking for the Admiral's 

opinion or are you asking for a factual conclusion? I'm 

beginning to - -  
MR. DAVISH: His opinion. 

THE WITNESS: In my opinion, as you would move 

up the list as the numbers of shipyards to be closed would 

occur. However, you've got to recognize that Portsmouth 

is a nuclear-capable submarine yard - -  that's their 
primary business base, as is Mare Island. So you can't 

just blindly go at this list and say okay, now the next 

yard that the Navy's going to close is going to be 

Portsmouth. It's not true. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Well, shouldn't the fact that, for instance, 

Portsmouth has a particularly unique nuclear capability 

already have been factored into the rankings in the first 

place? 

A. I think that's part of the discussion here. 

Back on Delta, I think we talk to that, don't we? Since 
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rankings your office prepared, Long Beach is number three 

on the list, above Pearl Harbor, Charleston, Mare Island 

and Portsmouth? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection. There's no foundation. 

We haven't established that the Base Structure Committee 

was only reviewing Long Beach and Philadelphia. 

MR. DAVISH: I'm representing to him that that 

did occur and that is fact what did occur. 

THE WITNESS: And my statement to you is you 

would have to ask them. 

BY MR. DAVISH: 

Q. Drawing your attention once again to line 5, in 

particular paragraph lA, which reads, "Meet with OP-431 to 

develop revised COBRA cost data on the complete closure of 

both shipyards." Do you recall what the .revisions in the 

COBRA cost data were that necessitated a revised COBRA 

cost analysis? 

A. I can't remember specifically, what exactly the 

data was, but it was more this same type of thing that you 

get down, you know, like down at Philadelphia 2A, all 

shipyard personnel could be severed, RIF1d, no 

relocations. 
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It's that type of thing where you make the 

assumption that 7,000 people are going to move from 

shipyard A to shipyard B, that can drive up your costs 

significantly. If you are going to take all the lathes 

and metalworking machines out of shipyard A and move them 

to shipyards B, C, and D, if you make that assumption, 

that really drives the costs up. 

But if you make the assumption, no, we are going 

to mothball the facilities, hey, that's not a big cost. 

So that's was the COBRA data which comes up with, as I . 
recall, an end result of a payback period, right - -  for X 
numbers of years? You know depending on what you'put in 

and what assumptions are made, you can get all kinds of 

answers from 99 years to 150 years of a payback. 

So as I recall, these kinds of issues were 

16 brought up and we worked closely with NAVSEA to try to be 

17 responsive to the decisions that were being made by the 

'18 committee. 

1 9  Q. And 1A reads that revised COBRA data on the 

20 complete closure of both shipyards, in the context of Lang 

2 1  5, would you agree that both shipyards refers to Long 

22 Beach and Philadelphia? 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 200L)S 

(202)  289-2260 
(800)  FOR DEPO 



OF'FICIAL TRANSCRIPT 
BEFORE THE 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

SENATOR ARLEN SPECTER, et & 

Plaintiffs, CrVIL ACTION NO. 

V. 91-CV-4322 

H LAWRENCE GARRETT, III, et al., Hon Ronald J. Eucitwalter 

Defendants 

Arlington, Virginia 

Wednesday, September 25,1991 

Deposition of STEPHEN FRANCIS LOJTUS 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEEIW STREET N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
* 



at the U.S. Naval Postgraduate School in Monterey. 

Q. Could you just tell me the years in which you 

received your degrees, please? 

A. I can if I can remember. 

. Q. Approximately. 

A. ' 56  from the University of Massachusetts, 

Bachelor's, and '70, either '69 or '70, probably '70 for 

the financial management. 

Q. For how long have you been in the Navy? 

A. I have been in the Navy since August of 1956, 

so 35 years. I did have some split service. I left the 

Navy in 1959, December of 1959, and came back in in June 

of 1962. 

Q. What is your present position with the Navy? 

A. I am the Deputy Chief of Naval Operations for 

Logistics. 

Q. And you are considered a three or four star 

admiral, five star? 

A. Hey, I will take five. Three star. It is a 

vice admiral. 

Q. Vice admiral. 

A. Right. 
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My question is, leaving aside the exact date, 

July 10, 1990, did you at any point in time in 1990 or 

any point in time in 1991 learn or were you informed 

that some time in 1990 the Three Star Base Closure 

Advisory Committee had voted to mothball the shipyard at 

Philadelphia? 

MR. BATTEN: It has been asked and answered. 

You may answer again. 

THE WITNESS: No. I don't remember that there 

was a vote -- I never knew there was a vote that was 
taken. Even reading this now, I don't recall a vote 

taken. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Leave aside the issue of a vote for a second, 

did you at any time learn or were you informed that the 

Three Star Base Closure Advisory Committee had reached a 

conclusion that the Philadelphia shipyard should be 

mothballed? 

A. When I became OP-04 later I was aware of 

that. I was not aware of that in July of 1990. 

Q. You became aware when you became the Deputy 

Chief of Naval Operations -- 
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A. Right. 

Q- -- that the Three Star Base Closure Advisory 
Committee had reached the conclusion that the shipyard 

of Philadelphia should be mothballed? 

A. I believe that was one of their 

recommendations. It was not a conclusion. 1 am not 

aware of this happening at all. 

Q. We will get to that. When you say "this," you 

are referring to the second paragraph, correct? 

A. Right. 

Q. I am talking now about the conclusions reached 

by the group. 

A. Yes. 

Q. So that you did, when you became Deputy Chief 

of Naval Operations, you did become aware of the fact -- 
A. Those were never decisions, Those were 

recommendations made and no decisions came out of that 

group as far as I am aware, now or then. 

Q. You do see in this document in the second 

paragraph it states, "these recommendations and others 

were forwarded and concurred in by CNO, SECNAV and 

SECDEF." Do you see that? 
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A. Yes, yes. 

Q. All right. And you are saying you are not 

aware of that happening? 

A. I am. The CNO, as far as I am aware, did not 

concur in any of the recommendations, did not take them 

as decisions from the three star, from that advisory 

group. 

Q. When you refer to the CNO, you are referring 

to Admiral Kelso? 

A.  I am. 

Q. You are saying he did not do that before you 

became Deputy Chief of Naval Operations or he didn't do 

it after you became? 

A. He didn't do it after I became. 

Q. What about before? 

A. I can't answer for him before that. 

Q .  A l l  r i g h t .  D o  you see where it says for 

political reasons these agreements have not been 

officially promulgated? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Were' you ever a party to any discussions with 

any Navy offices relating to the fact that proposed base 
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1 proposed for closure and those which were proposed for 

2  realignment? 

3 A. I believe so. I don't know whether exactly 

4 that format but those categories were there. 

5 Q. Now, if you look at the fifth paragraph in 

6 this document, Ms. Flynn writes, "How Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard will be shown is still a major issue. OP-43 

staff indicated it will be shown as 'mothball', vice 

'SRF' and that it is too late in the process to make a 

change now. Admiral Hekman may want to raise that issue 

with the advisory group." 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall Admiral Lang and his staff or 

Admiral Drennon and his staff had shown the Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard as a mothball status at the December 20 

meeting? 

A. I don't recall because I believe at that time 

the OP-43 or Admiral Lang's staff was examining the 

option of an SRF. 

Q. What is an SRF? 

A. It is a ship repair facility. 
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Q. What is the basis of your belief that at that 

time, December 20, Admiral Drennon and his staff were 

examining the SRF option? 

A. This paragraph. I mean -- 
Q. This paragraph doesn't say that. 

A. This paragraph does say it doesn't know 

whether it is going to be shown as a mothball or an 

SRF . 
Q. No, it says OP-43 staff indicated it will be 

shown as mothballed, right? 

A. Vice SRF, which keys me to remembering during 

that period of time OP-43 was looking at the option of 

making Philadelphia an SRF vice mothballing. That's 

more than what it says on the document. 

Q. Sir, let me show you a document that has been 

marked Claman 3 for identification. Sir, this is a 

memorandum or letter from Admiral Hekman to the Chief of 

Naval Operations, OP-04, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So that was to you then? 

A. That was to me. 

Q. Do you recall receiving this on or about 
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Naval Shipyard proposed in reference (a) was discussed 

at the 20 December 1990 meeting of the Base Closure and 

Realignment Advisory Committee. NAVSEArs recommendation 

that Philadelphia Naval Shipyard not be mothballed and 

closed but rather be downsized to approximately the size 

of a ship repair facility was not accepted." 

A. Correct. 

Q. Is that a true statement of what occurred on 

December 20, 1990 with regard to Admiral Hekman's 

request that the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard be 

downsized rather than mothballed? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. So that so far as the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard was concerned, it was the recommendation of the 

Three Star Advisory Committee at the conclusion of the 

December 20, 1990 meeting that Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard be mothballed? 

A. That's correct, recommendation. 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. NOW, to whom was that recommendation made? 

A. The recommendation was made to the CNO. 
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Q. That's Admiral Kelso? 

A. That's Admiral Kelso. 

Q. When was that recommendation passed on to 

Admiral Kelso? 

A. I may not have .the date directly. I think it 

was the 28th of January. 

Q. Was Admiral Kelso at the Advisory Committee 

meeting of December 20? 

A. No. 

Q. Were you the person who made the presentation 

of the Three Star Advisory Committee recommendations to 

Admiral Kelso? 

A. No. That was Admiral Smith. 

Q. Were you present when that was made? 

A. I was present, yes. 

Q. Who else was present? 

A.  Admiral Kelso, Admiral Johnson, Admiral Smith 

and myself. Maybe the EA was there, his executive 

assistant, but I am not sure. 

Q. And was that presentation made to him in his 

off ice? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And was Philadelphia the only recommendation 

made at that time? Was there a list of proposed 

closures and realignments? 

A. Full list, as a result of this working group, 

right. 

Q. And do you recall approximately how many bases 

were then being proposed for closure or realignment to 

Admiral Kelso? 

A. I don't. A significant number. 

Q. And did Admiral Kelso go over the list? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. And what decisions did he reach? 

13 A. Admiral Kelso made a statement prior to 

14 accepting the list that this would not be a decision 

15 meeting, that he would hear the recommendations and that 

16 was all. 

17 Q. All right. And after he heard the 

18 = recommendations, what happened? 

19 A. That was it. That was the end of it. The 

20 list, the transfer of the function then went from OP-08, 

2 1 Admiral Smith, to me. And that was the end of that 

22 working group. I don't think we had any more meetings. 
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That was also about the time that a new -- 
that the Base Structure Committee was being put 

together, which was the reason that Admiral Kelso said 

he wasn't making any decisions, he would listen to the 

recommendations but they were putting a group together 

that was chartered to look at each activity separately 

by law and that was basically the end of the advisory 

group list. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that the advisory group 

list was passed along to the Navy Base Structure 

Committee chaired by Ms. Schafer? 

A. Yes, they had the list. 

Q. And, in fact, you were a member of the Navy 

Base Structure Committee? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. So you had the list? 

A. And I can tell you unequivocally that list was 

not used as a marker to start the base closure, base 

structure functions. 

Q. You say it wasn't used as a marker; is that 

correct? 

A. No. 
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Q. What do you mean by a marker? 

A. I mean the recommendations that went forward 

with that group were not used with the new group at 

all. The recommendations, the briefing that I listened 

to and gave or Admiral Smith gave to CNO was not given 

to the base structure group. It was not given to 

anybody else, by the way. 

Q. Well, I thought you just testified that the 

list itself was passed on to the Navy Base Structure 

Committee? 

A. Yes. But I should be very clear that the list 

as passed on was available, the list was not used for 

anything. If it was used at all, it was used as a 

starting point. I don't remember bringing a list into 

the room any time. It was not -- it had no function 
with the new group at all. 

Q. And just so it is clear, the recommendations 

that were made to Admiral Kelso on January 28, 1991 by 

the Three Star Advisory Committee were unanimous 

recommendations of Admiral Smith, Admiral Johnson and 

yourself, correct? 

A. No. Those were the recommendations that 
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Admiral Smith put together as a result of the working 

group, advisory group, which he briefed to the CNO. 

Q. You didn't agree with Admiral Smith? 

A. I didn't agree with him then, no, not at a l l .  

I made that clear at the meeting. I didn't agree with 

a l l  of the things on that list. I wasn't part of the 

working group, you see, all the way through that. 

Q. You were at the December 20, 1990 meeting. 

A.  There was a lot of meetings. That was only 

one of them. . 
Q. But that was a pretty important meeting? 

A. It was a very important meeting. 

Q. Right. Did you agree with the recommendation 

to mothball Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. All right. Did you review the numerical 

rankings given the eight naval shipyards in December 

1990? 

A. No, not in December of 1990. I reviewed them 

in January. 

Q. Of 19911 

A. Of 1991. 
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Q. Did you understand that Philadelphia -- well, 
let me go back a step. The first four criteria listed 

for evaluation, mission requirement, land facilities, 

contingency, cost manpower, were the military criteria, 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you understand that for the four military 

criteria, the naval shipyard at Philadelphia had two 

yellows and two greens? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Which was the same as Portsmouth, Mare Island 

and Charleston? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And better than Long Beach, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And did you understand that it was the 

conclusion of the Base Structure Committee that all of 

the nuclear capable shipyards should be exempt from 

closure under the Step 5 procedure adopted by Ms. 

Schafer? 

A. The nuclear capable yards were exempted 

because there was no excess capacity. And by the rules 
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of the Commission themselves, they were no longer 

considered for closure. 

Q. And in what years was there no excess 

capacity? 

A. Beyond the period of time that this Commission 

was affected, the two plus six. 

Q. 1998 through 2000, correct? 

A. Yes. This base structure group looked at 

things that took us out to the seven years, start 

closure within two years, be closed within six years. 

If it was beyond that, the next Commission, the ' 9 3  and 

'95 were looked at. 

There was nuclear war and dry dock capability 

or dry dock usage throughout that period of time for all 

of the nuclear yards and, therefore, they were not 

considered for closure, for potential closure. There 

was no excess. 

Q. Well, but the no excess was in the years 1998 

through the year 2000? 

A. There was no excess during the period of time 

we were looking at those for potential closures. 

Q. You are sure of that? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Would you look, please, at MacKinnon 15. Just 

so the record is clear, you understood that Mrs. 

MacKinnon reported to Captain Williams? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who reported to Admiral Lang, who reported to 

you, correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. If you would turn, please, to the page with 

the Bates No. 498. There is a title 10, Miscellaneous, 

Unique Considerations and under that a titie of Nuclear 

Capability. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Mrs. MacKinnon writes, "The projected work 

load for the naval shipyards in 1998 to 2000 requires 

six nuciear naval shipyards." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that the 

capacity problem existed in the years 1998 to the year 

2000? 

A. No. 

MR. BATTEN: He didn't testify his 
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recollection needed refreshing. He gave you an answer 

to the question. 

THE WITNESS: No. There was not excess 

capacity in those shipyards during the period of time 

that we were going to examine any of the bases or any of 

the structure for closure. I think your indication here 

is that, am I reading you correctly, you are saying 

there is no excess capacity in that two-year period of 

time? 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. That's what I am saying she said. Don't you 

understand it that way? 

MR. BATTEN: The document speaks for itself. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Don't you understand it that way? 

A. I understand that for the period of time that 

the Base Structure Committee, for the period of time 

that they looked at for closures in that time frame, did 

not see an excess that would allow us to close any 

nuclear yards, period. 

Q. And my question is whether that lack of excess 

or absence of excess was in the years 1998 to 2000? 
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MR. BATTEN: It is asked and answered. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. I am responding to the previous answer. 

4 A. Itclearlyis in that period of time. I n m y  

5 judgment it is in that period of time prior to that too 

6 and could be in that period of time afterwards. 

7 Q. What is the benchmark percentage that you used 

8 to determine whether there is excess capacity? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection, lack of foundation. 

10 You may answer. . 
11 THE WITNESS: I don't know. You will have to 

clarify that for me. What do you mean? 

13 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

14 Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

15 as MacKinnon 17. These are view graphs that were 

16 presented to the Base Structure Committee on February 

17 14, 1991. 

18 - Z  A. Yes. 

19 Q. Do you recall that these were presented to the 

20 Base Structure Committee on February 14, 19917 

21 A. They were presented during that period of 

22 time. That date, I can't tell you exactly. 
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Q. NSY's is naval shipyards? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you were informed at a mid-February 1991 

meeting of the Base Structure Committee that it was the 

work load for the naval shipyards in the years 1998 to 

2000 which required six nuclear capable naval shipyards, 

correct? 

A.  Yes. We were also informed that we didn't 

have the foggiest idea but due to base structure coming 

down during the period of that time, whether we would 

have more deactivations as we took force structure out. 

I think the same paragraph also says it is not 

practical to close a nuclear capable shipyard for the 

period of the SYDP and reopen that yard to establish 

another nuclear capable overhaul shipyard subsequent to 

the six-year period. 

Q. What is SYDP? 

A. Six-year defense plan for the period of time 

we are talking about. For clarification, you should 

know that statement or that paragraph was in there 

because work load is not stable across the years. Work 

load fluctuates. 
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Q. Right. 

A. And there are certain work load projections at 

the times of the brief that indicate that in 1998 to the 

year 2000 we are going to have an excess of ships to 

work on that the shipyards can handle. Subsequent to 

that we are also going to be doing nuclear work for that 

entire period of time and we don't have the foggiest 

idea even today what kind of work those nuclear 

shipyards are going to have to do. 

That's the reason that the statement, it is 

not practical to close a yard and reopen it after the 

SYDP or during that period of time, was made. 'I don't 

want you to be misled to indicate that the only nuclear 

work that was going to be done in the yards in question 

here is between 1998 and 2000 and that is the only time 

that you have an excess of requirements. 

Q. I understand that. But it was your 

understanding what the second sentence was saying and 

what the presentation was on this or was at this meeting 

was that there was going to be excess capacity during 

the six-year defense plan period but because there would 

be no excess capacity in the years 1998 to 2000 it was 
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not practical to close a nuclear shipyard in the 

six-year period and then reopen it for the years 1998 to 

20007 

A. There was never any brief that Admiral Hekman 

or Admiral Claman gave that indicated that there was 

-potential for closing any nuclear shipyard. There were 

excess dry dock days during that period of time during 

the SYDP but there was never a period of time that would 

have allowed you to close any one of the six nuclear 

shipyards. 

Q. All right. Let's go back a step. You are 

saying there was a presentation that made it clear that 

there was excess dry dock capacity in the nuclear 

shipyards during the six-year defense plan period, 

correct? 

A. Measured by days, that's correct. 

Q. When you say measured by days, what do you 

mean? 

A. I mean measured by dry dock days, the number 

of days that a submarine in one of those six yards, that 

the dry dock would be free of having a submarine in it. 

Q. Right. 
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A. Sometimes that is measured in two or three 

days, sometimes that is measured in 14 days, sometimes 

it is measured in 30 days but there was never, I don't 

want you to be misled, there was never an indication 

that there was any period of time that you could close 

any nuclear shipyard during that period of that six 

years or seven years that we talked about by anyone at 

NAVSEA or anyone that made a presentation. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the work at nuclear 

capable shipyards also includes work on non-nuclear 

ships? 

A. Some yards, yes. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the percentage of 

non-nuclear ship work at a nuclear shipyard varies from 

anywhere between 25 to 50 percent? 

A. Somewhere around that. 

Q. So why wasn't it possible to, for example, 

close Portsmouth and send the nuclear work at Portsmouth 

to Charleston and Norfolk and the non-nuclear work to 

Philadelphia? 

MR. BATTEN: It calls for speculation. You 

can answer. 
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THE WITNESS: No one would do that and try and 

maintain a fleet schedule. I mean, that requires 

docking, which is a very, very complex evolution. It 

requires your doing work in one yard and then undocking 

and sailing or towing that ship to another yard to do 

additional work, depending on what you did first. 

And I think you are trying to make a 

distinction in your mind between nuclear and non-nuclear 

work, that they are compartmentalized so they are easy 

to separate and do that way, and that's not true. 

Q. I don't think you understood my question. Let 

me go back a step. 

When I say non-nuclear work, I thought my 

question was clear but I am talking about work on 

non-nuclear ships. 

A. Oh, I am sorry. I thought you meant -- we 
determine nuc and non-nuc work on the same ship. 

Q. Let me go back so the record is clear. Isn't 

it a fact that from 25 to 50 percent of the work at a 

nuclear capable shipyard is, in fact, on non-nuclear 

ships? 

A. No, it is not a fact. Some yards -- the ship 
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work or ship load varies by yard, but to say that 

somewhere between 25 and 50 percent of all nuclear 

capable shipyards do non-nuc work is not true. 

Q. Is it true of some? 

A. It is true of some. And it varies, again. 

Q. I see. Does the Navy keep statistics on the 

amount of work in a nuclear capable shipyard that is on 

non-nuclear ships and the amount of work in nuclear 

capable shipyards that is on nuclear ships? 

A .  True. 

Q. Now I hope we have clarified that. Why didn't 

the Navy consider closing a nuclear capable shipyard 

such as Portsmouth and sending the nuclear ship work to 

other East Coast nuclear capable shipyards and the 

non-nuclear ship work to Philadelphia? 

A. Because the six nuclear capable shipyards did 

not have excess dry dock days in that period of time 

which would allow you to close any of the nuclear 

capable shipyards. 

Q. Well, if they are spending their time, a 

significant portion of their time; that is, as we 

have -- you are looking puzzled. I thought we 
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established that there were some, some nuclear capable 

shipyards where between 25 and 50 percent of the work is 

on non-nuclear ships. 

A. Different part of the yard, different dry 

docks, different setup, different water, power, steam. 

There was enough nuclear work to do in the six shipyards 

on nuclear piers, dry docks, that we couldn't even 

consider closing a nuclear shipyard. The fact that some 

of the yards did non-nuclear work has no bearing on it. 

Q. All right. Let me show you a document 

previously marked as NemFakos 10. 

MR. ANDERSON: 10 to what deposition? 

MR. PITTINSKY: NemFakos. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. I would ask you to turn to page 332, please, 

Bates No. 332. 

A. Okay. 

Q. I assume you have seen this view graph before? 

A. Right. 

Q. Would you tell me what it describes, please? 

A. I think it describes the same thing we talked 

about before. There was a period of time between now 
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and 1998 that there were some available dry dock days in 

the nuclear shipyards, that all of the dry dock spaces 

in nuclear shipyards were not being utilized, that there 

was some excess, yes. 

Q. All right. And particularly in the years 

1995, 1996 and 1997, correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, would you go back, please, to Yellin 1, 

the rating sheet. Why was Long Beach excluded from 

consideration for closure by the Navy Base Structure 

Committee? 

A. Because of its large dry dock capable of 

handling a carrier. 

Q. And was that pursuant to the Navy policy that 

there be two large carrier dry docks on each coast for 

non-nuclear carriers? 

A. It was pursuant to the policy, the prudent 

policy to keep a large dry dock capable of handling a 

carrier available on the West Coast and on the East 

Coast. 

Q. Wasn't there one at Puget Sound? 

A. Yes, there is. 
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Q. So why was it necessary to have a second one 

at Long Beach? 

A.  Because the one in Puget Sound could be 

filled, right, and you needed one for emergent work, 

potential for emergent work. The East Coast, as you 

well know, had nuclear or carrier capable dry docks at 

Philadelphia, then Portsmouth, Virginia and at Newport 

News. It didn't have that on the West Coast. You would 

have one. 

If you didn't keep the dry dock open at Long 

Beach, you would have had Puget Sound. 

Q. There was a decision made that it was 

necessary to have two large carrier dry docks available 

on the West Coast? 

A. Correct. 

Q. For large carriers, conventional large 

carriers, correct? 

A. That's right. 

Q. Well then why wasn't the same decision made 

for the East Coast? 

A. Because two are available. 

Q. What two are those? 
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A. Portsmouth, Norfolk Naval Shipyard and Newport 

News. 

Q. Isn't Newport News a private facility? 

A. It is a dry dock. We had Hunters Point and 

that no longer is available. So that was a West Coast 

facility as well. The point is that you needed a dry, 

you needed a large dry dock capable of handling a 

carrier in case you had an emergent requirement and for 

that reason you didn't want to restrict yourself to a 

single dry dock on the West Coast. It didn't make 

prudent sense to do that. 

Q. Is it your testimony that the only reason Long 

Beach was kept open was for emergent carrier work? 

A. Or a large ship dry dock necessary for the 

West Coast. 

Q. So Long Beach was kept open because of a 

perceived need to have two large carrier dry docks 

available on the West Coast, each of which would be 

available for scheduled and emergent work? 

A. Long Beach was kept open because it had a 

large carrier, large ship dry dock which the Base 

Structure Committee and the Navy felt that it should 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 14TH ST., N.W., 4TH FLOOR, WASH., D.C. 20005 (202) 289-2260 

* 



have to handle' emergent work or any other work as 

necessary. 

Q. Including scheduled work? 

A. If scheduled work went in there, but primarily 

it was a prudent approach to keeping a dry dock open on 

the West Coast. 

Q. And let me show you a document previously 

marketed as Claman 1. This is a memorandum submitted by 

Admiral Claman to Admiral Lang on March 29, 1991. I 

apologize but it is March 29, 1991. 

Did you review Claman 1 on or about March 29, 

1991? 

A. We probably reviewed the options that were 

briefed to us. I did not review this document as it 

came in, no. 

Q. All right. 

A. But the options were clearly briefed. 

Q. You had the document in your possession, 

right? 

A. That's right. 

Q. Would you turn, please, to the page Bates 

numbered 602. Let me direct your attention to the 
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1 second paragraph under the title Strategic and 

2 Operational Consequences. 

A. Yes. 

Q. There Admiral Claman states, "Closure of 

5 Philadelphia Naval Shipyard without retention of the 

6 .large carrier capable dry docks creates a shortfall in 

dry dock capability for emergent dockings of aircraft 

carriers. The only carrier capable dry dock available 

on the East Coast under Navy control is at Norfolk Naval 

Shipyard and will be fully utilized. Without the dry 

docks available at Philadelphia, the only other dock 

capable of taking an emergent carrier docking is at 

Newport News Ship Building, NNSB." I will skip the next 

sentence. 

"This dock is privately owned and its docking 

schedule is not controlled by the Navy. The cost to 

have NNSB provide a dedicated dock under contract is 

considered prohibitive. The only alternatives are to 

use the NNSB dock, if available, or to physically remove 

a ship already in dock at Norfolk Naval Shipyard, if 

21 possible." 

22 Do you see that? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Did you agree with that statement? 

A. It is Admiral Claman's opinion and the Base 

Structure Committee and I didn't agree with it at all. 

Q. Did you agree that the only way that you could 

assure that Newport News Ship Building's dry dock would 

be available is through making it a dedicated dock? 

A. No, I don't agree with that at all. 

Q. How would you make it available then if it was 

not a dedicated dock? 

A. The same way you would make it available with 

any company that you provided a contract with. You 

would have to, if you needed that dock, you would have 

to arrange or negotiate with Newport News to use it. 

Q. But for emergent work, for example, if it is 

already occupied, you couldn't use it, correct? 

A. That's correct, but the same thing would hold 

true on the West Coast if both dock yards were filled 

there. I mean, there is a point that you are not going 

to keep 12 large carrier dock yards available because 

you may have to have 12, but there is also a prudent 

approach that says at least you ought to have two per 
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coast. 

Q. Right. Now, by having Long Beach and Puget 

Sound, you know they are available for the Navy, 

correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. You don't have to worry about contracting with 

anyone. 

A. No, not if they are free. 

Q. Yes. But you schedule the work -- 
A. Right. 

Q- -- in Puget Sound and Long Beach, correct? 
A. That's correct. 

Q. Now, on the East Coast after Philadelphia is 

closed you would only have one naval dry dock available, 

correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. That's t h e  o n e  at N o r f o l k ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A .  But we will have two available if we need 

them, which probably will provide us almost as easy 

access as if we had the same situation on the West 

Coast. 

Q. Is it your testimony that there were two large 
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carrier dry docks available at Newport News? 

A. I said there are two large carrier dry docks 

available on the East Coast with Newport News and the 

Norfolk Naval Shipyard. I understand your point. 

Q. On the West Coast you have two naval 

shipyards, each of which has one large carrier dry 

dock. 

A. That's correct. 

Q. You don't have to contract with them? 

A. No. 

Q. Therefore, unless you have scheduled something 

in there, they will be available? 

A. Correct. 

Q. On the East Coast, after Philadelphia is 

closed, you will only have one naval shipyard with one 

large carrier dry dock, with that as the case? 

A.  That's correct. 

Q. Because Newport News is a private shipyard? 

A.  Yes. 

Q. And if there is emergent carrier work, it may 

not be available? 

A.  If there is emergent carrier work, Norfolk 
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Naval Shipyard may not be available. Puget Sound may 

not be available. Long Beach may not be available. 

That's a risk. 

Q. Sure. But you have more control over the 

naval shipyards than you do over a private shipyard? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. All right. Would you look again please at 

Claman 1, the document you have in front of you, 

particularly the page Bates numbered 593. It is the 

second page of the document. 

There at two-thirds of the.way down the page 

is a statement "Naval shipyards have three critical 

missions." Do you see that? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. The first listed by Admiral Claman is 

refueling nuclear submarines and nuclear cruisers. The 

second is overhauling, repairing or inactivating nuclear 

submarines and nuclear cruisers. And the third is 

overhauling and repairing large complex surface 

combatants, including nuclear and conventional aircraft 

carriers, cruisers, destroyers and amphibious ships. 

These missions are beyond the capability or the capacity 
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1 of the private sector. 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you agree with that statement? 

A. No, I don't agree with that. The private 

sector is perfectly capable of repairing and overhauling 

large complex combatants, cruisers, destroyers, 

amphibious ships, conventional carriers and nuclear 

carriers. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the private sector is 

much more expensive than the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard? 

A. No. 

Q. That's not true? 

A. In what piece of work, sir? 

Q. In overhauling and repairing large complex 

surface combatants, including conventional aircraft 

carriers, cruisers, destroyers and amphibious ships. 

A.  I don't think Philadelphia Naval Shipyard has 

competed directly with the private sector for an 

overhaul or repair of a large amphibious or carrier. 

Our other experience in the public and private shipyards 
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are that the competitions have gone both ways. 

Q. Doesn't the Navy maintain information which 

describes the differences in cost at the various naval 

shipyards and at the private shipyards? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as MacKinnon 19. This is a document that was prepared 

by NAVSEA. Would you look, please, at the last page of 

the document, MacKinnon 19. 

This has fiscal year 1990 rates for ship work 

on it and you note that the Philadelphia rate is 

$334.80. And Electric Boat, which is a private 

shipyard, correct, sir? 

A. Right. 

Q. Is $505.11. And Newport News, which is also a 

private shipyard, correct? 

A.  Yes. 

Q. That is $456.37, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Doesn't that demonstrate to you that 

Philadelphia was much less expensive than Electric Boat 

or Newport News? 
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A. It demonstrates to me that Philadelphia does 

an entirely different kind of work than Newport News or 

Electric Boat. And different skill rates, different 

skill mixes doing different jobs dictate a different 

mandate rate. Nuclear work is much more expensive than 

conventional work. 

Q. Well, we are talking about conventional work. 

A. You are not talking about that. You are 

talking about conventional work for Philadelphia. You 

.are not talking about it for Electric Boat and Newport 

News. 

Q. Don't they do conventional work? 

A. Electric Boat builds submarines, 688 SSN 

submarines, very complex nuclear work. Newport News is 

nuclear carriers and nuclear submarines. You can't 

compare them and the mandate rates with Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard. If you want to compare them, compare 

the right things. Compare hull rates for the same job. 

You don't have that here. 

Q. How do you know what you have here? 

A. I know what the mandate rates are. 

Q. These are the mandate rates? 
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A. These are mandate rates. 

Q. A11 right. So you don't agree with Admiral 

Claman that, just so it is clear, with what he said at 

page 593 that I read into the record? I am not going to 

read it in again. 

A. No, I just don't agree with that. 

Q. All right. Now, just so the record is clear 

again, looking at Yellin 1, which is the rating work 

sheet, was there any other basis for the exclusion of 

Long Beach from consideration for closure, other than 

the one that you have previously described in your 

testimony? 

A. No. 

Q. All right. I show you a document previously 

marked as NemFakos 7. 

A. Right. 

Q. The cover page to NemFakos 7 is a letter dated 

May 24, 1991 from you to Chairman Courter, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Is that your signature? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. And let me state for the record, the 
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criteria which precedes this section. I am also talking 

about the shipyard section, Roman numeral I11 that is 

from pages 111-1 through 111-6. 

A. Yes. 
I 

Q. Isn't it a fact that Mr. NemFakos, who was 

also a member of the BSC, wanted to close Long Beach? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. It calls for 

speculation on what Mr. Nemfakos may or may not have 

known. 

THE WITNESS: I don't know whether it was a 

fact that he wanted to close Long Beach. Did we look at 

Long Beach for closure? Yes. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Didn't Mr. NemFakos state at meetings which 

you attended that he wanted Long Beach closed? 

A. All of the shipyards were looked at for 

closure, all eight of them. Every single one of them 

was discussed. Every single one of them, the work load 

was looked at. 

When it was determined that six nuclear yards 

had enough work load in them during the period of time 

involved in this Commission's responsibility and that we 
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couldn't close those, those were Step 5 and the work 

load doesn't allow us, there is no excess, excess is not 

there to close those yards. That left two yards. That 

left Long Beach and Philadelphia. 

Discussions were had on both of those yards 

and discussions of closing both of those yards were 

done, closing all of it, not just pieces of each yard. 

And during those discussions and during the hearings , 

that were held, the fact that Long Beach had a carrier 

size dry dock that could be used for emergent work 

precluded us closing Long Beach and, therefore, it 

became a Step 5 function and was kept open, which then 

allowed us to discuss Philadelphia, but all shipyards 

were looked at for closure. 

Q. Well, with all due respect, when you say all 

shipyards were looked at for closure, you are referring 

to work load requirements? 

A. You are referring to work load requirements as 

the kicker on the six shipyards which didn't allow you 

to close nuclear shipyards but they were still looked 

at, still discussed. 

We discussed Portsmouth, New Hampshire for 

.. 
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closure and when you could close it. And it was 

determined in this period of time it couldn't be 

closed. 

We looked at Philadelphia, we looked at 

Charleston for closure. We looked at Portsmouth Naval 

Shipyard which we call Norfolk Naval Shipyard but it 

happens to be in Portsmouth. 

We looked at Mare Island and all the work we 

were doing, pie shapes, Puget Sound and who was doing 

carriers there and what we were going to, what the work 

load was going to be there for nuc's. We looked at 

Pearl Harbor and w e  would have excluded Pearl Harbor on 

the Step 5 even if it didn't have excess capacity 

because of its geographic location and we looked at Long 

Beach. So -- 
Q. Let me show you Yellin 1 again. You agree 

with me the BSC rated Portsmouth and Philadelphia 

exactly the same in the four military criteria? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And, indeed, Philadelphia was rated exactly 

the same as Charleston in the four military criteria? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. And it was rated better than Long Beach in the 

four military criteria, correct? 

A. That's right. It got three yellows and one 

green. 

Q. And Philadelphia, Portsmouth and Charleston 

had two yellows and two greens, correct? 

A.  Yes. 

Q. Green was higher than yellow? 

A. Right. 

Q. NOW -- 
A. Yellow has a very large spectrum to it. It is 

very light yellow and deep yellow and light green and 

deep green. There are all colors to it when you.are 

going with this many criteria. 

Q. When you gave it the overall rating, you gave 

Charleston, Long Beach, Philadelphia and Portsmouth 

yellow ratings, despite this breadth of tints and 

shades. 

A. Absolutely. Some of them are dark and light 

but they are in there. 

Q. So it wasn't based on the four military 

criteria? 
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A. It was based on the Step 5 that you have a 

carrier capable dry dock on the West Coast that would 

give you two on the West Coast that we needed to keep 

and that precluded Long Beach from being closed. 

Q. And you agree with me that Philadelphia has 

two large carrier dry docks? 

A. Absolutely. And I also agree that makes three 

on the East Coast and the charter of this group was to 

balance force structure with infrastructure. It was not 

to keep infrastructure, take infrastructure out. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

NemFakos 6. Just for the record, these are Mrs. 

MacKinnonrs notes of a BSC meeting on February 14, 

1991. They are not minutes. They are just certain 

notes she took. 

And I will read what she says here on the 

first page. 

A. Right. 

Q. "NemFakos says Long Beach should be No. 7 and 

if we close two, it must be Philadelphia and Long 

Beach. 04 said if you had to close two, would it be 

Long Beach because its non-nuclear? Claman said yes. 
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NemFakos really wants to close Long Beach! Very 

obviousw, which is underlined. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection? 

A. Sure. 

Q. That in the mid-February 1991 meeting of the 

Base Structure Committee, Mr. NemFakos said he thought 

Long Beach should be closed? 

A.  Mr. NemFakos thought maybe half of them should 

be closed. So did I. We were trying to balance force 

structure. And I think it is very obvious that if we 

had excess dry dock days in the nuclear yards during the 

period of time we were looking at, we would have been 

looking for a nuclear yard to close. So this is a very 

obvious thing to say. 

Are we talking about Long Beach and 

Philadelphia? Those are the only two shipyards that 

were not doing nuclear work during the period of time. 

They were the only two available to look at for 

closure. 

Q. I thought we established in NemFakos 10, page 

332 Bates numbered, that there was excess capacity? 
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A.  For a short period of time during the middle 

of that period. 

Q. In nuclear shipyards in '95, '96 and '97? 

A. Yes, we did. Surely you wouldn't suggest we 

close the yard for that two-year period of time, 

Q. I wouldn't? 

A. No. 

Q. I would suggest -- 
A. Those are not all in one yard. 

Q. I understand that. 

A.  So the fact that you have excess dry dock days 

spread across six shipyards doesn't necessarily mean you 

can afford to close any of the six shipyards. 

Q. I agree with that. Did you have charts which 

showed the work load at each of the six shipyards? 

A. Of course. 

Q. For that period of time? 

A. NAVSEA who would make this presentation if 

they could would level those yards as best they could in 

order to keep the steady, stable work force. 

Q. But you sitting here today don't recall how 

this excess capacity was allocated over the six nuclear 
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capable shipyards? 

A. No, because it will change too. I mean, you 

can get the point. I am sure NAVSEA must have given you 

flow charts which show what the nuclear work is. 

Q. All right. 

MR. BATTEN: Could we take a short break? 

(Recess) 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You referred to a January 28, 1991 meeting 

among'~dmira1 Kelso, yourself and Admiral Smith and 

Johnson. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was there another meeting that at least you 

and Admiral Kelso participated in at the end of February 

of 1991? 

A. Not that I remember. 

Q. Well, let me ask it this way. After the 

discussion which you said was really made or the 

presentation that was made by Admiral Smith to Admiral 

Kelso on January 28, 1991, at which the recommendations 

for base closures of the Three Star Advisory Committee 

were presented to Admiral Kelso, were there any other 
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Q. Did you ever discuss with Admiral Kelso 

.between January 28, 1991 and March 29, 1991 the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A. I don't believe so. I don't think so. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that Admiral Lang took the 

position before the Navy.Base Structure Committee that 

the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard would have to be closed 

as a result of the elimination of the CV SLEP on the 

Constellation? 

A. One of the reasons that Philadelphia was, in 

fact, a candidate for closure during the Base Structure 

Committee hearings was that the work load was going 

away. Part of that work load were the SLEPS. 

Q. Wasn't it the position of Admiral Lang at 

those meetings or hearings of the Base Structure 

Committee that the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard should be 

closed? 

A. Yes, but I am not sure Admiral Lang was -- I 
am not sure that he provided a briefing at the Base 

Structure Committee. 

Q. Was it Admiral Drennon? 

A. No, it wasn't Drennon. Drennon doesn't know 
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anything about those. 

Q. W a s i t y o u ?  

A. He may have been part of the conversation, 

Admiral Lang may have been part of the conversations but 

most of those hearings were hearings given by Claman and 

Hekman and the NAVSEA group. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that -- 
A. But, you know, when there are six or ten 

people in the room and a briefing is given by one, by 

Claman, were there comments by the other people in the . 
room, clearly, yes, that's why they were there. 

Q.. Was the position articulated by Admiral Lang 

at the hearings in front of the Base Structure Committee 

or the meetings, whatever you want to call them, that 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard should be closed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you concurred in that? 

A. Yes, as did all of the other members of the 

committee. 

Q. Did Admiral Drennon ever present to the Base 

Structure Committee the position of Admiral Kelso on 

base closures? 
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A. No. Admiral Kelso never took a position. 

Admiral Kelso listened to a brief given by Admiral Smith 

and made it very clear that he was not going to make 

decisions. 

Q. Well, I understand that. My question was did 

Admiral Drennon ever make a presentation to the Base 

Structure Committee in which he presented to the Base 

Structure Committee Admiral Kelso's position on base 

closures? 

A. No. 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Did Admiral Lang ever make a presentation to 

the Base Structure Committee in which he presented to 

the Base Structure Committee Admiral Kelso's position on 

base closures? 

A. No. 
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1 P R O C . E D I N G S  

2 Whereupon, 

3 MS. MARY OLGA MaCKINNON, 

4 doing business at The Pentagon, Room 4B521, OP-431, 

5 Washington, D.C. (703) 695-1338, was called as a witness 

6 by counsel for Plaintiffs and having been duly sworn by 

7 the Notary Public was examined and testified as follows: 

8 EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS 

9 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

10 Q. Good morning. 

would you state your full name, please? 

12 A. Mary Olga MacKinnon. 

13 Q. Would you please state, briefly, your 

14 educational background? 

15 A. I have - -  I started with the Navy out of high 
16 school. I have 21 years with the Navy, the last 5 or 6 

17 years associated with the naval shipyards. 

18 Q. Would you just briefly specify your positions 

19 and tenure in the last 5 or 6 years with the Navy? 

20 A. I was in NAVSEAprior to coming to the CNO's 

21 office at the Pentagon. I worked in the Shipyard 

22 Operation's Directorate there. And I came over to OPNAV 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202)289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



8 

1 in 1989, when they split up the OP-43 organization. We 

2 are the policy directcrate for the naval shipyards and the 

3 ship maintenance and modernization. 

4 Q. In what year did you leave NAVSEA and migrate, 

5 or come to the CNOfs staff? 

6 A. 1989. 

7 Q. 1989? 

8 A. Yes, sir. 

9 Q. And what do you mean by the CNO staff? 

10 A. It's in the office of the Chief of Naval 

11 Operations. 

12 Q. And that is Admiral Kelso, today? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. Was Admiral Kelso the CNO when you arrived at 

15 the CNO staff? 

16 A. I believe so. 

17 Q. Now, I believe you said you had 5 or 6 years 

18 recent tenure with involved with the naval shipyards, is 

19 that correct? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Would you indicate what you did in connection 

22 with the naval shipyards prior to joining the CNOfs staff? 
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A. At NAVSEA they had an organization that was set 

with shipyard analysto, that would turn shipyard 

analysts which worked with the shipyards, and kept track 

of the ship availabilities; kept track of the scheduling, 

of the ships that were going in and out; any issues that 

involved the naval shipyards there was an analyst there to 

coordinate that through Washington, that worked with the 

rest of NAVSEA; any issues that NAVSEA, any programs, 

things like that, that NAVSEA was putting into the 

shipyards came through that shipyard group. 

Q. Were you considered a shipyard analyst? 

A. Yes, I was. 

Q. Was that your title? 

A. Yes - -  well, I was a program analyst, 
officially. The civil service title was program analyst. 

Q. And for how long were you a program analyst at 

NAVSEA? 

A. 3 years. 

Q. 1986 to 19893 

Q. Who did you report to at N A V S E A ' W ~ ~ ~  you were a 

program analyst? 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



A. Bill Ryzewic. 

Q. How do you spell his last name? 

A. R-y-z-e-w-i-c. 

Q. Now when you joined the CNO staff, did your 

title change?. 

A. Yes, I became a supervisory logistics management 

specialist. 

Q. Is that the title you hold today? 

A. Yes. 

Q. To whom do you report today? 

A. Directly to Captain Williams. 

Q. And to whom did you report when you joined the 

CNO staff in 1989? 

A. Same, Captain Williams. 

Q. And is Captain Williams in the OP-43 group? 

A. Yes, he is OP-43-1. 

Q. And what is your OP designation? 

A. OP-43-1X. 

Q. Did the OP-43 group exist at the time you joined 

the CNO staff in 19893 

A. Yes, it did. 

Q. To whom did Captain Williams report in 1989, 
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correctly? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What did you mean by that? 

A. That is the list that the Secretary of Defense 

came out with in January that you referred to earlier as 

the SECDEF 17. 

Q. And why did you say when the legislation is 

signed by the President the previous SECDEF list is 

officially voided? 

A. Because that was not a closure list. As I said, 

that was recommendations for potential candidates. And we 

started the process over again look again, the 

infrastructure in accordance with that Act. 

Q. Are you saying to me that as of October 31, 1990 

when you sent this E-mail message, MacKinnon No. 1 to 

~dmiral Lang, that the slate was wiped clean and the 

working group, and the Three-Star advisory committee were 

starting fresh? Is that your testimony? 

A. When the legislation was signed by the 

President - -  as this memo says - -  then the SECDEF list was 
voided. There would be no candidates, no closure list. 

And we would start over, yes. You said October 31, and it 
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1 wasn~tnecessarilyas ofthat date. Itwas whenthe 

2 legislation was signed. 

3 Q. Do you know when the legislation was signed? 

4 A. No, I don't. 

5 Q. Is it your testimony, though, that when the 

6 legislation was signed, the activities of the working 
... , 

7 group - -  of which you were not an official member but you 
8 were reporting to Captain Williams and the Three-Star 

9 advisory committee - -  wiped the slate clean, and started 
10 completely fresh in reviewing all closure and realignment 

11 candidates? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Well, as of October 31, 1990, had either the 

14 working group or the Three-Star advisory committee reached 

15 any conclusion as to whether or not the Philadelphia Naval 

16 Shipyard ought to be closed or realigned? 

17 A. During the efforts of the Three-Star advisory 

18 committee, yes, they had made their own conclusions by 

19 that time. I believe it was by that time, yes. 

20 Q. By October 31, 1990? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. So it is your recollection that by October 31, 
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1 THE WITNESS: Yes. 

2 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

3 Q. There was such a discussion? 

A. I believe there was discussion from OP-44, or 

that staff, that said that the working group would no 

longer exist and we would start over. The group for the 

VCNO study would no longer exist, and we would begin anew. 

Q. Well, when did that happen? 

A. I ' m  not sure of the date. That was toward the 

end of 1990, but I'm not sure of the dates. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that the Three-Star 

advisory committee did not cease its activities until 

after it had made its recommendations to the Secretary of 

the Navy with respect to base closures? 

A. And prior to the new Act, yes. 

Q. Well, when you say prior to the new act, you 

mean prior to the effective date of the new Act? 

A. Prior to knowledge of the Act, I believe yes. 

Q. Prior to knowledge of the Act? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Well, the Act was known to the Three-Star 

advisory committee, at least as early as October 31, 1990, 
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its - -  there were two or three different things. And I 

was not involved in providing that. That came from 

NAVSEA. And it was a requirement from - -  I believe it was 
part of the environmental issues, where I'm not sure what 

that actually - -  what that documentation included. 
Q. All right, item no. 3. You write - -  or you 

wrote - -  nReconciliation of naval shipyard ranking is 
being prepared. This will show that Philadelphia was 

selected for closure over two lower-ranking shipyards 

because of the-NAVSEA position that all six nuclear- 

capable shipyards are necessary to meet the nucleare 

workload in the late 1990'~.~ Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right, now what did you mean by that? 

A. We had done a military value ranking and I 

had - -  that had different criteria. There were several 

different types of criteria and it described the military 

value of the eight shipyards. 

I had gone over that, and what I was writing up 

details, if you will, on how each yard was ranked, 

according to that list of criteria. That was the 

reconciliation that was being prepared. 
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Q. Well, when you did your military value ranking 

initially, you found that Philadelphia came in sixth, out 

of the eight shipyards, correct? 

A. I can't say that that was initially. The 

military ranking was done as part of the in-depth - -  as 
part of, I believe, both of those groups, the VCNO group, 

and the base closure group on which I was a member. 

Q. No, I'm talking about 1990. 

A. Yes. 

Q. October 1990, this memorandum that you wrote in 

October 1990, before the working group for 1991, right? 

A. Right. And at that point, obviously here, it 

was at that point when yes, Philadelphia was rated sixth 

out of eight. 

Q. And the two shipyards which were ranked below 

Philadelphia were Mare Island and Portsmouth, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Which of those two was seventh and which of 

those two was eighth? 

A. I don't recall now. 

Q. What were the criteria that were evaluated that 

led Philadelphia to come in sixth, and Mare Island and 
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1 Portsmouth to come in seventh and eighth? 

2 A. There were a number of issues that we looked at, 

3 the most important being the military suitability of the 

4 facilities, which included things like deployment, meeting 

5 the operational requirements. We looked at everything 

6 from housing to quality of life issues. We looked at 

7 whether or not work force was available in the area. We 

8 looked at the quality of the facilities and how that met 

9 their missions, how each one of those met the missions. 

1 0  We looked at the availability of facilities, the - -  I 
11 believe the highest weighted criteria was on the mission 

12 suitability, which included drydocks. 

13 Q .  So this was a weighted evaluation of the 

14 criteria you just described. 

15 A. Yes. 

I 6  Q.  And the greatest weight was given to military 

17 suitability? 

18 A. I believe that's right. 

19 Q.  Who established these criteria? 

20  A. They had been established as part of previous 

21 base closure issues, 1988.  

22 Q.  All right, so that the criteria - -  or criteria 
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Q. Well, I know, but you say a reconciliation is 

being prepared? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And what I'm asking you, is what was this 

reconciliation that you prepared to justify in your mind, 

jumping Philadelphia over Mare Island and Portsmouth for 

Closure? 

A. You're asking me what the document, itself, was, 

correct? 

Q. Yes. 

A. And I just told you I do not recall which 

document that referred to. 

Q. Do you recall what analysis you applied to the 

weighting system, if any, to support this reconciliation 

and justify closing .Philadelphia instead of the two lower- 

ranking shipyards, Mare Island and Portsmouth? 

A. The reason for skipping those two shipyards was 

because they are nuclear-capable shipyards to accomplish 

the workload in the late 1990's. 

Q. I understand that. 

A. Yes. 

Q. But you had just done a ranking. 
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A. Yes. 

Q. That had nunbers attached to it, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it was based on the criteria that you just 

described, and with certain.weights given to certain 

categories, because some categories were more important 

than other categories. 

A. Yes. 

Q. With military suitability being the most 

important. 

A. Yes. 

Q. So you had a list of eight shipyards. 

Philadelphia had a number based on that number for sixth, 

and Mare Island and Portsmouth had a lower number for 

seventh and eighth. 

A. Right. 

Q. My question is, what did you do to your 

numerical rankings so that Mare Island and Portsmouth 

would no longer be seventh and eighth, and Philadelphia 

would be a candidate for closure? 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: We did nothing to those rankings. 
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They were still number seven and eight. The military 

matrix that we did, that looket at the military value of 

those organizations, did not look at that for numerical, 

and was not weighted, did not look at the workload that 

would be going into each shipyard. It looked at the 

facilities themselves. It did not value the workload. 

That was another part of the analysis. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Could we take a 5-minute break? 

(Brief recess. ) 

MR. PITPINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

as MacKinnon No. 3 for identification, a telecopier cover 

sheet from OPNAV and attached thereto, a Mary MacKinnon 

memorandum entitled Reconciliation of Working Group 

Recommendations. 

(The document referred to was 

marked MacKinnon Exhibit No. 

3 for identification.) 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Have you had a chance to review MacKinnon No. 3? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And is the attachment to the telecopier sheet a 

document which you prepared? 
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through the year 2000 that simply list - -  and I see Mrs. 
MacKinnon sort of nodding affirmatively as I say these 

things - -  but that simply list the ships that are expected 
to be worked on in the nuclear-capable shipyards through 

the year 200, then I would like that information. I don't 

think thatts particularly burdensome. Isntt that pretty 

easy to give me, Mrs. MacKinnon? 

THE WI m S S :  Yes, and it was already provided 

as part of the documentation. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. But you do have that at your fingertips, 

basically, right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. NOW, in the course of your reconciliation that 

you did that's MacKinnon No. 3; did you consider whether 

it would be possible to eliminate a nuclear-capable 

shipyard and assign the nuclear ship-work in that 

particular nuclear-capable shipyard to another nuclear- 

capable shipyard and take the non-nuclear ship-work from 

the nuclear shipyard to which this new work was going to 

be assigned and ship that to a non-nuclear capable 

shipyard? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. All right, well how did you consider that? 

A. From those workload projections that I just 

talked about. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Thatf.s all the more reason, Mr. 

Batten, why I would like them. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. And what did that workload projection show in 

that regard? 

A. They showed a significant amount of refueling of 

nuclear ships in the out years, that could not be 

accomplished with less than six nuclear shipyards. 

Q. Well, explain to me - -  well, is it your 
testimony that in these six nuclear-capable shipyards, 

that from 1998 to the year 2000 that all the work that is 

going to be performed in those nuclear-capable shipyards 

will be on nuclear ships? 

A. No. 

Q. Then, why would it not be possible to shift from 

a sixth nuclear shipyard, nuclear shipyard work to the 

other five nuclear-cagable shipyards where they are 

performing non-nuclear work? 
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A. NAVSEA-08 has particular places that they want 

their work to go, as far as I know. I don't - -  as far as 
the nuclear ships and where they are to be assigned, and 

the work that has to be done to them, I don't determine 

that. I get that infoxmation from NAVSEA. And NAVSEA-08 

made the determination on the nuclear shipyards, and the 

requirement. 

Q. So you - -  if I understand your testimony, you 
did not think it was your job to second-guess NAVSEA-08. 

A. That's right. 

Q. Where is the Mare Island shipyard located? 

A. Vallejo, California. 

Q. And is that in northern, central, or southern 

California? 

A. It's northern, south of San Francisco. 

Q. Are there two other nuclear shipyards on the 

west coast? 

A. On the west coast there is Mare Island, Peugeot, 

and Pearl Harbor - -  if you want to consider that west 
coast . 

Q. And which of the three nuclear-capable shipyards 

on the east coast? 
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1 A. Portsmouth, Norfolk, and Charleston. We also 

2 have private shipyards on the east coast, in Newport News 

3 ..,-and Electric Boat, EB that can do work on nuclear ships. 

4 Q. Electric Boat is part of General Dynamics? 

5 A. I'm not sure. 

6 Q. Do you have any private shipyards on the west 

7 coast that can do nuclear work? 

8 %  A. No. 

9 Q. Well, since - -  again, looking at your 
10 reconciliation - -  since Portsmouth came in seventh, blow .. 
11 Philadelphia, did anyone give any consideration - -  to your 
12 knowledge - -  to closing Portsmouth and giving its nuclear 
13 shipyard work to Electric Boat and Newport News? 

14 A. NAVSEA. 

16 . . A. I would - -  I do not know. 
1 7  Q. But one of them? 

18 A. One or, both. 

19 Q.  They did give consideration to that? 

20 A. I would.be speculating if I said that. 

Q. I only want you to tell me what you know. If 

22 you don't know whether they did or they didn't, then you 
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should say so. 

A. I do not know. 

Q. So did anyone on the Base Closure working group 

in 1990 give consideration to closing Portsmouth and 

assigning its nuclear work to Electric Boat or Newport 

News? 

A. There was not - -  if you would have stopped at 
closing Portsmouth, I would have said yes. When we looked 

at all of the shipyards and their capabilities and the 

workload, and the people on the working group, and other 

people involved looked at the out-year projections for 

workload. 

Q. Yes. 

A. So the work that could have been moved around, 

as you say, yes, that was looked at - -  whether or not it 
could fit into another shipyard. But the type of work, 

and the specific hulls and ships that are assigned into a 

nuclear yard are not a 431 determination. 

Q. Well, did Electric Boat and Newport News have 

facilities to do nuclear submarine re-fueling, or nuclear 

carrier re-fuelings? 

A. I don't know. 
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Q. Is it fair to say, Mrs. MacKinnon, looking at 

your reconciliation, M.icKinnon No. 3, that the basis in 

this reconciliation, MacKi~on No. 3, for leaping 

Portsmouth and Mare Island over Philadelphia, and choosing 

Philadelphia for closure was simply the fact that the 

projected workload in fiscal year 1998 through 2000 

required six nuclear naval shipyards? 

MR. BATTEN: The document speaks for itself, but 

she can answer. 

THE WITNESS: No, that was the reason for the 

retention, at this point in time, of six nuclear 

shipyards. However, the closure of Philadelphia. decision 

was based on much more than that. That was based on the 

elimination of the SLEP with the down-sizing of the force 

structure . 
BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Well - -  
A. .The workload - - 
Q. Do you see where, this page, on the bottom of 

the page, I'm talking about the third page of the 
- 

document, with the Bates number 490, the very last 

paragraph refers to Long Beach. Do you see that? 
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Q. Does that apply to Philadelphia? 

A. Activation capability, yes. 

Q. The next is co-located major combatant 

drydocking, repair, and battle damage capability. Do you 

see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does that apply to Philadelphia? 

A. No. 

Q. No? 

A. The co-located, I think applied to a home port 

issue. 

Q. What do you mean by a home issue? 

A. The ships are located near - -  the major part of 
the fleet is located in a southern California area. And 

we were talking - -  I believe that that bullet meant that 
it was co-located with the home port of major fleet 

concentrations. 
-- - 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that when the working 

group, in 1991 addressed that issue, it was determined 

ultimately that home-porting was not of any consequence? 

That's not a fact? 
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A. No. 

Q. Do you know whether the Base Structure Committee 

in 1991 determined that home-porting was of no consequence 

in determining the importance of shipyards? 

A. NO, I do not know that to be a fact. 

Q. All right - -  I'm sorry, did you want to add 

something? 

A. Yeah, I'd like to add something. 

The bullets that you just spoke to are some of 

the areas that we looked at in all of the shipyards. And 

we were looking in this paper at only two. Those are 

minor types of capabilities that Long Beach provides, 

compared to the things that you skipped over in the 

beginning, which is the mission suitability, the 

15 availability of facilities, the types of drydocks - -  that 
16 was a key factor - -  
17 Q. That was a key factor? 

18 A. Absolutely - -  the quality of facilities, those 
19 things that we used that were, in our judgment, were 

justification for retention of that naval asset. Okay? 

21 They were - -  above that we talked about the SLEP going 
22 away, which was the primary workload at Philadelphia. And 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 200105 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



workload reductions being the reason that we were looking 

at the infrastructure in the first place. 

Q. Well, what is the status of the drydocks at 

Philadelphia? 

A. They're being preserved in this. 

Q. No, my question is misleading. What I mean is, 

what kind of drydocks does Philadelphia have? 

A. Philadelphia has two, large, carrier-capable 

drydocks . 
Q. What does Long Beach have? 

A. They have one, large, carrier-capable drydock. 

Q. Well, then - -  
A. There are other docks available on the east 

coast. The workload that was going away was east-coast 

workload, specifically Philadelphia workload. There is a 

16 difference in the east-coast/west-coast issue. If you 

17 were to close a yard on the west coast, for example, the 

18 workload was not going to go away from those yards. You 

19 would have had to move that workload into another 

20 shipyard. 

21 In the case of Philadelphia you didn't have to 

22 do that. the SLEPs were going away. 
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Q. In any event, you said availability of facility, 

the types of drydocks are a key factor in this dock. 

Didn't you say that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right, and in the case of Philadelphia, it 

has two, large, carrier-capable drydocks, and Long Beach 

only has one, right? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And Philadelphia is known for its expertise in 

handling amphibious and Aegis ships, right? 

MR. BATTEN: Known where? You can answer the 

question. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You don't think Philadelphia is known for that? 

A. No, I do not. 

Q. Isee. 

Have you reviewed the performance of 

Philadelphia on amphibious and Aegis ships? 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. Do you know whether Philadelphia is more 

profitable than Long Beach? 
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MR. BATTEN: Objection --. the term profitable is 

vague. 

THE WITNESS: Well, exactly, I don't know what 

you mean by profitable. We have no one, major way of 

looking at the Fiscal efficiencies of shipyards. There 

are many factors. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Well, have you ever heard of AOR? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And what is AOR? 

A. It is the Accumulated Operating Result. 

Q. And the Navy maintains information on the AOR 

for each of the eight naval shipyards, correct? 

A. ' Yes. 

Q. And doesn't the AOR show that for fiscal year. 

1989 and fiscal year 1990,  and for the first 9 months of 

1 9 9 1  that Philadelphia had the best results, based on AOR 

in comparison to the other seven naval shipyards? 

A. I don't know, and I don't know what goes into 

the determination of the AOR. 

Q. You don't know the answer to that question. 

A. That's right. 
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that time. This was 90. 

Q. Yes, this was October 30, 1990. 

A. Right. 

Q. It's already called Tab C. 

. A. Right. 

Q. So the same, essential information that was 

being used by the advisory committee for its Tab C was 

later used by the Base Structure Committee for its Tab C. 

MR. BATTEN: Objection, that's not what she 

said. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Well, then tell me where I'm 

wrong. 

THE WITNESS: No, I don't know that. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Well, tell me what was the Tab C that is 

referenced in MacKinnon No. 4? 

A. I believe Tab C was their report that had to do 

with the shipyards. There were many other bases, as I 

said. 

Q. The Three-Star advisory committee report? 

A. I don't - -  no, the OP-44 documentation. 
Q. All right, but you see, if you look at the 
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CV-64 SLEPn, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So not only was it being recommended for closure 

as of October 31, 1990, it was also subject to an 

implementation plan and timeline to be closed after 

completion of CV-64 SLEP, correct? 

You'll notice the date that pending 

Congressional decisions. Those decisions had not been 

made. We had to, at some point, develop an implementation 

plan for whatever bases were on the closure list. 

Q. Right, and the completion of the CV-64 SLEP was 

the reference to the U.S.S. Constellation, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So as of October 31, 1990, you had submitted to 

Admiral Lang, Captain Williams and others, a list of base 

closure action items which included writing a 

justification for passing up the lower-ranked shipyards to 
- - -- 
select Philadelphia for closure, that included determining 

which list the Philadelphia closure should appear on, and 

which included developing an implementation plan, and 

timeline, to close the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard after 

completion of the 64-SLEP. Correct? 
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1 A. Yes, and this document combines the efforts that 

2 were being - -  the actions that were'necessary as a result 
3 of the VCNO study, and the up-coming study of the - -  under 
4 the Act, which cancelled everything prior to that. 

.5 Q. But it didnft. 

6 A. So it combines these things, just like this 

7 MacKinnon No. 1 does. 

8 Now when you talk about - -  in this particular 
9 paragraph or action item it says, "Determine which list 

10 the Philadelphia closure should appear, Fiscal Year 1991, 

11 1993, or 1995" list was just, on my part, a bad choice of 

12 words. There are three different commissions to look at 

13 base closure - -  1991, 1993, and 1995. What that meant was 

14 when is the best time to look at Philadelphia for closure. 

15 Determine that. 

16 So I was determining at that point - -  we still 
17 had not determined that under the new Act - -  
18 Q. Mrs. MacKinnon, isn't it a fact that if it was 

19 going to be closed, after the completion of the CV-64 

20 SLEP, it would have to be on the Fiscal Year 1991 list? 

21 A. Under the VCNO study, that was the 

22 recommendation. 
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1 Q. Close it in Fiscal Year - -  to start the closure 
2 in Fiscal Year 1991, correct? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. To be on the 1991 list. 

5 A. See there was no 1991 list. Youlre confusing 

6 the 1991 list, the 1993 list, the 1995 - -  with the VCNO. 
And those are separate issues. There was no 1991 list 

with the VCNO. That was just the VCNO list. It was a 

recommendation to SECNAV. 

Q. Yes, and what was the recommendation of the 

Three-Star advisory committee for closure of the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard in terms of the timing of it? 

A. To close the shipyard after the workload went 

away. 

Q. After the workload on the (37-64 SLEP, correct? 

A. The rest of the workload was not yet determined. 

17 The plan was - -  at that point, the plan was to 
18 close - -  would be the most opportune time, appropriate 
19 time to close would be after the CV-64 SLEP, yes. But 

20 that implementation plan that this speaks to is something 

21 that had to be done at some point. And again, that says 

22 pending congressional decisions. We were not going to do 
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1 Q. By November 20, 1990, correct? 

2 A. That is the date I obviously was shooting for. 

3 Q. So it wasn't just for you. 

4 A. But it was not a requirement of the Admirals' or 

5 anyone else's. 

6 Q. I didn't say it was a requirement. It was your 

7 intent - -  it was your intent. 
8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. To provide to Captain Williams and Admiral Lang 

10 ' by November 20, 1990 a review of OP-44's revised ranking 

11 criteria for base closures and comparison of shipyards 

12 using the new criteria, correct? 

13 A. Yes 

14 Q. Very good. 

15 Now, as of November 16, 1990 when this document 

16 was prepared, there was in existence the Three-Star 

17 Advisory Committee, correct? 

18 A. I don't know if whether they had folded at that 

19 point or not. 

20 Q. All right, well I'll refresh your recollection 

21 after lunch on that subject. 

22 A. Okay. 
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Q. Isn't it a fact that the base - -  that the 1991 
Base Struc~ure Committee, which ultimately made the 

recommendations in 1991 for closure and realignment of 

naval bases was not yet in existence as of November 16, 

A. We knew that there was legislation. And I said 

before, I'm not sure exactly when that legislation was 

signed. And we knew that there was going to be - -  at this 
point we're talking about new criteria - -  that was going 
to be used during that review. So I'm not sure what you 

mean by being in existence, whether the Act had been 

signed or not? 

Q. I'm saying that - -  you became part of the base 
closure working group in 1991 for the 1991 Base Structure 

Committee, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That 1991 Base Structure Committee, itself, was 

not in existence as of November 16, 1990, correct? 

A. You're talking about two over-lapping studies. 

And I am not certain about the dates when they over- 

lapped, and when we actually started, as my participation 

on one group, and the winding-down of another group. 
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1 A. Thatls what it looks like, yes. 

2 Q. Isn't that what it says on the first page? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Now, on the second page of MacKinnon No. 8, you 

5 have six numbered paragraphs, correct? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. And the very first one you state, the Phase 1 

8 data previously submitted to OP-44 is to be revalidated. 

9 I have reviewed and see no necessary changes. Will pass 

10 to 431 and 43 today. Do you see that? 

11 A. Yes. 

12 Q. What was the Phase 1 data? 

13 A. That was the activity overview that had spoke to 

14 the land summary, things like that. And it also described 

15 the military rankings we had done and what we had looked 

16 at that time for the military values. 

17 Q. And that, so far as the shipyards were 

18 concerned, that ranking showed Philadelphia coming in 

19 sixth and Portsmouth and Mare Island coming in seventh and 

eighth. Correct? 

21 A. Yes. 

Q. And it was your conclusion that you saw no need 
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for any changes to that data. Correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now in paragraph 2 you stated, I am putting 

together a comparison of the Naval shipyards against the 

proposed base closure criteria to be used in this next go 

round. It is generic and it doesn't appear that it would 

result in any differences than the last time we "rankedtt 

the shipyards. I will pass to 43 and 431 when in final 

draft form. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So therefore, it was your opinion that utilizing 

the propose base closure criteria pursuant to the 1990 

Base Closure Act would not change the rankings of the 

14 shipyards. 

15 A. What I was doing was comparing the military 

16 rankings that we had done and the criteria we had used 

17 there  with the  new c r i t e r i a  that  w e  d i scussed  back here i n  

18 this other exhibit, No. 7. 

19 Q. No. 7? 

20 A. Yes. There is that attachment, the base closure 

21 and realignment criteria. 

22 Q. The Bates number page 47? 
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A. Yes. 

2 Q. That is entitled Base Closure and Realignment 

3 Criteria? 

4 A. Yes. What I was saying there is I was comparing 

5 the military rankings that we had done based upon the 

6 military criteria we'd used against this to see if they 

7 still fit. 

8 Q. Right. And based upon utilizing the base 

9 closure and realignment criteria which are on the page 

10 Bates number 47, in MacKinnon No. 7, you came to the 

11 conclusion that the numerical rankings of the eight 

12 shipyards would not change, correct? 

13 A. Yes. That was based upon the force structure 

14 that we knew at the time. 

15 Q. And so therefore, based upon your application of 

16 the base closure and realignment criteria on the page with 

17 Bates number 47 in MacKinnon No. 7, Philadelphia would 

18 still be sixth, and Mare Island and Portsmouth would still 

19 be seventh and eighth. Correct? 

20 A. I don't think I meant that. No, I don't know 

21 what the rankings would be. All I was saying was that the 

22 criteria fit the military criteria. There was not 
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anything new that we needed to look at, and the rankings 

that we had. I don't think I was speculating as to 

whether or not they might change their positions. 

Q. Mrs. MacKinnon, look at the second sentence, 

please of paragraph number 2 of the second page of 

MacKinnon No. 8, you state, it is generic and it doesn't 

appear that it would result in any differences then the 

last time we "rankedw the shipyards. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now didn't you mean by that sentence that the 

numerical rankings of the eight shipyards would not change 

if you applied the base closure and realignment criteria 

on page number 4 7  of MacKinnon No. 7? 

A. What I believe I meant by that was that the 

criteria that we had used for the military rankings would 

not change. 

Q. Well, the military rankings were given the 

greatest weight in your listings. 

A. There was a military value array that was used 

that I said included a number of different things. The 

military rankings according to this criteria, yes, gave - -  

the new criteria gave the greatest value to the military 
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1 rankings. What I was doing was just comparing the 

2 criteria that we had used to see if ,what we had done was 

3 still appropriate. And I thought at that time, as this 

4 says, that there would not be any differences. 

5 Q. Let's go back a step just so it's clear. Would 

6 you look at MacKinnon No. 3, please? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. And the second page, your reconciliation. 

9 A.  Yes. 

10 Q. And in that document you listed on the first 

11 page the numerical scores and the rankings of the eight 

12 shipyards, correct? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. And that showed that Philadelphia came in sixth 

15 with a score of 274, Portsmouth came in seventh with a 

16 score of 263, and Mare Island came in eighth with a score 

17 of 215. 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Those rankings and those scores, you testified 

20 this morning, were based on certain criteria which were 

21 evaluated and given weights. 

22 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. And the greatest weight was given to the 

2 military criteria. 

3 A. It was all military criteria. The greatest 

4 weight was given to the site specific and deployment 

5 issues. 

6 Q. So based upon the military criteria that led to 

the rankings that are set forth on the second page of 

8 MacKinnon No. 3, Philadelphia came in sixth, Portsmouth 

9 seventh, and Mare Island eighth. Correct? 

10 A. Yes. 

I1 Q. Now what you did is you took the base closure 

12 and realignment criteria on page 47, Bates 47 of MacKinnon 

13 No. 7, and you kept in mind that the first four items were 

14 to be given priority because they were the military items. 

15 And you looked at the same rankings that you had 

16 previously arrived at, correct? 

17 A .  N o .  What I looked at w a s  that criteria c o m p a r e d  

18 to the criteria - -  
19 Q. That criteria being the criteria on the fourth 

20 page, Bates 47 of MacKinnon No. 7? 

A. Right. I looked at that compared to the 

criteria that we had used to come up with this ranking. 
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Q. And you saw that there were sufficient 

2 similarfty between the criteria so that you came to the 

conclusion the military rankings, the numerical rankings 

4 on the second page of MacKinnon No. 3 would not change. 

Correct? 

6 A. No, sir. I came to the conclusion that the 

military criteria that we had used in our rankings would 

8 not change. I don't think I was speculating whether or 

9 not the placement of any shipyard would change. I thought 

10 that they matched, the criteria matched sufficiently. 

11 Q. Would you look again at paragraph 2, please? 

12 A. I see it. 

13 Q. I am putting together, you say, a comparison of 

14 the Naval shipyards against the proposed base closure 

criteria to be used in this next go round. is generic 

16 and it doesn't appear that it would result in any 

17 differences than the last time we "rankedn the shipyards. 

18 Now when you said ranked, weren't you referring to the 

19 rankings on the second page of MacKinnon No. 3? 

20 A. Yes, I was. 

21 Q. So you are saying in this sentence, the second 

22 sentence of paragraph 2 that if you look at the shipyards 
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1 and you compare them to the new proposed criteria for 

2 closure it is not going to result in any difference in the 

rankings. 

4 MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

5 THE WITNESS: I did not say that. In this memo 

I did not say that. What you're looking at, I'm saying 

7 here I am putting together a comparison. I had just 

started to put together that comparison. The only thing I 

9 had done at this point was look at the base closure 

10 criteria, the proposed base closure criteria, and compared 

11 it against the criteria we had used in the military value 

12 array. And I had determined in my own mind that there 

13 were insignificant differences. 

14 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

15 Q. And therefore, it would not result, as you said, 

16 in any differences from the last we ranked the shipyards. 

17 Correct? 

18 A. Any differences in the criteria, yes. 

19 Q. Now would you look at paragraph 4, the second 

20 page of MacKinnon No. 8, please? 

A. Yes. 

22 Q. You state, The stealth list will become the 1991 
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1 advisory committee? 

2 A. These are overlapping groups. We had the 

3 Three-Star Advisory group that the VCNO study, and we had 

4 the group that I was a working member of that was the next 

5 effort to go back and re-look and validate the data and do 

6 a new analysis to determine if those recommendations that 

7 we had made were still appropriate. 

8 Q. Well, to which body did the working group that 

9 you refer to on November 16, 1990 report? 

10 A. The working group didn't report to a body. We 

11 gathered data. The OP-44 was the consolidation point for 

12 that data. OP-43 made recommendations on the shipyards. 

13 I personally reported to Admiral Lang. And we made 

14 recommendations on the shipyards. 

15 Q. I will ask you the question again. To what 

16 body, what group, what entity did the working group 

17 referenced in paragraph 6 as of November 16, 1990 report? 

18 -X MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

19 THE WITNESS: We did not answer to a body. 

20 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

21 Q. Then tell me why it is that in the bottom of 

22 your E-mail message you have next working group meeting 20 
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1 listed and discussed, correct? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. You then say on page 1, Again, it is basically 

4 the same as the previous criteria except: 1. Items 1 to 4 

5 will be given priority consideration to military value 

6 during the selection process, and 2. there is no payback 

7 period to be considered. 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. Was that your understanding at the time? 

10 A. Yes. 

Q. Is that still your understanding today? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Now would you turn please to the page Bates 

14 numbered 498? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. There, after the ninth criterion is a tenth 

17 criterion entitled Miscellaneous, Unique Considerations. 

18 Do you see that? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. Am I correct, therefore, that this tenth 

21 criterion was not part of the new base closure criteria 

22 paragraphs 1 through 9? 
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somewhere. Those changed a number of times based on new 

estimates coming in from NAVSEA, and things like that, 

manpower implications. I think there's another one in the 

file dated March, and then one dated April with the same 

kind of title: Revalidation of the Naval Shipyards. It 

was constant refining of the information and the final, 

what you see here in December, may or may not be the same . 

one that was on the same ranking. 

The final ranking here was not the same as what 

you will see on the later editions of this document. For 

example, I know that the nuclear capability at some point 

later was downgraded to 25 points, and there were a number 

of issues that caused us to go back and relook this 

14 document and redo the information that is in here. 

15 Q. Well, I think you told me it was Admiral Lang 

16 who made the determination that nuclear capable shipyards 

17 should be treated in this unique manner. My question is 

18 who determined that a nuclear capable shipyard should be 

19 given 50 bonus points? 

20 A. The original 50 bonus points also came from 

21 Admiral Lang. But the number 50 is what you're asking? 

Q. Yes. 
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see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who was the 431 you are referring to? 

A. That was myself and the Captain, I guess. But 

it was certainly not done in a vacuum. It goes back to 

this revalidation, MacKinnon No. 15, where we discussed 

the nuclear rankings and all that. 

Q. So your testimony is that you simply put the 

numbers into the rankings that you were ordered to put 

into the rankings, by Admiral Lang? 

A. I wasn't ordered. 

Q. Well, directed. 

A. The decision was made that some bonus points 

needed to be in there to reflect the importance of the 

nuclear capability, and I put those in there. 

Q. And Admiral Lang made that decision? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And he was your superior? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, in the second paragraph of this document 

you state: "The 431 cost estimate to close Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard is $70 million. NAVSEA has not concurred 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



181 

with this estimate. Their latest official estimate is 

$351 million." 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did anyone, to your knowledge, make any attempt 

at any time, subsequent to December 19, 1990, to reconcile 

the OP-431 estimate of $70 million with the NAVSEA 

estimate of $351 million? 

A. Of course. We were working very closely with 

NAVSEA in trying to reconcile all of the data that we had 

and those cost estimates changed a number of times or the 

savings to be had changed a number of times, depending on 

the scenario. This was again - -  this was a continuing 
process where the numbers were continually being refined. 

New data was available, changing scenarios. 

Q. Well, do you recall what the final figure was 

that NAVSEA and OP-431 signed off on for the cost of 

closing the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A. The final figure was calculated by COBRA. 

Q. Well, did OP-431 agree with the COBRA figure? 

A. I don't know that we disagreed with the COBRA 

21 figure. When the Base Structure Committee met they had 

22 COBRA data that had been calculated within the very recent 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



182 

1 past, a couple of days. I'm not sure - -  I don't recall 
2 right at the moment whether or not we agree* with every 

3 bit of that, because we had had a lot of discussions with 

4 NAVSEA and with OP-44, who were running the COBRA model. 

5 Q. Wasn't there some concern within the 1991 

6 working group that the COBRA model was not reliable? 

7 A. There was concern that it did not reflect the 

8 Navy/industrial funded activities, because their work is 

9 reimbursable,to the NIF fund. So that model was not set 

10 up to reflect NIF-funded activities. 

However, Captain Kalas from 07F, who did an 

12 extensive amount of work for that committee - -  the working 
13 group committee worked very closely and had held several 

14 meetings with OP-44 and the people that were using and 

15 running that COBRA model to, in fact, alleviate those 

16 concerns and I think - -  I believe, at the end of that - -  
17 you would have to ask him - -  that he was satisfied that 

18 that was a reasonably a good product. 

19 Q. That was Captain Kalas? 

20 A. Captain Kalas. 

21 Q. Now what did you mean when you said reimbursable 

22 to the NIF fund and would you spell NIF or whatever? 
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1 combination of 431, NAVSEA, with input from information 

2 from other OP-NAV codes, and then the NAVSEA input - -  I 
3 couldn't tell you where all that came from. They have 

- 4 access to a lot of data. But you say the working group 

5 came up with these rankings and they did not. Okay. 

6 Q. Well, let me amend the question. Given the 

7 rankings, the revised rankings which showed that Mare 

8 Island, even with the benefit of the 50 bonus points still 

9 came in last, why didn't the working group recommend that 

10 Mare Island be closed, rather than Philadelphia? 

11 A. There were a number of reasons why we felt that 

12 Philadelphia was the appropriate candidate for closure. 

13 There was the nuclear issue, that we needed the nuclear 

14 shipyards, including Mare Island. 

15 Q. Well, but that issue was - -  
16 A. Wait a minute, let me stop you for a second. 

17 Wasn't that issue determined by giving the 50 bonus 

18 points? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. Well, after giving the 50 bonus points, Mare 

21 Island still came in last. 

22 A. Yes. 
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Q. So you mean you counted it a second time? 

A. No. May I go on? There were other - -  
Q. The nuclear issue. Go ahead, I'm sorry. 

A. There was the nuclear issue. There was the fact 

- -  the main issue was that the budget reductions required 
force reductions, which required the elimination of the 

SLEP1s because we no longer had the requirement for 15.- 

carrier battle groups. 

We were now down to speculating anywhere - -  at 
this point we were still speculating, I believe, from 

anywhere from 9 to 12 aircraft carriers. That was the 

main consideration, and that was the consideration that 

would make Philadelphia the appropriate candidate for 

closure. 

Had we closed Mare Island, they still had the 

work. The work would have to be reassigned to another 

shipyard. They also have - -  Mare Island has a unique 
ocean engineering capability. There are a lot of elements 

that came into play, other than just a nuclear/nonnuclear 

issues. 

21 Q. Well, - -  
A. And as I said, the workload, which was the main 
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1 driver in these decisions, was not considered in this 

2 nwrical ranking. 

3 Q. Well, is it your testimony, therefore, looking 
-.:- " -  - 

4 at MacKinnon 15, that the criteria that were promulgated 

5 pursuant to the 1990 Base Closure Act, criteria 1 through 

6 9, did not include at all what were to be the expected 

7 requirements for the shipyards in the years 1991 through 

9 A. The criteria that addressed current and future 

10 mission requirements and the impact on the operational 

11 readiness of the Navy addressed the mission suitability, 

12 if you will, of that shipyard being able to accomplish its 

13 mission. For example, if a nonnuclear shipyard had the 

14 facilities to accomplish nonnuclear, then it had the 

15 ability to accomplish its mission. It wasn't downgraded 

16 because it couldn't do nuclear work. You see what I mean? 

17 ' ' Q. No. Maybe you don't understand my question. 

18 A. Maybe not. 

19 Q. My question is this, and I will try to lay a 

20 foundation for it. 

21 It's your testimony that there were two reasons 

22 why, despite the fact that Mare Island still came in last 
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1 after the 50 bonus points for being nuclear capable, that 

2 Philadelphi& was recommended for closure. And when I 

3 asked what those two were, you said one was the nuclear 

4 issue, but, more importantly, I think you said, was the 

5 fact that the budget reductions would require force 

6 reductions which, in turn, would require elimination of 

7 the SLEP1s. And therefore, when you looked at the need 

8 for the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard in the years 1991 

9 through the year 2000, you determined that there was less 

of a need for Philadelphia than for Mare Island. Is that 

11 a fair summary? 

A. That's right. 

13 MR. BATTEN: Just to be clear, she also 

14 mentioned Mare Island's ocean engineering facility as a 

third thing. 

16 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

17 Q. Now my question is, focusing on what you said 

18 about the budget reduction requiring force reduction 

19 requiring, in turn, elimination of the SLEP1s and that 

20 having the impact on the actual need for the Philadelphia 

21 Naval Shipyard, whether that factor was at all considered 

22 in any of the nine criteria that were promulgated pursuant 
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to the 1990 Base Closure Act? 

A. It was considered in addition to those criteria. 

Q. So it was not considered - -  
A. Specifically. 

Q. - -  in any of the nine? 
A. Right. 

Q. Is that your understanding? 

A. Well - -  
Q. Take your time. There is no rush. 

A. The only thing - -  the reason I'm hesitating is 
because we talk about the current and future mission 

requirements. 

Q. In criterion I? 

A. Yes. In criterion 1. And the subelements of 

that were deployment relationships, site-specific 

survivability, maneuver of space, those things would not 

address work load, so yes. Your statement is a good 

summarization of that. These nine criteria did not 

consider the workload issue, which we considered to be the 

driver and the determination of why Philadelphia should be 

the appropriate candidate over another shipyard. 

Q. All right. Now, isn't it a fact that in the 
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A. Yes. You have the definition to red, yellow, 

green. Okay? These are the definitions that were 

provided to the Base Structure Committee during the 

presentation on the 12th of February. Members of the 

committee had a lot of questions about these and how we 

determined these specific elements. 

For example, while we thought ready access to 

significant quantities of unrestricted navigable water was 

important or whatever. They had a lot of questions about 

this. They asked us to go back and re-look at some of 

these elements. And in fact, some of the members 

disagreed with our rankings. 

If you go to the last 2 pages of this document 

you have the red, yellow, green matrix there. Okay? You 

will notice that under units of measure it talks about 

strategic requirements, proximity to fleet home port, 

policy. Okay? Those were the rankings and the units of 

measure that we looked at. And some of which were changed ' 

from the 12 February meeting. 

So what you have here is when this document was 

given to the Base Structure Committee, the pages that list 

the explanation of break points which starts on page 306 
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1 discuss the first red, yellow, green matrix. Then you 

2 have another red, yellow, green matrix that was presented 

3 on the 14th of February which was different. Okay? So 

you have a mixed up document here. This matrix does not 

5 match these elements explanation of break points. 

6 Q. I understand that. That's a very helpful 

7 explanation. Let me ask this question. 

8 The color codings in the form of pages 312 and 313 that 

9 were presented on February 12, 1991 to the BSC were 

10 presented by the working group? 

A. They were presented by OP-44. 

Q. But the working group had prepared the color 

codings? 

14 A. NO, we had not. Well, yes. I mean, in ef fect, 

15 yes. 

16 Q. And the color codings that were prepared on 

17 February 12, 1991 were based on the form of evaluation 

18 represented by pages 306 through 311? 

19 A. That's right. 

Q. Of MacKinnon No. 17? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. Some of the members of the BSC disagreed with 
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some of the color-coded rankings presented on February 12, 

A. Yes. 

Q. And as a result they were revised in some way 

and represented on February 14, 1991 in the form of 

pages 312 through 313 of MacKinnon No. 173 

A. Yes. What was revised was the specific elements 

in some cases. You will notice for example that on 

page 306 here the first element is, 1, mission 

suitability, a, site specific. And that criteria was 

changed to mission suitability, strategic requirement. 

Different things were looked at. 

The units of measure is what changed. 

Q. The units of measure changed? 

A. Yes. 

Q. in all cases or some cases? 

A. No, some cases. There are other documents that 

describe the new units measure that you haven't brought 

out yet. The one that I gave you as an example, site 

specific, talks to ready access to significant quantities 

of water. 

Q. Yes. 
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A. And yet the unit of measure on the chart back 

here shows the strategic requirement and the unit of 

measure was does that shipyard meet the strategic 

requirements set forth by OPNAV. 

The third one, relationships, speak to, on the 

back document, speak to home port policy. Okay? We're in 

the first explanation of break points relationships spoke 

to the commuting distance for the ship's force. There 

were a couple of different things there. I just wanted to 

point that out. 

Q. I think that's very helpful. Now, looking at 

the revised color coded list, I note that is pages 312 

to 313. 

A. Yes. 

Q. I note that there is again a nuclear capable 

category, is that correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now as I understand it and I ' m  to, again, 

pages 312 and 313 are the revised rankings presented on 

February 14? 

A. Yes. 

Q. When members, as you've said, disagreed. On 
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what did they base their disagreement? 

A. There were a couple of things. One of the 

things that was brought out was what do I care if it has 

deep water. One of the things was we had rated quality of 

life issues like bachelor housing and family housing. And 

some of the members of the Base Structure Committee said, 

why didn't you give this facility credit for having 

bachelor housing? I know there is a BEQ next door. 

Well, what we were looking at in the first go 

round, for example, on housing was we were only supposed 

to give the facility credit for housing if it was on that 

facility. And we could not give them credit for that 

quality of life element if the housing, in fact, existed 

next door at the Naval station. 

And some of the members of the Base Structure 

Committee said, well, that doesnlt make much sense. If 

it's in the vicinity, let's give it credit. So we went 

back and did that. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

as MacKinnon 18 for identification a document entitled 

"Navy Shore Infrastructure Review Naval Shipyard Category; 

Base Structure Committee, 12 February, 1991." 
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1 several months. We continued to update our information 

2 and rankings changed. Information changed. 

3 I can't say that this 18 December document or - 
4 - excuse me, this 19 December document, number 16 here, is 

5 the last that I saw of numerical rankings prior to 

6 February. It is the last one you have in front of me 

7 here, but I can't tell you for a fact that that is the 

8 ranking value at that point when it went to the Base 

9 Structure Committee. 

10 Q. Well, sitting here today based on your 

11 recollection you don't know of, you can't pinpoint a 

12 particular revalidation of the shipyards which you 

13 performed which based on scores and numbers showed 

14 Philadelphia going from 7th to 8th before February 12, 

16 A. I can't tell you what the date of that document 

17 would be, no. 

18 Q. Now is it your testimony, Mrs. MacKinnon, that 

19 after the presentations were made by OP-44 to the BSC on 

20 February 12 and 14, 1991, which included the color 

21 codings, that the BSC actually considered whether or not 

22 they wanted to close or realign the Norfolk, Virginia 
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nuclear-capable shipyard? 

A. I can't tell you what they did after that during 

any of their deliberations. 

(Pause. ) 

Q. In the course of the working group's activities 

in 1991 of which you were a part, did you or anyone else 

at the working group, to your knowledge, give any 

consideration to the costs of performing work in 

Philadelphia in comparison to the cost of performing work 

at the other naval shipyards? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How did you give that weight? 

A. It was NAVSEA1s position that if work were moved 

14 from Philadelphia to, for example, Norfolk, that there 

15 would be a rate differential because they had a higher 

16 man-day rate. It was OP-43's position that that is not 

17 necessarily so because Philadelphia historically had taken 

18 longer, more man-days, to complete work. Therefore, the 

19 man-day rate was not necessarily by itself something you 

20 needed to look at. 

21 The other part of that was that when you move 

22 work into Norfolk, you have a larger work base to spread 
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1 your overhead over. 

So our position was that fhe rate differential 

3 was, in fact, a minor issue. They came in, NAVSEA came in 

more than once, I'm not sure how many times, with their 

5 estimates on what that rate differential should be. And 

6 it was a final consideration that we allowed to be 

7 presented to the Base Structure Committee. 

8 Q. Are you finished? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. Did you or anyone else on the 1991 working group 

11 give any consideration to the difference in cost for 

12 performing work in Philadelphia as compared to Mare Island 

13 or Portsmouth? 

14 A. I believe at the time the scenario we were 

15 looking at was moving the Forrestal to Norfolk. There 

16 was, at one point we looked at moving the Forrestal to 

17 Puget. I don't recall that we specifically looked at 

18 moving workload to Mare Island or Portsmouth. 

19 However, again I would like to say that there 

20 was no workload after the two ships that were tentatively 

21 scheduled there. So when you're talking about moving 

workload, that is the assumption that there is workload to 
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move. 

Q. Well, you've already testified that there was 

non-nuclear work being performed in nuclear-capable 

shipyards. 

A. But the workload that was projected for 

Philadelphia, there was only the SLEP on the Kennedy, the 

Forrestal just prior to that, and way back in the 1989 

tims frame there were some smaller availabilities out 

there. There was also another SLEP on the USS America 

that had subsequently, it had been determined that that 

SLEl would not be done. And so, the workload for 

Philadelphia was going away. 

So there was only certain ships, the Forrestal 

and the Kennedy that were even considered as far as moving 

the workload and any cost differential because that is all 

the work that was there. 

Q. But we've already established there was non- 

nuclear work being performed in nuclear-capable shipyards, 

correct? 

A. Yes, we established that. But that is not 

necessarily, that was not necessarily assigned to 

Philadelphia. 
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1 Q. I understand that. But my point is if non- 

2 nuclear work had been assigned fromoa nuclear-capable 

3 shipyard to Philadelphia then you would have had more non- 

4 nuclear work in Philadelphia, correct? 

5 A. You're assuming that somebody would make the 

6 decision to move work, for example, and I'm asking now, 

7 would move work from Portsmouth into Philadelphia? 

8 Q. Yes. 

9 A. Did we look at assigning that? 

10 Q. Yes. Well, let me put it this way. You looked 

11 at taking work out of Philadelphia and assigning it to 

12 Norfolk, correct? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. So why not look at taking non-nuclear work out 

15 of Portsmouth, which is on the east coast, and assign it 

16 to Philadelphia? 

17 A. Because Portsmouth work wasn't what was going 

18 away. Philadelphia's work was what was going away. We 

19 were looking at the residual work after the SLEPs at 

20 Philadelphia. And I couldn't speak for any other part of 

21 NAVSEA that might have looked at that. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 
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Q. If you would look, please, at the page number, 

Bates page number 71. 

A. Yes. 

Q. You see certain rates or costs listed there, am 

I correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And actually they are set forth for 1991, 1992, 

and 1993, correct? 

A. Yes. 

And if you look just at the comparison between 

the Philadelphia and Portsmouth, you see that in the 

repair category there is approximately a $40 difference, 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And in the alterations category it is 

approximately a $60 difference, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. So that the non-nuclear work in Portsmouth, 

which is on the east coast, could have been shifted to 

Philadelphia which was also on the east coast. And the 

result would have been to increase the workload at 

Philadelphia, correct, and save money given those 
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significant differences in cost? 

A. I do not agree that the non-nuclear work could 

have been shifted to Philadelphia. I ' m  not an expert on 

the nuclear workload side of things. However, SEA-08 has 

definite opinions on where they would like their work on 

nuclear hulls accomplished. So it would not have been my 

position at that point to look at this and say we should 

move work from a nuclear shipyard into a conventional 

shipyard. 

Q. So far as you're concerned, no consideration was 

given to moving the non-nuclear work at Portsmouth to 

Philadelphia and obtaining the cost savings that would 

result from that and taking the nuclear work in Portsmouth 

and moving that to Norfolk and Charleston? 

A. I can't answer that. I can't say that that was 

not considered. I do not know. 

Q. Well, you didn't consider it? 

A. That's right. I don't second-guess SEA-08. 

Q. And to your knowledge, no one else, to your 

knowledge, no one else in the 1991 working group 

considered that? 

A. I cannot answer that. I do not know whether 
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1 A. I have no knowledge of what the BSC 

2 deliberations considered. 

3 Q. And again, if you look at the last page of 

4 MacKinnon No. 19, Bates-numbered 72, you see that there is 

5 an approximately $60 difference between cost for fiscal 

6 1991 between Portsmouth and Philadelphia, correct? 

7 A. Yes. I'm not sure what that rate represents. 

8 But, yes, I see that. 

9 Q. You also see from the Bates page 72 in MacKinnon 

10 No. 19 that there was an approximately $120 difference 

11 between Philadelphia and Newport News, which is a private 

12 shipyard and an approximately $170 difference between 

13 Philadelphia and Electric Boat, which is a private 

14 shipyard, for fiscal 1991. Correct? 

15 A. Yes. They do completely different types of 

16 work. Yes, I see that. 

17 Q. Wasn't it suggested as part of the rationale for 

18 closing Philadelphia that some of the work at Philadelphia 

19 could go to private shipyards, namely Electric Boat and 

20 Newport News? 

21 A. Part of the considerations were that we have a 

22 healthy private sector base on the east coast. We didn't 
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1 and what would have happened had we moved work anywhere. 

2 I'm just saying that, you made the' statement that that 

3 would have cost the taxpayers a substantial amount of 

- 4 money. And I don't know that that is a fact. 

5 Q. Would you look at MacKinnon 16, please. 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. Again, just so the record is clear, that 

8 indicates that in 1990, the numerical ranking given 

9 Portsmouth was below that of Philadelphia. Correct? 

10 A. Yes. 

11 Q. And that was only because of the awarding of 50 

12 bonus points to nuclear-capable shipyards that Portsmouth 

13 leaped ahead of Philadelphia in that numerical ranking. 

14 Correct? 

15 A. It looks like that, yes. 

16 Q. So far as you know, during the 1991 working 

17 group meetings, Portsmouth was never considered a 

18 candidate for closure or realignment. Correct? 

19 A. That is not correct. 

20 Q. The working group considered Portsmouth in 1991 

21 a candidate for closure or realignment? 

22 A. When we started over, we started with the 
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assumption that we would look again at all shipyards. 

Q. I understand that, but didn't you continue in 

the 1991 working group meetings the philosophy, if you 

will, of the 1990 working group meetings that it was 

essential to keep open all six nuclear-capable shipyards? 

A. Nothing had indicated that. Yes, that's true. 

Nothing had indicated that that workload had decreased 

any. We still needed that requirement, yes. 

Q. So that, given the conviction that all six 

nuclear-capable shipyards were necessary because of the 

projected work, particularly in the years 1998 through 

2000, the six nuclear-capable shipyards were never 

candidates for closure or realignment in 1991? 

A. That's not true. We were using that as part of 

the data that we had looked at in the first go-around in 

1990, but when we started over, we started over by saying 

we are going to go back and ensure that these are still 

valid data points. Is, in fact, the workload still the 

same, yes. Is, in fact, the carrier force level going 

down, yes. going down nine, no. It's going 

Those kinds of information were looked at again 
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from the beginning of the 1991 group. A lot of that data 

was the same, it had not changed - * -  that we had compiled 

during the first efforts, but I could not say that there 

was any at the very beginning of the process that we 
4 

already knew that we weren't going to look at certain 

shipyards, because that's not true. We did look again at 

all shipyards. 

Q. Well, maybe it's a question of semantics. When 

in 1991 you again looked at all eight naval shipyards, you 

reached the same conclusion in '91 that you reached in 

'90; namely, that because of the projected demand for 

nuclear work in the year 1998 through the year 2000, that 

it would be necessary to retain all six nuclear-capable 

naval shipyards? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And, therefore, once that determination was made 

in 1991, all six nuclear-capable naval shipyards were no 

longer candidates for closure or realignment. Correct? 

A. Once that decision was made, yes. 

Q. And that's why, so far as you know again, and 

I'm talking about'your knowledge and I recognize you may 

not know everything, but that's why you don't know of any 
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1 A. Yes. 

2 Q. What did you mean by the statement, major cost 

3 savings for program execution are not realized by the 

4 closure of shipyards, and in particular, the term, program 

5 execution? 

6 A. What that speaks to is ship maintenance. What 

7 it meails is that the work, if there is work that has to be 

8 transferred, that work has to be paid for somewhere. So 

9 you don't save program dollars. 

10 1 would like to clarify this by saying that I . 
11 believe that paragraph came from SEA-07F. 

13 A. That would be Capt. Kalas, I believe that is who 

14 wrote this particular paragraph but I am not sure. All of 

15 these efforts concerned a number of people, input was from 

16 a number of people. 

17 Q. Was it your recollection then that the paragraph 

18 under other considerations was provided to you by Capt. 

19 Kalas and that in effect you were just the scrivener. It 

20 wasn't your opinion? 

21 A. In effect, that is true, yes. I believe this 

22 paragraph came from Capt. Kalas. I can't say that for 
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certain. It could have been from Capt. Williams, but I 

p t  this piece of paper together is all I did on this, and 

this effort, for the DMR reviews, the Defense Management 

Reviews, that was my only participation. I had very 

little participation. 

Q. So, so far as you can recall, the statement in 

this paragraph, namely, no proven cost savings can be 

identified. Historically, major cost savings for program 

execution are not realized by closure of shipyards. In 

the 1970's closures of three Naval shipyards demonstrated 

that little if any apparent cost savings can be 

accomplished on a program basis. This was documented in 

the 1980 study, U.S. Shipyard Program Planning, A Basis 

for Curren.t and Long Range Planning for Facilities and 

Manpower which reviewed the impacts of the ,1970 closures 

of Naval Shipyards. 

It is your statement, to the best of your 

recollection came from either Capt. Kalas or Capt. 

Williams and probably from Capt. Kalas? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you have any reason to, any reason or basis 

to dispute the accuracy of those statements? 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202)289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



264 

A. Yes,Ido. 

Q. What is that7 - 

A. The analysis that I performed later in the next 

few months or 2 years, 1990 and 1991, showed that there 

cost savings to be identified with the closure of a major 

industrial activity. 

Q. Was that analysis contained in any document? 

A. That was determined, yes, of course, that was 

determining fixed costs, overhead fixed costs that it 

takes to maintain a facility, things like that. 

Q. Are you referring to the analyses of what it 

costs to close a yard and how soon that could be paid back 

by the savings? 

A. No. I am referring to analyses, we requested 

information from NAVSEA on the fixed costs to operate a 

Naval shipyard. There are also maintenance costs. ~he;e 

are base operating support costs. There is recurring and 

nonrecurring major maintenance costs. All of those were 

considered as part of the savings that you would have when 

you closed an activity. 

We received input, by the way, from NAVSEA that 

came from - -  that identified those fixed costs that came 
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1 from some of the shipyards, Philadelphia Naval Shipyard 

2 being one of them. - 

Q. Did you have any knowledge in that area about 

the cost savings that would be attained if a yard were 

closed, at the time you prepared MacKiMon 243 

A. No, I didnot. 

Q. Do you see, and again, in MacKiMon 24 on the 

first page next to the title description is the statement, 

close two Naval shipyards as proposed in DMRD 909, do you 

see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. What was DMRD 909? 

A. The review that was going on at the OSD level 

that I spoke of is called the Defense Management Review. 

The D at the end of that, Defense Management Review 

Decision, that was a paper that the Office of the 

Secretary of Defense put out by number, they had a number 

of them, you can see this was 909. This was the one I 

spoke to, that talked to consolidations and closure of two 

Naval shipyards. 

Q. And this was something separate and apart from 

the SECDEF m17n list, Correct? 
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A. Yes, this was before that. This was with 

maintaining the current force structure. - 

Q. And did the proposal in DMRD 909 recommend which 

Naval shipyards should be the ones closed? 

A. I don't know. I don't think so. 

Q. Would you turn to the second page of M ~ c K ~ M o ~  

24 please, under the title, estimated net savings, is the 

statement, DMRD 909 estimates savings at $274 million, 

fiscal year '92 through ' 9 5 .  These savings appear 

unsubstantiated and reflect invalid assumptions. 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now you wrote that, correct? 

A. I typedit. 

Q. Yes. Now is this another case where you simply 

were incorporating someone else opinion as opposed to 

expressing this opinion yourself? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Whose opinion was that? 

A. This was probably again, either Capt. Kalas or 

Capt. Williams' statements. My guess on this one is it 

was Capt. Williams because he was the one who was involved 
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with the DMRDs. 

Can I add something here? 

Q. Certainly. 

A. What this speaks to, again, your question on the 

program savings, this ship work would only be transferred 

from one shipyard to another, it is difficult to estimate 

savings because of that, because the money that is spent 

to do that maintenance is spent at one shipyard or 

another, it doesn't matter. It is still a cost to the 

Navy to perform that maintenance. 

The paragraph about that that speaks the CV 

SLEPs going away, that is, again, a different situation 

because when the workload goes away then you don't have to 

worry about transferring something to another shipyard. 

So in fact, that is when the fixed costs can be considered 

that it takes to run that shipyard. 

Q. Of course, if you transferred the non-nuclear 

work at Portsmouth to Philadelphia, then Philadelphia 

would have more work, correct? 

A. And Portsmouth would have less. 

Q. Right. 

A. But someone made the decision, for whatever 
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Q. So Philadelphia would have had 19 more points 

than Portsmouth if Portsmouth was not given 25 bonus 

points for being a nuclear-capable shipyard, correct? 

A. I think that is out of context. If you change 

any one of these scores up through here, you could do the 

same kind of thing or you could do the opposite. For 

example Philadelphia scored higher in work force skills 

available in the local area. If those were reversed, you 

would have a different situation. 

I can't say that that particular 25 points are 

the particular 25 points that put them over. 

Q. Well, if you subtracted the 25 points that 

Portsmouth received for being a nuclear-capable shipyard, 

Portsmouth would have ended up being eighth in the 

rankings, correct? 

A. That is true. 

Q. All right. And if you subtracted the 25 points 

that Mare Island received for being a nuclear-capable 

shipyard, Mare Island would have ended up having only one 

total point more than Philadelphia, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right. 
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Q. And you believed that that was distorted? 

A. Yes. - 

Q. Did anyone else share your belief? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who else? 

A. NAVSEA, particularly and other people in OP-43, 

Captain Williams, Admiral Lang. 

Q. Who at NAVSEA shared that belief? 

A. Captain Kalas is the financial officer in 

SEA-07. He was very adamant about how distorted the COBRA 

model was. And I believe other people In SEA-07, in 

NAVSEA . , 

Q. Was the BSC briefed on how distorted the COBRA 

model was ? 

A. I don't recall the conversations of the BSC 

briefing exactly. But I believe that there was some 

mention of how we did not concur, or at least NAVSEA did 

not concur. I ' m  not sure who might have said it, possibly 

Mr. Ryzewic, that the COBRA model didn't necessarily 

reflect what we thought it should. 

Q. You were present at the BSC briefing, correct? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Well,-- 

A. I believe I was. This is 25 March and-I was at 

- -  the only ones I actually remember the dates on that I 
attended was the 12th and 14th of February. I did attend 

a couple of others, one or two others, and probably this 

was one of them. 

Q. I thought it was your testimony that OP-43, 

namely you, OP-44, and NAVSEA-07 all thought the COBRA 

model was distorted. 

A. I don't know if OP-44 believed that. I don't 

know. 

Q. Well, you believed it. 

A. Yes. 

Q. And NAVSEA-07 believed it. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Well, then when you went to the BSC meeting 

didn't OP-43 and NAVSEA-07 tell them that the believed the 

COBRA model was distorted? 

A. If I was the only one there from OP-43 I didn't 

tell them anything because I was sitting in the peanut 

gallery. I don't recall whether anyone else was there 

from OP-43. I don't recall how it was discussed, if it 
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was, at that meeting. 

Q. Xas captain Wrlliams at the meeting? - 

A. I don't know for sure. 

Q. Did the BSC say it would disregard the COBRA 

model in light of the fact that it was distorted? 

A. No. I never heard .that. 

Q. Did you ever determine or learn what the BSC's 

reaction was to the information provided that it was a 

distorted model? 

A. I don't think so. I wasn't one of the major 

players in the COBRA, you know running the COBRA. That 

was through OP-44 and they had a lot of direct 

communication with NAVSEA-O7F, and that's Captain Kalas. 

And I can't tell you the specifics, for example, of how 

they felt it was distorted other than the fact that they 

thought it didn't reflect the uniqueness of the NIF 

17 activity. 

18 Q. Isn't it a fact that Captain Williams believed 

19 that the economic analysis conducted using COBRA would 

20 probably not withstand an outside audit? 

21 MR. -EN: Objection. She can't testify to 

22 what he knows. 
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A. The conclusion was that they did. 

Q. Did you come to any ~.onclusion that the Air 

Force had an internal control plan in compliance with 

the Department of Defense directive? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. What was the conclusion? 

A. It was the same, that theirs was adequate. 

Q, Now, describe, if you can, the Navy process 

for evaluating its bases pursuant to the 1990 Base 

Closure Act. 

A.   he Navy process, as it evolved to our 

visibility, I guess is a good way to put it -- 
Q. Why do you say to your visibility? 

A. Well, as I said, the Navy said that the names 

of the bases and the specific bases to be eventually 

selected and announced by the Secretary, that the 

process of getting at those specific bases was so 

intertwined with the process, they could not separate 

the specific bases from the process. The bases were the 

process. 

Q. Didn't that seem kind of fishy to YOU? 

A. Well, it is unusual. It is different. But, 
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again, each-one of the services had the ability to 

develop their own process and within thb overall 

guidelines, there wasn't anything that we could at that 

point really grasp on to say that you can't do this. I 

mean, it was within the overall guidance. They were 

allowed to come up with their listing and provide us 

with all of the information on how they did that, 

including the process. Their position was that the 

process was evolving. They were, in fact, way behind 

the power curve in terms of developing the process and 

therefore they had very little that they could share 

with us because they were in the process of developing 

the process, if that makes any sense. 

Q. Well, in other words, they said to you they 

were in the process of developing the process and, 

therefore, it was not appropriate for you to be involved 

at that time? 

A. Well, they were saying that they didn't have 

any documentation to share with us because they were 

just developing the process at that point. 

Q. They said they didn't have any documentation 

to share with you, other than the procedures memo of 
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January 28th, 19911 

A. The procedures memo and they indicated to us 

that all of the decisional information would come out of 

the shore facilities database. And they gave us access 

to the shore facilizies database. The shore facilities 

database is a gigantic computer database which keeps 

basic square footage information and age of building 

information and a whole lot of other information of that 

type on all of the shore facilities in the Navy. 

For example, you can go into that database and 

you can go and you can find out how many buildings there 

are at the naval base in Norfolk and how big they are 

and how old they are and how many square feet they have 

and how many windows they have and just virtually 

anything you would ever want to know about that. 

Q. But did they tell you how they were using this 

shore facilities database, if at all in their base 

evaluation process? 

A. That was part of the process that was being 

developed. 

Q. So they didn't, in other words? 

A. No. They did not identify any specific data 
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elements, for example, that would be used out of the 

shore facilities database. 

Q. They just said here it is, look at it until 

your heart's content? 

A. Here it is, that's the principal source of all 

the information we are going to use in our process and 

we are developing our process right now, so you really 

ought to get familiar with that. 

Q. Well, did the Navy tell you, and I am now 

talking about the January-February 1991 time frame, that 

there was a study called the OPNAV study or the VCNO 

study? 

A. Sure. 

Q. Which had commenced in early 1990 and been 

concluded in late 1990? 

A. Yes, we were aware of the VCNO study from its 

inception. 

Q. Did they provide you with a copy of that? 

A. They provided us with a lot of it, yes. I 

don't know that we ever got a complete copy of the study 

per se. I don't know if the study was ever even 

completed. 
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There was a lot of information that was 

gathered because of that study. And we received a good 

portion of that information, yes. 

Q. And you received that in January 19913 

A. We received that early, yes, probably January, 

February. 

Q. Is there any other -- we have talked about the 
shore facilities database, the procedures memo, the 

OPNAV study. Is there anything else that the Navy 

provided to the GAO in January 1991 to your 

recollection? 

A. I don't remember the time frames. At the time 

we were attempting to get additional information. from 

the Navy on which to base an evaluation, similar to what 

we were doing with the Army and the Air Force. So there 

was a series of meetings all through February, March, 

that time frame, where we discussed our desires for 

documentation and various things were provided to us as 

a result of those meetings, somewhat'piecemeal and in 

some cases we didn't accept them. 

For'example, we indicated that we needed much 

more additional documentation than had been provided. 
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I believe it was the 7th. You gave me the date. I 

 don'^ remember the date. 

Q. There was a May 7th meeting, that's true. 

A. Well that's the one. 

Q. Do you remember who was present at that 

meeting on May 7th? I assume you were, of course. 

A. Yes. Donna Heivilin, myself, Ray Cooksey, 

Dave Schmitt and Bob Self from GAO. Prom the Navy it 

was all the principals of the Base Structure Committee, 

Assistant Secretary Schafer, Charlie NemFakos, Admiral 

Loftis, and all the rest of them. I don't remember 

offhand, Admiral Oliver, all the principals of the Base 

Structure Committee. 

Q. Fine. This may be an inappropriate word but 

obviously I want you to provide the testimony. I wasn't 

there. But was the Navy at all contrite that it didn't 

have the documentation that you were asking for or did 

they simply say: We did what we did and you have to 

live with it? What was the reaction? 

A. I don't know that they were contrite. I don't 

know that that's the right word either. 

Q. That's why I am asking. 
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A. The Navy basically said: This is the process 

that we used, This is what we have done, Now, we will 

provide whatever we have to provide. If what we did was 

inadequate for you to make a judgment on how we went 

about our process, we will certainly be very happy to 

provide whatever you need. 

And at that point they began this verbal 

description of the process. Well, you see this and you 

see that and these are the documents we used and they 

basically tried to recreate the process in an interview 

format for us at the Base Structure Committee hearing 

room. 

And we refused to accept that. Basically we 

said: We are not in the process or the job of creating 

your documentation for you.   hat's going to put us in a 

position of being the middleman between the Navy and the 

Base Closure Commission. We don't want to create your 

documentation for you. 

The process that you are describing should be 

documented and provided to the Base Closure Commission. 

That was the way we left it. That, in fact, is the 

recommendation we finally made in the report. 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 14TH ST-, NOW., 4TH FLOOR, WASH., D.C. 2 0 0 0 5  ( 2 0 2 )  2 8 9 - 2 2 6 0  



1 demonstrating that they had an internal control plan? 

2 A. They had not. 

3 Q. NOW, again, you have described, and I realize 

4 to a certain extent I am covering the same territory, 

5 but I am trying to get the record as complete as 

6 possible on these points. 

A. Sure. 

Q. During this period from January 1991 through 

May 7, 1991, the Navy from time to time would say to 

you: Here are some documents, and you have described 

the boxes of documents episode that you and Mr. Cooksey 

were involved in. 

Was that episode of the boxes of documents 

that you described in your testimony, was that typical 

of what happened when the Navy would give you 

documents? What I mean by that, so it is clear on the 

record, when they gave you documents, they were not 

organized and they were not related to the process, the 

base evaluation process that they were involved in? 

A. I don't want to say that across the board. I 

mean, some of the documents that were provided to us 

22 certainly laid out portions of a process. The problem 
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was we could never get, see how they all fit together 

into an overall process. 

For example, I mentioned that some of these 

things in the attachment here, that I had seen but that 

I don't remember them being attached, an attachment to 

Attachment A. A lot of that stuff came out of the VCNO 

study and the VCNO study had a methodology, if you will, 

for ranking bases. 

And we had gotten portions of that at various 

times. So to the extent that the VCNO study information 

was usable in terms of an overall process, then we had 

gotten things that ended up being part of the overall 

process. The problem is we didn't know what would be 

used and what wouldn't be used, so we didn't feel 

comfortable in how any of that documentation would fit 

into the final process. 

Q. Well, in fact, isn't it a fact that the Navy 

never told you, at least through May 7, 1991, how the 

VCNO or OPNAV study related to their base evaluation 

process? 

A. The first -- I am trying to think of whether 
we were told that prior -- we were definitely told that 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 14TH ST., New., 4TH FLOOR, WASH., D.C. 20005 (202) 289-2260 

* 



A. Yes, I did. And the reason for that was more 

of a timing problem than anything else. 

Glven the volume of documentation that was 

being produced by the Air Force and the Army, and given 

the fact that even if the Navy did provide us with 

documentation, I was afraid that we would get it too 

late, is what I was afraid of. 

Q. And, in fact, your fear turned out to be 

correct because you did not have it as of May 7, 1991, 

correct? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And so you could not validate the Navy's base 

evaluation process as of May 7, 1991, correct? 

A. Not in time to get it into a report by the 

14th OX lSthr no. 

Q. Now, you then state that "The following data 

is the minimum we believe we need immediately to be able 

to perform our legislative mandate." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the first category of data is functional 

categories and the Navy activities placed in each 

category. Do you see that? 
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A. Yes. . 

Q. Now, on or prior to the issuance of the GAO 

report in mid-May of 1991, did you receive that date 

from the Navy? 

A. Yes, we did. 

Q. When did you receive it? 

A. The day after Secretary Cheney announced the 

base closure candidates. I believe that was April 16, 

17, somewhere in that time frame. 

Q. And what did the Navy give you on or about 

April 16, 1991 in this category of documents? 

A. The Navy gave us several volumes of 

documentation, which gave the bases that were -- it gave 
the functional categories of naval bases, naval air 

stations, et cetera. It gave the names of the bases 

that were included in each one of those categories. It 

gave information about the base that was selected for 

closure and it gave some traffic-wide coding for each 

one of those, for the bases in the category and gave 

detailed information on the base that was closed, 

selected for closure. 

Q. Did it give you detailed information on the 
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bases that were not selected for closure? 

A. No, it didnot. 

Q. Well then how could you go about validating 

the process by which the Navy selected bases for closure 

if you didn't have the detail on the bases that were not 

selected for closure? 

A. You couldn't. You could not. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as Yellin 1. And I ask you if you have ever seen this 

document prior to today. 

A. No, I have not. 

Q. You have never seen this document prior to 

today? 

A. No. 

Q. You note this is a BSC rating work sheet for 

the shipyards. 

A.  Yes. 

Q. Did you see -- prior to today, have you ever 
seen any document which purported.to set forth color 

coding for each of the eight naval shipyards for each of 

the criteria promulgated pursuant to the 1990 Base 

Closure Act? 
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A. Yes, that was included in the documentation 

that was provided to us on the 16th of April. 

Q. And did it have color coding by criteria for 

each of the eight naval shipyards? 

A. I would have to refresh my memory. I believe 

it did,, yes. 

Q. Well, in what form was the document, if you 

can recall, that you received on or about April 16 as 

contrasted to Yellin 1, which I have presented to you? 

A. It was similar to this, one of the 

attachments. 

Q. I think it is toward the end of 1-B. Is it 

the last two pages of 1-B? 

A. It is similar to that, yes. This one happens 

to be for something other than shipyards, I believe. 

Q. I understand that. 

A. But it is the same format. It gives the major 

factors that were evaluated and then had the names of 

the shipyards, along with color coding. 

Q. So the form of the document which you received 

on or about April 16, 1990 from the Navy showing the 

color coding of the Navy bases was as represented at 
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at that point on was the overall rankings. 

Q. Right. So you would have had no way of 

validating whether the overall ranking corresponded to 

the evaluations given in the underlying criteria? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Did you know when you got the overall rankings 

for the naval shipyards that seven of the eight naval 

shipyards had been excluded under what the Navy BSC 

called its Step 5 procedure? 

A. We were aware of that at some point. I am not 

sure at this point when 'we were aware of that. That 

Step 5 procedure was the nuclear shipyard rankings and 

we were aware of that. Now, when we became aware of 

that, I am not sure. 

Q. It could not have been earlier than April 16? 

A. No, certainly not. 

Q. It would have been sometime between April 16 

and May 7? 

A. Yes, that's fair. 

Q. All right. Now, can we return to your letter, 

please? The second request for information in the March 

11 letter'is the major factors and evaluation components 
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to be used in evaluating activities and the definitions 

Did you ever receive that information prior to 

the issuance of the GAO report in mid-May of 19913 

A. Yes, we received that along with all the other 

documentation that was provided by the Navy on April 

16th. 

Q. So you also received that on April 16th? 

A. Yes, yes, we received that on April 16th. 

Q. Did you receive category 3, the capacity 

analysis and category 4, the data collected on each base 

in each functional category where excess capacity was 

identified also on April 16, 1991? 

A. We received some information that purported to 

provide that. 

Q. Categories 3 and 43 

A. Yes. It was incomplete and that was part of 

the basis for our problem in evaluating it. 

Q. So the information for categories 3 and 4, 

which is the capacity analysis, i.e., the data used to 

determine requirements and the data used to determine 

existing capacity within the functional categories, and 
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incorrect decision. 

Q. Do you see the fourth paragraph, numbered 

paragraph on page 3, Mr. Schmitt writes, "These 

officials explained that their decision process 

consisted of multiple briefings/meetings between the BSC 

and representatives from the resources sponsors, major 

claimants, type commands and facilities engineers. They 

stated that time constraints and the volume of these 

meetings did not permit them to write detailed minutes 

of these meetings or to document every decision." . 
Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did the Navy members of the BSC make those 

statements at the meeting on May 7 1  

A. Yes, they did. What they were alluding to, I 

believe, is the fact that the structure of the Navy in 

terms of the decision-making process is a little bit 

more complicated, I guess, than the Air Force and the 

m y .  You don't have a direct link. And they had, in 

fact, many, many people representing many, many opinions 

about each one of these particular candidates. And they 

had, to my recollection, they had a large number of, if 
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9 2  

you will, witnesses coming in and each presenting their 

own views on a whole lot of things in a very short 

period of time. 

So they said basically because of the nature 

of the proceedings, that they just did not keep the 

notes or they did not make any record or whatever. 

Q. Does that explain why there were no notes or 

minutes of the meetings, the fact that there were many 

people there? 

A. Well, they made the determination not to do 

it. Now, why, I can't say. 

Q. All right. But there was no reason, no 

satisfactory reason so far as you were concerned why 

they couldn't have kept some record or minutes of those 

meetings, correct? 

A. Exactly, yes, sir. 

Q. And, in fact, when they said they didn't write 

detailed minutes, they didn't write any minutes, 

correct? 

A. That's correct. Or if they did, we never saw 

them. They said they did not have any. I have no 

reason not to believe them. 
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Q. Now, again, according to Mr. Schmitt, "they," 

refe. ring to me' Navy, "They added that in some cases 

the final decisions regarding closure candidates within 

a given category were made during these group meetings 

and in other cases the decisions were made by the BSC 

after multiple follow-up meetings and additional 

input. " 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. What that alluded to was the fact that 

some of the -- the way it was described to us as if 
these rather intense, rather chaotic meetings where 

there were a great many people coming in and voicing 

their opinions, as a result of these discussions and 

charts and documentation, presentations and viewgraphs 

and whatever else, it was sort of a consensus among 

those at the BSC meeting as to what the outcome should 

be and would be and it was fairly obvious, I guess was 

the way they characterized it. 

In other cases, it wasn't fairly obvious, and 

in those cases it was -- there was further review in 
sessions, as they were described to us, were called 

sessions where they did not have all of these people in 
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here. When I say all of these people, as I say, we are 

talking about the resource sponsors and major claimants 

and the type commands and everybody under the sun. Some 

of the meetings, the decisions were made with all these 

people there. Some of the meetings, apparently, the 

decisions were made with the members of the Base 

Structure Committee there, without all these other 

additional people. That's the only, thing. That's what 

he meant by this. 

Q. But because you had no documentation of what 

occurred at these meetings, you didn't know which 

decisions were made with all the people there and which 

decisions were made with none of them there? 

A. Exact ly ,  

Q. And which decisions were made with some of 

them there, correct? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. And also because of the lack of documentation 

at these meetings or what took place at these meetings, 

you didn't know what the basis for the decisions was at 

the meetings? 

A. Exactly. 
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that discussed that. And in response to that, each one 

of the services would have issued policy guidance, which 

the Navy did. They mentioned that we will have an 

internal control plan, but you have to do a little bit 

more than that to have an active internal control plan 

in place. 

And, in fact, as we discussed earlier, the Air 

Force put an auditor over there to assure that the data 

was correct and we independently validated that. And in 

the case of the Army, the Army Audit Agency 

independently validated and there was an ongoing plan to 

assure that the data that was provided to the decision 

makers was, in fact, accurate. 

We had no assurance that the Navy had similar 

controls in place. They may or may not have. We have 

no idea. 

Q. Then in the next sentence, the GAO states, 

"Due to the limited documentation of its process, we 

also could not assess the reasonableness of the Navy's 

recommendations for closures." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was it the conclusion, in fact, of the GAO 
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105 

that as of May 15, 1991 that because of the limited 

documentation of the Navy's process, the GAO could not 

assess the reasonableness of the Navy's recommendations 

for base closures? 

A. Well, given any lack of documentation in any 

way of validating the selections that came out of the 

process, certainly, yes. That isn't to say that they 

were good or bad. It is just that we had no way of 

validating it. 

Q. You had no way of concluding whether they were 

right or wrong, correct or incorrect, reasonable or 

unreasonable? 

A. Exactly. 

Q. So you couldn't perform your function of 

reviewing the process as it occurred and reporting to 

16 the Commission by May 15 with respect to the Navy, 

17 correct? 

18 A. In terms of concluding as to the adequacy of 

19 the process of the Navy, that's correct. 

20 Q. Well, it is not just the process. It is also 

21 the decisions. You could not report to the Base Closure 

2 2  Commission as to the correctness or the reasonableness 
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of the base closure recommendations made by the Navy 

because of a lack of documentation, correct? 

A. That was not part of the legislative mandate, 

I don't believe. 

Q. Well, all right. Leave aside whether it is 

part of the mandate or not part of the mandate, you did 

not have sufficient documentation and information from 

the Navy by May 15, 1991, to assess the correctness or 

reasonableness of the Navy BSC's base closure 

recommendations? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Fine. Well, when I asked you to describe the 

GAO roles, you said the second role was to provide 

assistance to the Commission as requested. 

A. Right. 

Q. Did the Base Closure Commission ever request 

the GAO to assess or evaluate the base closure 

recommendations made by each of the armed services? 

A. As an agency, no. The way that that was 

interpreted and the way we performed that function, if 

you will, the GAO role as an agency, which was to 

produce that report by the 15th, to both advise the 
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1 analyst at OSD? 

A. Two years. 

3 - - -  - Q. And what position did you assume at that time? -. ! 
4 : .  . A. Division Director in the Office of the 

Comptroller of the Navy. That's August of 1975. 

6 Q. That is when you assumed that position? 

7 A. Yes. 
~. 

8 ' " a Q. Is the office of the Comptroller of the Navy 

9 known as the OCN or does it have some other designation? 

10 A. NAVCOM. . 
Q. And for how long did you hold your position as 

12 Division Director of NAVCOM? 

13 A. A year. 

14 Q. And what position did you assume at that time? 

15 A. Associate Director, Office of Budget and 

17 Q. With NAVCOM? 

18 A. Yes. 

And is that the position you hold today? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. So you have been holding that position since 

22 1976? 
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1 Q. Did they have any reporting responsibility to 

2 you? 

3 A. No. 

4 Q. Does any division within OP 04, like OP 431, 

5 have any reporting responsibility to you? 

6 A. No. 

7 Q. Do any of the OP groups have any reporting 

8 responsibility to you? 

9 A. No. 

10 Q. Have you heard of the term ItBSCn prior to today? 

11 A. Base Structure Committee? Yes. 

12 Q. Were you a member of the Base Structure 

13 Committee? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And.who appointed you? 

16 A. The Secretary of the Navy. 

17 Q. When did you first get appointed to the Base 

18 Structure Committee? 

19 A. Whenever the letters went out, and I would be 

20 happy to provide that date to you. 

21 Q. Earlier this year? 

22 A. Yes. 
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I should say,' was assigned the function of insuring that 

all military installations inside the United States as 

defined in the Act were considered on an equal footing, 

without regard to whether the installation had been 

previously considered or proposed for closure or 

realignment by the Department of Defense? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection, but you may answer the 

quest ion. 

THE WITNESS: I believe that was a collective 

responsibility, sir. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. So that you and the other members of the BSC 

each had a responsibility to insure compliance with that 

requirement? 

A. I would believe so. 

16 Q. What did you do then, personally, to insure that 

17 military installations inside the United States as defined 

18 in the Act were considered on an equal footing, without 

19 regard to whether the installation had been previously 

20 considered or proposed for closure or realignment by the 

21 Department of Defense? 

22 A. What I did as I would believe the rest of the 
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I members of the committee did, is, as we received both data 

2 and presentations, we attempted to insure that they were 

3 as complete as possible with regard to coverage. 

4 Q. What did you do to insure that all of the 

5 installations were considered on an equal footing without 

6 regard to whether the installation had been previously 

7 considered or proposed for closure or realignment by the 

8 Department of Defense? 

9 MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

10 MR. PITTINSKY: It's not answered. 

MR. BATTEN: You can answer the question again. 

THE WITNESS: We looked at the data that was 

13 presented to us, we examined the presentation material 

14 that was presented to us, and tried to make sure that it 

15 was as complete as possible with regard to its coverage. 

16 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

17 Q. Well, did the OPNAV study or the VCNO study 

18 propose that the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard be closed? 

19 MR. BATTEN: The document will speak for itself. 

20 MR. PITTINSKY: He can answer. 

21 THE WITNESS: I can't recall all the specifics 

22 of what are in that document. If it does, it does. 
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Q. Well, do you know whether or not the VCNO study 

addresses that subject? 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. You can answer 

it again. 

THE WITNESS: No, I don't know. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

.- - Q. Now, under Policy Guidance, the second 

requirement is that the recommendations in the studies 

9 must be based on the final base closure and realignment 

selection criteria established under that Section. Do you 

11 see that? 

A. Yes. 

13 .Q. Was that also a collective obligation of the 

14 Base Structure Committee? 

15 A. I believe it was. Yes, sir. 

16 - Q. What did you personally do to insure that the 

17 recommendations in the studies would be based on the final 

base closure and realignment selection criteria 

19 established under the act? 

To the best of my ability, I attempted to 

21 assure, as we 6iscussed these matters, and as we 

22 formulated the recommendations, that they complied with 
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the guidance that had. 

What do you mean by the guidance that you had? 

A. That the recommendations in the studies must be 

based on the final base closure and realignment selection 

criteria established that Section. 

Q. Do you recall any of the final base closure and 

realignment selection criteria, which included the - -  
strike that. Would the reporter please mark as Nemfakos 

#2 for identification? 

A. Do you want this back? 

MR. PITTINSKY: You should hold it in front of 

you. The directive the Department Defense dated 

13 - February 13, 1991. 

14 (The document referred to was 

marked Nemfakos Exhibit No. 2 

for identification.) 
I 

BY MR. . PITTINSKY : 

18 Q. In connection with your service as a member of 

19 the Base Structure Committee, did you have an opportunity 

20 to review Nemfakos 2? 

A. I believe so, yes. 

22 Q. And would it have been in February of 1991? 
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A. Did I? 

Q. Yes. 

A. No. 

Q. To your knowledge did anyone on the Base 

Structure Committee establish an internal control plan to 

accomplish and implement those items? 

A. I believe that the Committee as a whole did, and 

there should be some record available of the guidelines 

used by the committee in proceeding. 

Q. Well, do you know of any system for verifying 

accuracy of data used by the committee? 

A. Other than questioning the data, asking for 

additional information, having owners of the activities . 

come in and make detailed presentations, no. 

A. Well, sir, you're in the office of budget and 

reports, correct? 

Q. Yes, sir, I am. 

A. Do you regard what you just described as a 

system for verifying the accuracy of data? 

Certainly. 

Q. Do you believe that is a system? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. 
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BY MR. PITTIXSKY: 

Q. Is that your testimony? 

A. I believe that is the system. 

Q. Simply questioning and receiving answers from 

individuals? 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. And that's all you did, correct, to comply with 

that requirement? 

MR. BATTEN: The cornittee, or him personally? 

MR. PITTINSKY: The committee. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

Q. .Did the commission establish procedures to check 

the accuracy of the analyses made from the data provided? 

MR. BATTEN: You said the commission. I assume 

you mean the committee. 

MR. PITTINSKY: I do. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Did the committee establish procedures to check 

the accuracy of the analyses made from the data provided? 
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A. The procedures were as I have described them, 

which is taking all of the data, going through the data 

asking questions both of ourselves, the people who were 

there to explain the data, and so in that context it was a 

series of analyses conducted by the committee as a whole, 

with material we had been provided, and attempting to 

ascertain its accuracy and to the extent that we felt that 

we had questions with regard to the accuracy, having 

components come in and make more detailed presentations, 

10 and then asking them questions on those, and then having 

I1 them come back again. 

Q. What you have just described is a subjective 

13 process, isnl t it? 

14 A. I don't know that I would describe it' as a 

15 subjective process. I would describe it as a questioning 

16 process, and attempting to achieve fairness and equal 

17 treatment of all the data presented. 
..- - 
18 Q. - Well, isnl t it a fact that you yourself 

19 personally described that as a subjective process in a 

20 session or meeting between the Navy Base Structure 

21 Committee and the Courter Commission held on Monday, May 
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Q. And so there is no record as such - -  written 
record of the question and answer sessions that you 

described. 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. You may answer. 

THE WITNESS: Right. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Do you know of any documentation justifying any 

changes made to data submissions? 

A. The documentation would be that documentation 

that was accumulated which is a series of presentations 

and other responses to direct questions that submitting 

Comands had to make when we were unable to understand 

clearly the basis of the initial data provided to us. And 

I believe that documentation is part of the record and has 

been provided to the various people looking at it. 

Q. Well, did you as a member of the committee 

conclude that the documentation you received from the 

persons making these presentations justified changes made 

to prior data submissions? 

A. It certainly - -  when you say changes made to 
prior data submissions, we didn't go and change prior data 

submissions. What we did is we amplified the data 
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presented in prior data submissions and I believe that the 

various components of the Department of the Navy responded 

very well in providing us the additional information that 

we needed. 

Q. Well, what I asked you is whether you regarded 

the submissions as justifying changes made to prior data 

submissions. 

A. And what I was trying to say to you was that we 

didn't go back and change submissions. The records is 

established as getting a submission, asking questions, 

getting additional data which amplified the original 

submission. 

Q. Well, isnl t it a fact, sir, that the original 

data submissions that you received attached numerical 

values to various military criteria that were established 

by the 1991 Base Closure Act? And that those numerical 

values were used, for example, in evaluating the eight 

naval shipyards? 

M R .  BATE3N: That's a compound question, but you 

can answer both parts. 

THE WITNESS: Do I do a compound answer? 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 
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Q. Whichever you prefer. 

2 A. I am aware there were values that were used in 

3 the VCNO study that we used to arrive at our final 
.. : 
. -. . 

4 recommendations. 

5 Q. And the VCNO study attached actual numerical 

6 ~ l u e s  to the military criteria established by the 1991 

7 Base Closure Act in evaluating the eight naval shipyards, 

correct? 

A. They attached values, yes. 

Q. Now in the final deliberations of the Base 

Structure Committee, those numerical values were not 

utilized, correct? 

A. We did not utilize numerical values across the 

board in the Department of the Navy in arriving at our 

final recommendations. 

Q. And in fact you did not use numerical values in 

evaluating the eight naval shipyards. 

A. We did not use numerical values across the board 

in evaluating activities of the Department of the Navy. 

Q. So, my question is what documentation justified 

disregarding the numerical values in reaching the final 

conclusions of the Base Structure Committee? 
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MR. BATTEN: Objection. He didn't testify, the 

committee disregarded the infomation. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You didn't use numerical values, correct? 

A. We did not use numerical values. We did not 

ignore the input. As I told you, we maintained the entire 

body of data submitted to us and all of that data was used 

to arrive at the recommendations. 

Q. Yes, but the recommendations did not include 

quantifying the - -  or evaluating the shipyards based upon 
numerical values, correct? 

A. We received data of a variety of natures with 

regards the shipyards and the other Department of the 

activities, both the quantifiable and otherwise, and 

all of it was utilized. 

Q. You are saying that you actually relied on the 

numerical values given to you by the VCNO study for the 

eight naval shipyards? 

A. I am saying that it was considered, I did not 

say that it was relied on. 

Q. Well, was it relied on? 

A. It was considered. 
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Q. Was it relied on? 

A. It was considered. 

Q. What's the difference, in your mind, between 

relied on and considering? 

A. There's a very big difference. 

Q. Well, tell me. 

A. When you say you rely on something, in my mind 

it says that you blindly accept it and use it. When you 

say you consider something, you take it and a lot of other 

data and you arrive at a conclusion and a recoxxunendation. 

Q. And did you think that those numerical values 

were useful for the eight naval shipyards? 

A. As a starting point, certainly. 

Q. How about as an ending point? 

A. No. I don't believe that they were an ending 

point. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 
-- 
as Nemfakos 3 for identification the document dated May 

24, 1991, entitled GAO Findings/Recomrnendations and 

Response? 

(The document referred to was 

marked Nemfakos Exhibit No. 3 
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4 6  

no internal control plan, you said yes, and you said that 

you disagreed with that. 

A. I know I did. 

Q. So now if you see here is the response, on page 

2, halfway down, again, the page, "A specific written base 

closure internal control plan was considered unnecessary 

because of the nature of the database being utilized and 

the formal existing written instructions and internal 

controls on that database. It was ditemined that an 

additional control plan was not required." Do you see 

that, sir? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Do you agree with that statement? 

A. To the extent that I understand it, yes, I agree 

with it. 

Q. Well, is there any aspect of that statement that 

you do not understand? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. Well, what do you mean by you don't know? 

A. I don't know what all is envisioned by the 

statement. I didn't write it. 

Q. I understand that. 
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know what the GAO wanted or didn't want. They did not 

deal on the issue with me. 

Q. Whom did they deal with? 

A. My understanding is that they dealt with the 

committee chairman. 

Well, did the comittee chairman, Jackie 

Schafer, discuss with the members of the comittee when 

the GAO should be given access to the documentation that 

the committee was receiving? 

A. Yes, and I believe that is when the offer to the 

GAO of- this data that they di&' t like because of Vietnam 

and the Persian Gulf occurred. My understanding is that 

they were offered data, looked at the voluminousness of 

the data and how it was organized, and didn't want to deal 

with it. 

What they did want was our final conclusions, 

and my impression is that Ms. Schafer attempted to get 

together with them over a period of time as we were 

arriving at those final conclusions and recomendations. 

It is my impression, further, that there was an attempt 

repeatedly, to provide them what was described by the GAO 

as boxes of infonnation. And so - -  you know, that is what 
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I know. 

Q. Well, did Ms. Schafer ever discuss with the Base 

Structure Comittee the fact that as early as February 11, 

1991, the GAO had been seekicg access to certain types of 

data from Ms. Schafer in order to effectively monitor the 

process of the BSC? 

A.  Effectively monitor the process of the BSC? 

Q. Yes. 

A. I don't know that either their job or their 

intent was to monitor our progress. 

Q. To monitor the process - -  the process, not the 
progress - -  

A. I certainly recall her saying that she had 

received cormrmnications from the GAO asking for data, and 

it is my impression that the data was provided to the GAO 

as soon as it was felt to be available. Now when those 

times are, I don1 t know. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact, sir, that Ms. Schafer's 

position, as discussed with the Base Structure Comittee 

including you, was that any data which was in the process 

of evaluation was subject to change until the Secretary of 

the Navy made his recommendations on base closures, and 
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A. I can only tell you what I was aware of what 

they were supposed to do. 

Q. Well, do you mean to say - -  if your answer, sir, 
is that you were not aware of whether the requirement was 

that the GAO do that as it occurred, you can say that, but 

I would like an answer. 

A. Okay. I was not aware that the GAO was to 

monitor on a day-for-day basis the process as it occurred. 

Q. All right. Again, the first paragraph of the 

draft letter. 

A. This one? 

Q. Yes. Nemfakos 5. 

A. Okay. 

Q. The last sentence in the first paragraph. Typed 

in is.the Navy Department. But that is stricken and it 

appears to be "your staffsn is written in above the typed 

words. Do you see that, sir? 

A. Yeah, I see it. 

Q. I'm now going to read it to you as it's been 

amended- - - 
A. I couldn't make it out but now that you say your 

staffs - -  
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1 longer than anticipated and therefore making the 

2 availability of data to the GAC more time consuming, and 

3 therefore impacting the GAO1s timetable, was discussed. 

4 Q. Well, sir, is it your recollection that the Base 

5 Structure Committee was providing data to the GAO as 

6 requested by the GAO on an ongoing basis starting in 

7 February 1991? 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

9 THE WITNESS: They weren't dealing with me. 

10 They were dealing with somebody else. I was aware there 

11 were discussions ongoing. It was also my impression that 

12 at a certain point in time well before we finished our 

13 deliberations, attempts were made, several, to provide 

14 data to the GAO. 

15 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

16 Q. Well, you see here on March 11th - -  
17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. They state, "The following data is the minimum 

19 we believe we need immediately: Do you see that, sir? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. Obviously they didn't have it before that time. 

22 A. Apparently not. 
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Q. All right. 

A. Or at least they allege they ;id not. 

Q. So my question is, was there any discussion at 

the Base Structure Committee regarding providing the 

information that is listed on the second page of Nemfakos 

S to the GAO so it could perform or seek to perform its 

responsibilities in validating the Navy process? 

A. My recollection is that we discuss the provision 

of data to the GAO, and our conclusion was that we should 

provide to the GAO that data that we had available to us 

that we had looked at. 

Q. Well, let's look at the data listed on the 

second page of Nemfakos 5 .  

A. Yes. 

Q. As of March 11, 1991, did the Base Structure 

Committee have data relating to functional categories of 

the Navy activities placed in each category? 

A. I would say that that would have been included 

in the VCNO study that we had available to us at that 

time. 

Q. Would that data be in any other documentation 

that you had available to you at that time? 
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1 A. I don't know. I'm uncertain on the timing. But 

2 on the one thing I would say I could give you a qafe 

3 answer. 

4 Q. Which is the VCNO study? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Did the Base Structure Codttee provide the GAO 

7 with the VCNO study on or prior to March 11, 1991? 

8 A. It's my impression that an attempt was made to 

9 provide some data. But again it's an impression. I don't 

10 know what data. Okay? 

11 Q. All right. Ms. Schafer should know that? 

THE WITNESS: Certainly. 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. He's not in a position 

14 to testify as to what Ms. Schafer knows. 

15 THE WITNESS: Sorry. I already let "certainly" 

out of the bag. 16 

17 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

18 Q. He's certainly entitled to testify as to his 

19 understanding of what she would know. 

20 MR. BATTEN: Absolutely. I'm just making that 

21 clarified. 

22 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 
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Q. The second category listed is the major factors 

and evaluation components to be used in evaluating 

activities and the definitions of each. Do you see that. 

sir? 

A. Yes, Ido. 

Q. Did that exist in documentary form as of March 

11, 1991? 

A. Again, I would say that some or all of that 

existed in the VCNO study. 

Q. A l l  right. Was some or all of that in any other 

documentation? 

A. Available at that point in time? 

Q. Yes. 

A. I couldn't answer that for sure. 

Q. All right. The next category is the capacity 

analysis, i.e., the data used to determine requirements 

and the data used to determine existing capacity within 

the functional categories. Did documentation relating to 

that information exist as of March 11, 1991? 

A.  In the context of what we used. I would say some 

if not all of that was still in the process of being 

generated. 
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personally. 

A. Understood; understood. 

Q. Did you endeavor to find out how much of the 

work on a nuclear ship is nuclear-related and how much on 

a nuclear ship is non-nuclear-related? 

A, We may have, but in any case, it would not have 

been germane. 

Q. Why is that? 

A. Because you're not going to cut the ship in 

pieces-and do part of the work in a non-nuclear yard and 

the other part of the work in a nuclear yard. If you are 

12 goins to induct a nuclear ship, you are going to do all 

13 the ship work, both nuclear and non-nuclear, in the same 

14 location. 

IS Q. Sir, in your probing analysis - -  the committee, 
16 again, as a whole - -  did anyone seek to determine whether 
17 it made more sense to close a nuclear shipyard because of 

18 the non-nuclear ship work being performed in all of the 

19 nuclear shipyards, so that you would have, after closing a 

20 nuclear shipyard, a higher percentage of work being 

21 performed at the five remaining nuclear.shipyards on 

22 nuclear shipyard work and keep open the two non-nuclear 
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1 shipyards? 

2 MR. BATTEN: That was a long question. I ' m  not 

sure I understood it. If you understood it, you can feel 

4 free to answer it. 

5 MR. PITTINSKY: Did you understand it? 

6 THE WITNESS: I will answer what I understood. 

7 MR. PITTINSKY: Fine. 

8 THE WITNESS: We looked at the workload in the 

9 future and we looked at the availability of that workload 

10 and what it would be driven by. We looked at 

I1 considerations of home boarding. We looked at a broad 

12 series of judgments in terms of where work should go and 

13 how it would be placed in there. The workload was nuclear 

14 ships work that was driving in the out-years the capacity 

15 requirement. So therefore closing a nuclear shipyard ta 

16 have nuclear ships - -  which is where the workload 
17 requirement was - -  done else, did not appear to make much 
18 sense. 

19 A. Sir, would it surprise you to learn that 

20 approximately half of the work in a nuclear shipyard is on 

21 non-nuclear ships? 

Q. Depending on the yard, no, it would not surprise 
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1 me. 

A. Well, then, it wouldn't take a rocket scientist, 

3 sir, to say that if we have six nuclear shipyards where 

4 the work is approximately on the average 5 0  percent 

5  nuclear and 5 0  percent non-nuclear, it doesn't impact on 

6 the ability of the nuclear shipyard work to close a 

7 nuclear shipyard? 

8 MR. BATTEN: Objection. You can answer it. 

9 - THE WITNESS: Well, not being a rocket 

10 scientist, I don't know what conclusion he would arrive 

11 at. What I am saying to you is based on the data that we 

12 were provided, the conclusion that we reached was that in 

13 terms of capacity analysis, the nuclear shipyards were 

14 required to be kept in place. 

15 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

1 6  Q .  Even though only approximately hal f  of the  work 

17 done in a nuclear shipyards is on nuclear ships? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Again, looking at Nemfakos 6, the Norfolk Naval 

20 Shipyard is a nuclear shipyard. Correct? 

21 A. Yes. 

Q. And that's located on the east coast? 
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A. Yes. 

2 Q. Well, did anyone give any consideration to 

3 v:-e~inunating one of the three nuclear shipyards on the east 

4 coast ? 

5 A. Certainly we examined that issue, but again, 

6 given the capacity analysis and given the workload that 

7 . .was coming in the future, our determination was that it 
. . -  

8 . was 'not the correct thing to do. 

9 Q. But your capacity analysis, to the best of your 

10 recollection, did not distinguish between the nuclear ship 

II work in a nuclear shipyard and the non-nuclear ship work 

12 in a nuclear shipyard? 

13 A. And as I indicated to you earlier, that 

14 particular distinction is not germane. 

Q. No, you said it wasn't germane that the work on 
. . 

16 a nuclear ship might be part non-nuclear. You did not say 

17 that with respect to non-nuclear ship work on a non- 

18 nuclear ship being conducted in a nuclear shipyard. 

19 A. I see. I ' m  sorry. I didn't understand the 

point you were making. So if you could make it again. 

21 Q. 1'11 rephrase it. 

22 A. Thank you. 
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MR. BATTEN: Objection. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

3 Q. Correct? 

4 A. I don't know. 

5 Q. Do you recall ever seeing this document before 

6 - -  the second page? 
7 A. No. 

8 Q. You never recall seeing the second page? 

9 A. No, Idonlt. 

10 Q. Do you see next to Quality of Facilities, the 

11 left-hand column half way down the page? 

12 A. Ah. Okay. Got it. 

13 Q. Do you see to the left there, handwritten in is 

14 the statement. lfNemfakos wants more weight here. l1 Do you 

IS see that? 

16 A. Certainly. 

17 Q. Do you recall that -at some time during the 

18 deliberations of the base structure committee, you 

19 expressed the opinion that the factor, quality of 

20 facilities, should be given more weight? 

21 A. Yes. When we were dealing with the VCNO study 

22 and that is one of the criteria of the VCNO study. One of 
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the things that we did discuss was the quality of the 

facilities. And I believed that the quality of the 

facilities was a very germane issue with regard to judging 

facilities Department of the Navy-wide. 

Q.  I understand that. And so you expressed the 

opinion that more weight ought to be given to that factor. 

A. I certainly did. 

Q.  And was that one of the reasons why you felt the 

VCNO study was not appropriate to be relied upon by the 

Base Structure Cpdttee? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. I don't think he's 

testified to that. 

MR. PITTINSKY: I asked h i m .  

MR. BATTEN: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: There were a series of questions I 

had with regard to the presentation in the VCNO study. 

That was one of them. I don't know that that was the most 

significant one. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. What was the most significant one? 

A. I couldn't recall off the top of my head, but 

things like assignments of values for weather; assignments 
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of values for location and the like, would have in my mind 

been significant questions that I would have had. 

Q. Well, you disagreed with the VCNO study to the 

extent that it placed weight on those factors. Correct? 

A. No. That's not what I said. What I said was 

that there were questions that I had with regard to the 

values that were placed in those criteria across the board 

for a variety of Department of the Navy activities. 

Q. All right. You - -  I'm not limiting to shipyards 
- -  you disagreed with the emphasis placed by the VCNO 
study on those factors. 

A, . Disagreed. Disagreed is a value judgment, and 

I'm not making a value judgment. What I'm saying to you 

is we examined the data presented, and I had some problems 

with some of the data presented. 

16 Q. Including the data relating to deployment? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. And site and weather? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And your problem was you didn't agree with the 

21 VCNO study? 

A. No. My problem was that in the face of 
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questions with regard to why those values, the answers 

provided were unsatisfactory. 

Q. Right. So you concluded that the VCNO study in 

those respects was not useful and not helpful? 

A. We concluded that the VCNO study could form a 

basis for starting our analysis and evaluation but, given 

the fact that there were several questions that we had 

with the data presented, we would have to gather 

additional information. 

Q. Isnf t it a fact, sir, that the. BSC believed that 

the VCNO study with respect to site, deployment, and 

weather, was not helpful? . 

A. We had several questions that they had a 

difficult time coping with in those areas, yes. And I 

think I've said that to you. 

Q. Is the answer yes, to the point i't was not 

helpful? 

MR. BATTEN: He's answered the question. 

THE WITNESS: It was yes to the point that we 

needed additional information. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

as Nemfakos 7 for identification a document dated May 24, 
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under the heading BSC Review Process - -  do you see that, 
sir? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. The statement is made, "The BSC discussed 

shipyards and shipyard capability with several senior 

officials including the admiral responsible for 

supervising all naval shipyards and the admiral in charge 

of Naval Sea Systems Command, NAVSEA." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who was the admiral responsible for supervising 

all naval shipyards that is referenced there? 

A. I believe the reference is to Admiral Claman. 

Q. All right. And who was the admiral in charge of 

NAVSEA that's referenced there? 

A. I believe the reference is to Admiral ~ekman - -  
Vice Admiral HeJanan. 

Q. Is it a fact that the BSC discussed shipyards 

18 and shipyard capability with both Admiral Claman and 

19 Admiral Hekrnan? 

20 A. Yes. 

21 Q. You then say - -  not you, the report states, 
22 "Although both identified Philadelphia as the shipyard 
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needed least, neither were helpful in providing a picture 

of where additional closures could be made." Do you see 

that, sir? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is that a true statement? 

A. I think that's a fair statement. 

Q. Well, isn't a fact, sir, that Admiral Hekman's 

position was that Philadelphia should not be closed at 

all? 

A. It has been reported that that's Admiral 

Hekman's position. 

Q. When you say it's been reported, isn't that the 

position he communicated to the BSC? 

A. He communicated a series of alternatives - -  not 
communicated; that's the wrong terminology. In his 

presentation in response to the questions that we had 

raised, a series of alternatives were presented, including 

an alternative which maintained the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard as a significantly smaller repair - -  I guess is 
the best way I could categorize it - -  activity. 

But I believe what information Admiral H e m  

provided to the Base Structure Committee is in the record 
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and you could verify that point. 

Q. Well, you personally participated in this 

questioning process. Correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And you were present when Admiral Hekman made 

his presentation. Correct? 

A. Yes,Iwas. 

Q. My question to you, sir, isn't it a fact that 

Admiral Hekmanls preferred position was that Philadelphia 

not be closed at all? 

A. His preferred position as I recall it in terms 

of the alternative that he would recommend most highly of 

the several that we discussed was that it be sharply 

downsized but not closed. 

Q. All right. Isn't it a fact that Admiral Claman 

communicated to the Base Structure Committee his position 

that the Philadelphia yard should not be closed at all? 

A. My recollection is that Admiral Claman was there 

when Admiral HelaTlan was there on this particular point, 

and it would have been inappropriate for a subordinate to 

take on the role of his superior. I think the view of the 

Naval Sea Systems Command was presented by Admiral Hekman, 
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not Admiral Claman. Admiral Claman was there to amply, 

certainly, and to provide at a subsequent meeting 

additional information. But the recornmendation, as I 

believe it at that point in time, was the recommendation 

of Admiral H e w .  

Q. Who was the Chief of Naval Operations at this 

time? 

A. It was Admiral Kelso. 

Q. All right. Was Admiral Kelso in OP 043? 

A. No, sir. Admiral Kelso is the Chief of Naval 

Operations. 

Q. So he is not in any of the OP groups? He's at 

the head of the pyramid, in effect? 

A. Right. 

Q. So that Admiral Hekman would be regarded as a 

subordinate of Admiral Kelso? 

A. Certainly a military subordinate. 

Q. Yes, that1 s what I meant. And would Admiral 

Loftus be regarded as a subordinate of Admiral Kelso in 

the military sense? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. In terms of an organization chart, would Admiral 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Now would you turn to page 2, please? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. About a third of the way down the page, Mr. 

Behrmam, who is a member of the Courter Conunission staff, 

is that correct? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. He states, "Instead of that, provide a narrative 

to explain why you gave the overall military rankings." 

Do you see that, about a third of the way down the page? 

A. Got it. I'd picked up the earlier one. 

Q. According to this document, Ms. Schafer said, 

"We gave the reasons for ones we proposed closing. Now 

are asking give the reasons for not closing 

the yellows.~ Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Then according to this, you stated, "It's 

subjective. We started with the comments of operators 

and then questioned them. There was a lot of give and 

take. We can't reconstruct that." Is that your 

statement? Is that what you said? 

A. It is not fully accurate, no. 
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Q. It is not fully accurate? 

A. No. 

Q. In what way is it not accurate? 

A. I do not recall the comment, "It's subjective." 

Q. Do you recall that you did not say that? 

A. I don't recall saying it. 

Q. Do you recall that you did not say it? 

A. I don' t recall saying it. 

Q. Would you answer my question, please. I 

understand you don't recall saying it. My question is, do 

you recall not saying it? In other words, what I'm asking 

you, sir, is it that you simply have no recollection as to 

whether or not you said this. 

A. I don't recall saying it's subjective. 

Q. I want to know whether you have a recollection 

that you did not say it. 
P 

-"" A. And I guess what I'm tellingyou is I'mmore 

comfortable answering your question truthfully in the 

manner that I am, that I do not recall saying - -  remember, 
this was a room full of people all talking at the same 

time - -  it's subjective. 
Q. You're saying that everybody was speaking at the 
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by the BSC, they were still intended to be 

interchangeable, essentially? 

A. Generally dealing with the same issues, yes. 

Q. All right. Now going back to the second page of 

Nemfakos 8, according to this record, after you said, "We 

didn't use numbers for four criteria and plugged them into 

machine," you then said, "The answers would make us close 

the wrong bases." Do you see that? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did you make that statement? 

A. No, I did not make that statement. 

MR. PITTINSKY: I think you can see, Mr. Batten, 

why we need to know the identify of the person who 

prepared this document. And I will go a step further 

because I know we are all on a very tight schedule. I 

would like to depose the individual who authored Nemfakos 

8 on Friday afternoon, a week from today. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. After this document records that you said the 

answers would make us close the wrong bases, according to 

this document, you stated, "That's the process we used in 

1988 and we weren't happy with it." Do you see that? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Did you make that statement? 

A. I don't believe I did. 

Q. According to this document, you then stated, 

"You can't reduce such subjective things to numbers." Do 

you recall saying that? 

A. I do not recall saying that. 

Q. Do you recall that anyone else made the 

statements in this particular paragraph? 

MR. BATTEN: My understanding in all of these 

questions is that you are interpreting this paragraph as 

direct quotations rather than paraphrasing. Is that 

right? 

MR. PITTINSKY: Either made these statements 

exactly or the substance of them. 

MR. BATTEN: That may be a different question 

than he's been answering. 

MR. PITTINSKY: My point is this witness has 

basically denied that he made the vast majority of the 

statements in this particular part of the text, and so I'm 

asking him does he recall that somebody else made them. 

Maybe he believes that they were improperly ascribed to 
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eight naval shipyards were losing significant sums in 

fiscal '89, Philadelphia made a profit? 

MR. BATTEN: Objection. You can answer it. 

THE WITNESS: No, it wouldnlt surprise me. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Would it surprise you if in fiscal '90, the 

eight naval shipyards lost $151 million, and Philadelphia 

made a $243,000 profit? 

a. BATTEN: Objection. You can answer. 

THE WITNESS: No, it wouldn't surprise me. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Well, then who would be making the kind of 

13 statement to the Courter Commission that Philadelphia 

14 costs $75,000,000 to $100,000,000 a year. 

15 A. I don't know with any precision what that refers 

16 to because obviously I don't recognize the number off the 

17 top of my head. But in the context of the material that 

18 you have given me here, my assumption would be that what 

19 it is talking about here is the infrastructure cost of 

20 keeping a yard open, not the annual position vis-a-vis 

21 budgeted costs of work to be performed. 

Q. Well, isn't there an infrastructure cost to keep 
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satisfactory response could be made to the questions 

posed. I don't believe there was agreement on this 

particular point. 

Q. During the course of the BSC deliberations, was 

there any discussion about the kind of Navy, in terms of 

fleet characteristics, that would exist by the year 2000? 

A. There certainly was a very significant concern 

that we not assume a size of the Navy disproportionate or 

out of the context of the decisions that had been recently 

made by the Secretary of Defense and the President of the 

United States, to downsize the Navy. 

Q. That's a fair response. I'm directing my 

question more to the question of nuclear versus non- 

nuclear. 

A. Can you give me a little more? 

Q. Was there any discussion, during the course of 

tire BSC deliberations, as to the way the Navy would look 

in the year 2000, in terms of the number of carriers and 

ships and vessels that would be nuclear and the number 

that would non-nuclear, and the relative importance? 

A. Not relative importance, but certainly there was 

an understanding that, for example, if one takes carriers, 
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1 given the number of carriers under construction and the 

2 age of the various carriers involved, the number of fossil 

3 fuel-driven carriers by the year 2000 - -  if that's a good 
4 number for you - -  by the year 2000 would be sharply 
5 reduced and there would a greater percentage of the now 

6 much reduced number of total carriers, remembering that we 

7 were dropping four carriers as a minirm;lm, in the period of 

8 recent history and in the future, would be much more of a 

9 nuclear nature. And I believe in one of the other 

documents that you gave me, the numbers that were given 

were eight and four. 

Q. Well, isn't it a fact that seven of the eight 

13 carriers in the Persian Gulf, during the Persian Gulf war, 

14 were non-nuclear, conventional fossil fuel carriers? 

15 MR. BATTEN: Objection. 

16 THE WITNESS: I have no i r r r m e d i a t e  k n o w l e d g e  of 

17 the operational characteristics of the Persian Gulf. 

18 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

19 Q. Are you aware of the fact that nuclear carriers 

20 cannot go through the Suez Canal? 

21 MR. BATTEN: Objection. I can't see the 

22 relevance of that. You can go ahead and answer. 
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to joining the Navy? 

A. I was a special assistant in the Department of 

the Interior, U.S. Government. 

Q. Prior to joining the Navy, had you been 

employed by any military branch of the United States 

Government? 

A. No. 

Q. When you joined the Navy on March 12, 1990, 

what was your position? 

A. In the Navy? 

Q. Yes. 

A. Assistant Secretary of the Navy for 

installations and environment. 

Q. And is your designation the ASN ISE? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. And do you still hold that position today? 

A. I do. 

Q. To whom do you report today? 

A. Secretary of the Navy, H. Lawrence Garrett, 

Q. And when you first became Assistant Secretary 

of the Navy for installations and environment, did you 
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Q. You don't recall that? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Do you have any reason o r  basis for disputing 

Ms. MacKinnon's statement in Schafer 1 that, in fact, 

Secretary Garrett did request the 1990 stealth list? 

A. I do not recall that he asked that of anyone. 

Q. Well, do you recall -- I am sorry, go ahead. 
I did not mean to interrupt you. 

A. That's quite all right. 

Q. Did you have anything else to say? 

A. No. 

Q. Well, do you recall that Secretary Garrett 

stated that he wanted to review your recommendations 

resulting from the BSC deliberations and the 1990 

stealth list before making his decision? 

A.  No. 

Q. Well, do you have any reason or basis for 

disputing that, in fact, Secretary Garrett did request 

the stealth list before he made his decision? 

A. He did not make such a request of me. I did 

not hear him make such a request of anyone. 

Q. Have you ever heard, I think I asked you this 
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MR. BATTEN: That fact has not been 

established. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Fair enough. I will rephrase 

the question. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Do you have any basis or reason for disputing 

what Ms. MacKinnon has written here; namely, that 

Secretary Garrett requested a 1990 list of base closures 

and realignments? 

MR. BATTEN: Asked and answered. 

MR. PITTINSKY: That question has not been 

asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: He made no such request of me. 

BY MR. PITTINSXY: 

Q. Of you. 

A. And I recall no such request having been made. 

Q. Admiral Loftus was present at this meeting, 

correct? 

A. I don't recall. I presume but I don't recall 

exactly. 

Q. You know he was invited, you are just not sure 

whether he was there? 
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1 presented to the Chief of Naval Operations, Admiral 

2 Kelso? 

3 A. I don't know that it was. 

4 Q. Well, I am not asking you whether you know for 

5 a fact. I am just asking whether you had any 

6 understanding about that subject. Let me put it this 

7 way. What was your understanding as to what happened to 

8 this list of options or recommendations? 

9 A. Well, for one thing, it was presented to the 

10 Base Structure Committee. 

11 Q. When was that presented to the Base Structure 

12 Committee? 

13 A. Some time during the course of our 

14 deliberations after January and.before the end of March. 

15 Q. Who presented it? 

16 A.  Admiral Drennon. 

17 Q. And when Admiral Drennon presented them, did 

-- - -- -18 '-- he explain these were, again, options or recommendations 
- 

19 of the Three Star Advisory Group? 

20 A. I believe he characterized them as options for 

2 1 us, if we wanted to, to consider as part of the input 

22 for making our analysis and decisions. 
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Q. Yes. But my question may not have been as 

clear as it could have been. Did he explain that these 

were options that had emanated from this group headed by 

Admiral Smith, this Three Star Admiral Advisory Group? 

A. I believe he characterized those options as 

presentations that were made to the CNO by members of 

his staff that were made available, in turn, to us, as 

input for our deliberations. 

Q. Now, getting back to the meeting you had with 

Secretary Garrett on March 27th, do you recall whether 

Secretary Garrett asked you or anyone else present at 

the meeting for the recommendations or options that the 

Three Star Advisory Committee had come up with? 

A. No. 

Q. You see that in this memorandum of Ms. 

MacKinnon of March 28th that she says "informal feedback 

from the later meeting w a s :  CNO appeared reluctant to 

close any shipyard. Long Beach is still contentious 

(apparently Philadelphia is not). Three stars 

recommendation (stealth list) to be considered today." 

Do you see that? 

A .  I see it, yes. 
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that it was CNO Kelso who decided that Long Beach should 

not be on the closure list? 

A .  Which closure list are you referring to? 

Q. The BSC's closure list, recommended closure 

list. 

A. The CNO wasn't the decider for the BSC. He 

was not a member of the BSC. And he made no 

recommendation to the BSC. 

Q. Well, do you recall that there were a series 

of meetings between the ~ a e  Base Structure Committee 

and some of its staff and the Defense Base Closure and 

Realignment Commission staff in late May 1991? 

A. The Defense Base Closure and Realignment 

Commission staff met with the Base Structure Committee 

and I was present at one of those meetings. Does that 

answer your question? 

Q. Yes. Let me show you a document previously 

marked as NemFakos 8 for identification. And in 

particular I am going to direct your attention to the 

last two pages, Bates numbered 590 and 591. 

And I will point out to you that you were not 

at least listed as being present at this meeting but if 
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Do you see that statement? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that the 

Chief of Naval Operations said that he needed the Long 

Beach Naval Shipyard and therefore the BSC should not 

close it? 

A. The Chief of Naval Operations never said to me 

what his preference was concerning the Long Beach Naval 

Shipyard. There were presentations made to the Base 

Structure Committee on the significance of the Long 

Beach Naval Shipyard and the dry dock there, which was 

persuasive, about the importance of that facility and 

that asset. 

Q. Well, who made those presentations? 

A. I don't recall exactly. We had a number of 

meetings concerning the shipyards and a discussion, and 

it could have been one or more individuals. I don't 

recall exactly why I know about the importance of that 

asset; that is, who communicated that information to me, 

but there were presentations made by the OPNAV -- 
representatives of the OPNAV staff as well as the people 

in the NAVSEA organization. 
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frame . 
Q 

A. 

Q 

it? 

It would have been the May 1, May 2 time 

Did you read it when you received it? 

I suppose I did. I don't recall. 

It would be your custom and practice to read 

Certainly. 

Did you know who Donna Heivilin was? 

Yes. 

Who was she? 

A. Donna Heivilin was the head of some division 

or branch in GAO concerning Defense Department matters 

generally and was the person who requested the 

interview -- who called me to request that my committee 
be available to meet with her and members of the GAO. 

Q. OnMay7? 

A. Yes. She called me before that when I got 

back to town, there was a phone call waiting which I 

returned when I got back, and I don't remember whether 

that was May 1 or May 2. It was a Thursday, as I 

recall, I reached her on a Thursday and we arranged the 

meeting and at a mutually convenient time, which turned 
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1 to the Commission. 

2 Q. Well, isn't it a fact that the BSC arrived at 

3 its gradings of naval installations in these executive 

4 sessions or meetings between the BSC and certain senior 

5 naval officials? 

6 A. Can you repeat the question? 

7 Q. Isn't it a fact that the BSC arrived at its 

8 gradings of the naval installations at either executive 

9 sessions or meetings, whatever you want to call them, 

10 between the BSC and senior Navy officials? 

11 A. Some of them, yes, not all of them. 

12 Q. Some of them, correct? 

13 A. That's correct. 

14 Q. And others were arrived at at internal 

15 discussion at meetings of just the BSC, other gradings? 

16 A. I don't see a difference between the two cases 

17 you just posed. 

--- - - - 1 8  - -- - Q. All right. Well, you did not keep any minutes 
-- UY 

19 of the-meetings of the BSC, correct? 

20 A. I didnot. 

Q. Nor did anyone else? 

22 A. That's correct. That's to the best of my 
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knowledge. There were many meetings at which staff 

meetings, staff members were in attendance and minutes 

may have been taken of portions of those meetings but 

they were not official minutes of the Base Structure 

Committee. 

Q. All right. You know of no minutes of the 

meetings of the Base Structure Committee? 

A. There were no minutes of the Base Structure 

Committee that were taken in order to provide a record 

of the Base Structure Committee's meeting at my 

direction or one of my staff. 

Q. And there were no minutes of the meetings 

between the BSC and senior Navy officials, at which 

certain naval installations were graded by the BSC? 

A. You will have to clarify that last question. 

When I hear you say the word senior Navy officials, I 

was thinking that, of course, members of the BSC include 

senior Navy officials. 

Q. I am referring to the fact that, as I 

understand it, the BSC deliberations involved a lot of 

question and answers. 

A. Yes. 
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62 

Q. Which were propounded by members of the BSC to 

otker senior Navy officials? 

A. Yes. The BSC members, part of our review and 

data gathering and information gathering involved 

questioning senior Navy officials, including the various 

flag officers, yes. 

Q. And there were no minutes of those meetings? 

A. There were no minutes of the BSC meetings. As 

I said, there were lots of people in the room and anyone 

could have taken personal notes. 

Q. I understand that. Now, therefore, when you 

read this memorandum from Mr. Rose, Schafer 2, you 

understood that the GAO staffers were referring to the 

BSC executive sessions as a black hole and that the 

Commission staff was referring to them as the 22 minute 

gap, correct? 

A. That's what this says. 

Q. And that was what you read, correct? 

A. Urn-hum. 

Q. What was your understanding of what they were 

referring to? 

A. That they had difficulty reconciling the 
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grades which were assigned to naval installations by the 

OPNAV staff and the grades that were assigned to 

installations by members of the Base Structure 

Committee, and that they were requesting a meeting to 

try to clarify the connection between the two.  

Q. Now, is it is your testimony that when you 

went to the May 7 meeting with the GAO that you 

satisfied them? 

A. The GAO meeting on May 7 was, I thought, a 

very positive meeting. And at the end of the meeting it 

is my perception that they were satisfied with o;r 

process but had questions or concerns remained about our 

documentation and that was the take I had on that 

meeting. 

(Recess) 

BY I+. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Ms. Schafer, were you aware that at the May 

22nd, 1991 meeting between the Navy Base Structure 

Committee and its staff and the staff of the Defense 

Base Closure and Realignment Commission, your principal 

deputy informed the Commission staff that it was 

impossible for the Navy Base Structure Committee staff 
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Q. Well, you look through 1-8- If you think 

there should be more attached, let me know. FJU are 

saying t h a t  you believed your memo, your procedures 

memo, issued on January 28th, 1991 was the Navy's 

internal control plan? 

A. Yes, I do. In addition, we exercised other 

controls. It is my view that the Base Structure 

Committee itself formed a kind of control on information 

that was presented to us through our questioning the 

staff and I accept the responsibility for the procedures 

carrying out the OSD guidance. 

Q.. And the GAO did not agree with you, right, 

page 48? 

A. GAO said the Navy did not assign 

responsibility for developing and implementing such a 

plan. And my position is that that responsibility for 

carrying out all OSD guidance, including the development 

of a plan, was my responsibility. And I believe I did 

that in the January 28 memo. 

Q. Would you look at page 5 ,  please, of Yellin 

2. There under the title the Navy's Process and 

Recommendations, the GAO states, "Due to inadequate 
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P R O C E E D I N G S  

Whereupon, 

GEORGE N. TZAVARAS, 

was called as a witness by counsel for Plaintiffs, and 

having been duly sworn by the Notary Public, was 

examined and testified as follows: 

EXAMINATION BY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFFS 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Would you state your name for the record, 

please? 

A. George Nicholas Tzavaras. 

Q. Would you please briefly describe your 

educational background? 

A. I graduated from the Naval Academy in 1969, 

graduated with a graduate degree from MIT in 1971 and an 

assortment of Navy schools along the way. 

Q. What degree did you receive from MIT? 

A. SMCE, Master's of civil engineering. 

Q. Have you been in the Navy since 1971? 

A. Since 1969. In fact, since 1965 if you count 

the Naval Academy. 

Q. What is your present position? 
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A. I am the public works officer at Naval 

District Washington, public works for the Navy yard. 

Q. And you are a captain? 

A. Yes. 

Q. How long have you been in the public works 

position? 

A. I reported there in May of 1991, last May. 

Q. What position did you hold before that? 

A. For the eight months before that I was the 

assistant for base closures on the Chief of Naval 

Operations staff. My code was OP-44C. 

Q. Did you say you were the assistant for base 

closures on the OP-44 staff? 

A. That's right. 

Q. And your code was OP-44C? 

A. That's right. 

Q. You say that was for eight months. When did 

you start? 

A. I reported there, I believe it was the 15th of 

October of 1990. 

Q. And you stayed in that position until the end 

of April, early May of 1991? 
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Q. R igh t .  P r i o r  t o  j o i n i n g  t h e  working group a s  

t h e  a s s i s t a n t  f o r  b a s e  c l ~ s u r e s ,  had you h e a r d  of t h e  

SECNAV 46 l i s t ?  

A. Not r e f e r r e d  t o  t h a t  way. 

Q .  How w a s  it r e f e r r e d  t o ?  

A. I was aware t h a t  a n o t h e r  l i s t  had been 

produced a t  t h e  r e q u e s t  of  SECDEF. I t h i n k  b e c a u s e  you 

a r e  a s k i n g  q u e s t i o n s  a b o u t  t h e s e  t h i n g s ,  I need t o  t e l l  

you,  g i v e  you t h e  sequence  b r i e f l y .  

Q .  S u r e .  

A. And i f  it i s  okay w i t h  you, j u s t  t e l l  you why 

I c a n  do t h a t .  

Q .  S u r e .  

A.  On t h e  J o i n t  S t a f f ,  I was a n  a c t i o n  o f f i c e r  i n  

t h e  c i v i l  e n g i n e e r  branch and I worked b a s e  c l o s u r e  

i s s u e s  f o r  t h e  chai rman of t h e  J o i n t  C h i e f s  o f  S t a f f .  

I n  J a n u a r y  t h e r e  was a  mee t ing  -- 
Q .  J a n u a r y  1990? 

A. J a n u a r y  o f  1990 t h e r e  was a  m e e t i n g  t h a t  

SECDEF c a l l e d  c o n c e r n i n g  b a s e  c l o s u r e s .  I t  was a n  

EXCOM mee t ing  t h a t  I remember. 

Q .  What i s  t h a t ?  
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A.  Executive committee meeting. SECDEF, the 

service Secretaries and the chairman and that's all and 

probably in a nicer room than this. 

Q. I hope so. 

A. And base closures were to be discussed. I had 

to prepare a paper for the chairman, we did. What came 

out of that was a very short fused production of a list 

for announcement in January along with the budget 

because of various and sundry laws that require base 

closures be proposed with the budget submission. 

Out of that meeting and out of those 

evolutions within the service staffs came the January 

29th, I believe, 1990 SECDEF list, which we referred to 

as the SECDEF 17  because it had 17  Navy installations on 

it. 

Q. I assume that that was approved by Secretary 

Garrett, that list? 

A. Oh, yes, I am sure it was. It can't possibly' 

have gone out if it wasn't. 

Q. Fine. 

A. So that starts working. It hits the presses, 

goes into the Congress, everyone gets all upset and we 
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start working NEPA and the environmental issues that are 

required per the law. My dates aren't exac'ly right but 

some time in the early summer, probably June, there is 

another EXCOM. 

Q. Executive committee meeting? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Of the joint chiefs? 

A. EXCOM, is SECDEF, the service Secretaries and 

the chairman. It doesn't include anyone else. 

Q. . Fine. 

A. Again, it is on base closures, that is one of 

the topics. My understanding of what came out of that 

is that the service staffs again started churning and 

burning to produce a new recommendation. That 

recommendation, my understanding is that the SECNAV 46 

or however it is termed, you may have heard it termed 

the stealth list, that list was due for publication, I 

believe, in September or late August and, in fact, was 

never published, except for the overseas portion of it. 

There was an overseas portion published and is 

proceeding. 

But what happened between June and August or 
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September, my understanding is that the prospect of some 

legislation on base closures come out, was evident, 

there was dialogue with the Hill and SECDEF said: We 

had better not -- I don't know that he said this. I 

have got to be clear. The decision was made by 

someone: We are not going to announce another CONUS set 

of closures. 

Q. What is CONUS, C-0-N-U-S? 

A. Continental United States, U.S. 

Q. Fine. 

A. We have legislation pending. The SECDEF, 

SECNAV 46 or stealth list was never published. That's 

why it was called the stealth list because it never was 

published. It was essentially put away, never to be 

discussed again. 

Q. Well, when you say never to be discussed 

again, what do you m e a n ?  

A. There wasn't going to be another SECDEF 

announcement based on that list. 

Q. You mean -- let me see if I can -- I am not 
trying to put words in your mouth. Is what you are 

saying that there was going to be no official release 
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Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. First of all, do you know what that reference 

is to the Base Closure Advisory Committee? 

A. Yes. 

Q. . What is that? 

A. After the January '90 SECDEF announcement on 

base closures, and again I don't have firsthand 

knowledge because I picked it up, VCNO chartered a VCNO 

study of naval installations, a bottoms-up type review 

of all the installations. 

My feeling and my understanding is that they 

didn't like the way the January list was produced, a 

very short fused kind of a crisis situation and he felt 

we needed a more structured, a more easily reviewed 

process. And he chartered his VCNO study. 

That VCNO study was to have help from an 

Advisory Committee which was comprised of three stars 

within OPNAV and some of the -- basically all the three 
stars. 

Q. Three star admirals, for the record? 

A. Yes, three star admirals, people that are 
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responsible for the command or the funding of 

installations. And the working group that you addressed * 

before was the next step down, the guys who were going 

to do the leg work to produce something to the three 

stars, to produce something to the VCNO. 

Q. Right. And was it the Three Star Base Closure 

Advisory Committee that came up with the SECNAV 4 6  list? 

A. I don't know. I wasn't there. I don't know. 

Q. But you do know that that list was developed 

in the summer of 1990, the SECNAV 4 6  list? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And it is true that Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard was on the SECNAV 4 6  list? 

A. I am 90 percent certain it was. I am not 100 

percent certain. 

MR. PITTINSKY: I would request, by the way, 

just so there is no doubt about this, that the Navy 

produce just one copy of the SECDEF 17 list and one copy 

of the SECNAV 4 6  list for us so that there will be no 

doubt about that subject. 

MR. GUTMAN: We will certainly look into 

that. 
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Q. And you see that she forwarded it to, among 

others, Clayton Ching? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And Admiral Lang? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And Captain Williams? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you see that this is a list of action 

items for base closures that she has prepared? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And on the first page you see that there are 

two action items relating to the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard, one is "develop plan for disposition of 

Philadelphia work load" and then she has in parentheses 

(Philadelphia story) and the second is "write 

justification why we passed up lower ranked shipyards to 

select Philadelphia for closure." 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you understand that Ms. MacKinnon was 

going to be working on those action attempts as part of 

her duties for the working group? 
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A. Not having seen the document before -- I will 
answer yes to that. But let me, b~.zause I am looking at 

this document, this document is dated the 31st of 

October. Philadelphia was on the January 1990 list. 

Q. And the SECNAV? 

A. Well, but the only list that the Navy had 

published that we were working on was the January 1990 

list, of which Philadelphia was included. And I am not 

100 percent certain of the timing but in October we had 

yet to turn off all of the 2687 and NEPA efforts for the 

installations that were to be closed. I don't believe 

at the end of October that had yet been turned off 

because I don't think the legislation had been approved 

yet. 

So we had Philadelphia on a list. The working 

group is now in the process of producing and getting 

information to comply with law on the closure of all the 

installations on that list. Now, again, I am not 

certain of the timing, but this would have been a 

natural series of actions to take concerning the efforts 

that were going on from the January list. 

In October we did not have, the Base Structure 
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Committee and t h e  p r o c e s s  t h a t  w a s  t o  be  fo l lowed  under  

t h e  b a s e  c l o s u r e  l e g i s l a t i o n  had n o t  even  k e n  

deve loped .  So a l l  of  t h e s e  t h i n g s  t h a t  you see g o i n g  on 

h e r e  a r e  g o i n g  on based on t h e  announced J a n u a r y  l i s t ,  

which w e r e  r e q u i r e d  on 2687 and NEPA t o  do .  Now, t h a t ' s  

my p e r c e p t i o n  o f  t h i s  document. 

Q .  F i n e .  Now, I j u s t  t e l l  you f o r  t h e  r e c o r d  

t h a t  t h e  Base C l o s u r e  A c t  was s i g n e d  i n t o  law on 

November 5 ,  1990. I want you t o  know t h a t .  

10 A. Okay. I a m  g l a d  m y  r e c o l l e c t i o n  w a s  a b o u t  

I1 a c c u r a t e .  

Q. L e t  m e  show you a document p r e v i o u s l y  marked 

as MacKinnon 7 .  T h i s  i s  a n o t h e r  one  o f  M s .  MacKinnon's 

memoranda d a t e d  November 1 6 ,  1990 r e l a t i n g  t o  b a s e  

c l o s u r e  a c t i o n s .  Again, you a r e  f r e e  t o  r e a d  t h e  e n t i r e  

document.  I am r e f e r r i n g  you t o  t h e  t h i r d  page o f  i t .  

( Pause ) 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q .  Have you had a chance  t o  review MacKinnon 7 ?  

A. Y e s .  

Q .  Would you t u r n  t o  t h e  t h i r d  page o f  MacKinnon 
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7, please? There you see that Mrs. MacKinnon has 

described as one of her base closure action items, 

develop implementation plan and time line to close 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard after completion of CV-64 

SLEP. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you understand that as part of her 

activities in the working group on base closures that 

that was one of her assignments'? 

A .  You characterize it as an assignment. I don't 

think we gave her that assignment. 

Q. Who gave her that assignment, OP-43? 

A. I don't know. 

Q. You don't know? 

A .  I don't know. I don't know that she was 

assigned to do this. If you notice, the due dates of 

pending congressional, what I see here, and I think you 

are asking me, what I see here is good staff work, a 

staffer anticipating. 

Q. All right. 

A. Once again, all of this documentation, even on 

the 16th of November, was before the Base Structure 
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Committee was established. 

Q. I understand that. 

A. And before any decisions had been made, any 

Navy decisions had been made. 

Q. I understand that. Well, other than the 

SECDEF 17 and the SECNAV 46 list,.when you say Navy 

decisions, but in any event -- 
A. Relating to the current round of base 

closures, yes. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as MacKinnon 10. If I may, if you would look at the 

last page of the document, it states that these minutes 

were prepared by Lieutenant Commander Tubello and they 

were approved by you. Is that correct? 

A .  Yes. 

Q. Is that your signature on the last page? 

A. It sure is. I don't need to review that. 

Q. And this document is dated November 27, 1990 

and the subject of it is minutes from the November 20, 

1990 meeting of the working group studying the 

consolidation/realignment of the naval shore 

establishment. Is that correct? 
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1 Q. The next entry in type was 15 February 1991, 

2 ~dvisory Committee completes its deliberations and 

3 forwards their recommendations to CNO. Do you see that? 

A.  Yes. 

Q. And then February is stricken and the word 

January is inserted. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Again, do you recognize that handwriting? 

A. No, I don't. I don't recognize any of the 

handwriting on this paper, short of my own signature at 

the end. 

Q. All right. You did understand when you 

provided the working group on November 20 with the 

milestones and when you approved these minutes, that the 

Three Star Admiral Advisory Committee was to make 

recommendations to the Chief of Naval Operations with 

respect to base closures and realignments? 

A. Absolutely. At the time, at the end of 

November, once again, although I knew there was to be a 

Base Structure Committee, there was, what do I call it, 

gratuitously terming it negotiations going on between 

the Assistant Secretary of the Navy installations and 
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environments office and SECNAV's office directly, there 

were nego-iations going on as to what the Base Structure 

Committee would do and their role. 

On the 27 of November we did not have, if you 

will, the charter for the Base Structure Committee. 

When I approved these minutes, this was my estimation of 

the way things were to be. I unfortunately was wrong in 

November, now in retrospect, I was wrong in November, 

not in trying to do it, but in my representation of what 

I thought the Base Structure Committee would do. 

In fact, they did not just review and prepare 

the Department of the Navy submission. In fact, they 

went through the entire analysis process themselves and 

at this time in November, I did not think they would do 

that. And I anticipated the working group and the Three 

Star Advisory Committee doing that. 

Q. Right. But isn't it a fact that at the 

December 20, 1990 meeting of the Three Star Admiral 

Advisory Committee that they reached determinations with 

respect to their recommendations for base closures and 

realignments? 

A.  I don't remember if we did that on precisely 
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closures and realignments to the Three Star Admiral 

Advisory Committee? 

A. We would present the recommendations made by 

the working group. 

Q. All right. And you were going to compare your 

working group recommendations to the recommendations 

contained in the SECNAV 46 list? 

A. Yes. Yes. 

Q. Now, was there anyone from NAVSEA assigned to 

this working group? 

A. Absolutely. 

Q. Was it Bonnie Flynn? 

A. No. 

Q. Whowasit? 

A. Captain Frank Kalas. 

Q. .K-a-1-a-s? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as MacKinnon 13 for identification. 

(Pause) 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Would you turn, please, to page 6 of MacKinnon 
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recommended base closure and realignment candidates? 

A. He presented all of the installations in each 

category, walked the Advisory Committee through saying 

here is all the installations, these are ones that have 

been evaluated by the working group that say we 

shouldn't close and these are the potential list of 

candidates. 

Q. For closure? 

A. For closure or realignment. 

Q. And that list was annotated to show which 

installations were on the SECNAV 46 list? 

A.  I believe it was based on this, the minutes. 

Because there was a SECNAV 46, any subsequent 

recommendations or lists have to go back and say what 

are we changing? That's why there would be annotations 

like that. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as MacKinnon 14. 

(Pause) 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Would you turn please to page 4 of MacKinnon 

14. 
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Q. And it is stated, "SECNAV signed the 

instruction establishing a Base Structure Cornittee to 

review base closure and realignment proposals. 

Committee membership is as follows: " And then they list 

the membership. 

A. Yes. 

Q. Then it states, "CNO must submit his base 

closure and realignment proposals to the Base Structure 

Committee by 6 March 1991." 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was that your understanding at the time? 

A. At that time it was. Again, the Base 

Structure Committee, and I don't remember the date the 

instruction was signed, must have just been signed when 

this was sent out and determinations by the committee, 

the Base Structure Committee, they had yet to sit down 

and figure out what they were going to do and how they 

were going to do it. We were still anticipating, as 

good staffers should, what we were going to have to do 

to support the BSC. 

Q. Well, it was your understanding as of the 
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Advisory Committee meeting of December 20, 1990, that 

the Advisory Committee was going to make its 

recommendations to the CNO, the Chief of Naval 

Operations, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And here you are stating that it was also your 

understanding that the Chief of Naval Operations would 

thereafter submit his base closure and realignment 

proposals to the Base Structure Committee, correct? 

A. On the 20th of December -- on the 17th of 
December, that's what I believed, yes. 

Q. Now, did you understand in December 1990 that 

Admiral Hekman dissented from the decision to close the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

A. I don't know that he did in December. 

Q. I am just asking for your recollection. 

A. I stated it the wrong way. I don't know in 

December who might have dissented. 

Q. Let me show you a document previously marked 

as Claman 3. 

A. Okay. 

Q. You see here where in the first paragraph 
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Q. I want to know if this refreshes your 

recollection that that was his position. 

A. What he is doing here, he talks about the 

Secretary of the Navy having been briefed and made the 

decision. He is talking about the January and summer 

evolution. 

Q. The two lists, the January 1990 -- 
A. That's right, he is referring to those lists. 

Q. The SECDEF 17 list and the summer 1990 SECNAV 

46 list? 

A .  That's what he is referring to. And, again 

now, a presentation was made and I don't remember the 

timing of it to the working group by, I think it was 

Captain Kalas, and it may have been prior to this, that 

the NAVSEA recommendation on Philadelphia had to do with 

downsizing, SRF-type facility. 

I do not remember the specific date of the 

presentation to the working group. I believe that it 

was reflected in the documentation that went to the 

Advisory Committee as an option. 

Q. Right. But the Advisory Committee rejected 

that as an option and decided to close the Philadelphia 
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Q. Now, do you recall again that as of January 

14, 1991 or that the mid-January 1991 meeting of the 

Three Star Admiral Advisory Committee that the decision 

still was to present to the Chief of Naval Operations 

the recommendation for closing the Philadelphia Naval 

Shipyard? 

A. I believe the recommendation was that they 

would provide the CNO with a recommendation and an 

alternative so that he could decide. 

Q. Right. But the recommendation was to close, 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the alternative was the NAVSEA position of 

downsizing? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And then it was, again, as of mid-January 

1991, it was the expectation that with the CNO approval, 

the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard would be proposed to the 

fiscal year '91 Base Closure and Realignment Commission 

for closure, correct? 

A. On the 14th of January that probably was the 

plan. In fact, subsequent to that the BSC had decided 
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what and how they were going to do what they do and, in 

fact, started us from grourd zero again. 

Q. Well, do you know whether or not the Chief of 

Naval Operations ever made any recommendations of his 

own to the BSC with respect to the closure or 

realignment of any of the eight naval shipyards? 

MR. GUTMAN: Answer to your knowledge. 

THE WITNESS: To my knowledge CNO never made a 

presentation of any recommendations to the Base 

Structure Committee. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Were you present at every single meeting of 

the Base Structure Committee? 

A. I was not present at every single meeting. 

Can I have a second? 

16 Q. Sure. 

17 (Witness confers with counsel.) 

18 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

19 Q. Did you want to amplify your prior answer in 

2 0  any way? 

2  1 A. Well, what I just said was that CNO didn't 

2 2  give any pitches with his recommendation. CNO did not 
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document before answering, go ahead. He is pointing you 

to this particular page. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You will see this is the record of what 

occurred at the meeting between the Navy BSC and its 

staff and the Defense Base Closure and Realignment 

Commission staff on May 29, 1991. 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you are listed as having been present 

attending on behalf of the Navy. Do you see that? 

A. I was there. 

Q. NOW, if you will look, please, at the second 

page of this record, which is Bates numbered 591, you 

will see Paragraph No. 7 where it states "BSC wanted to 

close Long Beach Naval Shipyard as well until the Chief 

of Naval Operations said he needed that yard. It has 

one of only two carrier dry docks on the West Coast." 

Do you see that? 

A. Paragraph 7. I was looking at the one that 

was circled. 

Q. Do you see that, 7, "BSC wanted to close Long 
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Beach Naval Shipyard as well, until the Chief of Naval 

Operations said he needed that yard, it has one of only 

two carrier dry docks on the West Coast." 

Do you see that? 

A. I see it. 

Q. You were present at this meeting. Does that 

refresh your recollection that the BSC itself told the 

Defense Base Closure and Realignment Commission on May 

29, 1991 that it was the CNO who had stated to the BSC 

that he needed the Long Beach Naval Shipyard and because 

of that they had decided not to close it? 

A. The Chief of Naval Operations never addressed 

the Base Structure Committee. 

Q. Well, were you present when this statement was 

made? 

A. Yes, but this isn't a verbatim transcript of 

the meeting. What was characterized there is that he 

must have in some fashion made that information known to 

the BSC. I don't doubt that it was in the minds of the 

Base Structure Committee what CNO wanted to do, but I do 

not remember any presentations to the BSC that entailed 

somebody saying CNO wants this thing opened or closed. 
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Q. Well, when the statement was made at this 

meeting on May 29, 1991 that it was the CNO who had said 

he needed the Long Beach Naval Shipyard and because of 

that the decision was made not to close it, did you jump 

up and say: That's not my recollection of what 

occurred? 

A. No, no, I didn't and I don't remember it being 

said that way. 

Q. Well, do you remember Follin Armfield? Do you 

know who she is? 

A. Oh, yes. 

Q. She took -- 
A. I was sitting next to her at one of these 

meetings. 

Q. She took minutes of these meetings. These are 

her minutes, by the way. 

A. Okay. I was wondering what they were. 

Q. Right. And -- 
A. I don't think it is an accurate representation 

of what was said. 

Q. You don't? 

A. Because I think if anyone said CNO said do 
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this or don't close this or don't close that, I believe 

that would not have been an accurate representation of 

what went on in the BSC. 

Q. Let me ask you this question. Did you have an 

understanding from your participation in the Navy BSC 

deliberations that the CNO was against the closure of 

the Long Beach Naval Shipyard? 

A. No. 

Q. Did you have an understanding tha't Admiral 

Loftus was against the closure of the Long Beach Naval 

Shipyard? 

A. No. 

MR. GUTMAN: Answer to your knowledge. You 

cion't know what is in the minds of other people but to 

your knowledge. 

THE WITNESS: No, I don't know that. And I 

have no, in the meetings that I attended, there was 

never a reason for me to believe that. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You were not at all the meetings of the BSC? 

A. I missed one or two of the BSC meetings. 

Q. Let me show you Ms. Armfield's actual 
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handwritten notes from the meeting on May 29 which are 

identified as Armfield 5 .  And in particular I am going 

to ask you to look at page 3 of those notes. 

Do you see about six lines from the bottom of 

the third page of Armfield 5 ,  the way it is produced it 

has an Arabic I1 in the right-hand corner but it is the 

third page of the document. 

A. Okay. 

Q. "Took LB off fleet because 'No. 1 CNO OP guy' 

said he wanted LB so it went No. 5." 

Do you see that? 

A. I see it. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that one 

of the Navy representatives at the meeting told the Base 

Closure Commission that it was the CNO who had 

determined that Long Beach was necessary and it should 

not be closed? 

A. No. Because, No. 1, and I am going to be 

honest with you, the No. 1 OP guy, whether it is CNO, it 

could have been OP-03, the surface warfare guy. I don't 

remember this. I don't doubt, I don't doubt that from 

iin operational point of view, it was clear to the ESC 
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that you needed a shipyard on the West Coast, but what I 

am telling you is I don't know that CNO said it. 

Q. All right. I can only ask you for your 

knowledge and recollection. 

A. Sure. It looks like this is an afterthought. 

MR. GUTMAN: The document speaks for itself. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Can we go back to Tzavaras 1, please? 

A. My own document, yes. 

Q. There you see in paragraph 2 ,  it is stated by . 
Ms. MacKinnon -- 

MR. GUTMAN: Just a minute. We don't know if 

t.his was stated by Ms. MacKinnon or not. You said 

CIP-431D was Ms. MacKinnon. The witness didn't testify 

to that. We don't have any information as to who wrote 

this. The document speaks for itself and you can answer 

17 his questions accordingly. 

18 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

19 Q. Here is Loftus 1. Do you see the designation 

20 under Ms . MacKinnon ' s name? 
2 1 A. Yes. 

2 2  Q. What is it? 
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t h e  NAVSEA p r e f e r r e d  a l t e r n a t i v e  of downsizing 

Ph i l ade lph ia  v i c e  c l o s u r e .  The OP-43 recommendation 

remains c l o s u r e  of t h e  sh ipya rd  (submiss ion t o  t h e  

f i s c a l  y e a r  '91 BCRC) w i t h  r e t e n t i o n  of  some key 

f ac i l i t i e s .  OP-44 w i l l  p r e s e n t  t h e  CNO p o s i t i o n  on base  

c l o s u r e s  t o  BSC t h i s  week." 

Do you see t h a t ?  

A. Yes, I see it .  

Q .  Now, aga in ,  OP-44 i s  Admiral Lof tu s ,  c o r r e c t ?  

A. No, i t  is  Admiral Drennon. 

Q .  I am s o r r y ,  Admiral Drennon. You see M s .  

MacKinnon has w r i t t e n ,  Admiral Drennon w i l l  p r e s e n t  t h e  

(:NO p o s i t i o n  on base  c l o s u r e s  t o  BSC t h i s  week; is  t h a t  

A. Someone has w r i t t e n  i t .  I d o n ' t  know t h a t  M s .  

NacKinnon wrote it .  

Q .  F a i r  enough. Does t h i s  r e f r e s h  your  

r ~ e c o l l e c t i o n  t h a t  Admiral Drennon was t o  p re sen t '  t h e  CNO 

19 p o s i t i o n  on base  c l o s u r e s  t o  t h e  BSC some t i m e  i n  

20 February of 1991? 

2 1 A. Yes, it does .  What was p re sen ted  i s  a  range  

22 of  o p t i o n s  t h a t  w e r e  a c c e p t a b l e  t o  t h e  CNO. The 
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description here is the CNO position. What was 

presented to the Base Structure Committee was a range of 

options that were acceptable to the CNO. 

Q. And -- sorry. 
A. Let me go on. What I see in this document is 

that, in fact, the BSC was provided information and 

alternatives as to whether Philadelphia should be closed 

or opened because in all of the discussion we have had 

so far, you centered really in my opinion around the 

crucial issue that there were no decisions made, no 

recommendations made that went forward to the Secretary 

of the Navy other than what went to the BSC. 

The BSC is the body within the Navy that made 

the recommendations to the Secretary of the Navy, and 

even according to wherever this came from, and it is 

accurate, Admiral Claman provided the recommendation at 

the  time that NAVSEA was proposing. 

Q. I understand that. But my question is in 

light of what you said about the range of options that 

Admiral Drennon presented to the BSC as the range of 

options acceptable to the CNO, was closure of Long Beach 

one of the options that was acceptable to the CNO? 
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MR. GUTMAN: To your knowledge. 

THE WITNESS: To my knowledge it was. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. It was? 

A. Yes. 

Q. To your knowledge -- 
A. That's -- excuse me. Go ahead. 

Q. Have you finished your answer? 

A. There were many things on that list that were 

acceptable to the CNO which were not ultimately closed. 

Q. I understand that. But my only question is, 

you said Admiral Drennon made a presentation to the Base 

S'tructure Committee of the range of options that were 

acceptable to the CNO. That was your testimony. 

A. Yes. 

Q. I am asking you whether the closure of Long 

Beach was one of the options that was acceptable to the 

CNO? 

MR. GUTMAN: You can't speak to what the CNO 

did or didn't know but to your knowledge -- 
THE WITNESS: Drennon presented it, yes, 

absolutely. And, in fact, without -- I believe one of 
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1 Q. And if you look at the last page of Tzavaras 

2 3, you see that Admiral Lang says to Admiral Hekman: 

This information i s  required by noon Friday, March 23, 

1991 in order to address the Base Structure Committee 

recommendations to SECNAV. Do you see that? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that 

notwithstanding Admiral Hekman's dissent to the bitter 

end, as you put it, that OP-04 was telling him to assume 

that Philadelphia should be closed in its entirety? 

A. No. 

Q. No? \ 

A. No. What this document is -- 
Q. Go ahead. 

A. What this document is is a request for COBRA 

16 information for cost data. Again, the staff is asking 

17 N'AVSEA to provide cost information on what it cost to 

18 close Philadelphia and Long Beach because we knew that 

19 the Base Structure Committee was considering the closure 

20 of both. 

2 1 We were required by their process to develop 

22 COBRA data -- COBRA being the cost of base 
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realignment -- cost of base realignment activities or 
something like that, tc standard DOD model. They are 

anticipating a dialogue going on. One of the factors 

that has to be provided to the BSC is COBRA data before 

they make their. decisions. 

This letter is showing me no decision has been 

made yet but that we are asking for information to 

support -- to provide information in support of a 
dialogue that is about to go on in the Base Structure 

Cornmi.ttee. In my opinion this does not say we are 

closing Philadelphia or we are closing Long Beach. In 

fact, I don't think we closed Long Beach. 

Q. I was addressing myself to Philadelphia. 

A. Well, I am just saying, I am characterizing 

what this letter is. This is a request for information, 

COBRA information, cost data information, that is to be 

provided to the Base Structure Committee so that they 

are a.ble to make their decision. 

Now, ultimately the decision was to close one 

and not close the other but to say this is -- to imply 
that ,4dmiral Loftus or OP-04 has made a decision is 

incor:cect on this document. 
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work for the Gilbane Building Company here, .in their 

Washington office. .And I was in business development, 

calling on Government agencies and clients in Washington 

and in Virginia. And in 1986, I went back to Brown & Root 

and continued in a similar job that I had been in before, 

doing similar things. But my current title, at that time, 

was Vice President for Brown & Root Development 

Corporation, which was the Brown & Root subsidiary, that 

was responsible for doing most of Brown & Root's 

Government business, Federal Government business. 

Q. And you held that position until you joined the 

Courter Commission in May of 1991? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is your position with the Courter Commission a 

permanent one, or do you have a termination date when you 

expect to return to Brown & Root? 

A. I do not have a - -  I'm not planning to return to 

Brown & Root. My current employment with the Commission 

expires the end of 1992. 

Q. December 31? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you have - -  have you had a title with tet 
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Courter Commission since you joined it on May 1, 1991? 

A. I am the head of the Navy Team, Navy Review and 

Analysis team. 

Q. And to whom do you report? 

A. Paul Hirsch. 

Q. What is his title? 

A. Paul Hirsch is the Director of Review and 

Anal.ysis . 
Q. To whom does Mr. Hirsch report? 

A. Paul reports to Nat Behrmann, who is the Chief 

of Staff. 

Q. When you commenced your employment with the 

Courter Commission, on May 1, 1991, what did you do to 

bring yourself up to speed, in terms of what your expected 

duties and responsibilities were to be? 

A. I reviewed the documents which had been received 

fron, the Defense Department and the Navy in mid-April. 

And I had extensive meetings with Paul Hirsch and other 

people on the staff that provided direction to me about 

what to do. 

Q. Well, was the staff of the Courter Commission in 

place when you joined the Courter Commission on May 1, 
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on that basis. 

Captain Vernon did the training facilities; 

Commander Hart did the naval-air facilities; John Patrick 

did the naval stations; Mark Casterline did the RDT&E 

facilities; and I did the shipyards. 

Q. Did you have the sole responsibility for the 

s hip:yards ? 

A. Yes, as far as counterpart to tet others, yes, I 

was the lead analyst for shipyards. 

Q. Did you ask any of the four assistants to assist 

you in connection with your shipyard duties? 

A. Occasionally there were things that needed to be 

done,, that I needed help with. Because I was also head of 

the Navy team. And so primarily Mr. Patrick assisted me. 

Q. How was it determined that you, for example, 

would take on the shipyard assignment and Mr. Hazt would 

take air facilities? 

A. Commander Hart is a pilot. And so that is why 

he got the air facilities. 

Q. And how was it determined you would get the 

shipyards and Mr. Patrick would get the naval stations? 

A. The naval station activity had done extensive 
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analysis related to the berthing capacity, which was going 

to be very time consuming. And I assigned that to Mr. 

Patrick. 

The shipyards was basically when I was going 

through there, I felt that that had the fewest number of 

bases in tet category; and in part that is why, looking 

back, that is probably why I took that. 

Q. Because you had the overall responsibility for 

the :Navy team and so you wanted to give yourself the 

resplmsibilities with the least amount of legwork and 

detail because.there were fewer bases? 

A. There were fewer bases in that category. 

Q. Well, as the person who had the shipyard analyst 

responsibility, what did you do in the early days of your 

employment with the Courter Commission to familiarize 

yourself with what the Navy had done with respect to 

shipyards ? 

MR. GUTMAN: Could you define early days? 

MR. PITTINSKY: Yes, the first couple of weeks, 

the f:irst 2 weeks. 

THE WITNESS: As I said, we received extensive 

docun~entation from the Navy, in addition to the DOD 
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proposal. We had a detailed analysis binder from the Navy 

that was divided up and had all the categories in it. 

We also had four additional binders of back-up 

data, which were data that was provided to the Base 

Structure Committee for their review. 

After each of us on the team reviewed those 

sections of those books for our categories, we then 

scheduled a meeting with Navy representatives to come and 

talk to us and answer questions and provide additional 

explanation of the information that we had been reviewing. 

And so about 2 weeks - -  maybe a little longer, 2 to 3 
weeks - -  after we initially started, we had a series of 
meetings with representatives from OPNAV to discuss each 

of the categories. And I did that for shipyards. 

Q. This was after May 15th? 

A, I don't know when the meeting was. I can't 

recall. It was early in May. 

Q. Early in May? 

A. It was within the first two to three weeks. 

Q. Well, did anyone tell you when you arrived at 

the Commission on May 1, 1991, or shortly thereafter, that 

there had been a hearing of the Courter Commission on 
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Answer the question if you can. 

THE WITNESS: That was one of their procedures. 

That was one of the first things I read was - -  it was in 
the procedure that was described in the Navy detailed 

analysis, had some fairly lengthy memos that talked about 

the different steps they went through to analyze the 

bases, and that was clearly indicated in there as one of 

the steps they went through in.analyzing different 

categories of bases. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. What was your understanding of the Step 5 

procedure, how it worked? 

A. That was a way to provide an element of military 

judgment and using unique factors that may not have bean 

included in a standardized set of factors looking at all 

bases. It was a way to include the judgment and analysis 

of unique aspects of bases, or unique aspects of the 

requirements for different bases that may not have been 

taker1 into account when you look at a standard way of 

grading or evaluating all bases. 

M R .  PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

as Yellin 1 for identification a Base Structure Committl-e 
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MR. GUTMAN: Will you be tendering that exhibit 

as Exhibit 2, then? 

MR. PITTINSKY: In fact, I will request that you 

pravide us with another copy of this document which 

pre:sumably the Navy can put its hands on, and maybe if you 

have the original, the original would be the best evidence 

of what is written underneath the deletion there, and so I 

would request for the record that the original be provided 

rather than my copy. That way, there will be no dispute 

about what is on the document. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Well, sir, can you explain, since you were head 

of the Navy staff, how it was that Long Beach, which had 

three yellows and one green for the four military criteria 

and apparently three reds for the nonmilitary criteria and 

only one large carrier drydock was given a Step 5 

exclusion whereas Philadelphia had two yellows and two 

greens for the four military criteria, one yellow and two 

reds for the nonmilitary criteria, and two large carrier 

drydocks, and it was not excluded from the Step 5? 

A. The requirement for the carrier drydocks was 

based upon a division per fleet per coast. On the West 
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Coast there is a carrier drydock at Puget Sound, there is 

a carrier drydock at Hunter's Point, and there is a 

carrier drydock at Long Beach. There are no private 

drydl~cks available on the West Coast. On the East Coast 

them is two carrier drydocks at Philadelphia, one at the 

Norfolk Naval Shipyard and one at Newport News which is a 

private shipyard. 

The Navy's stated requirement was that they 

wanted to have at least two drydocks on each coast. The 

drydock at Hunter's Point was going to be unavailable to 

the Navy because the facility was completely closing as of 

the end of this month. It was required to be - -  the 
property was required to be out-leased to the City .of San 

Franc:isco, so it would be no longer available, and so 

therefore without that drydock then there were only two 

drydclcks on the West Coast and there were four drydocks on 

the E:as t Coast. 

So the closure of Hunter's Point made the 

drydock at Long Beach more important, so therefore in 

order to keep two drydocks on the West Coast you needed to 

keep the d*rydock at Long Beach, and you had the drydock at 

Puget Sound for the two. Then on the East Coast you had 
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35  

the drydock at Norfolk Naval Shipyard and also the one at 

Newport News. 

Q. Well, sir, isn't it a fact that you learned 

through your work on the Courter Commission the Navy did 

not like relying on private drydocks? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

You can answer, if you know. 

THE WITNESS: I didn't know that. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q.. You never saw that statement made anywhere in 

any Navy document? 

A. Not that I can recall. 

Q. The Navy didn't like relying on private 

shipbuilders for their carrier work? 

MR. GUTMAN: Same objection. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Now, sir, do you recall that between May 20 and 

May 29, 1991, there were a series of meetings between the 

Courlzer Commission and the Navy Base Structure Committee? 

A. Yes. 

M R .  GUTMAN: When you refer to the Courter 
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installations equally, that any prior recommendations for 

closure were to be disregarded? 

MR. GUTMAN: Same objection, answer if you know. 

THE WITNESS: My understanding was that they 

were to be ignored, .yes. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. In the course of your work at the Courter 

Commission did you make any effort as the head of the 

Naval team to determine whether the Navy had complied with 

that obligation? 

A. We analyzed in detail and we asked the Navy 

significant questions and requested a lot of data from 

them, to describe their process, that is the way we 

reviewed the Navy's process. We did not - -  in that 
analysis, we did not find any evidence of use of previous 

lists. 

Q. Well, were you aware of the fact that after the 

President signed into law the 1990 Base Closure Act, the 

Secretary of the Navy had decided to mothball the 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection, lack of foundation. 

Answer if you know. 
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BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. That was never stated to you? 

A. No. The Base Structure Committee made the 

decision. 

Q. That is your understanding? 

A. That is my understanding. 

Q. Now why were you having the meetings between May 

20 and May 29, 1991 between the Navy Base Structure 

Committee and the Courter Commission? 

A. The documentation that was provided by the Navy 

of their process to determine, the process we were just 

talking about was inadequate, that had been provided to 

us. So we met with the BSC to request to have them 

describe their process to us in more detail and to provide 

us documentation and explanation of what they did. 

Q. And that entire process, that is your meetings 

with them, the Navy Base Structure Committee and the 

request for documentation and then the supplying of the 

documentation by the Navy Base Structure Committee was 

all outside the public hearings of the Courter Commission, 

correct? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection, lack of foundation. 
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Answer if you know. 

THE WITNESS: The meetings we had with the Base 

Structure Committee were between the commission staff and 

the Base Structure Committee. They were not in public 

hearings. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Right, and the information which was disclosed 

to you, the commission and the staff at the meetings 

between May 20 and May 29, 1991 was not then given to the 

public for public comment at any public hearings of the 

Courter Commission, correct? 

A. The information was provided to the public 

through the minutes that were taken and distributed. 

Q. When was the last public hearing of the Courter 

Commission? 

A. I don't recall. 

Q. Wasn't it May 24, 1991? 

A. I don't know. I don't remember. 

Q. Wasn't it sometime in May? 

A. Yes, probably. 

Q. Wasn't that the hearing in Philadelphia on May 

24, 1991? 
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capable shipyards is performed on non-nuclear ships? 

A. Yes, I am aware of that. 

Q. All right. Did you or anyone else on the 

Courter Commission staff ever ask the Navy why they didn't 

close, for example, Portsmouth and send the non-nuclear 

work to Philadelphia and the nuclear work to Charleston 

and Norfolk? 

A. The analysis was that during the 19901s, the 

amount of work required on nuclear ships and nuclear 

submarines filled to capacity sufficiently of the nuclear 

shipyards so that none of those could be closed and still 

do the work during that period of time. 

Q. First of all, when you say the '901s, you are 

not referring to the entire '90Ji, are YOU? You are 

referring to the period of time from 1998 to 2000, 

correct? 

A. During the - -  I don't think I ever really 
analyzed it year-by-year. It was analyzed during a period 

of time and the workload was sufficient during that period 

of time. 

Q. Sir, is it your testimony that you never knew 

while you were performing your shipyard analysis for the 
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Courter Commission which period of time during the '901s, 

this capacity would.exist? 

MR. GUTMAN: Which capacity are you referring 

to? 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. On nuclear ships, for the nuclear ships? 

A. It was analyzed during the period, between the 

current period and the year 2000, that was analyzed. 

Q. Yes, but my question is, when during that period 

of time, to the best of your knowledge was that situation, 

with full capacity going to exist? 

MR. GUTMAN: What situation are you referring 

to? 

MR. PITTINSKY: The situation the witness 

referred to. 

MR. GUTMAN: Do you understand the question? 

THE WITNESS: Yes. I would have to go back and 

review my records, but it was not just during the period 

1998 to the year 2000. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You are sure of that? 

A. My recollection is that there was insufficient 
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excess capacity in the nuclear shigyards during a number 

of years during the 19901s, so that it would not be viable 

to close any of the nuclear shipyards. 

Q. Well, did you or anyone else on your staff, the 

people in charge of the Navy analysis. ask anyone from the 

Navy to tell you how much of the work during the 1990's in 

nuclear-capable shipyards was going to be performed on 

non-nuclear ships? 

A .  I had no specific percentage. 

Q. My question is, di$ you ask anyone at the Navy 

to provide you.with that infomation? 

A. No, I didnot. 

Q. All right. Is that because it wasn't relevant 

to your task? 

A. The analysis was for the work on nuclear ships 

and nuclear certified yards, that in itself was sufficient 

to eliminate the opportunity to close the nuclear 

shipyards. 

Q. You mean it was not relevant to you to know that 

in the years 1998 to 2000, half of the work at Portsmouth 

would be on non-nuclear ships? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection, lack of foundation. 
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MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

You can answer if you can. 

THE WITNESS: The information we got when we 

ended up talking to the Base Structure Committee closely 

coincides with this. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. With what I read into the record? 

A. Yes. I would have to go back through and look 

at it in more detail to see, but the gist of this is that 

the BSC felt that they needed more information and 

different information than they got from their working 

group, and so they had interviews with people and that's 

what helped them make their recommendations. 

Q. Right, and indeed their own staff - -  I shouldn't 
say their own staff, but their own Base Structure 

Committee members such as Mr. Nemfakos described that 

process as being a subjective one, correct? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

THE WITNESS: What process? 

MR. PITTINSKY: The process as related here by 

the GAO and the process you learned later was the one that 

the Navy followed. 
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THE WITNESS: I'm not sure. Using a single term 

to describe it is not really adequate. 

I mean, there was a process that went through 

that some elements of it could be characterized as using 

judgment and experience rather than a specific piece of 

data or a number, and if that is the definition of 

subjecfive, then I guess there were some subjective 

elements to it in addition to others. 

I mean, it was - -  they went through a formal 
process, and it was described to us later. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Do you recall that Mr. Nemfakos described it as 

being a subjective process? Do you recall that? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

THE WITNESS: I don't recall the use of a 

specific term like that. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. You know who Mr. Nemfakos was, don't you? 

A. Yes, I do. 

Q. He was a member of the Navy Base Structure 

Committee, is that right? 

A. Yes. 
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Q. Do you agree that insofar as that question is 

concerned, Mr. NemFakos said it was a subjective process? 

A. That is what it says here. 

Q. You have no reason to dispute this. This is the 

official minutes of the meeting, correct? 

A. It wasn't a verbatim transcript of it, but it 

was my recol1ec:ion that in describing the process for 

various parts of BSC review, when they talked to the 

commission staff they indicated that military judgment and 

their experience entered in substantially into their 

decisions, not strictly going by specific elements of 

numerical data. 

Q. And they described that as a subjective process? 

A. And that was their definition of a subjective 

process. 

Q. Right, thank you. 

A. Yes. 

Q. All right. Now can we go back to the hearing on 

May 17th, again on page 28, this is Yellin 5 ,  the hearing 

transcript on May 17, 1991, line 22. This is still Mz. 

Connihan testifying: so the fundamental information, he 

is referring to the Navy information, was flawed in the 
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meetings, correct? 

A. At that time we could not verify it. 

Q. They never gave you any minutes of any of the 

meetings, correct? 

A. There were no minutes of those meetings. 

Q. Correct. So that you had to rely on the 

reconstruction of what had occurred at those meeting which 

the Navy gave to you, correct? 

A. In part. 

Q. What else was there? 

A. We called our own meetings with the commission 

staff and a number of those key people that they had 

called in to meet with them. 

Q. You had your own independent meetings with 

members of the Navy who had been consulted by the Navy 

Base Structure Committee? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who were those people that you met with? 

A. We met with Admiral Kihune. 

Q. How do you spell that please? 

A. K-i-h-u-n-e, and he is OP-03. He is responsible 

for all the Naval Stations. We had a meeting with Admiral 
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1 Boorda, B-o-o-r-d-a, he is responsible for all of the Navy 

2 training facilities. We had a meeting with Admiral 

3 Dunleavey, D-u-n-1-e-a-v-e-y or y, I don't recall, and 

4 Admiral Dunleavey is in charge of the Naval Air Stations. 

5 Those are the three that we called in. 

Where is the admiral from the shipyards? 

7 A. The admiral for the surface warfare, who is 

8 responsible for all of the repair work on surface ships 

9 and the admiral for Naval Air is responsible for all the 

10 maintenance work on carriers. . 
11 Q. I know, but why didn't your staff meet with the 

admiral who was in charge of shipyards, like you met with 

13 the other admirals who were in charge of their - -  
14 A. We met with the operational staff people. We 

didn't meet with head of Naval Air Systems. 

16 meet with the head of Navy medical. We didn't meet with 

17 any of the - -  we met with the operational staff who the 

18 BSC indicated to us were the key people that they talked 

to, that had the most influence on their decisions. 

20 Q. Well, who did the BSC staff tell you had the 

21 most influence on their decisions with regard to 

22 shipyards? 
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Q. Yes, why? 

A. We decided that we wanted to focus on the people 

that had responsibilities within the OPNAV organization 

for the various bases and that is why we contacted those 

three for interviews. 

Q. Have you ever heard the name Admiral Loftus? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you know that he is from OP-04? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Have you ever heard the name Admiral Lang? 

A. Yes. 

12 Q. You know he is from OP-04? 

13 A. OP-43 I think is his title. 

Q. Right, but that is OP-04? 

A. He works for Loftus. 

Q. He reports to Loftus? 

A. Right. 

Q. Have you ever heard of Admiral Drennon? 

A. Yes. 

A. He is within that organization, yes. 

Q. Now did you consult with Admiral Loftus or 
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Admiral Lang or Admiral Drennon in connection with your 

review of the shipyard decisions by the Base Structure 

Committee? 

A. There were some discussions - -  Admiral Loftus 
was a member of the BSC and so he was involved in 

discussions we had at the BSC meetings that involved all 

the bases. I can't recall whether he talked in any 

specifics about anything relating to the shipyards. 

Admiral Lang, the only time I met Admiral Lang 

was he attended the meeting in the Pentagon with Senator 

Specter and Congressman Weldon, that Mr. Ruffin also 

attended and he was one of the attendees there. That is 

the only time that I have ever met him and obviously that 

meeting was just a discussion of shipyards. 

Admiral Dremon, was his staff was our primary 

point of contact for all kinds of questions going back and 

forth to the Navy in response to our questions or 

questions from the communities. So we did have contact 

with. Admiral Drennon related to all of the bases at 

various times. 

Q. And you understood that Admiral Loftus reported 

to Admiral Kelso, who is the Chief of Naval Operations, 
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had with - -  well, when we made a request initially, I will 
go back through the.process. We made a request in these 

first few weeks to the Navy. This was back to Mrs. 

Schafer - -  Ms. Schafer, to go back to her and say we would 
like to have a meeting with key staff people on Naval air 

stations, Naval stations, all the categories, working 

level people to ask detailed questions. Captain Williams 

and Mary McKinnon were the two people that she sent to 

answer our questions on shipyards. So our follow-on 

questions to them in meetings were to them. 

Q. But I guess my question was was there a meeting 

that you and your staff had with Mary MeKimon and Captain 

Williams? 

A. Yes. 

Q. To ferret out information? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And when did that take place, approximately? 

Was that in May or in June? 

A. There was one meeting. The first meeting was in 

probably mid-May and then there was another meeting in, I 

think, the first week in June and then the second or third 

week in June. 
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1 .  Do you see that reference? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q.  omm missioner Ball asked, "With the input from 

4 the staff?" and Mr. Conahan says, "Yes, with the input.It 

5 W-c then he says, "So the Committee four,C &lffic3~l=y wlr.'. 

- 6 the ingut. Our report to you this morning Is sFz9ly r2~: 
. .  . -  * 

7 we wsrsr,' z able - - we did, rst have v i s l z ~ ~ ~ r v  z v ~ r  zi----r 
. - 

8 aoliberacions of the Cormittee aca therefor2 are zc= 22-5 

9 to say that we can or cannot support the recommenaaz,ocs 

10 made by the Committee." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you recall that that was the GAO's position? 

A. Yes. Now that I go back and read it I'm not 

14 sure I understand all what he is saying here, but I assume 

15 that since it is in the transcript he said that. 

16 Q. Well, you had reached the same conclusion. That 

17 is, that as of May 1991 you had no basis to either support 

18 and justify or not support and not justify the Navy 

19 reconanendat ions. 

20 A. The difference here is that this is starting to 

21 talk about the VCNO or OPNAV working group - -  the work 
22 that was done during 1990 - -  and at that time we had 
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1 not - -  the Commission staff had not sufficiently reviewed 
2 that to make any kind of statement about that. 

3 Q. Well, did you ultimately review the OPNAV study? 

- .  
S 
A A. That the data chtz was zssc :z = 5 ~ =  - -  yes 

10 Q. Defensible aza usable? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the Navy BSC did not reach 

13 the same conclusion with respect to that OPNAV? 

14 A. No. They - -  what I talked about was the data 
15 that was in the OPNAV study. 

16 Q. As contrasted to the rankings and the 

17 conclusions? 

18 A. No. I think some of the questions were on the 

19 relative categories and information that was collected in 

20 total, that it wasn't comprehensive enough. 

Q. Isn't it a fact that the Navy BSC itself found 

22 that the OPNAV study was flawed with respect to the 
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application of the military criteria to the naval bases? 

M K ,  GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

THB WITNESS: No, I wouldn't agree with that. 

MR. PITTINSKY: This would be a good time t3 

'?-=a:- -- - 
. - 

(Whereupon, a; 1: 00 pa&.  , the doso-.==% ir. -=re 

above-entitled mtcer was r3cesse2, =o reccsvtrr Lz==r * 

. -  - -+, - - - - -  ... 
,,A,, a=..= czy .  : 
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Q. "We did not have confidence in the data. That 

is why we had people come in, those who owned the places 

to explain the data to us. Start with the '88 repcrt, 

verify data this way. Let's see. Subjective. I'm not 

sure exactly looking at VCNO data, it didn't make sense. 

Staff couldn't answer a lot of the BSC1s questions. The 

BSC did not have time to recreate the study so we took our 

own time to interview the operators to get to some kind of 

truth and draw conclusions. The commission then asked did 

you record the corrections, Schafer said in back-up books 

which you have. Nemfakos said we never reran the OPNAV 

input to show where it might be. If we did color coding 

as opposed to the staff, VCNO study 'had some obvious 

flaws.' And then I asked her, that is something Nemfakos 

said? Her answer was yes. And since I have it in quote 

marks, those were his words. " 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now do you recall that M r .  Nemfakos said that 

the VCNO study had some obvious flaws? 

A. I don't recall the exact words. 

Q. Well, did he make that statement in substancs? 
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1 A. And I can't recall whether it was Nemfakos or 

2 somebody else from the BSC, but we had extensive 

3 discussions about their feelings and use of the VCNO or 

4 OPNAV study information and my recollection was that the 

5 concern was as I said before, with the selection of the 

6 type of data and the inclusions of certain pieces of aaca 

7 for certain bases. 

8 They felt, the BSC felt that while there was 

9 accurate data provided by, including that data, in a set 

10 of criteria that you used to grade a base, that if you 

11 used criteria that is really not important to that base, 

12 then you are going to inadvertently slant the grading for 

13 that base. So their concern was primarily on the 

14 selection of the types of things to consider for each type 

IS of base rather than the data itself. 

16 Q. But do you recall that in s&stance either Mr. 

17 Nemfakos or somebody else from the Navy BSC at the May 2 0  

18 meeting said that they recognized that the OPNAV or the 

19 VCNO study had flaws? 

20 A. My recollection was that they said that factors 

21 were included that were not to the point of evaluating 

22 different types of bases for closure or non-closure or 
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realignment. Thatt s my recollection. 

Q. In any proper way? 

A. In a way that they felt should be used. 

Q. Comfortable? 

MR. GUTMAN: Let the witness answer, please. 

MR. PITTINSKY: The answer is fine. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY : 

Q. Would you turn, please, to page 10 of 

Ms. Armfield's notes, Armfield l? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You know who Mr. Zangla is? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Who is he? 

A. Vic Zangla was a GAO detailee at the Base 

Closure Commission whose responsibility it was for 

coordinating on-going s;pport to the Commission by GAO and 

to provide guidance and supervision to the other GAO 

people who were assigned to work at the Commission. 

Q. He was present at the meeting on May 20 with 

you, correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you see on about the middle of page 10 
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THE WITNESS: The comments here relate to 

internal controls and not to criteria. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. But you see, Ms. Schafer, according to 

Ms. Armfield, stated "We didn't know. They didn't know. 

We had set up criteria that didn't cut it." Do you see 

thac? 

MR. GUTMAN: Perhaps it would help him to see 

the transcript again. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Line 15 through 18 of page 28. 

THE WITNESS: My interpretation of that - -  as I 
say, I don't recall the specific words, and I go back to 

my comment before concerning, the BSC stated concern with 

the VCNO work was that they didn't agree with the 

selection criteria that were used by the VCNO group when 

they did their evaluations. that there were criteria in 

there against which bases were graded for which the BSC 

did not think those were important criteria, criteria that 

went to their opinion, in their opinion and judgment to 

factors that needed to be verified for those bases. But 

it did not go to a discussion of the data, it went to the 

criteria. 
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I BY MR. PITTINSHY: 

2 Q. What is the LMI Group? 

3 A. LMI is Logistics Management In~t~tute. 

4 Q. Is that a par: of the Naw? 

5 . A. No.. That is a consulting company. It's - - I ' n  

6 not sure the exact term. It is one of the captive D C 3  

7 consulting companies. There are a number of them, 

8 including - -  Miter is one of the well-known onss. 
9 Q. When you say it's a captive, what do you mea-rl? 

10 A. Well, they are - -  they get all their business, I 
I1 guess, from DOD or work through DOD activities. They are 

12 independent, but they are - -  well, you're getting beyond 
13 my knowledge of what - -  you should call on them if you 

14 want more details. 

15 Q. Well, you note that Trevor Neve was present? 

16 A. Yes. 

17 Q. A t  this meeting on May 20? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Why was he present? 

20 A. One of LMI1s functions for the Commission - -  and 
21 they were very involved also with the '88 Codssion. 

22 They provided consulting services to us in the area of - -  
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I well, a wide variety of things. One of the areas in which 

2 they were very involved was in helping the R&A staff with 

3 issues of compliance review. 

4 The overall compliance ~ l a n  was worked out as an 

5 expansion of a stmcture which they set ug. Trevor N+v2 

6 had been a member of the '88 Commission and his 

7 experiences in improving our Drocess over the ' 8 8  was 

8 important. He participated in a lot of our discussioas. 

Q. When you refer to a compliance plan, to what are 

10 you referring? Are you referring to Yellin 47 

I1 A. Yes. 

12 Q. That was, in other words, worked out and 

13 developed by Mr. Nevels group, LMI? 

14 A. With the involvement of Paul Hersh and the RSA 

15 staff. 

16 Q. Do you have Nemfakos 8 in front of you? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. If you would turn, please, to the page with the 

19 Bates number 584, you will see that there was a meeting 

20 between the Courter Commission staff and the Navy BSC on 

21 May 22, 1991, correct? 

22 A. yes. 
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1 Q. Again you were present, along with Ms. Armfield? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Do you recall that during that meeting Rear 

4 Admiral Oliver referred to the criteria utilized in the 

5 OPNAV or VCNO study as nonsense? 

6 MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

7 Answer if you can. 

8 THE WITNESS: I don't recall that word being 

9 used. 

10 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

11 Q. You don't recall that being used? 

12 MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

MR. PITTINSKY: Sir? 

14 THE WITNESS: There were statements made by a 

15 number of the people that, as I have mentioned several 

16 times before, that there were criteria that were included 

17 by the VCNO group to evaluate certain bases that the BSC 

18 did not think were appropriate, and that's the substance 

19 of what I recall the BSC people talking about when they 

20 were talking about criteria. 

21 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

22 Q. In fact, the BSC disregarded the rankings based 
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1 on those OPNAV criteria for the shipyards and made their 

2 own rankings for the shipyards, correct? 

3 MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

4 Answer if you can. 

S THE WITNESS: They used the - -  they came up with 
6 their own grading. The BSC did not come up with the 

7 rankings. 

8 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

9 Q. Well, the BSC did not rely on the rankings and 

10 color-coded evaluations that the OPNAV or VCNO study had 

11 employed, correct? 

MR. GUTMAN: Again, objection. Lack of 

13 foundation. 

14 THE WITNESS: There were statements that I 

15 recall that the BSC made, or at least several people on 

16 the BSC made, that the VCNO working group documents were 

17 made available to them, explained to them, that they 

18 considered them and then they went on from there adding 

19 additional input from these meetings that they had with 

20 other people in their own judgment to come up with a new ' 

21 set of grades. 

22 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 
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course. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Would you look, please, at page 3 of 

Ms. Annfield1s notes, Armfield 3, which are her notes of 

the May 22, 1991 meeting. Do you see that? 

A. I'monpage 3. 

Q. Do you see the reference to Admiral Oliver at 

the top of the page? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let me just show you Ms. Amfield's reading of 

her own notes again, and you can look to see the prior 

discussion if you want. I'm just going to point out what 

she said Admiral Oliver said. The Commission said, at 

14 page 46, line 9, "Let's walk down the plan, discuss, 

15 Number 1, the mapping." Now, you understand what the 

16 reference is to mapping, correct? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Why don't you tell us in your own words what 

19 that reference is to mapping? What was the Commission 

20 asking the Navy BSC to do with respect to mapping? 

A. The 1988 Commission had a set of five criteria 

22 that were used in determining their evaluation of bases. 
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1 Both the Army and the Navy set up teams in 1990 to study 

2 their bases and to come up with using a set of criteria to 

3 evaluate them, and both the Army and the Navy used the 

4 five criteria for 1988 and because the criteria for the 

5 '91 Commission was not available until, I guess it was 

6 early 1991, that's all they had to work with. 

7 So both services did evaluations and grading and 

8 selection of data elements and other evaluation factors 

9 and then when the criteria came out for this Commission 

10 the Army, in order to make maximum use of that data, 

worked on a mapping or a crosswalk, which is another term 

12 that we used, which was a chart which took the five 

13 criteria and indicated which of those five criteria were 

14 used in part to determine the grade for the four military 

If value criteria that were used in the '91 Commission. 

16 So the A m y  did this and it was a verifiable way 

17 to look at that data and to compare that to the grading 

18 that the Army came up with for the '91 Commission. We 

19 presented that concept to the BSC and asked them if they 

20 could do the same thing, if they could go and look back at 

21 parts of the VCNO data which they said that they had used 

22 as input to them that they had all been aware of and 
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indicate which of those were used in part to determine 

grades for the four military value criteria that were used 

in the '91 Commission. 

Q. Right, so that - -  and I'm not trying to 
oversimplify this, but I think it is fair to say that the 

mapping that is referenced is the word to connote the 

drawing of a relationship between the '88 criteria that 

had been used in 1990 and the new 1991 criteria that had 

been established pursuant to the 1990 Base Closure Act, 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Now, you see Admiral Oliver says in response to 

this comment that we just read from the notes, "We will 

write why we thought the criteria were nonsense." Do you 

see that? 

A. That is what it says here. 

Q. Well, do you recall that Admiral Oliver said 

that? 

A. That is not my recollection of what the BSC - -  
as I said, I can't recall any individual from the BSC - -  
let me give me what my recollection was of what the BSC 

did, because we went through this process with them and 
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what we asked them to do was to develop their own 

crosswalk mapping, which of the five '88 criteria were 

used in part to influence their grading on the '91. 

Then what we asked them to do was to go back in 

and look at where that crosswalk leads you and to explain 

in detail when the BSC grade was different than the '88 

criteria from the VCNO study, when those grades would 

differ if you crosswalked those into their grade, and to 

explain in detail why there was a difference. 

Is that understandable? 

Q. Explain in detail? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Do you think the Navy did that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Youdo? 

MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Do you believe the Navy did that? 

Yes. 

We'll see. 

Would you look, please, at page 4 - -  I'm sorry, 
5 of Ms. Armfield's notes, Armfield 3, the May 22 notes. 
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suggested you said any of these things. You understand 

that? 

A. I understand. 

Q. Page 50 in her deposition, "Navy: Maybe you'll 

get more than you expected," and then she says, "Rose from 

the Navy was forceful about this following point. Will 

make a best faith effort to producz what you want. We 

understand that we must be up-front now. No one accused 

either of dishonesty. Impossible to document. You and 

GAO are right about the lack of documentation after the 

fact. What went on during the fact? You don't have a 

contemporaneous documentation. We'll look at the 

recommendations, get into the minds and memos and do our 

best, but things will appear." 

Do you remember that discussion, sir? 

A. I remember that part of it, yes. 

Q. You remember that the Navy said they had no 

contemporaneous documentation for the decision-making, and 

they would have to create it after the fact, correct? 

A. Right. I also remember that fact was that the 

other people on the BSC, the actual BSC members - -  
Mr. Rose is not a BSC member, by the way - -  that they 
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didn't agree with that. They felt that they could come up 

with a very adequate documentation of their decision 

process which they did. 

Q. But Mr. Rose's point was there was no 

contemporaneous documentation, the documentation that had 

been created while the process was underway, correct? 

A. That's right. 

Q. That was true? 

A. There was no contemporaneous documentation. 

Q. Your own compliance review establishes that, 

correct? 

A. We did not see any contemporaneous documentation 

by the Navy. 

Q. Would you turn, please, to the next-to-last page 

of Armfield 3, Ms. Armfield's notes of the May 22 meeting? 

All right, in particular about two-thirds of the 

way down the page, next to "OL - -  Oliver - -  did good job,". 
do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Let me just again read you Ms. Armfield's 

rendition of her own notes, page 59, line 5. "Oliver did 

good job on real estate data. That's all they did well, 
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Operations tasking. The BSC soon discovered that some 

evaluation criteria were not useful to a differentiation 

process in which installations could be evaluated and 

subsequently identified for closure." 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Also, if you look at the last line in that 

paragraph Admiral Loftus states, "In general, the BSC was 

not satisfied with the total utility of the data in the 

OPNAV study." Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does that refresh your recollection that the BSC 

itself found that the OPNAV study was not useful? 

MR. GUTMAN: Go ahead and read whatever part of 

the document you need to in order to'answer the question 

truthfully. 

THE WITNESS: That is not the way I would 

characterize this paragraph. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

How would you characterize it? 

MR. GUTMAN: The paragraph speaks for itself. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 
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Q. What was your understanding of the paragraph . 

after you read it? 

A. That's what I've tried to explain several times 

before, that there were criteria used by the OPNAV VCNO, 

study group that were not in the BSC1s opinion to the 

point as far as.detezmining which bases should be closed 

or not closed, and therefore they decided to modify that 

and that's what they're referring to in the last sentence 

as the total utility. That in itself, by itself, it was 

not adequate, but that does not lead me to believe, and it 

wasn't my understanding in talking to them, that that 

statement meant that they discarded it. 

Q. Well, do you see in the second paragraph of this 

page, the last sentence, the report states "The OPNAV 

study contained inappropriate criteria and adjudged values 

which the BSC knew from its own experience to be 

incomplete or not entirely accurate? 

A. That is exactly what I tried to just explain to 

you. The previous sentence to that says that it could not 

base this decision solely on the analysis. 

Q. Because it contained inappropriate criteria? 

A. That's right. That is what I have been stating 
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all along. But it did include appropriate criteria and it 

did include appropriate data that they did use in their 

analysis. 

Q. Well, did the Navy BSC ever tell you or your 

staff which criteria they deemed appropriate and which 

criteria they deemed inappropriate? 

A. Some are explained right here on this page. 

Q. So the answer is yes? 

A. Yes, they did. 

Q. Would you look, please, at the sixth page of 

Nemfakos 7, which is the mapping document? Do you have 

that in front of you? 

A. Yes. 
.% 

Q. Am I correct this is the mapping document which 

attempted to relate the 1988 and 1990 criteria to the 1991 

criteria? 

A. Yes. Excuse me, the 19888 and - -  
Q. I thought you told me the criteria that were 

utilized in 1990 were first originated in 1988? 

A. Right. The criteria used - -  the main categories 
of criteria used by the VCNO group corresponded to the 

criteria from the 1988. 
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A. Yes. 

Q. Do you see where it says number 10, 

Miscellaneous Unique Considerations? And then it says 

Nuclear Capability? 

A. Right. 

Q, And Mrs. McKinnon writes the projected workloaci 

for the naval shipyards in 1998 to 2000 requires six 

nuclear naval shipyards, do you see that? 

A. Right. 

Q. Is this the first time, reading this document 

here today, that anyone told you that it was the projected 

workload for the naval shipyards in the years 1998 through 

2000, which required six nuclear naval shipyards? 

A. I had indicated before that my analysis 

indicated that there was a need for six nuclear shipyards 

before that, 

Q ,  You referred, that's right, to the entire 

19901s, correct? 

A. That's right. Not every year but during that 

period of time, not just those last years. 

Q. So now I'm asking whether in light of that 

former testimony whether this is the first time that you 
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MR. GUTMAN: Same objection. 

THE WITNESS: No. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Do you know what an AOR is? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Does AOR stand for accumulated operating 

results? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you discuss that subject with anybody? 

10 A, Yes. 

11 Q. And what did they tell you about that subject? 

12 A. I got information from the community about 

13 various financial measures related to all the shipyards. 

14 Q. And when you say from the community, to whom are 

15 you ref erring? 

16 A, From the city of Philadelphia. There were 

17 several groups that provided documentation to us that we 

18 reviewed as we did for all communities. 

19 Q. Well, did you ask Mr. Nemfakos, who was from the 

20 Budget Office of the Navy, or Admiral Claman, who was from 

21 NAVSEA, or Mrs. McKinnon, who was from OP-431 questions 

22 about the profitability of the Philadelphia N a n 1  
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1 are charged for work. And there are various -/day rates 

2 for various types of work at different bases and different 

3 shipyards. 

4 Q. And didn't you also learn that Philadelphia's 

5 stabilized -/day rate was significantly lower than the 

6 costs or -/day rates that would be charged at the 

7 private shipyards? At Newport News, for example? 

8 MR. GUTMAN: Could you define "significantlyn? 

9 That's a vague term. 

10 MR. PITTINSKY: Yes. Over $100 less. 

11 MR. GUTMAN: Do you understand the question, 

12 given his response? 

13 THE WITNESS: Yes. One of the problems in 

14 comparing rates between public facilities, even those run 

IS as a NIF organization and private ones, is that there are 

16 differences in the way the acto~nting is done. I do not 

17 recall looking or even asking for a rate at a shipyard 

10 like Newport News, which is set up to do new construction, 

19 much more than it is set up to do repair. 

20 So the counterpart facilities would be more the. 

21 smaller, p r i ~ t e  shipyards in the Norfolk area, and the - -  
22 we did get information for private shipyards on the west 
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coast. In fact, the information from the shipyards on the 

west coast was that their -/day rates were significantly 

lower than the public shipyards, because of the 

difficulties in trying to compare - -  you've seen just a 
rate, a rate between a public shipyard and a private 

shipyard, or even between some of the public shipyards. 

What I attempted to do in the analysis was to look at how 

much actual work - -  similar work costs between different 
shipyards, rather than to look at just rates. 

Q. And did you reach any conclusion with respect to 

the difference between the cost of doing a maintenance job 

at the Philadelphia Naval Shipyard and the cost of doing a 

maintenance job at Newport News, a private shipyard? 

A. Not at those two, no. There were additional - -  
there was an analysis done of the differences between 

doing maintenance work at public and private shipyards on 

the west coast, between Long Beach and the p r i ~ t e  

shipyards there, and those, that the work was fairly 

comparable in cost, the final cost for the work to be 

done. 

Q. Why wasn't the same study done on the east 

coast ? 
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1 A. Well, one of the problems is that there is, 

2 since most of the work being done in Philadelphia in 

3 recent years has been the SLEP work, for which there is no 

4 counterpart activity at public or private shipyards, that 

5 there were an inadequate number of ships that were similar 

6 in nature that were done in Philadelphia versus in other 

7 facilities. 

8 Q. Well - - 
9 A, I would have to say that I think Newport News 

10 - -  I would not consider that, if you are looking at rates . 
11 between the public and private shipyards, that it would 

12 not be appropriate to compare Newport News with 

13 Philadelphia. You would be better to compare Newport News 

14 with a company like Metro Marine or Norfolk Ship Company. 

15 Q. Well, did you ever discuss this subject with 

16 Mrs. McKinnon? 

17 A. I cani t recall. 

18 Q, Did you ever discuss the subject with Admiral 

20 A. No. 

21 Q, Well, did anyone from NAVSEA ever tell you that 

22 they had done a study of the rates at which work could be 
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A. Yes. 

Q- - -  is $505? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Newport News, a private shipyard, is $40 or $SO. 

A. Right. 

Q.  Portsmouth, which is a naval shipyard, is $391. 

A. Right. Those are not, when you are talking 

about repair work, those are not comparable facilities. 

As I indicated before, you need to, if you're going to 

look at comparing rates, you need to look at comparing 

rates between shipyards that are in the private sector, 

that are doing the work that could go to Philadelphia, and 

therefore you're looking at the ones that I just 

mentioned. Look at those rates. 

Q. Which one do you think we should do? 

A. Metro Marine - -  Metro Machine or Shipco. 
Q. Now are you aware that NAVSEA regarded the small 

private shipyards as totally unreliable when it came to 

performing the kind of work that goes to Philadelphia? 

Were you aware of that fact? 

MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

THE WITNESS: I am not aware of anything like 
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I A. Yes. 

2 Q. And did you in fact author Yellin 6? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. And was it your intent to summarize your 

5 telephone conversation with Admiral Helunan and yourself on 

6 June 18, 1991? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. And was this the second of your two telephone 

9 conversations with Admiral H e w ?  

10 A. Yes. 

I1 Q. And I want you to take your time to read the 

12 entire document because my question is: Is this a true 

13 and accurate record of what Admiral H e w  said to you 

14 during the telephone conversation on June 18, 1991? 

15 A. At the time of the phone conversation, I did not 

16 take any notes or do a contexnporaneous record of it. The 

17 reason was that I had seen the memos from Admiral Hekman, 

18 and he didn't really expand very much on those topics. 

19 This was written about three - -  this was written, I think 
20 it was, on the second week, or at the beginning of the 

21 second week, or the end of the first week of July. 

22 And the reason I wrote it was that the counsel 
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for the Commission came to me and asked me about the 

conversation and asked me if I had done a memo to the file 

and I said, no. We had all the information about his 

recommendations, already well documented, and he said - -  
he asked me to prepare, and he said it was probably best 

to have it for the record documented. So, knowing that 

this was written based upon my recollection 3 weeks or 4 

weeks after the conversation, this is my best recollection 

of the conversation. 

Q. And with the qualification that it was prepared 

3 or 4 weeks after the conversation occurred, and you say 

without the benefit of any notes. 

A. Right. 

Q. Nevertheless, subject to those qualifications, 

this was your best recollection of what occurred? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you believed at the time you prepared this 

document that it was, again subject to those 

qualifications, a true and accurate summary of what 

Admiral H e J a n a n  said to you during the June 18, 1991, 

telephone conversation? 

A. Yes. 
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THE WITNESS: I am not sure how to answer that. 

I assume that - -  
MR. GUTMAN: Don't assume anything. 

THE WITNESS : I don' t know. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Didn't you make a judgment about that when you 

were asked to make recommendations? As the Comission was 

asked to make a recomendation as to whether they should 

adopt the Navy's recommendation? 

A. One of the things we looked at, and . we did study 
very carefully the issue of having an emergent drydock for 

carriers on either coast, and the model that we had to 

study was Hunter's Point. Hunterfs Point was a shipyard 

that was closed many years ago, I think it was - -  I am not 
sure if it was in the early 1980fs or the 1970fs, but it 

has not been an active Navy shipyard for a number of 

years. And so there are no workers there qualified and 

working on carrier overhaul work, or work on carriers, or 

any Navy ships for that matter. But the Navy maintained 

that drydock, the carrier-capable drydock there, in 

mothball status for many years. 

And in fact, in the mid-1980's they did have a 
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2 a carrier, so what they did was they re-opened the 

3 drydock, brought in crews from either Puget Sound or.Mare 

4 Island, but they brought in crews from other naval 

5 shipyards, did the emergency - -  what needed to be done in 
6 that drydock over a period of time - -  I don't know how 
7 long that was, and then they took the carrier out and put 

8 the drydock back in mothball status. 

9 And so it was our understanding that based on 

I0 that experience and that documentation of the process that 

11 a similar process for Philadelphia would allow them to 

12 have the drydocks in Philadelphia available to them for 

13 emergent use. 

14 And in fact their proposal was exactly that, to 

15 provide sufficient personnel to maintain the drydocks, and 

16 that if the drydock at Norfolk and/or the one at Newport 

17 News were not available, and it was an absolute 

18 requirement that they could then bring the ship into 

19 Philadelphia, drydock it, repair it with crews from other 

20  shipyards, and that was an adequate insurance policy for 

21 them. 

22 Q. Well, let's go to the west coast for a moment. 
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1 Q. And in the case of Newport News, you say there's 

2 one of the two which can accommodate large carrier work, 

3 . correct? 

4 A. Yes. The other one is used just for 

5 construction. 

6 Q. And you also agree that - -  when I say you agree, 
7 I mean the Navy told you this, it's not like you invented 

8 any of this, but the Navy told you that. There was no 

9 assurance that the large carrier drydock in Newport News 

10 would be available, correct? . 
11 MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. 

13 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

14 Q. And so my question is, where on the east coast 

15 are you going to have the certain availability of the two 

16 large carrier drydocks if Philadelphia is closed? 

17 A. I donlt understand you. 

18 Q. Well, the Navy told you that they must have two 

19 large carrier drydocks on the west coast? 

20 A, Right. 

21 Q. That is why, again, if you look at Yellin 1, 

22 Long Beach was excluded under step 5, correct? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. They didn' t say, on the west coast, we can 

mothball Long Beach, and then if there is an emergency, we 

can reopen it and fly in people from Puget Sound at tong 

Beach, right? 

A, That's right. 

Q. They told you on the west coast you must have 

tcmg Beach so that you have two carrier drydocks available 

on the west coast, is that correct? 

A. That is correct. 

Q.  Now on the east coast, you have one at Norfolk, 

correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And if Philadelphia is closed by your testimony, 

the only other large carrier drydock that is possibly 

available is at Newport News, is that correct? 

MR. GUTMAN: That doesn't accurately reflect 

his testimony, Go ahead and answer. 

TBE WITNESS: What I: said was the other 

alternative on the aast coast would be to reopen one of 

the mothball drydocks at Philadelphia. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 
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1 Q. I understand that. But in terms of without 

2 mothballing, the only two that would be left after 

3 Philadelphia was closed would be the one at Norfolk and 

4 the one at Newport News. Correct? 

5 A. Yes. But now, the added complication on the 

6 west coast is that the basis of the lease with the City of 

7 Long Beach for the shipyard at Long Beach says that if it 

8 is not actively being used by the Navy, the property 

9 reverts to the city. So the review of that by DOD and 

10 Navy counsel said that if the shipyard is not maintained 

11 as an active shipyard, the property reverts to the city of 

12 Long Beach and so mothballing of the drydock at Long Beach 

13 is not an option. But that is an added complication for 

14 the west coast that I wanted to bring up. 

15 Q. I understand that, but again, just so the record 

16 is clear, the Navy's decision was that they needed two 

17 available large carrier drydocks on the west coast, 

18 correct? 

Yes. 

On the east coast you have one at Norfolk, 

21 correct? 

22 MR. GUTMAN: These questions have been asked and 
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answered countless times. 

MR. PITTINSKY: This is cross-examination, Mr. 

Gutman. 

MR. GUTNAN: But these questions have been asked 

and answered several times. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Correct? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And the only other one if Philadelphia's closed 

is Newport News, correct? 

A. What is your question again? 

Q. The only other drydock - -  other being in 
addition to Norfolk, if large carrier drydock - -  if 
Philadelphia is closed, would be Newport News? 

A. No. Philadelphia. 

Q. I said if Philadelphia is closed. 

A. Philadelphia is being closed, and mothballed, 

and it8 s available. 

Q. Without being reconstituted? Without being 

reconstituted? 

A. It doesn't have to be reconstituted. 

Q. It doesn't? 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N,:W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 2 0 W S  

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



1 public shipyards and do all of this mission in the private 

2 sector, and that is what that sentence says. 

3 Q. Did not you understand that when he referred to 

4 the capability that he was saying that the private sector 

5 was incapable of performing these missions? 

6 MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

7 THE WITNESS: All of them. YOU are 

8 misinterpreting that sentence as far as I read it. This 

9 mission - -  these missions - -  are inclusive and therefore 
10 the capability or capacity of the private sector to do 

11 these missions, which is an inclusive statement which 

12 includes all three in total, would not be capable in the 

13 private sector. That is clearly the case. 

14 BY MR. PITTINSXY: 

IS Q. That is the way you read it? 

16 A. yes. 

17 Q. Would you turn the page, please, to Bates number 

18 594. The last sentence before the heading, results of the 

19 capacity analysis: While the Navy fleet in general is 

20 downsizing by 19 percent, the types of ships worked by the 

21 naval shipyards is downsizing only 1 percent, and in some 

22 cases, it is increasing (large amphibious and Aegis 
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ships), thus the need for the facilities to accomplish 

this work has not diminished. Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you understand that the work on large 

amphibious and Aegis ships was performed in part at 

Philadelphia? 

A. Large amphibious - -  my understanding that no 
Aegis ships have been worked on in Philadelphia. I had, 

when I read that statement there - -  I think there is some 
error in the logic that - -  comparing the types of ships to 
workload, to me is not a direct correlation. 

Q. Would you turn please to the page Bates numbered 

602? 

A. Yes. 

Q. There is the title, Strategic and Operational 

Consequences. Now do you see the second paragraph under 

that title? 

I8 A. Yes. 

19 Q. It reads as follows: Closure of Philadelphia 

20 Na*l Shipyard without retention of the large carrier- 

21 capable drydocks creates a shortfall in drydock capability 

22 for emergent dockings of aircraft carriers. The only 
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carrier-capable drydock available on the east coast, under 

Navy control, is at Norfolk Naval Shipyard, and will be 

fully utilized. Without the drydocks available at 

Philadelphia, the only other dock capable of taking an 

emergent carrier docking is at Newport News Shipbuilding. 

Exhibit C - 7  illustrates this situation 

graphically. This dock is privately owned and its docking 

schedule is not controlled by the Navy. The cost to have 

Newport News Shipbuilding provide a dedicated dock under 

contract is considered prohibitive. The only alternatives 

are to use the Newport News Shipbuilding Dock, if 

available, or to physically remove a ship already in dock 

at Norfolk Naval shipyard, if possible. 

The closure - -  referring to Philadelphia - -  
departs From a longstanding Navy strategic and operational 

requirement which provided for two naval shipyards on each 

coast capable of docking and repairing aircraft carriers. 

Do you see that? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 9. Now did you agree with what Admiral Claman said 

21 here? 

22 A. Yes. Unless you have the drydocks at 
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1 Philadelphia mothballed and available for emergent use, 

2 you may have a problem. But that, having them mothballed 

3 and available for use as they've done on the west coast 

4 successfully, took care of that problem. 

5 Q. Yes, butAdmiral Claman wasn't recommending 

6 mothballing Philadelphia, was he? In this document, 

7 Claman I? 

8 MR. GUTMAN: If you need to read the entire 

9 document to answer that question, take as much time as you 

10 want. 

11 MR. PITTINSKY: Just read the first page. 

12 MR. GUTMAN: He can read as much as he wants. 

13 THE WITNESS: The document here, right up above 

14 it here on page 10 at the top, well in fact, had page 9 at 

15 the bottom - -  on page 601, I only had a half a page. 
16 MR. PITTINSKY: So do I. 

17 MR. GUTMAN: It's difficult to read from it 

18 because half the page is gone. Do you have a copy of the 

19 full page? 

20 MR. PITTINSKY: It's a repeat of what's on the 

21 cover letter from Admiral Claman to Admiral Lang. 

22 MR. GUTMAN: I don't know if it is or not. 
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MR. PITTINSKY: Well, you can check and see. 

THE WITNESS: This option 1, on page 9, is the 

proposal to close and mothball Philadelphia. Option 2 is 

Admiral Hekman's proposal to downsize to an SRF at 1200 

people. And the statement at the top of page 10 says that 

the Navy has chosen option 1. 

MR. PITTINSKY: That's right, the Secretary of 

the Navy, right? 

THE WITNESS: Right. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q, I'm asking you what Admiral Claman was 

reconnnending, and if you look - -  all I'm asking you to do 
is look at the first page of Claman 1, the cover letter, 

and see if that helps you. 

MR. GUTMAN: The document speaks for itself. 

THE WITNESS: In Claman's fourth paragraph here, 

it says that they recommend option 2. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. He says, "We recommend option 2 be used for 

Philadelphia Naval Shipyard, that is, that Philadelphia 

Naval Shipyard be drawn down to a small size activity in 

the mid-19901s, as workload declines, in order to provide 
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1 a Government-controlled CV.drydock site and ship repair 

2 capability for the NortheastIn right? 

3 A. That's right. 

4 Q. Did you take that into consideration in your 

S work? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. How? 

8 A. We analyzed the option, the other option, to see 

9 whether that was a viable option, about having the drydock 

10 in mothball status. And that did take care of the 

11 emergent needs which had clearly documented and shown to 

12 work on the west coast with Hunter's Point. 

13 Q. YES, but on the west coast, by virtue of the 

14 Navy decision, you have two large carrier drydocks fully 

15 and freely available for large carrier tlork, correct? 

16 Without Hunter's Point? 

MR. GUTMAN: Asked and answered. 

THE WITNESS: Yes. But the key thing that, in 

19 our analysis, was that when we looked at what was the 

20 potential for mothballing a facility and having it to be a 

21 viable use for emergent use, I asked the Navy, and we went 

22 back through and documented the uses and the needs for 
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1 emergent capability, and Hunter's Point was a direct 

2 example of the same capability that would be available if 

3 Philadelphia was closed and mothballed. 

4 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

5 Q. So you thought it was sufficient on the east 

6 coast to have available the one large carrier drydock at 

7 Norfolk, and for emergent use, the mothballed large 

8 carrier drydock in Philadelphia, correct? 

9 A. In addition to the drydock in Newport News. 

10 Q. But you didn't know whether that would be 

11 available - 
12 A. Maybe the drydocks at Long Beach and Puget Sound 

13 might be scheduled for something else also. 

14 MR. GUTMAN: Could you let him finish his answer 

15 before chiming in, please? Is this a good time for a 2 -  

16 minute break, please? 

17 MR. PITTINSKY: I was going to say we should 

18 break at 5:00, because I have to make a call. 

19 (Recess. ) 

20 MR. PITTINSKY: Would the reporter please mark 

21 as Yellin 7 for identification a memorandum for the Base 

22 Closure Commission dated June 14, 1991? 
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1 that was based on the experience and judgment of the 

2 members of the committee. A written summary of the BSC's 

3 decision reasons will be provided shortly to the 

4 Commission.* Do you see that? 

S A. Yes. 

6 Q. Now, again, just so the record's clear. The 

7 Navy's detailed analysis document is a document which was 

8 provided to the Courter Commission staff prior to the time 

9 that you arrived at the Commission, correct? 

10 A. Yes, it was provided along with the DoD 

11 recommended report, which was the second week in April. 

12 Q. Right, and therefore that was approximately one 

13 month before your Yellin 3 general compliance review 

14 document? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. Then they refer to "copies of data received and 

17 considered by the BSC have been previously provided to the 

18 Commission." Do you see that? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. That was also provided to the Commission staff 

21 in April, correct? 

22 A. Yes, at the same time. 
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1 Q. Approximately 1 month before your Yellin 3, 

2 which is your compliance review document. 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Now, here they say, "The BSC assigned grades 

5 based on a consensus that was based on the experience and 

6 judgment of the members of the BSC." Do you see that? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Now, did you understand, prior to your receipt 

9 of Yellin 7, that the BSC had assigned grades to the naval 

10 facilities based on the experience and judgment on the 

11 members of the committee? 

12 A. That's exactly what they told us. 

13 Q. How would one go about establishing an internal 

14 control plan to verify this experience and judgment that 

15 was exercised by the members of the BSC? 

16 MR. GUTMAN: Objection. It calls for 

17 speculation. Answer as best you can. 

18 THE WITNESS: The - -  
19 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

20 Q. He objected to the question. I will rephrase 

21 the question. How, to your knowledge, how did the Navy, 

22 the Navy BSC, go about establishing an internal control 
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plan to verify the experience and judgment of the members 

of the BSC in assigning grades to the naval facilities? 

A. The reason why, my understanding of the reason 

why the requirement for the internal controls were 

instituted in the legislation, was that during the 1988 

Codssion, when there was review done after the results 

of the Commission had been published, there was evidence 

that some of the data that appeared to be used in the 

decision-making process was faulty. 

The process that the BSC went through used a 

11 combination of the experience and judgment of the members 

12 of the committee, as well as input in all these back-up 

13 data that was presented by the different organizations and 

14 by the VCNO working group. 

15 That data was in part used, data from 

16 established data bases, that the Navy has operating real 

17 property maintenance and data primarily, and that's a data 

18 base that has its own internal review and a process where 

19 it's updated and checked, And so, when that data was 

2 0  used, then that implied that it was already being checked 

and accurate. 

22 But when you got down to the elements of 
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1 strictly experience and judgment used in that, you cannot 

2 do an internal control on that. But you can on elements 

3 of data that went into them as data for them to look at, 

4 and which they were aware of at the time they made their 

5 judgments. 

6 Q. If I understand what you just said, I believe it 

7 was your testimony that so far as your recollection is 

8 concerned, the Navy did not have an internal control plan 

9 to verify the experience and judgment of the members of 

10 the BSC as it was applied to assigning grades to naval 

11 facilities. Correct? 

12 A. Some of the data that was presented to them - -  
13 Q. I'm talking about the experience and judgment, 

14 not the data that was presented. I'm talking about the 

15 experience and judgment - -  
16 MR. GUTMAN: Let him answer the question. 

17 MR. PITTINSKY: I would like him to answer the 

18 question. I heard him talk about the data; that is not 

19 question. I would like him to address the question. The 

20 question has to do with the experience and judgment. 

21 MR. GUTMAN: We're asking you to just let him 

22 answer the question. 
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MR. PITTINSKY: I'm asking him to answer the 

question. 

THB WITNESS: I understand the question. and I'm 

trying to explain what my interpretation of this sentence 

means. The sentence does not say, as you're implying, 

that experience and judgment of the members of the 

committee was the only thing on which they based the 

grading. There was clearly, and it's stated right here in 

the paragraph, "All data received and considered by the 

BSC was provided to us." 

That data was primarily from established data 

base that the Navy uses and maintains on a regular basis, 

and therefore was not newly created for the Base Structure 

Committee, and therefore the Navy did not feel that needed 

a separate, internal control system. 

Clearly, if you are using as part of your 

element of grading, and that is what this says here, you 

can obviously not go to someone's experience and judgment 

and audit that. But that is clearly not what is stated 

here as being the only source of the grading process. 

BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

Q. Sir, did you know that the GAO considered this 
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1 back-up documentation that you've been discussing and is 

2 referenced here to be poorly organized? Did you know 

3 that? 

4 MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

5 THE WITNESS: I am not personally aware of that. 

6 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

7 Q. Did you personally review the boxes of documents 

8 submitted by the Navy? 

9 A. Much of it, yes. 

10 Q. And did you find it to be well organized? 

11 A. If it wasn't in some cases, we reorganized it to 

12 be useful to us. 

13 Q. Did you know that the GAO thought that the back- 

14 up data supplied by the BSC was of no use, and that it 

15 would be like studying the Vietnam War to learn about the 

16 Persian Gulf? 

17 MR. GUTMAN: Objection. Lack of foundation. 

18 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

19 Q. Did you know the GAO thought that? 

20 A. I didn't know they thought that. I don't agree 

21 with that. 

22 Q. You found it useful? 
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(IIF 

1 A. In fact, we had, we used GAO to go out on our 

2 own independent data-verification efforts. We had GAO, 

3 the old representatives, visit 29 Navy facilities to 

4 independently obtain data which LMI, working for the 

5 Commission, compared to the data used by the BSC. 

6 Q. You used the GAO to go to 29 naval facilities? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Did that includethe eight naval shipyards? 

9 A. Two of the eight naval shipyards. 

I0 Q. Only two? 

I1 A. That's right. 

12 Q. I'll bet they were Long Beach and Philadelphia. 

13 A. Oh, no, Charleston and Philadelphia. We chose, 

14 in fact, I didn't even choose the 29 facilities to go to. 

IS We had LMI, which had the experts in statistical 

16 analysis go through and do a sampling of all the 

17 facilities, and they were directed to both pick selected 

18 bases that were both on the list, and not on the list, and 

19 pick various data elements that were used in the VCNO 

20 study in order to analyze this. 

21 So this was done completely independently from 

22 even me, done by a group that specializes in and are 
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1 experts in statistical analysis of data. We did an 

2 independent review. We could not go to every base, 

3 because of time and money limitations; we went to several. 

4 We did what MI'S experts considered a statistically 

5 significant sampling of data, which is also done by the 

6 other services, other service teams. 

7 And that was done specifically to go back and 

8 review the data, and to give us some feedback and 

9 information on the accuracy of that data that was used by 

10 the VCNO group, which was then presented and used as a 

11 basis and one of the factors in the BSC's evaluation. 

12 Q. So LMI chose the two shipyards that would be 

13 reviewed, is that your testimony? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. Without any consultation with your group? 

16 A. That's right. 

17 Q -  Without any consultation with anybody? How 

18 about op 44, op 43? Do you know if they consulted with 

19 them? 

20 A. I don't have any idea. I don't think they did, 

21 because they were working directly for us. They were in 

22 an office across the hall from me. I went in and asked 
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them to do this, because they were the experts in this. 

I said, "We have all this data to review, all 

this information to work with; I want you to pick a 

selection of bases, a selection of data." I think the 

actual numbers of data elements totalled about 600. And 

they did their review based on the input from GAO. 

And so all the data in the field were based on 

visits from GAO field offices to bases at our request. 

Q. Well, when did you learn that LMI had selected 

Charleston and Philadelphia? 

A. After they did it. 

Q. All right, well, when was that? 

13 A. That was back in, I can't remember the exact 

14 date. It was probably late May. 

15 Q. Rather than pick a date, let's take the time 

16 frame of the meetings between the Navy BSC and the Courter 

17 Commission staff, Was it before, during or after that? 

18 A. After. 

19 Q. After that. So it would probably be early June, 

20 then. 

21 A. It was done around the same time. As I 

22 mentioned before, LMI was very involved with us as one of 
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1 their main tasks in helping us with compliance reviews. 

2 And so we had them involved in all aspects of these 

3 compliance reviews. And this was an element of that. 

4 Q. I understand that. But you learned about the 

5 fact that LMI had selected Charleston and Philadelphia in 

' 6 early June of 1991, correct? 

7 A. Around that period of time. It is my 

8 recollection of it, I think, yes. 

9 Q. Now, when you learned that, did you say, gee 

10 fellows, I think you should have gone to Long Beach also? 

11 A. No, because as I said, the direction to LMI was 

12 to choose a selection of each category. We had many 

13 categories of bases that we were looking at. We only had 

14 a certain amount of time and a certain amount of 

15 capability in the field to demand this very rapid turn- 

16 around from GAO, 

17 So they were directed to pick one base that was 

18 under consideration, and one base that was not under 

19 consideration. And as I think, the Long Beach was placed 

20 on the list for consideration by the Commission at the end. 

21 of May. So that period of time, probably Long Beach would 

22 not have qualified as one of the shipyards that was not 
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1 under consideration. 

2 Q. Long Beach was placed under consideration for 

3 closure by the Courter Commission? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. When? 

6 A. The, either the 30th of May or the 1st of June, 

7 something right in that period of time. 

8 Q. And ultimately, what did the Courter Commission 

9 decide? 

10 MR. GUTMAN: It's a matter of public record. 

11 THE WITNESS: The Commission voted on the 30th 

12 of June not to close the Long Beach shipyard. 

13 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

14 Q. And on what did it base its decision? 

15 A. You will have to ask the commissioners. 

16 Q. Weren1 t you there? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Well, was there discussion? 

19 A. Yes. It's difficult for me to go back and try 

20 to summarize that, because there was a very lengthy 

21 discussion. 

22 Q. About Long Beach? 
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A. Long Beach and all the bases. 

2 Q. I'm just talking about Long Beach now. 

3 A. I can't recall how many time was actually spent 

in doing that. The factors that I think were in Long 

5 Beach's favor for not being closed related to the subject 

6 we've already talked about, with the drydock. 

7 Another factor was the lack of, a relative lack 

8 of private shipyard capability on the west coast in 

9 relationship to the east coast; the nearness of Long Beach 

10 to San Diego, which is where the large bulk of the Pacific 

11 fleet is homeported; the fact that Long Beach is a 

12 relatively small shipyard and has already been 

13 substantially downsized; Long Beach is an active 

14 participant in the public-private competition on the west 

15 coast. 

16 One of the things I brought up that Admiral 

17 Hekman passed on to me was that he considered Long Beach 

18 to be the shipyard with the most innovative management 

19 practices, and that had very effectively contributed to 

20 their excellent performance on work. Those are some of 

21 the factors that were brought up in their favor. 

22 There are a number of things that were brought 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 



1 up negatively about Long Beach related to, that there was 

2 some private shipyards on the west coast that had 

3 capability that they felt they would have a better chance 

4 of financial survival without having to compete against 

5 Long Beach. 

6 I could go back over and go through it in even 

7 more detail, the analysis. The question you asked me, 

8 though, why was it voted to stay open, that wasn't my 

9 decision. That's a decision of the commissioners; they're 

10 the ones that vote and they're the ones that decide, and 

11 they're the ones that balance out the different factors. 

I canlt even remember what the vote was; it was 

13 6 to 1 or 5 to 2, something like that. 

14 Q. Were minutes kept of the June 30 meeting? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. Was it tape recorded? 

17 A, It w a s  on C-SPAN. 

18 Q. Well, that's the answer. 

19 A. I mean, all my charts that were used as graphic 

20 presentation materials were all in discovery and I think 

21 you folks, I think, requested copies of most of those. 

22 Q. It is true, isn' t it, that Philadelphia has been 

ALDERSON REPORTING COMPANY, INC. 
1111 FOURTEENTH STREET, N.W. 

SUITE 400 
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20005 

(202) 289-2260 
(800) FOR DEPO 

Gro 



mw 236 

I actively been involved in the public/private competition 

2 on the East Coast? 

3 A. They have bid on several jobs, yes. 

4 Q .  And we've already established Philadelphia's 

5 excellence in the cost area, correct? 

6 MR, GUTMAN: Asked and answered. Argumentative. 

7 THE WITNESS: Well, we have discussed it in 

8 fairly lengthy terms about they have - -  and I could go 
9 back w e r  again the evaluation that I went through in 

10 order to try to give a complete review, in addition to 

11 looking strictly at man-day rates, which is a very limited 

12 way to - -  it is one way to look at performance, but 
13 clearly the more complete and sophisticated analysis is 

14 necessary to really judge whether a shipyard or any 

IS industrial facility is cost-efficient or not. 

16 BY MR. PITTINSKY: 

17 Q. Well, isn't Philadelphia a net contributor to 

18 the 24IF fund? 

19 A. They have been. 1991, so far this year they're 

20 not. 

21 Q. Well, Admiral Claman here as a deponent, he 

22 testified that for the first nine months of 1991, nine 
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